E
BROADWIND.

3240 South Central Avenue
Cicero, Illinois 60804
Telephone: 708-780-4800

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Broadwind, Inc. (the “Company” or “Broadwind”), to be held on May 15, 2025 beginning at
8:00 a.m. Central Daylight Time, virtually at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BWEN2025. The Company will require that all attendees at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders provide proof of identification
and stock ownership and follow any other meeting guidelines set by the Company.

Your vote is being solicited on behalf of our Board of Directors (the “Board”). You are being asked to: (i) vote on the election of six (6) directors, each to hold office for a term of one year or until their
respective successor is duly elected and qualified, (ii) approve, by a non-binding advisory vote, the compensation paid to the Company’s named executive officers, (iii) ratify the fourth amendment of our
Section 382 Rights Agreement designed to preserve Broadwind’s substantial amount of net operating loss carry forwards and other tax benefits (the “Rights Plan”), to extend the Rights Plan for another three-
year term and adjust the purchase price related to the exercise of the rights thereunder, and (iv) ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP (“RSM”) as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2025.

Our Board urges you to read the accompanying Proxy Statement and recommends that you vote “FOR” our proposed nominees for election to the Board, “FOR” the resolution approving, on a non-
binding advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers as described in the Proxy Statement, “FOR” the ratification of the fourth amendment of the Rights Plan, and “FOR” the ratification of
the appointment of RSM as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2025.

We are delivering our Proxy Statement and Annual Report under the Securities and Exchange Commission rules that allow companies to furnish proxy materials to their stockholders over the Internet.
We will mail to our stockholders on or about April 2, 2025, a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the “Notice”) containing instructions on how to access our proxy materials. The Notice and the
Proxy Statement include instructions on how you can receive a paper copy of the proxy materials.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, it is important that your shares be represented. You may vote your shares by telephone or over the Internet. If you received a paper copy of
the proxy card by mail, you may vote by completing, signing, dating and returning the proxy card by mail in the postage-paid envelope provided. Instructions regarding these three methods of voting are
contained on the Notice or proxy card.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Very truly yours,

L8 Ay (

Eric B. Blashford

President and Chief Executive Officer
Cicero, Illinois
April 2,2025

If you have any questions or require assistance in authorizing a proxy or voting your shares of Common Stock, please contact the Company’s proxy solicitor at the contact listed below:

SODALI
&CO

430 Park Avenue, 14th Floor
New York, New York 10022
Stockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200
Banks, Brokers, Trustees and Other Nominees Call Collect: (203) 658-9400
Email: BWEN@jinvestor.Sodali.com



BROADWIND, INC.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS.
TOBE HELD ON

MAY 15,2025

Notice is hereby given to the holders of the shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) of Broadwind, Inc. (the “Company” o “Broadwind™), a Delaware corporation,
that the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) will be held at 00 a.m. local time on May 15, 2025, virtually at wiv 510 upon
the following matters:

1 To ot on the election of the six (6) dlrecmr nominees named in the attached Proxy Statement to serve on our Board of Directors (the “Board"), each for a term of one (1) year o
lected .

ntil is duly
2 Toapprove bya vote, id o the Company’s i 2
3. Toratify the fourth amendment of our Section 382 Rights Agreement designed to preserve Broadwind's substantial amount of net operating loss carry forwards and other tax
benefits (the “Rights Plan), to extend the Rights Plan for another three-year term and o adjust the pt It ‘ the rights ¢
4 Toratify RSM US LLP as firm for 2025 (Proposal 4)
5. o consider and act upon such other matters as may properly come before the Annual Meeing and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Theforegingten f businessar mors fllydescrbd n the Prosy Sttt sccompanying i Notc of Anual Mesting of Stockholdrs. The Bosrd ecormendsa vt “FOR” cach ofthesix
(6) director ¥  and a vote "FOR" cach of Proposals 2, 3 and 4 on the proxy card

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 27, 2025 are entiled to notice of the Annual Meeting and to vote at the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

we Annual Report under the es and Exchange Commission rules that allow companies to furnish proxy materials to their stockholders over the Internet,

We believe that this process should provide you with a convenient and quick way 10 aceess your poy material and vote your shares, wile allowing s to consrve naural resources and reduce the costs of
printing and distributing the proxy materials. We will mail to our stockholders on or about April 2, 2025, Notice of Intemet Availability of Proxy Materials (the “Norice”) containing instructions on how to
access our proxy materials and vote electronically on the Internet or by telephone. The Notice and the Proxy Statement include instructions on how you can receive a paper copy of the proxy materials.

‘We ask that you review the Proxy Statement carefully and return your proxy promptly. Your vote i very important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Mecting, we urge you to vote your

shares by telephone o over the Internet, as described in the enclosed materials and the Notice. IT you received a copy of the proxy card by mail, you may sign, date and mail the proxy card in the envelope
provided

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Wood
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Cicero, Illinois
April2,2025



IMPORTANT AVAILABIL

Y OF PROXY

‘The Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Proxy Statement and the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 are available fiee of charge on our Intemet website,
wwwibuwen.com. Information on this website, other than this Proxy Statement, is not a part of this Proxy Statement. You may also obtain these materials at the website of the Securities and Exchange

Commission at www.sec.gov.

‘you have any questions concerning the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting, would like additional copies of the Proxy Statement or need help submitting a proxy for your shares, please

contact Sodali & Co., the Company’s proxy solicitor:

Email: BWEN@investor.Sodali.com

S 5opau
&co

430 Park Avenue, 1411 Floor

Stockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200
Banks, Brokers, Trustees and Other Nominces Call Collect: (203) 658-9400

S FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON MAY 15,2025

Introduction
Interet Availability of Proxy Materials

‘Questions and Answers About the Annual Meeting

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Holders and Management
Directors and Director Compensation

Corponute Governance

Exceutive Officers
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Certain Transactions and Business Relationships

Praposals to be Voted Upon

‘TABLE OF CONTENTS.

‘Proposal No. | Election of Directors
Proposal No.2 Vote t . ation of Named Executive Offi
Proposal No. 3 Ratification of Fourth tion 382 Rights Plan

Proposal No. 4 i

{ Independent Registeed Public Accounting Firm

Other Matters

Appendix A-Fourth Amendment to Section 382 Rights Agreement

dix B-Third Amendment to Section 382 Rights t

ppendix C-Second 2 Rights Agreement

Appendi D-First Amendment to Section 382 Rights Agreement
Appendix F-Section 38 Rights Agreement

=

ErEERIE



BROADWIND, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT
ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON MAY 15,2025

INTRODUCTION

Your proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors (the “Board") of Broadwind, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company’” or “Broadwind™), for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Annual Meeting”) 10 be held at 8:00 a.m. local time on May 15, 2025, virtually at ww.virtualshareholdermeeting com/BWEN2025, for the purposes set forth on the Notice of Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. The mailing address of our principal executive office is 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, llinois 60804. We expect that the Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials will first be mailed to stockholders on or about April 2, 2025,

As used in this Proxy Statement, the terms “the Company,” “Broadwind,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Broadwind, Inc.

You may vote by telephone, over the Internet, or if you received a paper copy of the proxy card by mail, you may also vote by signing, dating, and mailing the proxy card in the envelope
provided. Instructions regarding these methods of voting are contained in this Proxy Statement and on the proxy card. Please vote by whichever method is most convenient for you to ensure that your
shares are represented at the Annual Meeting. Intemet voting facilities will close at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on May 14, 2025. If your shares are held in “sireet name,” we recommend you insiruct
the record holder of your shares to vote on the proxy car

INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS.

Pursuant to the rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC), we are furishing proxy materials to our stockholders primarily via the Intemet, rather than mailing paper copies
of these materials to each stockholder. We believe that th " receipt of the educes the costs of the Annual Meeting and helps conserve natural resources. On or
about April 2, 2025, we will mail o cach those stockholders had requested clectronic or paper delivery) a Notice of Internct Availabilty of Proxy Materals (the “Norice”)
containing instructions on how to access and review the proxy materials, including our Proxy Statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the *Aunual Report”), on the
Internet and how to aceess a proxy card or voting insiructions to vote on the Internet The how to request a paper copy of the proxy materials. If you receive
ihe Notie by mal, you will ot reeive & piper copy ofthe povy matrils unlss ou rdest one. 1 you would ke o receve. pape copy of he proxy materas leas Fllow the intructions included n the
Notice. We may at our discretion voluntarily choose to mail or deliver a paper copy of the proxy materials, including our Proxy Statement and Annual Report, to one or more stockholders.

‘The Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Proxy Statement, the proxy card and the Annual Report are also available free of charge on our Internet website, www.bwen.com. You may also
obtain these materials at the website of the Sccurities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) at www.sce.gov.

Ref

nces 10 the Company’s do not incorporate by reference contained on the websit, and such information should not be considered a part of this Proxy Statement.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING
Wiy am 1 receiving this Proxy Statement?

“The Board is soliciting your proxy for use at our Annual Meeting because you owned shares of the Company’s Common Stock at the close of business on March 27, 2025 (the “Record Date”) and,
therefore, are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting on the following proposals:

1 Proposal I: To vote on the election of the six (6) director nominees named in this Proxy Statement to serve on our Board, each for a term of one (1) year or until their respective
successor is duly elected and qualified.

2 Proposal 2: To approve, by a vote, d to the Company’ excutive off

3. Proposal 3: To ratify the fourth amendment to the Company’s Rights Plan to extend the Rights Plan for another three-year term and to adjust the purchase price related to the
exercise of the rights thereunder

4. Proposal 4: To atify the appointment of RSM US LLP (“RSM") as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2025,
5. To consider and act upon such other matters as may properly come before the Annual Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

You are receiving the Notice or other Annual Meeting materials as a stockholder of the Company as of the Record Date for purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and
vote at the Annual Mecting. As further described below., we request that you promptly complete and retum the proxy card (if you received by mail), or vote by telephone or by Internet

Who is entitled o atiend and vote at the Annual Meeting?

Stockholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote. The Notice you received
(or proxy card if you received these materials by mail) indicates the number of shares of our Common Stock that you own and are entitled to vote.




What constitutes a quorum at the Annual Meeting?

‘The presence at the Annual Meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of voting power of the shares of our Common Stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat will
constitute a quorum for purposes of the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, 22,463,307 shares of our Common Stock were issued and outstanding. Persons who were not stockholders on the Record Date
will not be allowed to vote at the Annual Mecting. The Common Stock is the only outstanding class of our capital stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Each sh n Stock is entitled to one
Vole on each matter to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting. No holders of any shares of our Common Stock are entitled to cumulative voting rights. Shares represcnted virtually during the Annual Mecting
will be considered shares of Common Stock represented in person at the meeting.

rosie eceived butmarked “sstin”wil b couned o purposes ofdetcmiing whether  quorum eists at the Al Mecting. For o discssion of whether o not rokernon-vtcswilbe
ounted for quorum purposes, see “How do I vote if my shares are held by my broker, bank, and/or other nominee? What is a “broker non-vote?” below.

How do I vote by proy?

Stockholders of record can vote virtually at the Annual Meeting or by proxy. There are three (3) ways to vote by pro
1 Telophone - Stockhaldes oeatd in the Unitd Sttes (he -5 ca vote by telephone by callng +1 800-690-6903 and flloing the instructionson the Notce or proxy

card:
o By Vote on the Internet at by following the the Notice or proxy card; o
© By Mail—If you reccived your proxy materials by mail, you can vote by mail by signing, dating and mailing the proxy card enclosed therewith. No postage is required if your proxy

card is mailed in the ULS.

I you vote by telephone or on the Internet by the applicable deadline, or properly fill in your proxy card if you received one by mail and we receive it in time to vote at the Annual Meeting, your
“proxy” (the individual named on the Notice or proxy card) will vote your shares on your behalf as you have dire You sign and return a proxy card but do not make specific choices for the voting of your
shares, then your proxy will vote your shares of Common Stock as recommended by the Board.

Ifany other matter is presented, your proxy will vote your shares in accordance with your proxy’s best judgment to the extent permitted by Rule 14a-4(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Aci”). Al present, we know of no other business that is intended to be acted on at the Annual Meeting.

Can I'vote by telephone or on the Insernet?

Yes. Voting by telephone o on the Internet s fast, convenient and your vote is immediately confirmed and tabulated. If you choose to vote by telephone or on the Internet, instructions to do so are
set forth on the Notice o proxy card. The Intemet voting procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by use of a control number, which appears in the marked area on the Notice or proxy card. These
procedures, which comply with Delaware law, allow stockholders to appoint a proxy to vote their shares and to confirm that their instructions have been properly recorde. If you vote by telephone or on the
Internet, your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on May 14, 2025

f you own your shares in your own name, you can vote by telephone or on the Internet in accordance with the instructions provided on the Notice or proxy card. If your shares are held by a broker,
bank, and/or other nomince, you can also vote by telephone or on the Internet. The instructions to vote on the Internet will be provided on the voting instruction form supplied by your broker, bank, and/or
other nomince. You may need to contact your broker, bank, and/or other nomince to vote.

How do I vote if my shares are held by my broker, bank, and/or other nominee? What is a “broker non-vote?”

£, on the Record Date, your shares were held in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, dealer, trust or other similar organization (collectively, “brokers, banks and/or other nominees™), then you are the
beneficial owner of shares held in “street name.” The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have
the ight o direct your broker, bnk,andlor oternomince o how to vt theshares i you ccount. Yo ar also nvitd 10 atendthe Annu Mecting.However becaus you st ot e stockholde of
record, you may not vote your shares Meeting unless you request and obtain a valid legal proxy from your broker, bank, and/or other nomince. Please follow the instructions from your broker,
Bk, snor othr nomiee iscloded i e proxy materials, or contact your broker, bank, and/or other nominee to request a legal proxy. If you hold your shares in “street name.” please instruct your

ker, bank, and/or other nominee how to vote your shares using the voting insiruction form provided by your broker, bank, and/or other nominee so that your vote can be counted. The vofing instruction
o provided by your broker, bank, and/or other nominee may also include information about how to submit your voting instructions over the Intemet, if such option is available.

A “broker non-vote” occurs when the broker, bank, and/or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner and does not have.
discretionary authority to vote the shares. If you own your shares in “street name” and do not provide voting instructions to your broker, bank, and/or other nominee, then your shares will not be voted at the
Annual Meeting on any proposal with respect to non-routine matters, on which your broker, bank, andor ofher nominee does not have discretionary authority. The Company expects that only Proposal 4 will
be treated as a “routine matter” under New York Stock Exchange rules (which, because they apply to all New York Stock Exchange “member organizations” voting on any stock exchrmge. also apply while
voting shares of issuers on the NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”). Accordngly, if you provide a proxy without voting if you do not ‘your broker, bank,
andor other nominee with voting instructions, we expect nk, and/or will not authority o vots yourshares atthe Ansual Meeing on any proposal other
than Proposal 4. In other words, if you do not provide voting instructions to your hmker, bank, and/or other nomince holding shares of our Common Stock for you, we expect that your shares will not be voted
with respeet to Proposal 1, Proposal 2 or Proposal 3. “Broker non-votes™ will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists at the Annual Meeting.

Altematively, votes made by brokers, banks and/or other nominces in their discretion will be counted the same as any other votes that are submitted regarding the proposals. However, some brokers,
banks and/or other nominces may not choose to use their discretionary authority if they have not received voting instructions from a beneficial owner. Accordingly, if your shares are held in “street name,” we
encourage you to provide voting instructions on a voting instruction form provided by the broker, bank, or other nominee that holds your shares, in cach case by carefully following the instructions provided.



How do I'vote the shares I hold through the Company’s 401(k) plan?

If you are a participant in our 401(k) plan, you will receive the Notice and the Companys exceutive officers will vote the shares in the Board's

May I revoke my proxy and change my vote?

Yes. You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the Annual Meeting in one of three (3) ways:

1

Deliver a witten notice that i dated later than the date of your proxy to the attention of our Corporate Secretary at Broadwind, Inc., 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, llinois
60804 that i received prior 0 the Annual Meeting stating that you revoke your proxy;

Log onto the Internet website specified on the Notice or proxy card in the same manner you would submit your proxy electronically or call the toll-free number specified on the
Notice or proxy card prior to 11:59 p.m. Eastern Daylight Time, on May 14, 2025, in each case if you are eligible to do s0 and following the instructions on the Notice or proxy card;

‘Submit another properly completed and timely proxy card with a later date; or

Appear at the virtual Annual Meeting, declare your prior proxy to be revoked and then vote virtually at the Annual Meeting (although merely atiending the Annual Meeting will not
revoke your proxy).

Ifa stockholder holds shares in “strect name™ by his or her broker, bank and/or other nomince, has directed such broker, bank and/or other nomince to vote his or her shares, and later wishes to
change his or her vote, the stockholder should instruct such person to change his or her vote

How do I attend the Annual Meeting ?

‘The Company is holding the Annual Meeting in a virtual-only format and stockholders will not be able to attend the Annual Meeting in person. To attend and participate in the Annual Meeting,
stockholders will need t0 access the live webcast of the meeting. To do so, please visit www.virtualshareholdermeeting. com/BWEN2025. Stockholders will be able to listen, vote and submit questions from

any location

th Internet connectivity.

£ you are a stockholder of record, you do not need to register to attend the Annual Meeting via the live webcast. To attend, just follow the instructions on the Notice or the proxy card that you
received. You will be required to enter the control number included on the Notice or proxy card that you received. We encourage you to access the meeting prior to the start time, leaving ample time for the

check-in.

If your shares ar held through a broker, bank and/or other nominee as of the Record Date and you wish to participate in the Annual Mecting, you must obtain, from the broker, bank and/or other
‘nominee, the information required. including a control number, in order for you to participate in, and vote at, the Annual Meeting.

If you have any questions, please contact the Company’s proxy solicitor:

S 5opau
&co

430 Park Avenue, 1410 Floor
York, New York I
tockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200
Banks, Brokers, Trustees and Other Nominees Call Collect: (203) 658-9400

Email: BWEN@investor. Sodali.com

What vote is required to approve each proposal?

1

The em tion of directors. An affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast is required for the election of each mmm nomince (meaning the number of shares of Common Stock

*Ior”a omines must exceed he number ofshares voted "aganst” such nominee), withabstetions and "broker non-votes” notcounted in n detemining the number of votes
cast Tth.h-rL. ovenion and ok ot scHes T bave o et on o utoome of (e et o it nrtme's emion provided. however, that in a contested election of
irectors, which wil mot b the caue at the Annual Mecting, diectors witl b elcted by  plaalty of the voles st on the eletio of irctors (nstead of by votes cat -for”or
“against” a nominee).

The non-binding advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers (Say-on-Pay). An affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast (meaning the number
of shares of Common Stock voted “for” the proposal must exceed the number of shares voted “against” the proposal), will constitute stockholder non-binding approval with respect
o the tion paid to our b d “broker non-votes" will not be counted in determining the number of votes cast and, therefore, will have
no effect on the outcome of this vote.

The ratification of the fourth amendment of the Rights Plan. An affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast (meaning the number of shares of common stock voted “for” the
proposal must exceed the number of shares voted “against” the proposal). will be required to ratify the fourth amendment of the Rights Plan. Abstentions and “broker non-votes™
will not be counted in determining the number of votes cast and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome of this vote.

The rafication of the appoiniment of RSM as our independent regisered public accounting firm for 2025 An affrmative vote of a majority of the vtes cast (meaning the number
of shares of Common Stock voted *for” the proposal must exceed the number of shares voted “against” the proposal), is required to ratify the appointment of RSM as our
independent registered public accounting firm for 2025 not be counted in cast and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome
of this vote.

Is the vote on the Say-on-Pay proposal binding on the Board?

sse the vote on the Say-on-Pay proposal is advisory, it will not be binding upon the Board. However, the Board values the opinions that our stockholders express in their votes and will take into
account the outcome of the votes when considering future executive compensation arrangements as it deems appropriate.



Can L ask questions at the Anmual Mecting?

Stockholders participating in the virtual meeting may submit questions to the Company’s officers during the meeting. If you are a stockholder of record and would like to submit a question, you may
do 50 by joining the virtual Annual Meeting at . entering the control in the Notice, proxy card or instructions from your broker, bank and/or
other nominee that you received and typing your question in the box in the Annual Meeting portal.

Tohelpcuu that we have. productive and effiient meting,we sk htyou it your submitcd questionst thoe that are rlevant (o the Annual Mectiog and that suc subited guestons
are respectful of your fellow stockholders and meeting participants. Questions may be grouped by tapic by " loud n addition, questions
oy b ruled o out f orde  hy ar, among oher thing, eleant 1 our busines, dsorderly, rpetions of Stcmentsalready made, o n futherance of e speaker s own personal interests. Questions
submitted during the Annual Meeting will be reviewed, and we intend to answer pertinent questions submitted, as time perits

Who pays for the proxy solicitation related to the Annual Meeting?

Wewill et th ost ofslicin proxie cluingthe repaaion,ssebly an aiing ofth Notic,proxies and soliing maerel, s el as the st o forwadin s mteil 0 beneiial
owners of our Coms k. Our directors, offi i . without than ther reg . solicit »

baveceained Sodali £Co. 116t s rory wliior n conjuncton withthe Anawa) Meting. We have agmu © L Sodali & Co. SIS 000, plus reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for proxy
solicitation services. The parties' engagement letier I & customary for this type of engage

How can I obtain additional information about the Company?

of our Annual Report, without exhibits,is available as specified in the Notice or accompanies the Proxy Statement if you received it by mail. No portion of our Annual Report is incorporated
herein, and no part thereof s to be considered proxy soliciting material. We will furnish to any stockholder, upon written request, any exhibit described in the list accompanying our Annual Report, upon the
payment, in advance, of reasonable fees related (o us furnishing such exhibit(s). Any such requests should include a representation that the stockholder was the beneficial owner of shares of our Common
Stock on the Record Date, and should be dirceted to our Corporate Secretary at Broadswind, Inc., 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, llinois 60804. You may also access our SEC filings and their exhibits,
including the exhibits described in our Annual Report through our website al wiw bwen.com or though the SEC's website at win.sec. g

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, which requires that we file reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains a website on the
Internet that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants, including the Company, that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s website address is

www.sec. gov

Will  have appraisal or similar dissenters” rights in connection with the proposals being voted on at the Amnual Meeting?

No. Appraisal or similar dissenters” rights are not applicable to any of the matters being voted upon at the Annual Meeting,

SECURITY

The following table sets forth as of the Record Date certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our Common Stock by:

© Each person known to us to beneficially own 5% or more of our Common Stock:
©  Eachof our exccutive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, who in ths Proxy Statement are collectively referred to as the “named executive officers” or “NEOs:”
e« Eachof ourdirectors (including nominces); and

©  Allofour executive officers (as that term is defined in Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) and directors as a group.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act. Beneficial ownership generally means having sole or shared vofing or investment power with respect
‘o securitis. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table, each stockholder named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of our Common Stock set forth
opposite the stockholder’s name. We have based this table pon information supplied by our executive officers, directors and 5% stockholders, including filings with the SEC and information supplied by our
transfer agent.
Number and

Percentage of Shares
Beneficially Owned (1)

‘Name and Address of Owner or Identity of Group (1) Shares Percentage
5% Be Owners and Other Selling Stockholders

Grace & wnm Inc. (2) 1986599 88%
Broadwind Inc. Employees' 401(K) (3) 1383143 62%
Exceutive Officers and Directors

Eric B. Blashford 529860 24%
Philip J, Chrstm: i .
Thomas A. Ciccone 82919 .
Jeanette A. Press 32,195 .
David P. Reiland 181542 .
Daniel E. Schueller 174598 *
Sachin M Shivaram 82594 *
Cary B. Wood 129,702 *
Al current executive officers and directors as a group (9 persons) 147723 64%

Less than 1%,



(1) Based on 22,463,307 shares of our Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date. Shares not outstanding but deemed beneficially owned by virtue of the right of a person to acquire them as
of the Record Date, or within sixty (60) days of the Record Date, are treated as outstanding when determining the percentage owned by such individual and when determining the percentage owned by a
group.

(2) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 5, 2025 by Grace & White, Inc., a New York corporation, as investment adviser (“Grace & White”). Grace & White holds sole
voting power it respect o 537,331 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 1.986,599 shares. Grace & Wit i ocated at 15 Madison Avenue, Suite 1700, New York, NY 10022

(3) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 9, 2024 by Delaware Charter Guarantee & Trust Company dba Principal Directed Trust Company as Trustee for the Broadwind, Inc
Employees’ 401(k) Plan, as updated as of the Record Date based on the records available to the Company. The shares of Common Stock held by executive officers are deducted from this amount and
included in their respective share counts. AS of the Record Date, the Broadwind, Inc. Employees® 401(k) Plan holds 1,473,960 shares of Common Stock (including the shares held by executive officers)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

“The names and ages of all of our director nominees, all of which are currently serving as directors, and the positions held by each are set forth below.
Age P

Name
ary B. Wood (2) E] ‘Chairmman of the By

Eric B. Blashford @ Direcr Fresact nd CEO

Philip J. Christman (1) (2) (3) 6l Director

Jeanette A Press (1) (2) (3) ¥ Dircctor

David P. Reiland (1) (3) 7 Director

Sachin M. Shivaram (1) 2) (3) “ Director

(1) Member of the Audit Committce.
() Member of the Compensation Committee

() Member of the Goverance/Nominating Committee.

Cary B M ks served s member of e Boud since Moy 18, 2016, s Crarmansnce April 2022 He i Chman of the Compersaion Comitc, I Deceber 019, M. Wood wasraed
Chief Executive Officer of Grede Holdings, LLC, a full-service supplier of ductile and gray iron metal solutions for avy truck and end markets. From July 2017
1o January 2019, Mr. Wood was the President and Chief Exccutive Offcer of Angelica Corporation, a leading provider of textiles o the healtheare i mduury He served as Chief Exccutive Officer and director of
Sparton Corporation (NYSE: SPA) from November 2008 to February 2016, and as its President from April 2009 to February 2016. From August 2004 to November 2008, Mr. Wood served in several roles,

including interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer, for Citation Corporation, now Grede Holdings, LLC. Since 2017, Mr. Wood has been a member of the Board of Directors of Westell
Corporation (NASDAQ: WSTL) where he chairs the Compensation Committee and is a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wood has served on the Board of Directors of M&G Duravent, Inc.,a privately-held
venting systems firm, since January 2017. Mr. Wood served on the Board of Directors of Vishay Precision Group, Inc. (NYSE: VPG), a designer, manufacturer and marketer of resistive foil echnology. sensors
and sensor-based systems for niche industrial applications from March 2016 until his term expired in May 2018. Mr. Wood began his career with General Motors Corporation, followed by a move to United
Technologies Corporation, where he served in a variety of general management, operations and engineering roles. Mr. Wood received a Bachelor of Science degree in Technology from Purdue University in
1989, a Master of Science degree in Industrial Operations in the School of Management from Lawrence Technological University in 1995, and a Master of Business Administration degree in Finance from
Loyola University-Chicago in 2014. Mr. W Chief Executive Officer in both public and private company settings. He has extensive background in authoring and exceution of turnaround and growth
strategies. Mr. Wood has extensive exccutive management experience that has been utilized in a number of turnarounds including post bankruptcy stand ups, public company carve-outs as well as operating
tumarounds. M. Wood has led a significant number of acquisitions with more than a dozen in the public domain. The Governance/Nominating Commitiee concluded that Mr. Wood should serve s a director

nominee as of the date of this Proxy Statement on the basis of his broad experience in manufacturing, corporate governance leadership, mergers and acquisitions and businss turnaround, operations, risk
assessment and management, strategic planning, global business, and public and private company executive leadership.

Eric B. Blashford has served as a member of the Board and as our President and CEQ since March 1, 2020. Prior to that, Mr. Blashford served as our Chief Operating Officer from May 2018 to February
2020 and President of Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc. formerly known as Broadwind Towers, Inc (“Broadswind Towers”). a precision manufacturer of structures, equipment and components for clean
technology and the speialied appieations rom Octobse 2014t My 2019, From January 2012 t0 Otober 2014, hesevedas Prsident o roupofbusinessesowned by The Heico Comprics, LLC,
incluing Barko ydrauic, LLC, Petboe Traverse Lifl, LC, and Tiffin Pas LLC, llof whichas manufctuersofesvy duy offroad veicles and prt) forthe orcsty, macri hndin, il £ gs,
construction industries. For the five years prior to joining Heico, Mr. Blashford served as President for a group of companies owned by The Scott Fetzer Co., servicing the truck equipment, clectrical mmg,
and industrial equipment markets. He started his career with Waltco Truck Equipment Company, where he served in various accounting iy operational roles. Mr. Blashford holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Accounting from the University of Akron and a Masters of Business Administration from Kent State University, and is a registered Certified Public Accountant (non-practicing) in the state of Ohio. The
Governance Nominating Commite conluded that M Blasordshoud serve a a dietornomince s ofthe date ofthi Proxy Siatemen because of s exenstve knowldge and understanding of our
business and expertise in manufacturing, product development, accounting, finance, corporate governance, mergers and acquisitions, business turnarounds, operations, strategic planning, and public and
private company executive leadership.

Philip J. Christman has served as a member of the Board since October 22, 2018, He is Chairman of the Governance/Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee. Mr. Christman has served as the President, Operations of Navistar International Corporation (with its affiliates, “Navistar”),  leading manufacturer of commercial trucks, buses,
defense vehicles, and engines, from May 2017 until his retirement in 2022. Prior to holding this position, he held various positions with Navistar, including Vice President, Strategy from June 2015 to May 2017,
Chief Procurement Officer from November 2014 to June 2015, Vice President, Engineering from July 2014 to November 2014, President, Global Business from November 2008 to July 2014, and Vice President
General Manager Vocational Trucks from June 2006 to November 2008. Earler i his career Mr. Christman held various leadership roles in operations. Since August 2022, Mr. Christman has been a member of the
Board of Directors of Allison Transmission Holdings, Inc., a manufacturer of commercial duty automatic transmissions and hybrid propulsion systems (NYSE: ALSN), where he is a member of the Audit
Committee and the Compensation Committee. Since October 2023, Mr. Christman has been a member of the Board of Directors of Hydro Electronics Devices Inc., a private company headquartered in Hartford,
Wisconsin. Mr. Christman reccived a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Indiana Institute of Technology and a Master of Business Administration from Ball State University. The

Committee that Mr. Christman should ‘nomince as of the date of this Proxy Statement on the basis of his extensive knowledge in manufacturing, corporate
‘governance leadership and participation, engineering, government/regulatory and public policy, operations, strategy, business tumaround and global business.

Jeanette A. Press has served as a member of the Board since March 22, 2023, She is a member of the Audit Commiltee and is designated a financial expert and is also a member of the Compensation
Commiteeandthe Governce/Nominating Comitee. Ms. Prss seves as the Vice Presidentand Chif Accounting Officer for Lime,  global provider of shrsd clctic vehicle,eading Limes lobal
ring, interal controls, Prior to Lime, Ms. s the Chiel . Controller and Principal Officer for CMC Materials, Inc.
M) (ASDAG: COMP) 3 slobd suplier ofcamsunsble el prmarly 0 eiconductor manufactures from Noverber 2021 until CMC’s merger with Entegris (NASDAQ: ENTG) in July 2022.
Following the closing ofth transacton, M Press srved as  Senior Advisor o th itegration ofthe two companies and on business disposition. M. Pres ed CMC”s global functions of intemal audit
o easry, EPA A, accounting and fvancial reporin and s hee fnanialexpertn o ansformin he hnane arganiton, avlegic acquisitons and ot s h key inane eade i he sl of
CMC to Entegris. Ms. Press previously served as Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting O NYSE: UNVR), a distributor, and USG C
USG). a manufacturer and distributor of high-performance building systems. Prior to USG, Ms. Press served 13 years in the audit practice at KPMG, LLP. Ms. Press also serves on the board and is chair of the
advancement commiteee for The Conservation Foundation, a not-for-profit land and watershed conservation organization dedicated to preserving and restoring open space, protecting rivers and watersheds,
and promotingemvronment sewardlip, and i an advisory board memberfor the Lojola Uriversy Accountingprogram, Ms. Pes gradatedfom Lojola Universit wih o .5.A.in Accouning. She i a
fisensed Cerified Public Accountan and  cetified bosrd it by the National Assocation of Corprae Dietos. The Goverance Nominating Commitc concluded that Ms. Press should serve as a
F the date of this on the basis of her broad knowledge of mergers d management, and public polcy sty
and deep financial, accounting and internal controls acumen.




David P. Reiland has served as a member of the Board since April 16, 2008, He served as Chairman of the Board from May 17, 2010 to February 29, 2020. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and is
designated as a financial expert, and is also a member of ‘ommittee. Mr. Reiland Magnetek, Inc. (“Magnetek”) from August 1986 until January 2009, where he
held numerous high-level positions, including Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and Vice President of Finance, and served as CEO and President of Magnetek from October 2006 unil
October 2008, He also served on the board of directors of Magnetek from October 2006 to September 2015, Magnetek develops, manufactures and markets power and motion control systems and was a public
company unil it acqisition by Columbus Mekinron Corporation in Scptmber 2015, M Refland s Certifi Public Accountantwho bolds an udergadute dess in nncil mnagement o Clfornia
State riversity, Long Besch,nd  Mascr of Busiess Administstion degre romthe UricrsiyofSouthen Caltormia. The Governance/Nominating Committee concluded that hould serve as a
director nomine as of the date of this Proxy Statement on the basis of his exter ovledge insrtegy dovelopment and exeeuton, mergers, cduisitions and diestturcs, aporating and fnancial
Lesmacturing, SEC reporing and Sarbancs.Ovly Actcomplance, public and pvatscaitalramsctons, and incstor and sharcholder rolations

Sichin M. Sivaram s seved 1 member of the BrdsinceNoveber 2 2022 He s a e of the Auit Commites, the Compensaton Commitceandthe (,avmm.ee/mm.nm.ng Committee.
Since June 2019, Mr. Shivaram has been Chief Excutive Officer of Wisc Foundry, a vertically inte d copper-based alloy castings for a wide va industrics.
Mr. Shivaram was the President of Sierra Aluminum from July 2018 to June 2019, Priden of e el Grou Fom June 201610 Jnly 2015, and Managin Dirctor o the Main il Division fom Oetaber
2017 to June 2019, each a division of Samuel, Son & Co. a $3 billion privately held company with business units in the U.S. and Canada focused on metal processing and manufacturing. Mr. Shivaram is a
member of the Board of Directors of Lodge Cast Iron (where he is Chair of the Audit & Finance Committee), the Wisconsin Center for Manufacturing and Productivity (where he serves as Chairman), the
National Association of Manufacturers (where he serves on the Executive Committee), Sheboygan Paint Inc. (where he serves as Chair of the Audit Committee), Grafiech Inc. (NYSE: EAF) and the Green Bay
Packers. Mr. Shivaram also serves as Chairman of the Wisconsin Governor's Council on Workforce Investment, Co-Chair of the New North Inc., the regional cconomic development agency in Northeast
Wisconsin, and as a trustee at Lawrence University. Mr. Shivaram is an adjunct faculty in the Schneider School of Business at St. Norbert College where he also serves as Chair of the Schneider School of
Business board. Mr. Shivaram received a Bachelor of Arts degree in history and lierature from Harvard University, a Master of Philosophy, Social and Political Science from the University of Cambridge, and a
Juris Doctor from Yale Law School. He is licensed to practice law in the State of Wisconsin. The Governance/Nominating (‘ommme: concluded that Mr. Shivaram should serve as a director nominee as of the
date of s Proey Statement on h bsis of i broud knoviedg of mamufctring. corpom\: overnane, mergrsand acquisiions,opetons, sk ascssment and management, govermentegultory
and public policy, marketing and sales, srategy, business

None of our directors are party to any agreement o arrangement that would require disclosure pursuant to NASDAQ Rule 5250(b)(3). In addition, none of our “related persons” are party to any
agreement or arrangement that would require disclosure pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 404(d).

2024 Director Compensation

For 2024, the © tion Commitiee and the. paid to loyee directors for service on the Board and its commitiees would remain unchanged. Under
the Amended nd Resited Brouduind, . Bod Compersation Progta 1lhe “Board Compensation Progrant, ach lgible non employes dirctor eceivs an annual eqiy grat of sesticed tock nis
(RSUS?) with a grant

Pursuant to the Board Compensation Program, on May 16, 2024, each member of the Board was granted an RSU award representing the right to receive 18,382 shares of our Common Stock upon
vesting, valued at $49,99, using a per share price of $4.105, the closing stock price of our Common Stock on the date of the grant. However, as part of a series of expense reduction actions taken by the
Company. he Board forsed paymens of th ash i o b made n e fis and scond s of 2024 Casl pa in the third quarter of

Al non-employee directors are subject to our stock ownership guidelines adopted in March 2011 and amended in 2023, which provide that, within five years of joining the Board, each non-employee
director shall own a number of shares of our Common Stock having a value equal to three times the annual cash retainer fees eaed by the director in the immediately preceding calendar year. Please see the
discussion below under the heading “Stock Ownership Guidelines” for more information.

Each non-employee director is eligible to participate in the Broadwind, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Deferred Compensation Plan”), which was adopted by the Board on October 24, 2007
‘The Deferred Compensation Plan is an unfunded arrangement subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “/RC). The value of each participant’s
account is deemed invested in shares of our Common Stock and is generally payable upon the director’s departure from the Board. There were no deferments in 2024,

2024 Director Compensation Table

‘The following table sets forth the 2024 compensation information for our non-employee directors. Mr. Blashford received no additional compensation for his service as a director since he was also
serving as our President and CEO. The compensation received by Mr. Blashford as our employee is set forth in the 2024 Summary Compensation Table set forth in this Proxy Statement

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash

Name ) tock Awards (2) Total
Cary B. Wood 5 300§ X 99
Dirctor. Cenan of heBourd
David P Reil s 25000 S 99 S 499
e
Philip ). Christman s 25000 S 999 s 74999
Director
‘Sachin M. Shivaram s 25000 S 99 S 74999
Direc
Jeanette A. Press s 25000 S 99 s 74999
Director
1) Represets s cumed forsrics in 2024, regrdles ofwhen paid. The B orfied payments ofhe csh tiner o be made i the it and 12024 ploy
as a part of the Company' pa reinstated in the third quarter of 2024

(2) As of 12/31/2024, each director had outstanding 18,382 RSUs scheduled to vest on May 16, 2025, Stock Awards represent the aggregate grant date fair value of RSUs awarded during 2024, calculated in
accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718—Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC Topic 718"), under the Amended and Restated
Broadvind,n. 2015 Euity InceivePlan (he “4&R 2013 E17"),andasumes noforfiurs s deived in hecleulation of e grantdt i valu o the awards. Thessumptons ued t0detcrmine the
valuation of these awards are discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Repor s granted a RSU award representing the right to receive 18,382
haresaf e Common Sock upon vesing, vaued using  per are pic af 53,72, th loing stoo price fo our Common Siock o the date af gt

H

Note: Mr. Wagner served as a dircctor until his retirement on May 16, 2024, Mr. Wagner received no compensation for his service as a direetor in 2024,



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Independence

The Bordfas dtemine that curnly and at all s uring he yar e December 31,2024, members ofthe Boar, e than Mr Blashford our Presidentand Chif Excive Offier, re and
have been “independent” as defined by the listing standards of the NASDAQ. Mr. Blashford is not independent since he also serves as an executive officer of the Company. The Board considers i its
cvalution of independence nformation provided by th dicetors nd any nominces in d other certificati P to us and any existing related party transactions,
which are discussed below in this Proxy Statement in the section entitled “Certain Transactions and Business Relationships.™

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

have a written Code of Ethics and Business mm..m “Code of Ehice) tat pplie ol ofour employess, divectorsand ofcers,incuding ou prnipal executiv offier,principl fancial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller and ur Code o topics as protection and proper use of our assets, compliance with applicable laws.
and regulaions,accuracy and preservation ofrecords, accouting and financlal reporting, vty oﬁmeresl. and insider trading. The Code of Ethics is posted on our Inermet website, www: wen.conr, and is
available in print, free of charge, t0 any stockholder who sends a request for a paper copy to Broadwind, Atin: Corporate Secretary, 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, 1L 60804. We intend t0 include on our

website any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Ethics that applies to any of our dircetors or exceutive officers that relates to any clement of the code of ethics definition enumerated in
Tiem 406(b) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the *Securities Act”).

Insider Trading Policy

Our amended and restated Policy Statement on Inside Information and Securities Trading governs the purchase, sale and/or other disposition of our securities by our directors, officers and employees
and is reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations.

Clawback Policy

We amended our Policy on Recoupment of Incentive-Based Compensation to provide that the Board will, subject to limited exceptions, recover incentive compensation paid to covered individuals
(including our exccutive officers) in cases where we have to prepare an accounting restatement which resulted in the payment of incentive compensation greater than what should have been paid based on the
restated financial results or corrected metric.

Board Leadership Structure

Jarly considers for the Company. In 2024, the Board was led by an independent Chairman, Mr. Wood. Our Board believes this structure provides an
ffective eadership mode or the Company and hlps sssure cective mdependent overigh. However, ou Bond s belicues that nosingle leadership model i vight for all companies and atal times
Depending on the circumstances, other leadership models, such as combining the roles of the Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, might b “The Board and
Committee will continue to evaluate the Board’s leadership structure as part of its regular review of corporate governance and succession planning to ensure it remains best suited for the Company and its
stockholders.

Risk Oversight

‘The Board and its Audit Committee play an active role in the oversight of risk and our risk P The Audit C and compliance
visks,with the ull Board rsponsible fo athe ks, We conduct comprehensive Enterprise Rk Assevsments n a persodic basis, and review the result with (e Board, as approprate. We update he Board
regularly on actions taken as a result of the Enterprise Risk Assessments. Because of our size and available resources, we do not have  dedicated risk management function; rather, certain of our employees

are charged with responsibiliy for specific risk areas, including for example risks, liquidity risks, legal risks, We rely on 10 obtain, rapidly process, analyze,
s manage data i onde o Sctvely opeat o busines, We s commied (0 potectng ou businss information, inclctl pmperl;« customer suppisand employce data ad nformation ysims
from cybersecurity risks and e maintain s, processes and standards that set the requirements around

acceptable use of information <ymm< and data, risk assessment and management, identity and access management, e ety sty l\pemnnm security incident response and threat and vulnerability
management We work o alignto the Nronal Instiute ofSandards and Tehnology (NIST) 80-171 Cobersecurity Framework, s s pogram control ar desined toprotet and mainan confdenialiy.
inegity, andcontinued aaiailtyofour daaand iformatonsystes.Our car ofnformaio systm proessionlsand mud party providers monitors our information systems for cybersecurity threats,

ions and other weaknesses, responds to cybersecurity incidents, develops and implements plans to rnccury hratsand it raning for our cmployeca. We sl cngase
consuliants nd othe tirdparty advsers 1o o independent assessments of our eybersecuety readiness and control entvencs.In salsborson with out sy -party providers, we seek to gain
insights into s and ' . an e o inform ou These individuals make periodic reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on
hetaras of ok oversight

Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors

Stockholders may communicate directly with the Board or any of its individual members. Any such communication should be directed to our Corporate Secretary at the address below and should
prominently indicate on the outside of the envelope that it is intended for the Board or for non-employee dircctors, and our Corporate Secretary will forward the communication to our directors, as appropriate
1 no director is specified, the communication will be forwarded to the entire Board. Stockholder communications to the Board should be sent to:

Broadwind

Attn: Corporate Secretary

3240 South Central Avenue
Cicero, Ilinois 60804

Director Attendance at Annual Meetings

Directors” attendance at our Annual Meetings can provide our stockholders with an opportunity to communicate with directors about issues affecting us. Our Principles of Corporate Governance
encourage our directors to attend the Annual Mectings. All of our then-current dircctors attended our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Committee and Board of Directors Mectings

During 2024, the Board met twelve (12) times, including in-person, video and telephonic meetings. The directors also communicated informally to discuss our afairs and, when appropriate, took formal
action by unanimous written consent of all directors, in accordance with our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware law. Exceutive sessions of the independent directors are scheduled at least twice
per year in conjunction with regularly scheduled Board meetings.

‘The Board has three (3) standing committces: the Audit Committee, the C tion Committee and Committee. In 2024, each director attended at least 87% of the

meetings of the Board and of commitices on which they scrve.




Current Committee Membership

“The following able sets forth the current membership of each of the Board's commitces.
it .

ommittee
‘David P. Reiland (Chairman) ‘Cary B. Wood (cnmm) Philip J. Christman (Chairman)

Pl ). Cstnan il Clrsnan David P. Reiland
Jeanette A. Sachin M. Shivaram Sachin M. Shivaram
Sohimb. St Venneue/\ l'rese Jeanetic A. Press
a5 A. Wagner Thomas A. Wagner*
M. onthe C vion and Gy ommitces unil his rerementon Mn) 16,2024
Audit Committee

c Bosrd maitinsan Audit Commitee cutently conprised o fou ndependent dicctons, nluding o fnanelal expets u defined below).Thecurent members o the Audit Commite st Ms
prssand Mesarn. Refland (Chieman, Chriman, and Shivaram. The Baard and the At Commiteebeive hat th Audit Commiee's curren satisfies the NASDAQ
the criteria of Scetion 10A(m)(3) and Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.

Audit Commiteee Scope of Authoriy and Charter

e primary uncton of the Audit Commite i asistin the Baurd with oversght responsibilies, inluding with respeet 0 the following: (v the financil repors and aher mateial inanci
information we provide to any governmental body or the publi with to the Audit Committee:
(¢) pre-approval of all audit services and non-audi services to be performed by our independent accountants; P systems of internal and external reporting processes and internal controls regarding
finance, accounting, legal compliance and ethics; (¢) oversight with respect to related party transactions and any complaints received by us regarding accounting, intemal accounting controls and auditing; ()
preparation of an annual Audit Committee Report to be presented to the Board; and (g) our auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes generally. The Audit Committee charter is posted on our
Internet website, wiw.bwen.com, and may be amended by approval of the Board, upon recommendation by the Governance/Nominating Committee. The Audit Commiltee met four (4) times in 2024,

Audit Committee Financial Expert

‘The Board has determined that Mr. Reiland and Ms. Press are “audit committce financial experts” as defined in Item 407(d)(S)(i) of Regulation S-K. The designation of Mr. Reiland and Ms. Press as
‘audit committee financial experts does not impose on Mr. Reiland and Ms. Press any dutics, obligations or liabilities that are greater than the dutics, obligations and liability imposed on Mr. Reiland and Ms.
Press as members of the Audit Committee and the Board in the absence of such designation or identification.

Audit Committee Report

In accordance with its written charter adopted by the Board, the Audit Commitice assists the Board with fulfilling its oversight responsibility regarding the quality and integrity of the Company's
accounting, auditing, and financial reporting practices. In discharging ding the audi . the Audit Committee:

1 reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management;

2 discussed with the blic accounting firm th
Committees); and

d to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301, as amended (Communications with Audit

3. received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm required by applicable requirements of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountant’s communications with the Audit Committec concerning independence, and discussed with the independent
registered public accounting firm s independence.

Based upon the review and discussions referred 1 above, the Audit Commitiee recommended to the Board that he audied financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form
10K for the December 31, 2024, for .

‘Members of the Audit Committee:
David P. Reiland (Chairman)
Philip J. Christman
Jeanette A, Press

Sachin M. Shivaram

Compensation Committee

Responsibility for evaluating our compensation policies, oversight of management's performance and has been delegated by the
Bourd 0 the Compensaon Commites.Ths cuen embet o . Compensation Conmies s . o and Mte. Wood (Craimam, Cotnon, and Shran, . W oo el on b Compersaion
Committee until his retirement on May 16, 2024. The Board believes that each member of the Compensation Committe satisfies the independence requirements of NASDAQ Rule 5605(d) and Rule 10C-1 under
the Exchange Act.

Compensation Commitee Scope of Authority and Charter

Under the Compensation Committee’s written charter, the primary duties and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee include the following: (a) periodically review our philosophy of
compensation, taking into consideration enhancement of stockholder value from a short, intermediate and long-term perspective: (b) annually consider strategic and operating plans and the various
ompeatn plnsfo which the Compansation Commite i respunables () eview indivdual ud Compaypafua sl o objesives ofour CEO o senior mansgerent, vt sach

officers’ performance in light of these goals, and etermine and approve appropriate compensation levels and equity grants; (d) oversight with respect to compensation policies and plans, including incentive
plans, quiy plans, benefit, andperquisics ofsenio managemen; (¢ general oversght andrsk assssment withrespect  human resoures polcis itegies o prosram and el bl pane
(1) recommend compensation plans for members of the Board; and (g) assess potential conflicts of interest raised by the work of compensation are involved in

exceutive or director compensation. The Compensation Commitiec’s charter is posted on our Internet website, wwiw bwen.con, and may be amended by )«ppmvnl of the Board, upon recommendation by the
Governance/Nominating Committee. The Compensation Committee met four (4) times in 2024

The Board and he Compersation Commitce make compensation dcisions regaring our decisions and the C Committee
may take into account the of our CEO a . which includes any officer o' Tepors deely 1 o CEG and ay athr fficeraf the Company o1 ot subsdircs so
designated by our CEO. Other than giving such ecommendatons, oweve. o CEG and oo s ‘management have no formal role and no authority to determine the amount or form of executive and
director compensation.

‘The Compensation Committee may, at our expense, retain legal counsel (which may be, but need not be, our regular corporate counsel) and other consultants and advisors to assist it with its
functions. The Compensation Committee has authority to approve such consultants” and advisors’ fees and other retention terms and to terminate is relationship with any such consultant or advisor. The
Compensation Committee will assess the independence of any such legal counsel, consultants or advisors to the extent required by applicable SEC and NASDAQ rules. For additional information regarding
these services, please see the discussion entitled “Role of Compensation Consultant” included in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement. In addition, the Compensation
Committee has authority to delegate its individual C tion Commitiee members.

Governance/Nominating Committce

‘The current members of the Governance/Nominating Committee are Ms. Press and Messrs. Christman (Chairman), Reiland, Shivaram and, until his retirement on May 16, 2024, Wagner. The Board
c NAS

elieves that cach member of the independence /ASDAQ Rule S615c). The nomines for lecion o the Brd at he Annal Mocting vers
y Committee. The G Committee i Internet website, wwnw.bwen.com, and may be amended by approval of the Board,
upon ommittee. et e ) fimesin 2024

‘The Governance/Nominating Committee reviews director nominces proposed by stockholders. A stockholder who wishes to recommend one or more director nominces must provide a written
recommendation to our Corporate Secretary, at Broadwind, Inc., 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, Ilinois 60804. In order to recommend a nominee for director at an Annual Meeting pursuant to our Bylaws,
our Corporate Secretary must receive the written nomination not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding Annual Mecting (or,if the Annual Meeting
i called for a date that is not within 30 days before or after such anniversary date, the written nomination must be so received not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which
notice of the date of the Annual Meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the Annual Meeting was made, whichever first oceurs).



Our Bylaws require that a notice of a recommendation must include (among other things):
with respect to the stockholder giving the notice:

the name and record address of such stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person (s defined in the Bylaws):

the class or srics and number of shares of our capital stock which are owned benet

ally or of record by such stockholder or any such Stockholder Associated Person:

whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of, or any other agreement, arrangement
or understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares) has been made, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to or manage risk or
benefit of share price changes for, o o increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any share of
stock of the Company;

a description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person and each proposed nominee and any other person
or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made by such stockholder;

a representation that such stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting of stockholders to nominate the persons named in its notice;

such other information relating to the stockholder and any such Stockholder Associated Person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filing
required to be made in connection with a contested solicitation of proxies in which such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person is a participant in a solicitation
subject to Regulation 14 of the Exchange Act;

a representation whether the stockholder is being financed or indemnified by any third party for making this nomination and a reasonably detailed description of the
source of funds to be used to fund the solicitation of votes in connection with the nomination;

a fully completed director’s questionnaire (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request by the stockholder giving the notice by registered
mail at least ten (10) days prior to the submission of the notice:

a representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request by the stockholder giving the notice prior to submission of such notice),
including that such person: (A) consents to be named in the proxy statement as a nominee, to serve as a director if elected, and to the public disclosure of the information
provided pursuant to the Bylaws; (B) is not and will not become a party 1o (i) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or
assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person,if elected as a director of the Company, will act or vote on any issu or question (a “Voring Commitment”) that
has not been disclosed to the Company or (i) any Voting Commitment that could interfere with such person’s fiduciary duties under applicable law; (C) will provide facts,
statements and other information in all communications with the Company and its stockholders and beneficial owners that are and will be true and correct in all material
respects and do not and will not omit 0 state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; (D) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding (whether written or oral) with any person or entity other than the
Company with respect to any direct or in connection with s acton o it ofthe Company that s
not been disclosed to the Company; and (E) in such person’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being m
would be in compliance, if elected as @ director of the Company, and will comply with al applicable law, all applicable rules of the U.S. exchange upon which the o
Stockofthe Company it and ll appiable, pblicy diclosedcororste governance, conflit of erest,cofidentialty and stk ownersip and ading olices
and other guidelines of the Company P of the Companys material non-public information):

a representation that such stockholder intends to solicit proxies from stockholders representing at least 67% of the voting power of the shares entitled to vote on the
clection of dircctors, in accordance with Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act, and shall include a statement to that effect on the proxy statement or the form of proxy of
such stockholder: and

such other information relating to the proposed nomination as the Company may reasonably request; and

©  with respeet to the director nominee:
o thename, age, business address, and residence address of such director nominee;
©  the principal occupation or employment of such director nomince:
o the class or series and number of shares of our capital stock which are owned beneficially or of record by such director nominee; and
©  any other information relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations

of proxies for clection of directors pursuant to Regulation 14A, including. without limitation, Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act.

ich notice must be accompanied by (1) a written consent of each proposed director nominee being named as a nominee and to serve as a direetor if elected and (2) a representation that such
stockholder has complied with such requirements of Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act. No person shall be eligible for election as a director unless nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in
our Bylaws and as required by applicable law.

‘The Governance/Nominating Commitice is responsible for matters relating to the selection of candidates for, and the tenure of the members of, the Board: for developing and recommending to the
Board our Principles of Corporate Governance; and for overseeing and carrying out policies and processes that enhance the effective and efficient governance of the Company.

Committee will for the Board who are recommended by stockholders, directors, third party search firms engaged by us, and other sources. When

to the Board, the “ommittee will consider the attributes of the candidates and the necds of the Board and will review all candidates in the

same manner, regardless of the source of the recommendation. In evaluating director nominees, a candidate should have certain minimum qualifications, including being able to read and understand basic

financial statements, having familiarity with our business and indusiry, having high moral character and mature judgment, and being able to work collegially with others. In addition, factors such as the
following shall be considered:

e independence standards, the presence of any material interests that could cause a conflict between our interests and the interests of the dircctor nominee, and the director
nominee’s ability to exercise his or her best business judgment in the interest of all our stockholders;

©  the director nominee’s willingness to adhere to our Code of Ethics;

+ the dirctornomineesability o devot suffcent ime 0 the busines of the Boardand at least on of the taning commites of he Board. n \,bm of the number of other boards
on which the profit and  the other business and p

©  the appropriate size and the diversity of the Board;

©  the knowledge, skills and experience of the director nominee, including experience in the industries in which we operate, as well as in the general areas of business, finance,
‘management and public service, in light of prevailing b d the knowledge, skills possessed by of the Boar

©  the director nominee’s familiarity with domestic and intemational business matters;

©  legal and regulatory requirements that are applicable to us;

.o e s expe generally principles and and practices;

o e s ability to enhance the our business to the changing needs of society: and

©  the desire of the Board to balance the considerable benefit of continuity with the periodic injection of the fiesh perspective provided by new members,

In February 2015, the Board amended our Principles of C o establish a mandatory ¢ of 72 years old for dircctors, provided that the Board may choose to make an

exception o this policy when it determines that doing 5o would be i the best intrests of the Company and our Sockhatien.

he Governance/Nominating Committee believes in an expansive definition of diversity that includes differences of gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation and other underrepresented groups as well as
experience, education and talents, among other things. The Broadwind, Inc. Governance/Nominating Committee Policies for Director Nominations and Stockholder Proposals is available on our website,
e bwen.com.
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[Total Number of Directors - 6

[Part I: Gender Identity
Directors

[Part I1: Demographic Background
African American or Black
Alaskan Native or Native American

Hispanic or Latinx
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander
White

‘Two or More Races or Ethnicties

LGBTQ-
Did Not Disclose Demographic Background

Female

Male

s

Non-Binary

Did Not Disclose Gender

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
‘The names and ages of our current executive officers and the positions held by cach are as follows:
Name Position

President and Chief Exceutive Officer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
President, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc.
President, Broadwind Industrial Solutions, LLC

Eric B. Blashford
Thomas A. Ciccone
Daniel E. Schueller
Gilbert M. Mayo, Jr

apzaf

Eric B. Blashford has served as member of the Board and as our President and CEO since March 1, 2020. Prior to that, Mr. Blashford served as Chief Operating Officer of Broadwind from May 2018 to
February 2020 and President of Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc., formerly known as Broadwind Towers from October 2014 to May 2019. From January 2012 to October 2014, he served as President of a
‘group of businesses owned by The Heico Companies, LLC, including Barko Hydraulics, LLC, Pettibone Traverse Lift, LLC, and Tiffin Parts, LLC, all of which are manufacturers of heavy duty off road vehicles
(and parts) for the forestry, material handling, oil and gas, and construction industries. For the five years prior to joining Heico, Mr. Blashford served as President for a group of companies owned by The Scott
Fetzer Co., servicing the truck equipment, electrical fittings, and industrial equipment markets. He started his career with Waltco Truck Equipment Company, where he served in various accounting and
operational roles. Mr. Blashford holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration degree in Accounting from the University of Akron and a Master of Business Administration degree from Kent State
University, and is a registered Certified Public Accountant (non-practicing) in the state of Ohio

‘Thomas A. Ciceone has served as our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 10, 2022, Prior to that Mr. Ciccone served as Vice President and Principal Accounting Officer since
October 1, 2021, and as Corporate Controller, Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary from July 2017 to September 2021. He joined Broadwind in 2008 as Accounting Manager, and has since held various
corporate finance roles including Director of Finance and Manager of External Reporting. Prior to joining Broadwind, Mr. Ciccone began his career with Emst & Young LLP and served in an audit/attestation
role for five years. He also served as Controller at Assistive Technology Group, Inc. for five years. Mr. Ciccone is a Certified Public Accountant (non-practicing) in the state of Illinos and holds a Bachelor of
Science in Accounting from the University of llinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Daniel E. Sehueller has served as President of Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc. since May 2019. He served as President of Brad Foote Gear Works, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company specializing
sanufacturing, from May 2016 to April 2019 and from April 2010 to March 2013. In the interim period. Mr. Schueller was Vice President of Parts and Service for Federal Signal Corporation (NYSE:

FSS) and Vice President of Bronto Skylift Oy Ab (a subsidiary of Federal Signal Corporation) in Tampere, Finland, a manufacturer of truck mounted aerial equipment for fire protection and industrial
applications. Prior to that position, he was Vice President/General Manager Parts and Service and Vice Manager of Vactor nc., a part of the. Solutions Group of
Federal Signal Corporation, from March 2003 to April 2010. Mr. Schueller previously held manufacturing positions at Tecumseh Engines and at Case New Holland. Mr. Schueller earned a Bachelor of Science
Degre in Mechanical Enginecring Technology from the Milwaukee School of Engineering, and a Master of Business Administration degree from St. Ambrose University. He currently serves on the Board of
Directors of HCC I lier of o industry, and Iy on the Advisory Board of the Illinois Manufacturing Excellence Center.

in custom gear m

ilbert M. Mayo has served as President of Broadwind Industrial Solutions, LLC (“B15”) since September 2018. Mr. Mayo was the General Manager, Heavy Fabrications, at Broadwind Towers from
January 27,2015 to October 1, 2017 until his appointment as President of BIS. Prior to joining Broadwind, Mr. Mayo spent over sixteen years in the Scott Fetzer Company, serving in various leadership roles.
including President of the Halex Company, a leading national manufacturer of clectrical fittings and accessorics. He held senior operations leadership positions in both the Fort James Company and Michelin
Tire Corporation. Mr. Mayo served as an officer in the United States Marine Corps for five years. Mr. Mayo holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the United States Naval Academy, a Master of Arls degree
from Webster University and a Master of Business Administration degree from Clemson University.




COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Business Summary
Broadwind i  precision manufactre of sructrs,cqipmentandcomponents fo s technology nd othe speialied spplictons. We provid echnologically advancedHigh vlue products o

customers with complex systems and stringent quality standards that operate in cnrgy, mining and infastructure scetors, primarily in the United States of Ar ). Our capabilities include but are not
Timied 0 the followng: heavy Hbrcatons welding, meal roling,coning, searcingand shaping, earbos heat treat, assembly.

We were incorporated in 1996 in Nevada as Blackfoot Enterprises, Inc., and through a series of subsequent transactions, became Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in 2008. Through
scquisitions n 2007 and 2008, we foeussd on expanding upon our core platiorm as 8 wid towet manufictuer,ctablished our (Jearmg Scament, and developedand boadencd ou ndusia fariatons
capabil cary 2017, we scquired Red Wolf Compary. LLC,aKiterand assenber of ndusria P ol s 0, we rebranded to Broadwind, Inc., a
reflection of o progress to date and our continued strategy to expand our product and bomer er s oo of yind ccergy. Efeetvs with aur 2020 rebranding, we renamed certain
esments, Our Towers and Heavy Fabrications sement wes e Henvy Fabrcations and o Procos Sysems segmont was enamod o Industiat Solutions Our Geaing segmont name remned he same

Fora more detailed discussion of our business, please see Item 1, “Business”, of our Annual Report
2024 Business Highlights
© 2024 was another profitable year for Broadwind as we generated $4.2 million of operating income on $143 million of revenue. This revenue level was down when compared to 2023, as we

slowed our tower production in our Abilene plant in response to customer demand and our Gearing business had reduced shipments to oil and gas customers. Management partially
offset the impact of the reduced revenue levels with targeted cost reduction actions. Our Industrial Solutions business continues to have solid results, and experienced record-high

. operating income and non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA levels. 2024 continued to benefit from the relatively strong backlog that we entered the year with: a result of the $175M tower
Orderrceived e in 2033, 5 wel 1 the poiie from the advancey duction tax credits the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022,
 From s commercil perspctve, we experonced an hcrease i rderswihincach of out reporin scament in 2024 Mostntable s within our Industia solutions segment where we
ended 2024 with record orders and backlog, as a result of the strong natural gas turbine market that they operat
®  Weended the year in a strong liquidity position with total cash and excess availability under the Company’s it ity ofcary 533 millon
2

2024 Named Executive Officers (NEOs)

Our Named Exceutive Officers for 2024 are:

Name Position
Eric B. Blashford President and Chief Exceutive Officer

s A. Ciccone Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Damel E. Schueller President, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc.

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our executive compensation program is designed to support the overall objective of maximizing long-term stockholder value by aligning the interests of our executive officers with the interests of our
stockholders, and rewarding exeeutive officers for achieving Company and strategic objectives as established by the Compensation Commitice. The excutive compensation prozam s also designed to
provide compensaion opportunitcsthtatac and et th srviees of talenid and experienced Ieadersvital t our shrt and ong-term succsss. Tis Corpenstion Discuss nalysis provides o
description of the material clements of our practices for our 1d be read in conjunction with the Summary Cumpcnaahm\ b and reied
compensation tables in this Proxy Statement.

How We Make Compensation Decisions
Pay for Performance Alignment
Our executive compensation program is intended to align the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders using performance based incentives. The Compensation Committee
designed the executive compensation program so that variable pay elements (performance-based bonuses and long-term incentives) constitute a significant portion of the target compensation opportunity for

each exceutive officer.

Corporate Governance Framework

‘The Compensation Committee engages in an ongoing review of our executive compensation program to ensure that it is designed to suppon our compensation policy and serve the interests of our
stockholders. Following are highlights of our corporate governance framework, which the Compensation C reinforces our pay philosop!

©  Significant Compensation at Risk: Variable pay comprises a significant portion of our executive compensation.

©  NoExcise Tax Gross-up Payments on Change in Control Benefits: Our executive compensation arrangements do not include excise tax gross-up payments in the event of a

change in control.

©  Limited Perquisites and Other Benefits: We do not provide our exceutive officers with perquisites such as Company vehieles, club memberships, financial planning assistance,
tax preparation or other benefits. We do not offer a service-based defined benefit pension plan to our employees.

. ip Guidelines: We require our directors to meet stock ownership guidelines (ranging from one to five times annual base salary in the case of
exceutive officers and three times annual cash retainer fees in the case of directors). The stock ownership guidelines are described in more detail below in the section entitled

“Stock Ownership Guidelines

+ Insidor Trading Polcy: Our amended and estated Polcy Statement on nsid Information and Sccuritcs Tmllu\g ovems the purchase,sle andlor oter disposition of ur
securities by our directors, officers i reasonably designe g laws, rules

©  Anti-Hedging and Anti-Pledging Policies: We have adopted policies whereby directors, officers and certain other key employees are prohibited from entering into hedging
transactions or similar arrangements with respect o our securities and may not pledge our securities as collateral for a loan.

©  Benchmarking Process: The Compensation Committe reviews the external marketplace and our peer group in order to factor in current competitive and best practices when
‘making compensation decisions.

* - Clawback Pl We amended ourexising ol 0 b incompisce with Secton 10D ofthe Exchange Actnd the NASDAQ reqrements rleant herso, pursuant 0 wlich

mpany will, subject to id to covered in cases where we have to prepare

an accoumting restatement which rsuhed n the paymmentof i compencation reater than what should have boen paid based on the restaed Fmancalresulsor areted
meic

©  Useof Independent Compensation Consultant: The Compensation Commitiee has retained Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. (“FIV Cook”) as its independent compensation
consultant.



Role of Compensation Consultant

Pursuant to the terms of s charter, the Compensation Committee has the authority to retain independent advisors to assist in carrying out its responsibilities. The Compensation Committee has
engaged FW Cook, a consultant, o advise the C tion Committee on certain matters, including with respect to benchmarking, compensation trends
nd retnton practces. In 2034, F Cook perfomed he following serices for the Compensaton Comitee

o Provided the Compensation Committce with updates on current trends, regulatory developments and best practices in exceutive compensation, including insight regarding Pay
Versus Performance as required by Section 953(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K; and

* Advised the Compensaion Commiteeregrting d d matters (with respect compensation and Board compensation), and
ion Commitee m

attended four (4) Compens ings held during the year.

Role of Senior Management in Compensation Decisions

“The Board and the C tion C. d However,in makingexcutive compensation dcisions he Compesaton Commitee
secks and comsidrs input rom pats i the Bourd's nd the Compensation Commits'atvtisin e fllovingspcifc rspec
Our CEO reports t0the Compensaton Commitiee with respectt evaluation ofthe ur C
decisions for these individuals, including base salary levels and the amount and mix of incentive arts. o CE s ot pres;m when the Compensation Committee deliberates
and approves changes 1o his compensation.

* QurCEO dovelops and resommends orconsideraion by the Compensaton Commitse perfomanc objectives and targets fo ou incentive compensation programs. The
‘ommittee makes final

Consideration of Prior Year Say-on-Pay Vote

In the C e Comite's 2004 - the Compensaton Commitc onsiderd the el fthevoss st n the say-n-pay”propossat ur 2023 Annu Mecting
Khold Dhilosaphy. abjectves and with In 2024, the C an 85%
vote in favor of the “say-on-pay” advlsory roosl Accordingl,the Compensation Commites did ot make ﬂnych:mges o our 2024 exccuivecompensation rogram inresponse o the w580y’ 4ot

Use of Pecr Group

“The Compensation Comittee uses  customized peer group for benchmarking purposes. The peer group has been revised and/or updated periodiclly, fllowing recommendations from the
. The

“ommittee’s tion Committee considered the appropriate peer group in February 2024 based on eriteria that included industry clasification,
annual revenue, and market capn\nhnlmn Following this review, the C tion C pproved the group for purp

American Super Conductor Graham Corporation Perma-Pipe Interational Holdings, Inc.

Argan, Inc Hurco Companes, Inc Preformed Line Products Company

DMC Global Inc. Natural Gas Services Twin Disc, Incorporated

Eastern Company Orion Energy System

Elements of Compensation

Overview

The Compensation Commits s mplemented s formalze compenston sucur for our excutve offcrs thit ncldes b sy, an nnua ncetive opporturiy, nd omgtrm incetives.

allocating compensation amon; tion Committee believes th offcr' tage compenstion should iclude o sgaficant performance bsed componen. The
Compensaton Commitee does ot solly use o o approach i determining the weighting e component of total ather, in setting each . the
the total comps package of market, peers and performance.

Components
Base Salary

We pay our excoutiv offcr e annalsfries,whie provide s degres offinancial sty and e nended o reflet he compettv marktpac, o atectand i qulfty exceuive offiers
The Compensation Commitc eviews basesalaie for ll exceutveofficrs on an annal bass. In detrminin e bse salaryfor sach xccutive offier, the Compensation Con ssesses the

s posi erformance, skl e, prior experienc, and he extenal marktfor he positon. Athough (e median of per 01D
gt et ke o 5 s 8 benchmark o st e sl Tor vt s ofeee s s s ey b hishr or owr han the median based o th factors st foth above

Annual Incentive Opportunity

provide our with short-term ough our annual cash bonus program, the Executive Short-Term Incentive Program (the “STIF). The STIP is o
reward our exccutive officers for achieving pre-established performance goals. The Compensaton Commites dministers the STIP. including sttng annual incentive oals for performance againet boh
financial targets and Key business objectives, and then assessing actual performance against those targets at the end of the incentive period. Under the STIP, each executive officer has an annual target borus
opportunity equal 0 a fixed percentage of base salary, which takes into account peer group market data and the unique skills and contributions of each individual. The STIP target percentage ranges from a
‘minimum of 30% of base salary for certain excutive officers, up to 75% of base salary in the case of Mr. Blashford. Actual STIP payouts may range from 0% to 150% of target depending on the level of
performance achieved during the year. All payments under the STIP are subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committe.

Long-Term Incentises.

We provide our fcers with long-term through our Exceutive Long-Term Incentive Program (the “LT/P"), which is administered under the A&R 2015 EIP. The LTIP is
designed as a long-term incentive vehicle to retain key excecutive officers, promote higher levels of Company stock ownership by exeeutive officers, and encourage long-term planning by the senior leadership
team. The LTIP i ntended to delver Tong-te P the behaviors an ong e ersective nessary o creting Socknalder vaue. The Compenstion

the LTIP, long-term based up the threshold, t wout levels for each plan year. Under the
LTIP, cach has a target based on p dataand the unique skll and contributons of cach bt T e years, the LTIP has generally been divided into
o componcnts time-based Restricted Stoek Units (RSU) and performance.based RSUs or LTIP awards, the Company retans he ight {0 pay outpesformance based RSUs using any combination of cash or
shares of Common Stock.

“The chart below shows the fargeted total compensation mix for Mr. Blashford, our CEO, for 2024:

LongTerm Incentive
erformance Bas
s(uksmm). sw1so1

Grant), $148,501

Annuatincentive
(Performance Cash Based
ward), $330,001




2024 Compensation
Base Salary

Daseslaie for exceutiv oficers re rviewed snually by the Compensation Committce, o when ther s asignificant change inresponsiilics. M. Blashord's sl baseslary was ot
increased in 2024 and has remained at $440,003, since July 2023. the Blashford Employment 1, please see loyment Agreement with CEO in this
Proxy Statement. The base salaries of Messrs. Schueller and Ciecone were not increased in 2024 and have remained at $273,025, and $238,050, respectively, since July 2025 The ollowing Tole st orth 2024
base salary information for our NEOs:

Exceutive Officer Beginning Base Salary j New Base Salary

Eric B. Blashford 5 0003 No change 5 #0003
Danicl E. Schueller H 273025 No change H 273025
‘Thomas A. Ciccone. s 238050 No change s 28050

Annual Incentive Opportunity

2024 STIP Payout, STIP targets for 2024 were based 0% on carnings targets, 25% on revenue from a diverse set of customers and products (“Diverse Revemue”) and 25% on the effective management
of working capital. For the earnings target, the Compensation Committee selected Consolidated EBITDA as the most relevant measure of consolidated financial performance because it believes that it most
comprehensively captures the management of revenue, margins, and cash expenses. STIP targets are set for each individual business unit and also for the Company based on consolidated financial performance.
Messrs. Blashford and Ciccone were compensated based on consolidated financial performance of the Company. Mr. Schueller’s STIP is based 50% on results for the Heavy Fabrications business unit segment
and 50% on results for the consolidated financial performance of the Company.

‘The following table shows the threshold, target and 2024 EBITDA for purposes 024 STIP award payouts for our NEOs:
‘Threshold (50% payout) rarget (100% payout) payout)

2024 Consolidated EBITDA (Consolidated Broadwind) 5 1296100 S 16351000 § 19741000

2024 EBITDA - Heavy Fabrications Segment s 9659000 S 12224000 5 14788000

‘or 2024, we reported Consolidated EBITDA of $13,325,000, which was above the threshold but below the target amount, resulting in a 55.4% payout for the consolidated financial performance
component of the 2024 STIP for Messrs. Blashford and Ciccone.

For 2024, we reported EBITDA for the Heavy Fabrications segment of $11,936,000, which was above the threshold but below the & 94.4% payout for the. »
component of the 2024 STIP for Mr. Schueller;

“The following table shows the threshold, target and 2024 Diverse Revenue o purposes f determinin 2024 STIP aard pyouts forour NEOs

Threshold 15«% payout) “Target (100% payout) wm (150% payout)
2024 Consolidated Diverse Revenue 5 WE00 5 TS0 § 81939000
2024 Diverse Revenue - Heavy Fabrications Segment s H96M0 S 40136000 § 47306000

For 2024, we recorded Consolidated Diverse Revenue of $44,409,000, which was below the threshold amount resulting in a payout of 0.00% of target for this 25% component of the 2024 STIP for
Messrs. Blashford and Ciceone.

2024, we recorded Diverse Revenue for the Heavy Fabrications segment of $23,481,000, an achievement below the threshold amount, resulting in a payout of 0.00% of target for this 25%
component of the 2024 STIP for Mr. Schueller.

‘The following table shows the threshold, target and maximum 2024 targets for Cash Conversion Cycle (“CCC"), a STIP metric related to the effective management of working capital where lower is
better. The CCC is calculated using as a 13-point month-end average of: (a) the number of days sales tied up in accounts receivable net of customer deposits; plus (b) the number of days cost of sales tied up in
inventories; less (c) the number of days cost of sales financed by accounts payable. The introduction of the CCC target reflects the desire to increase management’s focus on improving the efficiency of the
cash conversion process and thereby improve liquidity and reduce interest expense.

Threshold (0% payout)

‘Target (100% payout) i % payout)
2024 Avg. CCC (days) Consolidated £
2024 Ave. CCC (days) - Heavy Fabrications Segment 3 % 2

In 2024, the 13-point CCC averaged 72 days for Consolidated, which was above the threshold amount, resulting in a 0.0% payout for the cash conversion component of the 2024 STIP for Messrs.
Blashford and Ciccone.

In 2024, for Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, the 13-point CCC averaged 58 days, which was above the threshold amount resulting in a 0.0% payout for this 25% component of the 2024 STIP for Mr.
Schueller.

Based on these factors, total 2024 STIP payouts to the NEOs were as follows:
E

ecutive Officer 2024 STIP Payout

Eric B. Blashford 5 91359
Danicl E. Schueller s 40857
‘Thomas A. Ciccone s 32951

Long-Term Incentives
2022 LTIP Awards
For the 2022 LTIP awards, the Compensation Committee again utlized a Performance Index (PI) for calculating performance based LTIP payous.
‘The performance-based RSU awards are tied to our success at growing stockholder value over the three-year performance period ending December 31, 2024, as caleulated below:
P is measured annually, as: (Consolidated EBITDA x Target Multiple) — Average Net Dbt
Average Shares Outstanding

Whe

Target Multiple: 1s set annually by the Board to approximate EBITDA multiples for peers
Average Net Debr:  Average of 12 monthly totals of Short-term debt + Long-term debt -Cash & Marketable Securities

Average Shares Outstanding: As presented in our external financial statements



“The following table summarizes the awards granted in 2022 to the NEOs under the LTIP, as approved by the Compensation Committee at ts February 2022 meeting. 2024 LTIP Avards
2022 LTIP Performance-Based For the 2024 LTIP awards, the Compensation Committee again utilized a Performance Index (PI) for calculating performance based LTIP payouts.

Targeted 2022 LTIP Value (% of 2022 LTIP Time-Based RSUs
Executive Oficer Base Salary) Granted RSUs Granted
Eric B. Blashford 7S 59766 5 T4 “The performance-based RSU awards are tied 1o our suceess at growing stockholder value over the three-year performance period ending December 31, 2026, as calculated below:
Daniel E. Schucler o 19680 24053
Thomas A. Ciccone E 1813 14438 Plis measured annually, as: (Consolidated EBITDA x Target Multiple) - Average Net Debt
“The following represents the targets set for the 2022-2024 performance-based RSU grant award for the participants: Average Shares Outstanding
73X Muliple
Target Wh
Growth Assumption 0%
Target Multple: Is set annually by the Board to approsimate EBITDA muliples for peers
2021 Baseline 113
fo I 124 3 Average Net Debt: - Average of 12 monthly totals of Short-term debt+ Long-term debt -Cash & Marketable Securities
2003 125 137 150
2004 131 151 i Average Shares Outstanding: As presented in our exteral financial statements
Cumulative 374 an s
The flloving bl summarizs he avards gt n 2024 0 he NEOs e th LTI, s aproc by the Conmpensation Conmmitc s ey 2024 mseing
“The performance-based RSU award portion fo the 2022 - 2024 LTIP grant achieved a 9.66 PI which results in 200% achievement for the performance-based RSU porton of the award. Targeled 2024 LTIP Value (% ofBase WHLTIP Perormance Based RSUs
2023 LTIP Awards Execuive Officer v 2024 LTIP Time Based RSUs Granted ranted
Eric B. Blashford E 5% 7%
For the 2023 LTIP awards, the Compensation Committee again utlized a Performance Index (P1)for calculating performance based LTIP payouts Danil - Seller 18068 208
Thomas A. Cice 50 19692 24068
The performance-based RSU awards are tied (o our suceess at growing over the three-year perfe period ending December 31, 2025, as caleulated below: 202 Grn s s o i $272
Plis measured annualy, as: (Consolidated EBITDA x Target Multiple) - Average Net Debt 2025 Compensation
Average Shares Outstanding Base Salary
Where: Base salarics for ¥ the mittee, or when there is a The g table sets forth the 2025 base salary
inormaton forour NEGr. Mot ineesss o the NEO b s mers approved by e Compensation C d below. The C the ight
Target Multiple: s set annually by the Board to approximate EBITDA muliples for peers base salaries o the 2025 fiscal year
Exceutive Officer Current Base Salary
Average Net Debr: - Average of 12 monthly totals of Short-term debt + Long-term debt ~Cash & Marketable Securities Eric B. Blashford s 455000
Daiel E. Schucler s 270851
Average Shares Outstanding: As presented in our external financial statements Thomas A. Ciccone s 27512
T lloving bl summaris he it gt n 2023 0 the NEOs undr e LTIP s pprved by the Compensaion Commic a s Feuay 203 et Annual Incentive Opportunity
Executive Office argeted 2023 LTIP Value (% of Base Salary) 023 LTIP Time-Based RSUs Gran 5023 LTIP Performanee Busd RSUs Granted
Eric B, Blashford £ 3s,m 5295 2025 STIP Awards
Daniel E. Schucller w0 11666 14258
0 12591 15389 “The structure of the STIP program was unchanged in 2025

Thomas A. Ciccone
#2023 Grant issued at a loor basis of $4.11

Long-Term Incentive Opportunity.

2

P A

“The structure of the LTIP program was unchanged in 2025



Other Compensation Practices and Policies

Severance and Change in Control Provisions

Our employment agreement with Mr. Blashford and our a s with contain severance and change in control provisions. These
are more fully described below under the heading “Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control.” T 1o protect from the
Toss of reasonably expected compensation and benefits (i) if we terminate the exccutive officer’s employment without cause or (i) in the case of Mr. Blashford, if such employee terminates his employment for
g200d reason. We provide severance benefits to recruit and retain executive officers, and we belicve this benefit enhances our ability to attract and retain executive officers during challenging economic
circumstances and in a competitive job market for executive talent, We believe the change in control ligned with the interests of . enabling us to retain th

e vent ot a pending, hrctcned, o ctul change in conrol. The provisions e ls iended 1o Provide oue cxecuiv aficers with incentives 1 oban the highes posible vilu i he event of o e
acquisition of the Company, despite the sk of losing employment.

Other Benefits

Our exccutive officers participate in our corporate-wide benefit programs and are provided benefits that are generally commensurate with the benefits provided to other full-time employees, which
includes participation in our qualified defined contribution plan. We do not provide our exccutive officers with perquisites benefits such as Comp . financial

planning asistance, t preparation, o other benefts. Tem lf insrance is provided to Messs. Blshford and Ciccone. These perquisits are disclosed n th “Detals Behind All Other Compensation
Column’” table belo

Stock Ownership Guidelines

To further align the interests of our exccutive officers and directors with the interests of our stockholders, our exceutive officers and direetors are subject to stock ownership guidelines. The required

stock ownership levels are to be achieved within five years o election as an or direct ‘The stock ownership guidelines require (i) each director to own a
e ofsares ofour Common Stk bavin  value cqual 0t times he amnalcsh tinr fes camed i the immedicly precedin clendar year, and i) ach cxcveoffice 0 0w a mumber of
shares of our Common Stock having a value equal to a multiple of effect, divided by as follows:

Multiple of Base Salary

B 0 Stimes

Chief Financial Officer 3 times

Al ther Exceive Officrs Ttimes

fails o satisfy the stock . the executive officer may have 25% of his or her annual incentive bonus paid solely in shares of our Common

Stk uni the excutive offcer owns he requise numbes of sharc. 1 dirctor s 0 sty h reqirements of the stck ownership auidelines, the dirctor may hive 25% of i o her dinetor fes patd

solely in shares of our Common Stock until the director owns the requisite number of shares. The Board has the authority and discretion to administer, interpret, amend or modify the stock ownership

uidelines and to make all determinations that may be necessary or advisable in connection therewith (e.g.,to take into account market volatilty and instances of individual hardship). All of our dircctors and
in compliance with our

Insider Trading

Under our Policy Statement on Inside Information and Securities Trading (the “Policy™), all “Designated Persons” (as defined in the Policy to include our directors, officers and certain other key
employees or representatives), are prohibited from engaging in the purchase, sale and/or other disposition of our securities when in possession of material nonpublic information.

Policies on Hedging and Pledging

Under the Policy all Designated Persons, are also prohibited from entering into hedging or monetization transactions or similar arrangements with respect to our securities, including the purchase or
sale of “puts” or “calls” or the use of any other derivative instruments. Additionally, under the Policy, Designated Persons (i) may not pledge our securities as collateral for a loan, and (i) must obtain pre-
clearance from a “Securities Trading Administrator” (as defined in the Policy) before engaging in any transaction involving our securiies. The Company does not have a hedging o pledging policy that applies
Company-wide to employees generally

Clawback Policy

I Augst 2023, he Compensaon Comnits e s exiin Polcy an Recoupnent of e B Compensation poley 1 b n complane with Scton 10D of the xchange Ac and he
NASDAQ requirements relevant thereto, pursuant to which the Company will subject o limited ered

et et have o peparS a sceoLangsetemen which soted o e eyt oF iesHee compenion EEne it ko b bee P b o the rsted oaneit et o
corrected mettic.

Under the prior policy, the Compensation Committee could, in ts discretion and to the extent legally permitted, require the return, repayment or forfeiture of any annual or long-term incentive payment
or award made or granted to any current or former executive officer during the 36-month period following the fi
restatement (a “Restatement

ith the SEC of financial statements that are later the subject of a material negative
), if: (i) the payment or award was predicated upon achieving certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of the Restatement; (ii) the Compensation Committce
determines that the exccutive officer engaged in intentional misconduct that caused the need for the Restatement; and (iii) a lower payment or award would have been made to the exceutive officer based upon
the restated financial results. In each such instance, the amount required to be returned, repaid, or forfeited shall be the amount by which the executive officer’s payment or award for the relevant period
exceeded the lower payment or award that would have been made or granted based on the restated financial results,

In addition, under the prior policy, the C . a d to the extent quire the return or repayment of any profits realized by such exceutive
officer on th sale ofou seuriie eceived pursuant 0 any sch award araned durmg Guch 36-month perio following he fling withthe SEC o fnancil statements that ar ltr the subjec of such a
Restatement, if the C tion C engaged in intentional misconduct that caused the need for the Restatemen.

‘Tax Deductibility of Exccutive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the IRC, as amended by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Section 162(m)"). generally disallows a deduction for federal tax purposes to any publicly traded corporation for any
remuncration n excess of S1O0DODO pid i any taxabl year t s chicf excutive offcr, chit fnanelal officer, and p to e atherexcutive offcrs who st anong ut five most highly compensaed

hile the C o the deductibility of awards in determining exceutive compensation, it also believes that it must maintain flexibility in its approach in order to
structure a program that is the most cive i attracting, motivating and retaining our key executive officers.

Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on 2024 Executive Compensation

“This report is submitted by the Compensation Committee of the Board. The Compensation Committee has reviewed the Di and discussed it with
based on the review and discussion, has recommended to the Board that it be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its gy g Meeting of Clockbobies e Aot Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2024,

‘Members of the Compensation Committce:
Cary B. Wood (Chairman)

ip J. Christman
Sachin M. Shivaram
Jeanette A, Press



2024 Summary Compensation ‘Outstanding Equity Awards At Year End 2024

‘The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned during the last two fiscal years by the following exccutive officers, whom we collectively refer 1o as our “named executive ‘The following table includes certain information with respect to the value of all unvested shares of restricted stock and RSUs previously awarded to the NEOs as of December 31, 2024. No NEOs held
officers” or “NEOs” for purposes of this Proxy Statement any unexercised options to purchase shares of Common Stock as of December 31, 2024,

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE-2024 Stock Awards

Equity Incentive

o Anar
Stock Option Incentive Plan Al Other Number of Market Value of Number of Unearned Market or Payout
Compensation Shares or Units of Shares or Units of Shares, Units or Value of Unearned Shares
O—— Yo say sonss s soats Conpansai & T Sk T Hae Sk Tt e Oter b Tt i or b i
Eric B. Blashford 2024 s 440003 S - 3 330001 § — 8 91359 § 16286 $ 877,649 Name Grant Date Not Vested (1) Not Vested (2) Have Not Vested “That Have Not Vested
President, Chief Executive Officer 2023 s 435357 § s 323137 § $ 441860 S 15686 § 1216040 Eric B. Blashford 5/1612024 5459 § 102,640 $
5/16/2024 (3) — 8 — 66728 § 125449
Daniel E. Schueller 2024 s 273025 S — s 109211 § — s 40887 8 12 s 2616 S 44398 — s —
President, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc. 2023 s 260423 S — s 106418 § — 8 137985 § 10977 § 5/25/2023 (4) — 8 — 43295 § 81395
P om 3 s i 2
‘Thomas A. Ciccone 2024 s 238050 § - 3 19027 8§ — 8 3291 § 10994 § 4125/2022 (5) — s — 146094 § 274,657
Ve Prsdon, i Fianil Ofcer Wmos o mms s N (N
Daniel E. Schueller 5/16/2024 18068 S 33.968 — 5 —
5/16/2024 (3) — S — 208§ 41516
1. Reprsets e ggrgsegandt il ol eformanc- s ie-based RSUs rned g e splicble st and sl ccodonce wih ASC T 71 e u i s 482 g s
Equity Incentive Plan that was in effect at the time of grant, and assumes no forfeiture rates derived in the calculation of the grant date fair value of the awards. The assumptions used to 4252022 6560 S 12333 — s .
determine the valuation of the awards are discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report AR ) "o = RIS 6
Plse s "Dt ehind All O Compnsion Clam bl o et bl proidd o o frmation g s s I s B - \
5/16/2024 (3) — S - 24068 § 45248
8394 8 15,781 — 8 —
Dt Beind Al Ot Compensaion Cotumn o0 I ol s ——
R —— A ——. il EE e S =
Registrant
ot 1 Unless otherwise noted, these RSUs vest in onc-third increments on cach of the first through third year anniversaries of the date of grant, as provided in the applicable award agreement,
rane Taminaion 2t ot et o
- Y e erinat o - e ek s 0 55, i i oSk on D 1,324 i o
Eric B. Blashford $ 13800 S 248 S — s — s 16286 -
Daniel E. Schueller S 10921 § 200 S — s — s 11,121
Thomas A. Ciccone s 9527 s 1467 S = U = & 10994 3 2024 LTIP RSUs vestin fllin 3 the p hieved, and ! *
- P s RSUs et il 3 s provided e pertormanc s i, nd .
(1) Represents the value of the 401(k) plan matching contributions made by the Company for 2024,
S 2022 LT e s RSUs sl s proided e - —

(@) Represents the contributions by the Company to life insurance, long-term disability insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance premiums.

Equity Award Grant

Prad

Neither the Board nor the Compensation Committee takes material nonpublic information into account when determining the timing and terms of grants of equity awards to our NEOs. Instead, the
Company’s practice has been to grant equity awards on a predetermined schedule in accordance with the Compensation Commitice’s annual compensation review cycle. The Company does not time the
disclosure of material nonpublic information to affect the value of equity awards. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not grant any stack options or stock appreciation rights to our NEOs during
any period beginning four business days prior and ending one business day afier the filing of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, any Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, or the iling or furnishing of any Current Report on Form §-K which disclosed material nonpublic information.



Pay Versus Performance

As required by Section 953(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Sireet Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K, we are providing the following information about the relationship
between executive compensation actually paid and certain financial performance of our Company for the fiscal years ended December 31,2024, 2023 and 2022.

Value of Inital

Average Summary Average
Summary Compensation Compensation Investment Based
Compensation Compensation “Table for Non- Actually Paid on Company Net
Table Total Actually paid PEO Named o Non-PEO Named Total Sharcholder Income (Loss)

Yerr per PEO (1) t0PEO (1) Executive Officers (1) Exceutive Officers (1) Retun in 000

0§ §765 S @358 § EEE IR B § 1152

23 s 1216040 S 13208 s 2065 S 3000 S H9B S 7,649

BUSE NS S CZYCIE 9258 S Wl S 257 s ©730)

1. Our CEO, Eric B. Blashford served as our principal executive officer (PEO) for each year reported. The Other NEO's are represented by Daniel E. Schueller and Thomas A. Ciccone for each year reported

Compensation Actually Paid (CAP) is defined by the SEC to include not only actual take-home pay for the reported year, but also (i) the year-end value of equity awards granted during the reported

year, and (i) the change in the value of equity awards that were unvested at the end of the prior year, measured through the date the awards vested or were forfeited, o through the end of the reported fiscal

Year. To calculate CAP, the following amounts were deducted from and added to the exccutives' “total compensation’
Plus

as reported in the Summary Compensation Table (SCT)

Minus Plus (Minus) Plus (Minus) Plus (Minus) Equals
Change in Fair ‘Change in Fair
Fair Value a Fiscal Change in Fair  Value s of Vesting Value as of Forfeit
Year-End of Value of Date of Stock Date of Stock
Summary Grant Date Fair Outstanding and Outstanding and ~ Awards Granted in Awards Granted in
Compensation Value of Stock Unvested Stock Unvested Stock Prior Years that Prior Years that
Table (SCT) g Sranted In rds Granted In Vested During Forfeited During.
“Total Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Prior Fiscal Years Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Yerr s s s s s s
TEO 04 5 BT60 S TR WS [N [ 5
203 S 1206040 S 231378 20504 S 19782 S 162564 S ©1275) $
202 s TS S 2509 S 21735 S 18214 S 33867 s
Average Non- 2004 s e s a9 s W6 S @ion s 1366 s
PEONEOs 3 s U165 S 1068 § 6T S 31896 S w©3m s 10458) §
20 s 392586 S 61936 S 066§ 2%5%__S 5352 s 385164
34

Employment Agreement with CEO

In connection with the appointment of Mr. Blashford as our President and CEO, we entered into the Blashford Employment . which provides for the

and benefits:
An initial annual salary of $400,000, subject 1o review and adjustment on an annual basis.

©  Anannual trget cash bonus of up (0 75% of Mir. Blashford's base salary, in the event we achieve certain performance targets.
©  Entitlement to partcipate in our Long Term Incentive Program, with a target annual equity grant equal to 75% of Mr. Blashford's base salry
o ASLS million tem e insurance policy.

I Mr. Blashford’s employment i terminated by us without *Cause™ or by Mr. Blashford for “Good Reason” (¢ach as defined in the Blashford Employment Agreement) before a
change in control, severance benefits consisting of a lump-sum payment equal to 18 months of Mr. Blashford’s then-current base salary, any unpaid bonus for the immediately
prior year based on actual performance, the pro-rata portion of Mr. Blashford’s target bonus earned for the year in which termination of employment oceurs based on our actual
performance, if determinable, or if the results are not determinable, then based on performance at the “target level", and 18 months of COBRA premium payments.

©  IfMr. Blashford’s employment is terminated by us or a successor entity without “Cause” or by Mr. Blashford for “Good Reason” within one year of a change in control, severance
benefits consisting of a lump-sum payment equal to two years of Mr. Blashford’s then-current base salary, any unpaid bonus for the immediately prior year based on actual
performance, the pro-rata portion of Mr. Blashford's target bonus eamed for the year in which termination of employment occurs based on our actual performance, if determinable,
or ifthe results are not determinable, then based on performance at the “target level”, 18 months of COBRA premium paymens, and accelerated vesting of unvested options and
restricted stock awards.

©  Death and disability benefits, including payment of the portion of Mr. Blashford's target bonus eamed for the year in which the termination occurs.
Mr. Blashford will be subject to 18-month non-solicitation and non-competition covenants following termination of employment, as well as confidentiality obligations. For additional information

regarding the Blashford Employment Agreement, please see the full text of the Blashford Employment Agreement fied on February 21, 2020 as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form §-K.

Severance and Non-Competition Agreements

e have severance and non-competition agreements with Messts.
and provide for the following compensation and benefits

iccone and Schueller, which include 12-month non-competition and non-solicitation obligations following termination of employment

©  Upon termination of the NEO's employment for "Cause” (s defined in the agreement). unpaid but acerued base salary, unpaid benefits and any unpaid bonus carned in
accordance with the then applicable bonus plan or program.

©  Ifthe NEO’s employment is terminated by us without “Cause” prior to a change in control and the NEO has been employed by us for at least 12 months prior to the date of
termination, severance benefits consisting of a lump-sum payment equal to twelve months of the NEO's then-current base salary.

If the NEO's employment s terminated by us or a successor entity without “Cause” within one year of a change in control, severance benefits consisting of a lump-sum payment
equal to 18 months of the NEO's then-current base salary.



Equity Compensation Plan Information

‘The following table provides certain information as of December 31, 2024 with respect to compensation plans under which shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance.

@ o)
available
for future
Number of
securities Weighted average issuances
t0 be issued upon exercise price of under equity
exercise of outstanding compensation
outstanding options, plans (excluding
options, warrants warrants and securities reflected
Plan Category and rights rights in column (2))
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders SBI8 (1) § 29 595406
Total S388 S 29 595406

(1) Includes outstanding restricted stock awards pursuant to the A&R EIP Plan which has been approved by our stockholders.

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

Under the Audit Committee’s charter and applicable provisions of our Code of Ethics, the Audit Committee has the responsibility to review transactions that are considered related party transactions
pursuant to ltem 404 of Regulation S-K and to assess whether such transactions meet applicable legal requirements. Directors and executive officers who believe that they may be related parties in transactions
with us willinform the Board o the Audit Committee o such belief and provide all relevant nformarion. In accordance with Delavare aw, any such transaction must be (a) approved or raifed in good faith by
the Board or the Audit Commitiee by a majority vote of disinterested directors; (b) approved in good faith by a vote of stockholders sufficient for the purpose; or (¢) fair o us at the time the transaction is
approved or ratfied. Additionally, under applicable law, a transaction would not be void or voidable solely because it was with a related party, the related party was present at d in a meeting of the
Board or the Audit Committee in which the transaction was approved. or the related party’s vote was counted for such purpose, if the material facts as to the related party’s relationship or interest as to the
transaction are disclosed or known to the Board or the Audit Committee or to our stockholders entitled to vote thereon. Since January 1, 2024, the Company has not had any related party transactions
involving an amount in excess of the lesser of $120,000 and one percent of the average of the Company’s total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years.

PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED UPON
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

(Proposal No. 1)
General Information

Board currently consists of six (6) directors. Pursuant t

‘ommittee, the Board h (6) directors for election at the Annual
Meeting. In connection with the Annual Meeting, all of these nominees are current membus o(lhe Board: Eric B. Blashford, Philip J. Christman, Jeanette A. Press, David P. Reiland, Sachin M. Shivaram, and
Cary B. Wood.

the Annual Mecting, the Board will ask stockholders to vote on the election of six (6) directors, each to serve on our Board for a term of one (1) year or until his or her respective successor is duly
elected and qualified. The Board unanimously recommends that stockholders vote “FOR” each of the director nominees named above.

If elected, each nominee will serve until the next Anmn\] Meeting of Stockholders and until his or her successor shall be elected and qualmcd Each of Eric B. Blashford, Philip J. Christman, Jeanette A,
Press, Davidp Reiland, Sachin M. Shivaram, and Cary B. Wood has consented to being named in the Proxy Statement and to serve as a di lected. IF, prior to the Annual Meeting, it should become

Known hat any of the mominees wil be unable 10 serve 4  dinecto i he Annual Mectin by reason af death, icapacity ar ther acurrence,the proxies wil e vored for auch substute nominee 2 i
selected by the Board or, altematively, not voted for any nominee.

BOARD RECOMMENDATION

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS
THATYOU VOTE “FOR”
E

OF THE NOMINEES TO THE BOARD
SET FORTH IN THIS PROPOSAL NO. 1



ADVISORY TE ENSATION

(Proposal No. 2)

Section 14A of the Exchange Act requires us to give our stockholders the opportunity to approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our NEOs. Accordingly, we are presenting
this proposal, commonly known as a “Say-on-Pay” proposal, which gives our stockholders the opportunity to express their views on the compensation of our named executive officers by voting for or against
the following resolution:

“RESOLVED, that the (‘nmvany  stockboldersapprove, on  non-biding adsoy bass the compensation o the named exutiv afcrs, s disclosed i the Company's roxy Sttementforthe
2025 Annual Meeting of o disclosure rules of ‘xchange Commission, including the Summary Compensation Table and other related tables and
isclosurs setFoth i such Proxy Satement.”

Stockholders are urged to read this Proxy Statement carefully and consider the various factors regarding compensation matters discussed therein.

Our executive compensation philosophy is specifically designed to:

. tiract, motivate and retain talented and d leaders vital to our short- and long-term success;
©  Align the interests of exceutives with those of our stockholders by rewarding performance that enhances stockholder value; and
o Include as part of overall compensation, a signifi variable pay cl bonuses and long-term pay for p

he Compensation Committee structures our executive compensation plans and programs in accordance with this philosophy, and the compensation paid to our NEOs reflects this
philosophy. Following the frequency of the say-on-pay advisory stockholder vote at the annual meeting of stockholders held May 23, 2023, the Board determined it current inention to include an advisory
Vote on the compensation of our NEOS in its Proxy Statement every year. This will provide stockholders an opportunity to provide annual feedback on the Company’s pay practices.

lthough this vote is advisory and thus non-binding, the Board and the Compensation Committee value the opinions of our stockholders and will cor
e\'ﬂlummg our compensation philosophy. policies and practices.

ider the outcome of this Say-on-Pay vote when

BOARD RECOMMENDATION

RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” ISORY UTION APPROVING THE C(
ASDISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT

OF FOURTH OF LAN

(Proposal No.3)

‘The Board is asking stockholders to amend the Company’s Section 382 rights plan on the terms described herein. The Section 382 rights plan was originally adopted on February 12, 2013 and
approved by the stockholders at the Company’s 2013 Annual Meeting (the “Initial Rights Plan”), amended on February 5. 2016 and approved by the stockholders at the Company’s 2016 Annual Meeting (the
“First Amendment"), amended on February 7, 2019 and approved by the stockholders at the Company’s 2019 Annual meefing (the “Second Amendment”) and amended on February 3, 2022 and approved by
the stockholders at the Company’s 2022 Annual meeting (the “Third Amendment*). The Initial Rights Plan was adopted in an effort to protect stockholder value by preserving our ability 10 use our net
operating losses, built-in losses and other tax benefits (collectively, the “NOLs”). The Initial Rights Plan had a term of three years and was extended an additional three years by each of the First Amendment,
the Second Amendment and the Third Amendment, expiring on February 22, 2025. On February 4, 2025, the Board entered into a Fourth Amendment to Section 382 Rights Agreement (the “Fourth
Amendment") with Equiniti Trost Company. formerly Wells Fargo, National Association (“Equiniti") as rights agent, which proves for a three-year extension of the Initial Rights Plan upon expiration of the
current term, modified the purchase price for each one one-thousandth of a share pursuant to the exercise of a right from $7.26 to $7.70, and incorporated certain other amendments thereto. The Inital Rights
Plan, the First Amendment, Second Amendment, the Third Amendment and the Fourth Amendment are collectively referred to herein as the “Rights Plan.” If the stockholders o not approve the Fourth
Amendment, the Rights Plan will automatically expire subsequent to the Annual Mecting.

Background and Reasons for the Proposal

s of December 31, 2024, we estimate that we had approximately $295.2 million (before valuation allowances) of deferred tax assets generated by net operating losses, bult-in losses and other tax
benefits. The net operating losses do not fully expire for many years. For example, any federal net operating losses in 2024 would generally not expire until 2044. To the extent we have future taxable income, and
unil the net operating losses expire, they can be used to offset future taxable income, if any. In addition, net operating losses may generally be carried back two years to offset past taxable income.

Because th d timing of our future . ifany, redicted, we cannot estimate the exact amount of NOL that can ultimately be used to reduce our income tax.
iy Howener,we bl the NOLS fr o vluabi et and ht i out bt intrets 10t 1 prescrs hi e by aprovin th Righs Pl

Limitations on our abil e the NOLs wonld s f we undergs . “owoerbipchange” e Section 32 of th el Revenie Codl ('Secon 387, Calelaticg w23 “cvnership
change” has occurred is subject to mhe)em\mcummy resulis from ty of the Section 382 provisions, as well as limitations on the knowledge that any publicly
traded company can have about the ownership of, and transactions i, ts securities on mne\y brms Vhe amount by which our ownership may change in the future is uncertain,

“The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Aer’) generally adversely affected our ability (0 use NOL and the benefis of the Rights Plan. y. () NOLS incurred in taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2017 may no longer be carried back and (if) NOLS incurred in taxable years beginning afier December 31, 2017 may be carried over mdzﬁmmlv but the NOL carryover used in any year is
limited 80% of the taxable income in the future taxable year (without regard to the amount of the carryover).

Section 382 Ownership Calculations
‘The benefit of the NOLs would be significantly reduced if we were to experience an “ownership change as defined in Section 382, In order to determine whether an “ownership change” has occurred,
we must compare the percentage of shares owned by each 3% stockholder immediately after the close of the testing date to the lowest percentage of shares owned by such 5% stockholder at any time during

the testing period (which is generally a three-year rolling period). An “ownership change” oceurs if the ageregate increase in ownership by all such 5% stockholders exceeds S0 percentage points.

For example, if a single investor acquired more than 50% of our shars in a three-year period, an “ownership change” would oceur. Similarly. if ten persons, none of whom owned shares, cach acquired
slightly over 5% of our shares within a three-year period (so that such persons owned, in the aggregate, more than 50%), an “ownership change™ would occur.



In the event of an “ownership change,” the annual limit pursuant to Section 382 (the “Section 382 Limitation”) is obtained by multiplying (i) the aggregate value of our outstanding equity
immediately prior to the “ownership change” (reduced by certain capital contributions made during the immediately preceding two years and certain other items) b deral long:term tax-exempt interest
rate in effect for the month of the “ownership change” (currently 0% as of the Record Date). In calculating the Section 382 Limitation, numerous special rules and limitations apply, including provisions dealing
with “built-in gains and losses.”

If we were to have taxable income in excess of the Section 382 Limitation following a Section 382 “ownership change,” we would not be able to offset tax on the excess income with the NOLs
Although any loss carryforwards not used as a result of any Section 382 Limitation generally would remain available to offset income in future years (again, subject o the Section 382 Limitation) until the NOLs
expire, any subsequent “ownership change” could significantly defer the utilization of the loss carryforwards, acelerate payment of federal income tax and cause some of the NOL to expire unused. Because
the aggregate value of our outstanding shares and the federal long-term tax-exempt interest rate fluctuate, it is impossible to predict the Section 382 Limitation on our NOLs should an “ownership change™
occur in the future. However, such limitation could be material,

In determining whether an “ownership change” has occurred, the rules of Section 382 are very complex, and are beyond the scope of this summary discussion. Some of the factors that must be
considered in performing  Section 352 “ownership change” analysis include the following:

© Al holders who cach own less than 5% of a company’s common shares are generally (but not always) collectively treated as a single 5% stockholder. Transactions in the public markets among
stockholders who are not 5% stockholders are generally (but not always) treated as a single 5% stockholder.

© There are several rules regarding the aggregation and segregation of stockholders who otherwise do not qualify as 5% stockholders. Certain constructive ownership rules, which generally
attribute ownership of shares owned by estates, trusts, corporations, partnerships or other entities to the ultimate indirect individual owner thereof, or 1o related individuals, are applied in
determining the level of share ownership of a particular stockholder. Ownership of shares is generally attributed to both their ultimate beneficial owner as well as to “first tier” and “higher
tier” entities, including trusts, corporations, partnerships or other entitis.

 Acquisitions by a person which cause that person 1o become a 5% stockholder generally result in a five percentage (or more) point change in ownership, regardless of the size of the final
purchase that caused the threshold to be exceeded.

 Special rules can result in or other as having been exercised if such treatment would result in an “ownership change.”

« The redemption or buyback of shares by an issuer willincrease the ownership of any 5% stockholders (including groups of stockholders treated as a single stockholder) and can contribute to an

‘ownership change.” In addition, it is possible that a redemption or buyback of shares could cause a holder of less than 5% to become a 5% stockholder, resulting in a five percentage (or more)
point change in ownership.

Description of the Rights Plan
“The following description of the Rights Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Fourth Amendment, the Third Amendment, the Second Amendment, the First Amendment and the

Initial Rights Plan, which are attached 1o this Proxy Statement as Appendix A, Appendix B, Appendix C. Appendix D, and Appendix E, respectively. We urge you to read carefully the Rights Plan in its entirety as
the discussion below is only a summary.

The Rights Plan is intended to act as a deterrent to any person acquiring beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of our outstanding common shares within the meaning of Section 382 and the Treasury
Regulations promulgated thereunder (an *Acquiring Person”) without the approval of the Board. Stockholders who beneficially owned 4.9% or more of our outstanding common shares as of the close of business
on February 12, 2013 are not an “Acquiring Person” so long as they do not acquire any additional common shares at a time when they still beneficially own 4.9% or more of our common shares. In addition, the
Board may, in its sole discretion, exempt any other person or group from being deemed an Acquiring Person for purposes of the Righis Plan, or exempt any transaction as an exempted transaction for purposes of
the Rights Plan

Amendments to Initial Rights Plan, the First Amendment, the Second Amendment and the Third Amendment

‘The Fourth Amendment to the Initial Rights Plan, as amended by the First Amendment, the Second Amendment and the Third Amendment (i) increased the purchase price for each one-thousandth of
a share of the Company's Series A Junior Pamcmmmg Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, from $7.26 t0 $7.70 (the “Purchase Price”) and @ ex!el\ded the final expiration date of the Initial Rights Plan
from February 22, 2025 to February 22, 2028, The increase in the purchase price of the rights was based upon a valuation by B, Riley Advisory & Vs Services, LLC dba B Riley Advisory Services of the
long term trading value of the Company’s common shares. The Fourth Amendment provides that the Rights will no longer be exercisable if the Cumpa“y s stockholders do not approve the Fourth Amendment
at the Company’s 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The Righ. e Bosrd previousy authorzed Fone right record s of Febrary 2, 2013, Subct 1o the e, provisions and
conditions of the Rights Plan, if the rights cach hare of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value
$0.01 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”), for a purchase price of $7.70 per right. Fiesed e acsonl shareof Seres A Pefrnd Sock wold i the stockholder approximately the same didend,
voting and liquidation rights as does one common share. However, prior to exercise, a right does not give its holder any rights as a stockholder of the Company, including any dividend, voting or liquidation rights

Initial Exercisability. The rights are not exercisable until the carlicr of (i) ten days after a a person has become. Person or such carlier date as the Board becomes
aware that there is an Acquiring Person and (i) ten business days (or such ler dat as may be determined by the Board) afier the commencement ofa tender or exchange offer by or on behalf ofa person tha, if
completed, would result in such person becoming an Acquiring Person. We refer to the date that the rights become exercisable as the “Distribution Dat

Until the Distribution Date, our common share certificates or the ownership statements issued with respect to uncertificated common shares will evidence the rights and will contain a notation to that
effect. Any transfer of common shares prior to the Distribution Date will constitute a transfer of the associated rights. Afier the Distribution Date, separate rights certificates will be issued and the rights may be

transferred apart from the transfer of the underlying common shares, unless and until the Board has determined to effect an exchange pursuant to the Rights Plan (as deseribed below).

-In Event.  In the event that a person becomes an Acquiring Person, each holder of a right, other than rights that are or, under certain circumstances, were beneficially owned by the Acquiring
Person (whnh will thereupon become void), will thereafier have the right to receive upon exercise of a right and payment of the Purchase Price, a number of common shares having a market value of o times the
Purchase Price. H are not exercis: a person becoming an Acquiring Person until such time as the rights are no longer redeemable by us (as described below)

Exempted Persons and Exempted Transactions.  The Board recognizes that there may be instances when an acquisition of our common shares that would cause a stockholder to become an Acquiring
Person may not jeopardize or endanger in any material respect the availability of the NOLS to us. Accordingly, the Rights Plan grants discretion to the Board to designate a person as an “Exempted Person” or to
designate a transaction involving our common shares as an “Exempted Transaction.” An “Exempted Person” cannot become an Acquiring Person and an “Exempied Transaction” cannot result in a person

an Acquiring Person. The Board may revoke an “Exempted Person” designation if it subsequently makes a contrary determination regarding whether a person jeopardizes or endangers in any material
respect the availability of the NOLs (o us,

Redemption. Atany time until ten calendar days following the first date of a public announcement that a person has become an Acquiring Person or such earlier date as a majority of the Board becomes
aware of the existence of an Acquiring Person, the Boar edeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.001 per igh (the “Redemption Price”). The redemption of the rights may be made effective
at such time, on such basis and with such conditions as the Board in its establish. 1pon any redemption of the rights, the right o exercise the rights will terminate and the only right
of the holders of rights will be o receive the Redemption Price.

Exchange.  Atany time after a person becomes an Acquiring Person and prior to the acquisition by the Acquiring Person of 50% or more of the outstanding common shares, the Board may exchange
th ights thcthan gttt ave become voi) i whol i ot anexchang i of one common shae, s fctonlshar of Srics A Prsfred Stock o of s st of  siilrclass o i ofour
e shares having simila i, prefrences and privlos) o cquivalent vlue. pe ight (subjee 0 dusment). Immediatly upon a exehange af any ights, e right 10 exerisesuch ights il terminate
Tt only right of the holders of rights will be to receive the number of common shares (or fractional share of Series A Preferred Stock or of a share of @ similar class or series of our preferred shares having
similar rights, preferences and privileges) equa to the number of such rights held by such holder multiplid by the exchange atio.
Expiration.  The rights and the Rights Plan will expire on the earliest of the following:
 the close of business on February 22, 2028;
© the time at which the rights are redeemed;

o the time at which the rights are exchanged;



 the close of business on the effective date of the repeal of Section 382 of the Code or any successor statute if the Board determines that the Rights Plan is no longer necessary or desirable for the
preservation of certain tax benefits;

the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of the Company to which the Board determines that certain tax benefits may not be carried forward; and

 the close of business on the

rst business day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for the Annual Meeting certi
Annual Meeting reflects that stockholder approval has not been reccive.

es that the vote on the amendment of the Rights Plan at the

Anti-Dilution Provisions.  The Board may adjust the Purchase Price of the Series A Preferred Stock, the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock issuable and the number of outstanding rights to
prevent dilution that may oceur as a result of certain events, including among others, a share dividend, a share split or a reclassification of the Series A Preferred Stock or of our common shares. With certain
exceptions, no adjustments to the Purchase Price will be required until cumulative adjustments amount to a least 1% of the Purchase Price.

Amendments.  For so long as the rights are redeemable, the Board may supplement or amend any provision of the Rights Plan in any respect without the approval of the holders of the rights. From and
after the time there is an Acquiring Person, no amendment can adversely affect the interests of the holders of the righis,

Certain Considerations Relating to the Rights Plan

“The Board believes that attempting to protect the NOLs described above s in our and the stockholders’ best interests. Nonetheless, we cannot eliminate the possibility that an “ownership change™
will oceur even if the Rights Plan is approved. You should consider the fuctors below when making your decision.

Future Use and Amount of the NOL is Uncertain. Our use of the NOLS depends on our ability to generate taxable income in the future. We cannot assure you whether we will have taxable income in
any applicable period or, if we do, whether such income or the NOLS at such time will exceed any potential Section 382 limitation.

Potential Challenge o the NOLs. The amount of the NOLs has not been audited or otherwise validated by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”). The IRS could challenge the amount of the NOLS,
which could result in an increase in our lability in the future for income taxes. In addition, determining whether an “ownership change™ has occurred is subject to uncertainty, both because of the complexity and
ambiguity of the Section 382 provisions and because of limitations on the knowledge that any publicly traded company can have about the ownership of, and transactions in, its securities on a timely basis.
Therefore, we cannot assure you that the IRS or other taxing authority will not claim that we experienced an “ownership change” and attempt to reduce the benefit of the NOLS even if the Rights Plan is in place.

Continued Fiskof Ownership Change.  Alhough the Righs Plan s ntended o dimiish he Hikclihoodofan “owncrhip change.” we cannot ssreyou that it will e ffcive, The amount by which
an ownership interest may change in the future could, for example, be by purchases and sales of shares by stockholders holding 5% or more of our outstanding common shares, over which we have no
control, and ner issuances of shares by us, should we choose to do so.

Potential Effects on Liguidity.  The Rights Plan s intended to deter persons or groups of persons from acquiring beneficial ownership of our common shares in excess of the specified limitations. A
stockholder’s ability to dispose of our common shares may be limited if the Rights Plan reduces the number of persons willing to acquire our common shares or the amount they are willing to acquire. A
stockholder may become an Acquiring Person upon actions taken by persons related to, or affiliated with, them. Stockholders are advised to carefully monitor their ownership of our common shares and consult
their own legal advisors and/or us to determine whether their ownership of the shares approaches the proscribed level.

Potential Impact on Value.  The Rights Plan could negatively impact the value of our common shares by deterring persons or groups of persons from acquiring our common shares, including in
acquisitions for which some stockholders might receive a premium above market value.

ini-Takeover Effect.  The Board adopted the Rights Plan to diminish the rsk that our ability to use the NOLs to reduce potential federal income tax obligations becomes limited. Nonetheless, the Rights
Plan may have an “anti-takeover effect” because it may deter a person or group of persons from acquiring beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of our common shares or, in the case of a person or group of
persons that already own 4.9% or more of our common shares, from acquiring any additional common shares. The Rights Plan could discourage or prevent a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or accumulations of
substantial blocks of shares,

BOARD RECOMMENDATION

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF THE FOURTH T TO THE IN
0SS CARRY FORWARDS AND TAX SET FORTH IN THIS PROXY §

ITIAL RIGHTS PLAN, TO PRESERVE

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF

(Proposal No. 4)

Representatives of our independent registered public accounting firm are expected to be available at the Annual Meeting. Such representatives will have an opportunity to make a statement if they.
desire to do so and will be available 1o respond to appropriate questions.

RSM, our independent registered public accounting firm, provides services in connection with the audit of our financial statements, assistance with our Annual Report submitted to the SEC on Form
10-K and filed with the SEC, and consultation on matters relating (o accounting and financial reporting.

Audit Fees

The following table sets forth the approximate fees billed by RSM for 2023 and 2024:

2023 2024
Audit Fees 5 w2500 S 130
Audit Related Fees s 47495 S 19927
Tax Fees s —

Al Other Fees H — s —
Total s 2995 S sia

Audit Fees consist of fees billed for the audit of our year-end financial statements, review of financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports and our Current Reports, as well as review of
correspondence with the SEC and advisory services in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Audit Related Fees consist of fees billed for attest services related to C tock offering as well as all

The Audit Commitc has onsidored whether provisonofhe above audt eltedsrvices s compasibl withminainin theregiscred public accounin fm' indpendence and has detrmined
that such services are compatible with maintaining the registered public accounting firm’s independen

Pre-Approval of Audit Fees
Pursuant o its charter, the Audit Committee s resvons:hle for pre-approving all audit and permitted non-audit services to be performed for us by our independent auditors. When assessing requests

for pre-approval, the Audit Committee will consider whether Fsuch services is consistent with maintaining the independent auditors independence. The Audit Committee pre-approved all audit
and permitied non-audit services performed for us in 2023 and 20

BOARD RECOMMENDATION

 RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF THE. OF RSM AS JBLICACC
FOR THE COMPANY FOR 2025



OTHER MATTERS

Address

e SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediarie (e.g., brokers) to saisfy the delivery requirements for proxy statemens with respect to two or more stockholders sharing the same
address by delivering a single proxy statement addressed to those stockholders. This process, which is commonly referred to as “householding,” potentially means extra convenicnee for stockholders and cost
savings for companics.

At this time, one or more brokers, banks and/or other nominees with accountholders who are Company stockholders will be householding our proxy materials. A single Proxy Statement will be
delivered to multiple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected stockholder. Once you have received notice from your broker, bank and/or other
nominee that they will be householding communications to your address, householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent. If,at any time, you no longer wish to
participate in householding and would prefer to receive a separate Proxy Statement, please nofify your broker. You may request for a copy of th s (0 Broadwind, Inc., Attn:
Corporate Secreary, 3240 Souh Conte v, et imts G180, or v iy requet s cop by tephon s 70%-750-440 Uon s reqbest, e will prompty deliver s scpara copy ofthe rovy
Statement to you. If your broker, bank and/or other nominee is not currently householding (i.c., you received multiple copies of our Proxy Statement), and you would like to request delivery of a single copy,
you should contact your broker, bank and/or other nomince.

Stockholder Proposals and Nominations

Any appropriate proposal submitted by a Company stockholder and intended to be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be received by us at our
principal exccutive offices no later than December 3, 2025 Any such proposal must comply with the proxy rules of the SEC, including Rule 14a-8, and our Bylaws and be sent to our Corporate Secretary at the
address on the cover of this Proxy Statement

50,  board nomination or a stockholder proposal intended to be presented at the 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders but not included in our Proxy Statement and proxy must be received by us
o o thn January 1, 2026, and o lter than Febrary 14,2026, providd: hoever,that i the vent that the 2026 Annul Mecting ofSockholders i colld for s dte that i ot within 30 days before o
after the anniversary date of the Annual Meeting, such nomination or proposal must b by us no later than the 10th day following th
of Stockholders was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the 2026 Annual Meeting of‘ Sockhaers nas "made, whichever fa occurs. Any somination mst comply with these requirements, a5 set orh
our Bylaws.

In addition to complying with our Bylaws, as set forth immediately above, to comply with the universal proxy rules, stockholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other
than the Company’s nominces must set forth the information required by Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act when providing notice to the Company. Such a notice in support o dircetor nominees other than
the Company’s nominces pursuant to Rule 142-19 must be received by us no later than February 14, 2026, provided. however that in the event the 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is called for a date that
is not within 30 days before or after the anniversary date of the 2025 Annual Meeting, such notice must be received by us no later than the 10th day following the day on which the notice of the date of the
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders was made, whichever fist occurs.

To be properly brought before an annual meeting, our Bylaws requirc that any such proposal state:

©  abriefdescription of the business to be brought before the Annual Meeting;

©  the name and record address of such stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made;

©  the class or series and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation which are owned beneficially o of record by such stockholder or any such Stockholder Associated
Per

©  whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by o on behalf of, or any other agreement, arrangement or

understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares) has been made, the effect o intent of which s to mitigate loss to or manage risk or benefit of
share ricechange o, o nrsase or deseas he voing power of suh stockholde or Stockfolde Associated eron wihrespect 0 any shar ofstok o the Coporaion
ich e updated by such tockholder Associated Person, if any, in accordance with Section 116 of our Bylaws);

o arcasonably detailed description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person and any other person or persons
(including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder and any material interest of such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated
Person in such business;

. is being financed by any third p proposal and a reasonably the source of funds
o 0 it o ve i nerton s proposed business

©  arepresentation that such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to bring such business before the
meeting;
o such other information relating to the stockholder proposing such business and any such Stockholder Associated Person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy

statement or other filing required to be made in connection with a contested solicitation of proxies in which such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person is a participant in a
solicitation subject to Regulation 14 of the Exchange Act; and

o such other information relating to the proposed business as the Corporation may reasonably request to determine whether such proposed business is  proper matter for
stockholder action,

ved from stockhold bein applicable laws and with our Bylaws.
Any such proposal should be sent to our Corporate Secretary at the address on the cover of this Proxy Statement.

Dated: April 2,2025

Cicero, Illinois

APPENDIX A

FOURTH \ 382 RIGHTS

(this “Amendment") is made and entered into s of February 4, 2025, by and between Broadwind, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
‘Company”), and Equiniti Trust Company, formerly Wells Fargo, National Association, as rights agent (the *Rights Agent”).

WHEREAS, the Company and the Rights Agent entered into a Section 382 Rights Agreement dated as of February 12, 2013, which o a First Amendment to Setion 382
Rights Agreement ated s of February 5, 2016, Second Amendment o Section 382 Rights Agreement dated a af Fbruary 7, 2019, and  Thid Amendment {0 Section 382 Rights Agreement dated a5 of Febrary
3,2022 (as amended, the “Agreement’);

WHEREAS, Section 27 of the Agreement provides, among other things, that, prior to the Stock Acquisition Date (as defined in the Agreement) the Company and the Rights Agent may from time to time
supplement or mend e ‘Agreement in any respect without the approval of any holders of Rights (as defined in the Agreement);

WHEREAS, no Stock Acquisition Date has occurred on or prior to the date hereof;
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board) has determined it i in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Agreement as set forth herein: and
WHEREAS, the Board has authorized and approved this Amendment;

FORE, for good and
Rights Agem 10 execute this Amendment:

the ficiency of which are hereby the Company hereby agrees to amend the Agreement as follows and directs the

1. Section7 of the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(@ Clause (a)G) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

(i) the Close of Business on February 22, 2028 (the *Final Expiration Date”),

) Clause (a)(vi) shall be removed and replaced with the following:
(vi) the Close of Business on the first Business Day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for the Company’s 2025 Annual Meeting of

recmentdued 5 f February 4 2025 o uch ctng (i the reqired Vot for such approval 1 b desribed (e Companyproxy soement e 1 such Aol Mectng) efects tht ckolder
approval of such amendment has ot been recived (the carlicst of (i), i, (i, (iv). () and (vi) being hercin reforred to as the “Expiration Date”).




©

Clause (b) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

The Purchase Price for each housandth of a share of Preferred Stock 10 the exercise of a Right shall be $7.70, and shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in Section 11 Attest:
and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph (¢) below.

INWITNESS WHEREOF, the partis hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date firs writen above.

BROADWIND, INC.

2. ExhibitB 10 the Agreement is hereby amended as follows: By: /sl Thomas A. Ciccone By /s/Eric B. Blashford
Thomas A. Ciccone Eric B Blashford
(@ The reference to "FEBRUARY 22, 2025 on page B-1 shall be removed and replaced with “FEBRUARY 22, 2028." Vice President & Chief Financial Officer President & Chief Executive Officer
3. ExhibitC o the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(@ The second sentence of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following: Attest EQUINITI TRUST COMPANY
Each right entitls its holder, under the circumstances described below, to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $7.70 per
right, subject 0 adjustment. By /s/__Jennifer Leno By: /s MartinJ. Knapp
Name: Jennifer Leno Name:
®  The first bullt point in the cleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following: Titl:  Vice President

the close of business on February 22, 2028;

(®  The last bullet point in the cleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:
close of business on the first business day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for Broadwind’s 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders cerifies that the vote on the amendmen,
dated as cfrehmar)‘ 4,2025, 10 the Section 382 Right at such that ipproval has not been received.
@ The thiricenth paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following

For example, at an exercise price of §7.70 per right, each right not owned by an acquiring person (or by certain related partes) following a lip-in event would entieits holder to purchase $15.40 wor
common stoc o othe consderation, s noedshove) for 7,70, Assuming at he common ok hd  per shar alu of 585 at i, the oo fah valdrightwould b eild  purcse o s
of common stock for $15,

4. This Amendment is effective as of the date first set forth above.

5. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings aseribed to such terms in the Agreement.

6. This Amendiment may be exccuted inany number ofcounterpars: ach sach counesprt shall for allpurposs b deemed t bean original:andal such counerpats sall ogeher consitatebutone
and the same instrument, A shall have the same authority, effect and enforceability as an original signature.

7.

Except as modified hereby, the Agreement s reaflirmed in all respects, and all references therein to “the Agreement” shall mean the Agreement, as modified hereby.

Tille: SV, Relationship Director



APPENDIX B
THIRD RIGHTS
THIS (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of February 3, 2022, by and between Broadwind Energy, Inc...a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), and Equiniti Trust Company, formerly Wells Fargo, National Association, as rights agent (the *Rights Agent”),
REAS, the Company and the Rights Agent entered into a Section 382 Rights Agreement dated as of February 12, 2013, which to.a First Amendment to Section 382

Rights Agreement ated a5 of February 5, 2016 anda Second Amendment o Section 382 Rghts Agrecment dted as o February 7, 2019 (s amended,th “Agreement';

WHEREAS f the Agreement provides, among other things, that,prior to the Stock Acquisition Date (as defined in the Agreement) the Company and the Rights Agent may from time to time
supplement or amend the Agreement in any respect without the approval of any holders of Righs (as defined in the Agreement);

WHEREAS, no Stock Acquisition Date has oceurred on or prior to the date hereof;
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined it i in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Agreement as set forth herein; and
WHEREAS, the Board has authorized and approved this Amendment;

W, THEREFORE, for good and valusble consideration, the reccipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged. the Company hereby agrees to amend the Agreement as follows and dircets the,
Rights Agm 10 execute this Amendment:

I paragraph of the Agreement s hereby as follows:

x SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT dtd s of ey 12,2013 (i “Agroment. by and betwsen Brosdind, n.  Deeware corpration (e Company and Eint Trst Cornpany,frmerty
Wells Fargo, National Associaton (th “Rights Agen

2. Section 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
@ Clause (a)() shall be removed and replaced with the following:
(i) the Close of Business on February 22, 2025 (the *Final Expiration Date”),

®  Clause (a)(vi) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

(vi) the Close of Business on the first Business Day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for the Company’s 2022 Annual Meetin
nrecmentduted 5 of February 3, 2023 o such mecting (i he requird vre for sh aproval 1 b described i te Companypovy saement rehlmg o sueh Ao Meeing) et ht stoekholder
approval of such amendment has not been reccived (the carliestof (i), i), i), (iv) (v) and (vi) being herein referred 1o as the “Expiration Date”).

(© Clause (b) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

The Purchase Price for each ofa share of Preferred Stock 10 the exercise of a Right shall be $7.26, and shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in Section 11
and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph (¢) below.

3. Exhibit B o the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
@ Allreferences to “Broadwind Energy, Inc.” shal be removed and replaced with “Broadwind, Inc."

@ The reference to “FEBRUARY 22, 2022” on page B-1 shall be removed and replaced with “FEBRUARY 22, 2025."

4. ExhibilC to the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(@ The first sentence of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

On February 12, 2013, the board of dircctors of Broadind, Inc. (“Broadwind”) adopted a Scetion 382 stockholders rights plan and declared a dividend one right for cach of
our common stock to stockholders of record at the Close of Business on February 22, 2013.

) The second sentence of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

Each right entitles ts holder, under the circumstances described below, to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $7.26 per
right, subject to adjustment.

(@ The first bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhiit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:
* the close of business on February 22, 2025;
(@ The last bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

th lose ofbusiess o he it busincss day llowin he dtc o wich theIspector of Elction o Brodind's 2022 Annis MectingofStoekholders e that he vt onthesmendmen,
dated as of February 3, 2022, to the Section 382 Rights pproval has not been received.

(@ Thethirtcenth paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:



For example, at an exercise price of §7.26 per right, éach right not owned by an acquiring person (or by certain related parties) following a flip-in event would entitle its holder to purchase $14.52 worth of
‘common stock (or other consideration, as noted above) for $7.26. Assuming that the common stock had a per share value of $3.63 at that time, the holder of each valid right would be entitled to purchase four shares
of common stock for $14.52.

5. This Amendment is effective as of the date first set forth above.

6. Capitalized terms used but not defined hercin shall have the ibed to such terms in the Agreement.
7. This Amendment may be exccuted in any number of counterparts; each such counterpart shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original; and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one
and the same instrument. A signature (o this Amendment executed shall have . effect as an original signature.
8 hereby, the A i all respects, and all o "the Agreement” shall mean the Agreement, as modified hercby.

Attest:

By:

Attest:

By:

INWITNESS WHEREOF, the partis hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date firs writen above.

BROADWIND, INC.

s/ Thomas A. Ciceone By: /s/Eric B Blshford

Thomas A. Ciccone. Eric B. Blashford

Vice President President & Chief Executive Officer
EQUINITI TRUST COMPANY

s/ Martin Knapp By: s/ Angela M. Stewart

Name:Martin Kna Name:Angela M. Stewart

Tide:  Senior Vice President Tille:  Assistant Vice President
B4



APPENDIX C
TOSECTION

‘THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT (ihis
corporation (the “Company”), and Equiniti Trust Company, formerly Wells Fargo, National Association, as rights agent (he

“Amendment”) is made and entered into as of February 7, 2019, by and between Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware
ights Agent”).

WHEREAS, the Company and the Rights Agent entered ino a Section 382 Rights Agreement dated as of February 12, 2013, which » aFirst t0 Section 382
Rights Agreement dated as of February 5, 2016 (as amended, the “Agreement");

WHEREAS, 27 of the Agrecment provides, among other things, that, prior 10 the Stock Acquisition Date (as defined in the Agrecment) the Company and the Rights Agent may from time to time
supplement or amend the Agreement in any respect without the approval of any holders of Rights (as defined in the Agreement):

WHEREAS, no Stock Acquisition Date has occurred on or prior to the date hereof;
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the *Board") has determined it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Agreement as sct forth hercin; and
WHEREAS, the Board has authorized and approved this Amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE, for zood and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company hereby agrees to amend the Agreement as follows and direcs the
Rights Agent to exccute this Amendment

1. SectionT of the Agreement s hercby amended as follows:
() Clause (a)i) shall b removed and replaced with the following:
(i) the Close of Business on February 22, 2022 the “Final Expiration Date™),

@ Clause (a)vi) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

(vi) the Close of Business on the first Business Day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for the Company’s 2019 Annual Meeting
narcoment dted 5 of February . 301 a ch mecting (ot te requred vote fo such approval o b desribd i the Company‘s prowy sttement relating o uch py Vlmmg\ reflects that stockholder
approval of such amendment has not been received (the earliest of (), (i), (i), (iv). (v) and (vi) being herein referred to as the “Expiration Date”).

(©  Clause (b) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

‘The Purchase Price for each one one-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock pursuant to the exercise of a Right shall intially be $4.25, and shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in
Section 11 and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph (¢) below.

2. ExhibitB 1o the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

@ The reference to "FEBRUARY 22, 2019”

i page B-1 shall be removed and replaced with “FEBRUARY 22, 2022."

Exhibit C t0 the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
@ The second sentence of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

Each right entites s holder, under the circumstances described below, to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $4.25 per
right, subject o adjustment.

@ The first bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

+ theclose of business on February 22, 2022;

(©  The last bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

close of business on the first business day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for Broadwind’s 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders cerifies that the vote on the amendment,
daedasof rehruary 7,2019, t0 the Section 382 Rights Agreement at such meeting reflects that stockholder approval has not been received.

@ The thirteenth paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following

For example, at an exercise price of $4.25 per right, each right not owned by an acquiring person (or by certain related parties) following a flip-in event would entitle its holder to purchase $8.50 worth of
‘common stock (or other cons‘demuon as noted above) for $4.25. Assuming that the common stock had a per share value of $2.125 at that time, the holder of cach valid right would be enitled to purchase four shares
of common stock for $4.2:

4. This Amendmentis effective as of the date first set forth above.
5. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement.
6. This Amendment may be exceuted in any mumber of counterparts; each such counterpart shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original; and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one
and A shall have the same authority, effect and enforceability as an original signature.
7. Exceptas modified hereby, the Agreement is reaffirmed in all respects, and allreferences therein to “the Agreement” shall mean the Agreement, as modified hereby.
c2



INWITNESS WHEREOF, the partis hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date firs writen above.

APPENDIXD
Autest ITITRUST COMPANY
FIRST 110N
By /s/__JasonL Bonfigt By: s/ Stephanic K. Kushner “THIS FIRST. T0 ) (tis “Amendment” o as of February 5, 2016, by and between Broadwind Energy, Inc, a Delaware corporation
Jason L. Bonfigt Stcphanie K. Kushner (the “Company”), and Wells Fargo, National Association, a rights agent (the “Rights Agent”)
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer President & Chief Executive Offcer
WHEREAS, the Company and the Rights Agent entered into a Section 382 Rights Agreement dated as of February 12,2013 (the “Agreement”);
WHEREAS, Section 27 of the Agreement provides, among other things, that, prior to the Stock Acquisition Date (as defined in the Agreement) the Company and the Rights Agent may from time to ime
Auest EQUINITI TRUST COMPANY supplement or amend the Agreement in any respect without the approval of any holders of Righs (as defined in the Agreement):;
WHEREAS, no Stock Acquisition Date has occurred on or prior to the date hereof;
By /s/__ Matthew D. Pascka By /s/__ Susin ). Roeder
Namer Matthew D. Pascka Name: Susan I R¢ 'WHEREAS, the Board of Dircetors of the Company (the “Board") has determined it s in the best interests of the Company and ts stockholders to amend the Agreement as set forth herein: and
Tile:  Vice President Tile:  Assistant Secretary.

WHEREAS, the Board has authorized and approved this Amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE, for zood and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company hereby agrees to amend the Agreement as follows and direcs the
Rights Agent to exccute this Amendment

1. Section 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(@ Clause (a)(i) shall be removed and replaced with the following:
(i) the Close of Business on February 22, 2019 (the “Final Expiration Date"),
() Clause (alvi) shall be removed and replaced with the following:
(vi) the Close of Business on the first Business Day following the date on which the Inspector of Elcction for the Company’s 2016 Annual Meeting that the votc on

Agreement dated as of February 5, 2016 at such meeting (with the required vote for such approval to be described in the Company’s proxy statement relating to such Annual Meeting) reflects that stockholder
approval of such amendment has not been received (the earliest of (), (i), i), (iv). (v) and (vi) being herein referred to as the “Expiration Date”).




(©) Clause (b) shall be removed and replaced with the following:

‘The Purchase Price for a share of Preferred Stock p the exercise of a Right shallinitially be $9.81, and shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in Section 11
and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph (¢) below.

2. Exhibit B to the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(@) The reference to “FEBRUARY 22, 2016 on page B-1 shall be removed and replaced with “FEBRUARY 22, 2019."

() The first sentence on page B-2 shall be removed and replaced with the following:
This certifies that . or registered assigns, is the registered owner of the number of Rights set forth above, each of which entitles the owner thercof, subject to the terms, provisions and conditions
of the Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013 (a5 amended from time to time, the *Rights Agreement”), between Broadwind Energy. Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
Wells Fargo, National Association (the “Rights Agent”), to purchase from the Company at any time prior to the Expiration Date (as defined in the Rights Agreement)at the office or offices of the Rights Agent
designated for such purpose, or its successors as Rights Agent, one one-thousandth of a fully paid, nonassessable share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value S0.001 per share (the “Preferred
Stock”), of the Company. at a purchase price of S___ per one one-thousandth of a share (the “Purchase Price”), upon presentation and surrender of this Rights Certificate with the Form of Election to Purchase
and related Certificate duly executed.

3. ExhibitC to the Agreement s hereby amended as follows:

(@The second sentence of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

Each right entitles its holder, under deseribed below, to purchase from us thousandth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $9.81 per right,
subject to adjustment.

() The first bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

« the close of business on February 22, 2019;

(9 The last bullet point in the eleventh paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:

+the close of business on the first business day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for Broadwind’s 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders certifies that the vote on the amendment, dated
as of February 5, 2016, to the Section 382 R meeting reflects that approval has not been received.

(@The thirteenth paragraph of Exhibit C shall be removed and replaced with the following:
For example, at an exercise price of $9.81 per right, each right not owned by an acquiring person (or by certain related parties) following a lip-in event would entite ts holder to purchase $19.62 worth of common
stock (or other consideration, as noted above) for $9.81. Assuming that the common stock had a per share value of $2.45 at that time, the holder of each valid right would be entitled to purchase eight shares of
common stock for $9.81

4. This Amendment is effective as of the date firstset forth above.

5. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement

6. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts:
the same instrument, A

eh such counterpart shall for al purposes be deemed to be an original; and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and.
electronically shall have the same authority, effect and enforceability as an original signature.

7. Except as modified hereby, the Agreement is reaffirmed in all respects, and all references therein to *

e Agreement” shall mean the Agreement, as modified hercby.



INWITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly exceuted as of the date frst written above.

By

By:

s/ David W, Fell
David W. Fell

Secretary

15/ Martin J_Knay
Name: Martin J. Knapp

Title: Vice President

Attest: BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.
By: /s/ Stephanic K. Kushner
Stephanic K. Kushner

Interim President & Chief Executive Officer

Attest: WELLS FARGO, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By: &/ Andrea Severson
Name: Andrea Severson

Tille: AVP — Client Services

APPENDIXE

WELLS FARGO, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Section 382 Rights Agreer

Rights Agent,

ment Dated as of February 12,2013
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SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT

‘This SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT, dated as of February 12, 2013 (this “Agreement”), by and between Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association (the "Rights Agent”).

WITNESSETH:

EAS, the Company has generated net operating losses for United States federal income tax purposes ("NOLs”) and certain other tax benefits, such NOLs and certain other tax benefits
may potentially provide valuable tax benefits to the Company, the Company desires to avoid an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382 (as defined below) and thereby preserve the ability to utlize
fully such NOLs and certain other tax benefits; and

A4S, on Py 122013 e Rights Diidend Delaration Dt e oad of dvctor fthe Company (e “Bordof Dietors”) auhoized snd el dvidend dition of

one Right (as her ciater defined) for each share of Common Stock (as hereinafter defined) outstanding at the Close of Business (as hereinafter defined) on February 22, 2013 (the “Record Date™), each Right intially
representing the right to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Partcipating Prefrred Stock of the Company having the rights, powers and preferences set forth in the form of the Certificate of
Designation attached hereto as Exhibit A, upon the terms and subject o the conditions hereinafier set forth (the “Rights”), and has further authorized the issuance of one Right as such number may hereinafier be

adjusted pursuant to the provisions of Section 11(p)) for cach share of Common Stock that shall become outstanding between the Record Date (whether originally issued or delivered from the Company’s treasury)

‘and the earlir of the Distribution Date and the Expiration Date (as such defined) or, in ded in Section 22, at

the Distribution Date:
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows:
Section 1. Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings indicated:

cquiring Person” shall mean any Person who or which, together with all Affiliates and Associates of such Person, is or becomes the Beneficial Owner of 4.9% or more of the shares of Common
Stock (which shallinclude any other interest that would be treated as “stock” of the Company for purposes of Scction 382) then outstanding, but shall notinclude (i) the Company, (i) any Subsidiary of
the Company. (i) any employee benefit plan of the Company or of any Subsidiary of the Company, (i) any Person organized, appointed or established by the Company for or pursuant to the terms of any
such plan, (v) any Grandfathered Person, or (vi) any Exempied Person: unless and until such time as such Person (together with all Affiliates and Associates of such Person) acquires the Beneficial
Ownership of any additional Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Person shall become an “Acquiring Person” as the result of an acquisition of shares of Common Stock by the Company
which, by reducing the number of shares outstanding, increases the proportionate number of shares beneficially owned by such Person to 4.9% or more of the shares of Common Stock then outstanding;
thatif a Person, other than those Persons excepted in clauses (i), i, i), (i), () or (vi) ofthe preceding sentence shall become the Beneficial Owner of 4.9% or more of the shares of
‘Common Stock then outstanding by reason of purchases of Common Stock by the Company and shall, after such purchases by the Company, become the Beneficial Owner of any additional shares of
Common Stack (other than pursuant to a dividend or distribution paid or made by the Company on the outstanding Common Stock or pursuant to a split or subivision of the outstanding Common Stack).
then such Person shll be deemed to be an “Acquiring Person.” In addition, the Board of Directors may, i its sole discretion, determine that any Exempted Person shall no longer be dee
“Exempted Person” for any purposes of this Agreement at which time such Person shall be deemed to be an Acquiring Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Board of Directors determines i good
faith that a Person who would otherwise be an “Acquiring Person” (as defined pursuant (o the foregoing provisions of this paragraph) has become such inadvertently, and such Person divests as.
promply as practicable a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock so that such Person would no longer be an “Acquiring Person” (as defined pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this paragraph),
then such Person shall not be deemed to be an “Acquiring Person” for any purposes of this Agreemen

“Adjustment Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Seetion 11(a)Gi).

d “Ass

“Affliate te” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act as in effect on the date of this
Agrement and shall o Include, wih rspee 0 any Person, iy othes Person whose Commo Stock (o ohe terct hat would be neted a5 -sock™ of e Company fo purposcsof Secion 382
would be deemed constructively owned by such frst Person for purposes of Section 382, would be deemed owned by a single “entity” as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.382-3(a)(1) in which both such
Persons are included, or otherwise would be deemed ageregated with Common Stock owned by such fist Person pursuant to the provisions of Section 382 and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

A Person shall be deemed the “Beneficial Owner” of, and shall be deemed to “beneficially own,” any securities that such Person directly owns, that such Person is deemed to constructively own
under Section 382 and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (including pursuant to the “option” rules of Treasury Regulation Section 1.382-4), that such Person would be deemed to own together with any

Persons as a single “entity” under Treasury Regulation Section 1.382-3(a)(1). or that otherwise would be aggregated with securities owned by such Person pursuant to Section 382 and the Treasury
Regulations thereunder; provided, however,that (x)nothing in this dfiniton shall cause a Person engaged i business as an underuwirie of secuites to be the “Benefcial Owner” of, o o “benefiially
own,” any securities acquired through such Person’s participation in good faith in a firm commitment underwriting until the expiration of forty (40) days after the date of such scisiion and (y) o officer
or director of the Company shall be deemed to beneficially own any securities of any other Person solely by virtue of any actions that such officer or director takes in such capacil




oard of Directors” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the State of i

“Close of Business” on any given date shall mean 5:00 P.M., Chicago, ilinos time, on such date, provided, hor
inois time, on the next succeeding Business Day.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor statute.

“Common Stock” shall mean the common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company or any capital stock or other equity
exchanged.

“Common Stock Equivalents” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(a)ii).

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble t0 this Agreement.

“Current Market Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(d)().

“Current Value” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(a)(ii).

“Distribution Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(a).
“Equivalent Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(b).
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Exchange Ratio” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(a).

7" shall mean any Person who or which would otherwise be an Acquiring Person but whose Beneficial Ownership (together with all Affiliates and Associates of such Person) of

4
4.9% or more of the Common Stock would not, as determined by the Board of Directors in

thorized or obligated by law or o close.

vever, that f such date is not a Business Day it shall mean 5:00 P.M., Chicago,

interest into which such common stock may be reclassified or

. jeopardize,
Benefits, at any time prior to the Company'’s right of Section 23(a); provided, however, 1
become an “Acquiring Person” if the Board of Directors subsequently makes a contrary determination.

(in timing or amount 10 the Company of s Tax
hat such a Person will cease to be an “Exempted Person” and will

“Exempted Transaction” shall mean any transaction that the Board of Directors determines, n its sole discretion, is an “Exempted Transaction,” which determination shall be irrevocable.
“Expiration Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).

“Final Expiration Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).

“Grandfathered Person” shall mean any Person who would otherwise be an Acquiring Person as of the date of this Agreement; provided, however, that such Person shall cease to be a
“Grandfathered Person” at such time as the Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock of such Person increases without the Prior Written Approval of the Company. other than any increase pursuant to or as
a result of (i) a reduction in the amount of Common Stock outstanding, (i) any unilateral grant of any Common Stock by the Company, (ii) any issuance of Common Stock by the Company or any share
dividend, share split or similar transaction effected by the Company in which all holders of Common Stock are treated equally or (v) any Exempted Transaction.

“QTCBB" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(d)()

“Person” shall mean any individual, firm, limited liability company, corporation, partnership, trust or other entity and shall include any successor (by merger or otherwise) of such entity.

“Preferred Stock” shall mean the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company having the rights and preferences set forth in the Form of Certificate of
Designation attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A, and, to the extent that there is not a sufficient number of shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock authorized to permit the full exercise of
the Rights, any other series of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company designated for such purpose containing terms substantially similar t0 the terms of the Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock.

“Prior Written Approval of the Company” shall mean prior exprss written consent of the Company to the action in question, exceuted on behalf of the Company by a duly authorized officer of
the Company following express approval by action of at least a majority of the Board of Directors.

“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(a)

rd Date” shall have the meaning sct forth in the recitals of this Agreement
“Redemption Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 23(a)

“Rights” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of ths Agreement



“Rights Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble of this Agreement
“Rights Cerificates” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(a).

“Rights Dividend Declaration Date” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.
“Section 1 1(a)ii) Event” shall mean the event described in Section 11(a)ii).
“Section 1 1(a)ii) Trigger Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(a)Gii).

s

ssor or replacement provision.

1n 382" shall mean Section 382 of the Code or any suc

“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Spread” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(a)(ii).

“Stock Acquisition Date” shall mean the first date of public announcement (which, for purposes of this definition, shall include, without limitation, a report filed pursuant to Section 13(d) under
the Exchange Act) by the Company or an Acquiring Person indicating that an Acquiring Person has become such or such earlier date as a majority of the Board of Directors shall become aware of the
existence of an Acquiring Person; provided that if a Person is determined to be an Exempted Person (and as a result such Person is not an Acquiring Person), then the Stock Acquisition Date that
otherwise shall have oceurred shall be deemed not to have oceurred.

“Subsidiary” shall mean, with reference to any Person, any corporation or other entity of which an amount of voting securities sufficient to cleet at least a majority of the directors of such
corporation or other entity is beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person, or otherwise controlled by such Person.

“Substitution Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(a)i

“Summary of Rights” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(b).

“Tax Benefits” shall mean NOL, capital ral b i tax cred foreign tax cred loss or deduction
tibuabic o “net reaized bl in oo wilhin he meaning ofSecton 353 ofthe Compans or oy of s Subsidaics i any ather s h beneft af which s ubjct 0 possble mtation
under Section 382 or Section 383 of the Code.

“Trading Day” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11(d)(i).

the Rights Agent h

“Treasury Regulations” shall mean the final, temporary and proposed regulations promulgated by the United States Department of the Treasury under the Code as amended or superseded from

time to i

“Iriggering Event” shall mean a Section 11(a)(ii) Event.

rust” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(a).

“Trust Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(z),

the Rights Agent to act as agent for the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and
ssary or desirable.

Section Rights Agent. The Company
by accepts such appointment. The Company may from time to time appoint such co-Rights Agents as it may deem ne

Issue of Rights Certifieates.

) Untilthe culieof ) the Close ofBusinessanthe e doyafertheStock Acquision Dat o, ifhe e dayaer the Sock Acison Dae oceursbeor the Recod Dae e
Close of Business on the Rect (i) the Close of Business on the tenth Business Day (or such later date as may be determined by action of the Board of Dircctors prior to such time as any Person
ecomas an Acquiing Person)atr th dte tht & onde o oxchange offer b any Persen (ohr han the Compans: any Subsdiry of the Corpany, ay empleyce boneit pla ofhe Company o of ny
Subsidiary of the Company, or any Person organized, appointed or established by the Company for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan) i first published or sent or given within the meaning of Rule
14d-2(a) of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act,if upon consummation thereof, such Person would become an Acquiring Person (the earlier of (i) and (ii) being herein referred to as the
Distbtion D", (1 the Rights will b vidnced (ubjsct o th rovisons ofpagrph (5 ofhis Secton3) by h rtifiaes for the Comm Stock reiterd n he s ofhe s o the

m o o, inhecaseof ecrtifisted Common Stok b i bk <ney ccoun ht cideess ecord owmship ofsch Common ‘book-entries for tock shall
be deemed alo o be Rights) and not by the Rights will be in connection with the transfer of the underlying oot oo
Stk (ncludin a rime 1ot Company). The Company ek promptly nofy the Righte Abent o Disibtion Dte and equest s ranafragen 10 g1 he Rights A tocknolder st topether
with all other relevant information. As soon as practicable after the Rights Agent is notified of the Distribution Date and receives such information, the Rights Agent will send by first-class, insured, postage
prepaid mail, to each record holder of the Common Stock as of the Close of Business on the Distribution Date, at the address of such holder shown on the records of the Company, one or more Rigl
certificates, in substantially the form of Exhibit B (the *Rights Certficates ™), evidencing one Right for each share of Common Stock so held, subject to adjustment as provided herein. In the event that any
ustment e e of Rightspersace o Caon Stok bt b wadepucwant  Section 1,1 s ofdisbuto of the Rights Crits i Company sl ks e ey
appropriate rounding adjustments (in accordance with Section 14(x)) so that Rights C only d cash is paid in licu of any fractional Rights. As
ofand afterthe isiibution Dat,the Rights will be evidenced solly by such Rights Certfctes.

Section 3.




(b) The Company will make available, as prompily as practicable, a copy of a Summary of Rights, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit C (the “Summary of Rights”) to any holder of
Rights who may s0 request from time to time prior to the Expiration Date. With respect to certificates for the Common Stock outstanding as of the Record Date, or which become outstanding subscquent to the
Record Date, uniilthe Distribution Date, the Rights will be evidenced by such certificates registered in the names of the holders thereof. With respect to uncertificated Common Stock outstanding as of the
Record Date or which becomes outstanding subsequent to the Record Date, until the Distribution Date, the Rights will be evidenced by the book-entry account that evidences record ownership of such
Common Stock in the name of the holders thereof. Until the earlier of the Distribution Date or the Expiration Date, the surrender for transfer of any certificate representing shares of Common Stock (or, in the
case of uncertificated shares of Common Stock, a transfer recorded in the book-entry accounts that evidence record ownership) in respect of which Rights have been issued shall also constitute the transfer
of the Rights associated with such shares of Common Stack.

Rights shall be issued in respect of all shares of Common Stock which are issued (whether originally issued or from the Company’s treasury) after the Record Date but prior to the earlier
ofthe Disebution Dt o te Expiaion Dot o, ncrsin crcumsiances proidedn Secion 22 e the Dsirbution Dt Cerifiaes epresetingsuh sharesof Common Stack sl o be desmed o be
for Rights, and shall bear a legend substantially in the following for

“This certificate also evidences and entitls the holder hereof to certai rights as set forth in the Section 382 Rights Agreement between Broadwind Energy, Inc. (the “Company™) and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Rights Agent”) dated as of February 12, 2013, as the same may be amended from time to time (the “Rights Agreement”), the terms of which are hereby
incorporated herein by reference and a copy of which is on file at the principal offices of the Company. Under certain circumstances, as set forth in the Rights Agreement, such Rights (as
defined i the Righs Agremen) will e cidened by sepratecrificatcsand wil o logerbe cidenced by i it The Compunywil il 0 theholder f this crtifae a copy of
the Rights Agreement, as in effect on the date of mailing, without charge promptly after receipt of a writ i

Rights sued o, o held by, any Peson aho o which . was o becomes n Acquirin Person ot any ARt or Associae et (a5 such terms are defined in the Rights Agreement),
whether currently held by or on behalf of such Person or by any subsequent holder, may become null and void.

Withespecttoan bk ey saresof Comman Sock,such eged sl be neluded ina nofic 0 e resord holderof sushsares i acsordnce with pplisble . Unil the s of ) he Disibuton
Date or (ii) the Expiration Date, the Righs associated with the Common Stock represented by certificates or by book-entries e evidenced by

entries alone and registered holders of Common Stock shall also be the registered holders of the associated Rights, and the transfer of any of such Common Stock represented by ot oot
entries shall also constitute the transfer of the Rights associated with the Common Stock represented by such certificates and book-entries. In the event the Company purchases or acquires any shares of
Common Stock after the Record Date but prior to the Distribution Date, any Rights associated with such shares shall be deemed cancelled and retired so that the Company shall not be entitled to exercise any
Rights associated with shares of Common Stock that are no longer outstanding. The omission of any legend described in this Section 3 shall not affect the status, validity or enforceability of any part of this
Agreement or the rights of any holder of the Righs

Section 4. Form of Rights Certificates,

) The Rights Certificates (and the forms of election to purchase and of assignment to be printed on the reverse thereof) shall cach be substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit B and
‘may have such marks of identification or designation and such legends, summaries or endorsements printed thereon as the Company may deem appropriate and as are not inconsistent with the provisions of
this Agreement, or as may be required to comply with any applicable law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any stock exchange on which the Rights may
from time to time be listed, or to conform to usage. Subject 1o the provisions of Section 11 and Section 22, the Rights Certificates, whenever distributed, shall be dated as of the Record Date or, in the case of
Rights with respeet to shares of Comman Stock issued or bec g after the Record Date, the same date as the date of the stock certificate (or, with respect to uncertificated shares of Common
Stock, dated the date of i of the shares indicated in the books of the registrar and transfer agent) evidencing such shares, and on their face shall entitle the holders thereof to purchase such number of
one one- thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock as shall be set forth therein a the price set forth therein (such exercise price per one one-thousandih of a share, the “Purchase Price”), but the amount and
type of securities purchasable upon the exercise of each Right and the Purchase Price thereof shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in Section 11

(b) Any Rights Certificate issued pursuant to Section 3(a), Section 1 1(a)(i) or Section 22 that represents Rights beneficially owned by any Person known to be: (i) an Acquiring Person or
any Associate or Affiliate of an Acquiring Person, (i) a transferee of an Acquiring Person (or of any such Associate or Affiliate) who becomes a transferee afier the Acquiring Person becomes such, or (iii) a
transferee of an Acquiring Person (or of any such Associate or Affiliate) who becomes a transferee prior fo or concurrently with the Acquiring Person becoming such and receives such Rights pursuant to
ither (A) a transfer (whether or not for consideration) from the Acquiring Person (or any Affliate or Associate thereof) to holders of equity interests in such Acquiring Person (or any Affliate or Associate
thereof) or to any Person with whom such Acquiring Person (or any Affiliate or ) has any ement transferred Rights or (B) a

h has d i part o a plan, which has as a primary purpose or effect avoidance of Section 7(¢), and any Rights Certificate issued
pursuant to Section 6 or Section 11 upon transfer, exchange, replacement or adjustment of any other Rights Certificate referred to in this sentence, shall contain (1o the extent feasible) the following legend:




“The Rights represented by this Rights Certificate are or were beneficially owned by a Person who was or became an Acquiring Person or an Afliliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person (as such terms are
defined in the Rights Agreement). Accordingly, this Rights Certificate and the Rights represented hereby may become null and void in the circumst fied in Section 7(¢) of

‘The absence of the foregoing legend on any Rights Certificate shall in no way affect any of the other provisions of this Agreement, including the provisions of Section 7(e)

Section 5. Countersignature and Registration,

(a) The Rights Certificates shall be exceuted on behalf of the Company by its Chairman of the Board, its President or any Vice President, cither manually o by facsimile signature, and shall
have affixed thereto the Company’s seal or a facsimile thereof which shall be attested by the Secretary or an Assistant Secetary of the Company, either manually or by facsimile signature. The Rights
Certificates shall be countersigned manually or by facsimile signature by the Rights Agent and shall not be valid for any purpose unless so countersigned. In case any officer of the Company who shall have
signed or attested any of the Rights Certificates shall cease to be such officer of the Company before countersignature by the Rights Agent and issuance and delivery by the Company, such Rights
Certificates, nevertheless, may be countersigned by the Rights Agent and issued and delivered by the Company with the same force and effect as though the person who signed or attested such Rights
Certificates had not ceased to be such officer of the Company: and any Rights Certificates may be signed or attested on behalf of the Company by any person who, at the actual date of the exeeution of such
Rights Certificate, shall be a proper officer of the Company to sign or attest such Rights Certificate, although at the date of the execution of this Rights Agreement any such person was not such an officer

(b) Following the Distribution Date, the Rights Agent will keep or cause to be kept, at its principal office or offices designated as the appropriate place for surrender of Rights Certificates
upon exercise or transfer, books for registration and transfer of the Rights Certificates issued hereunder. Such books shall show the names and addresses of the respective holders of the Rights Certificates,
the number of Rights evidenced on its face by each of the Rights Certificates and the certificate number and the date of each of the Rights Certificates.

Section 6. Transfer. Split Up. Combination and Exchange of Rights Certificates: Mutilated. Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Rights Certificates.

(a) Subject o the provisions of Section 4(b), Section 7(e) and Section 14, at any time after the Close of Business on the Distribution Date, and at or prior (0 the Close of Business on the
Expiration Date, any Rights Certficate or Certificates (other than Rights Certificates representing Rights that have become null and void pursuant to Section 7(e) or that have been exchanged pursuant to
Section 24) may be transferred, split up, combined or exchanged for another Rights Cetificate or Certificates, entiling the registered holder to purchase a like number of one one-thousandihs of a share of
Preferred Stock (or, following a Triggering Event, Common Stock, other securitis, cash or other assets, a the case may be) as the Rights Certficate or Certificates surrendered then entitled such holder (or
former e the case o o rnse) o purchase, Ay egistersd oo esiin o e, pit . combin o sxchange any RightsCetifte o Cetifcts sl ke sch reuest i g delivered
to the Rights Agent, and shall surender the Rights Certificate or Certificates to be transferred, split up, combined or exchanged at the principal office or offices of the Rights Agent designated

purpos. Nettherthe Rights Agentno he Company shllbe abligaed 1 ke any acton whatsoeve wihrespect o the rnstr of oy uch suendered Righis Cerifieate il h rgisred holde shal
have completed and signed the certificate contained in the form of assignment on the reverse side of such Rights Certificate and shall have provided such additional evidence of the identity of the Beneficial
Owner (or former Bencficial Owner) or Affiliates or Associates thercof as the Company or the Rights Agent shall reasonably request. Thereupon the Rights Agent shall, subject to Section 4(b), Section 7(c),
Section 14 and Section 24, countersign and deliver to the Person entitled thereto a Rights Certificate or Rights Certificates, as the case may be, as so requested. The Company may require payment of a sum
sufficient to cover any tax or governmental charge that may be imposed in connetion with any transfer, splt up, combination or exchange of Rights Certificates.

(b) Upon receipt by the Company and the Rights Agent of evidence reasonably satisfactory to them of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of a valid Rights Certificate, and, in case of
loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity or sccurity satisfactory to them, and reimbursement to the Company and the Rights Agent of all reasonable exy
Rights Agent and cancellation of the Rights Certificates if mutilated, the Company will prepare, execute and deliver a new Rights Certif
to the registered owner in lieu of the Rights Certificate so lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilted.

penses incidental thereto, and upon surrender to the
te of like tenor to the Rights Agent for countersignature and delivery

Section 7. Exercise of Rights: Purchase Price: Expiration Date of Rights.

(a) Subject to Section 7(e), the registered holder of any Rights Certificate may exercise the Rights herein including

exrcisabilty set forh inSeetion (), Secton 11(aif) and Secton 25 i whleor i part t any tme afe th Distrbtion Dt upon urender af the Rishts Crtiicate,with th fom of lcton 10
purchase and the certificate on the reverse side thereof duly executed, to the Rights Agent at the principal office or offices of the Rights Agent designated for such purpose, together with payment of the
ageregate Purchase Price with respect 1o the total number of one one-thousandihs of a share of Preferred Stock (or Common Stock, other securities, cash or other assets, as the case may be) as to which such
surrendered Rights are then exercisable, at or prior to the earliest of the Close of Business on February 22, 2016 (the “Final Expiration Date”), (i) the time at which the Rights are redeemed as provided in
Section 23, (i) the time at which such Rights are exchanged pursuant to Section 24, (iv) the Close of Business on the effective date of the repeal of Scction 382 or any successor staute if the Board of
Directors determines that this Agreement is no longer necessary or desirable for the preservation of Tax Benefits, v) the Close of Business on the firstday of a taxable year of the Company to which the Board
of Director detrnins hat o Tox Benefits may b aried forvard, an () the Closeof Busineson e f BusinessDay fllowingthe dac on which e spector of lstion o the Company's2013
Annul Mecting of Stockholders cerifis tha the votc on this Agreement atsuch mecting (with the required vote for such approval to be described in the Company's proxy statement relating to such Annual
Micoting) et tht sockhaldr approvlof e Asrecment s not b eceved(he enretof (. (1, and (1, (. (v (1) b hren e o5t -Expratin Dot




for cach of a share of Preferred Stock 10 the exercise of a Right shalliniially be $14.00, and shall be subject to adjustment from time to
time as provided in Scction 11 and shall be payable in accordance with paragraph () below.

(&) Upon receipt of a Rights Certificate representing exercisable Rights, with the form of election to purchase and the properly completed and duly executed, d by
payment, with respect to each Right so exercised, of the Purchase Price per one one-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock (or other shares, securities, cash or other assets, as the case may be) to be.
purchased as set forth below and an amount equal to any applicable transfer tax required to be paid by the holder of the Rights Certificate in accordance with Section 9(c), the Rights Agent shall, subject to
Section 20(k). thereupon promply (i) (4) reuisition from any transfer agent of the shares of Preferred Stock (or make available, if the Rights Agent is the transfer agent for such shares) certficates for the

I number of one one-thousandihs of a share of Preferred Stock to be purchased and the Company hereby irevocably authorizes its transfer agent to comply with al such requests, or (B) if the Company
shall have elected to deposit the total number of shares of Preferred Stock issuable upon exercise of the Rights hereunder with a depositary agent, requisition from the depositary agent depositary receipts
represting sucl mumbst of one onc-housandi of s shar o rfered Sock s rs o be purhased (n wlichcase cetfcte o the haresofPefrsd Stock epresnted by st ecits sl be

by he ranser agent withthedepoiary sgen)a he Company wil et he deporiary agu\l o comply with such request, (i) requisition from the Company the amount of cash, if any, to be
p:lld e o scion e n ot iy Scon 14, (i) after receipt of 10 or upon the order of the registered holder of such
Rights Cntficate, registored m sueh name or ames s may b desiznatd by uch holdr, and (v e rceit (hreot el suchcash, Fany o o1 spo (h ardr of the registered hoder ofsuch Rights
Centificate. The payment of the Purchase Price (as such amount may be reduced pursuant to Section 11(a)ii)) shall be made in cash or by certfied bank check or bank draft payable to the order of the
Company. In the event that the Company is obligated to issue other securites (including Common Stock) of the Company, pay cash andor distribute other property pursuant to Section 11(a), the Company
will make all arrangements necessary so that such other securities, cash and/or other property are available for distribution by the Rights Agent, if and when necessary to comply with the terms of this
Agreement. The Company reserves o a Triggering Event that, upon any exercise of Rights, a number of Rights be exercised so that only whole shares of Preferred
Stock would be issued.

(d) In case the registered holder of any Rights Certificate shall exercise less than all the Rights . anew Rights Ce equivalent o the Rights
remaining unexercised shall be issued by the Rights Agent and delivered to, or upon the order of, the registered holder of such Rights Certificate, registered in such name or names as may be designated by
such holder, subject to the provisions of Section 14,

© in this Agreement to th . from and after the first occurrence of a Section 11(a) (i) Event, any Rights beneficially owned by (i) an Acquiring Person or
an Associtc o AT of s Acquring Peron. )  asfrs ofan AcqiingPeson (7o nysuch Assoiate or ATRlte)who becomes  trnsfre aferthe AcquiringPeson becorns such,o ) 3
transfree of an Acquiring Person (or of any such Associate or Affliate) who becomes a transferee prior to or the Acquiring Pe to
cither (A) a transfer (whether or not for consideration) from the Acquiring Person (or any Afliliate or Associate thereof) to holders of equity interests in such Acquiring Person (or any Afiliate or Associate
thereof) or 1o any Person with whom the Acquiring Person (or any Affliate or Associate continuing agreement, whether o not in writing, regarding the
transferred Rights or (B) a transfer which the Board of Directors has determined is part of an agreement, arrangement or understanding which has as a primary purpose or effect the avoidance of this Section
(). shall become null and void without any further action and no holder of such Rights shall have any rights whatsoever with respect to such Rights, whether under any provision of this Agreement or
otherwise. The Company shall notfy the Rights Agent when this Section 7(e) applies and shall use all reasonable effors to ensure that the provisions of this Section 7(c) and Section 4(b) are complied with,
but neither the Company nor the Rights Agent shall have any liability to any holder of Rights Cerificates o other Person as a result o the Company’s failure to make any determinations with respect to an
Acquiring Person or any of its Affiliates, Associates or transferees hereunder.

0 Notwihstanding anyting in his Agtcement o the cotrary,neiler he Rights Agent o he Cnmpm\y shall be obligated to undertake any action with respect to a registered holder
upon the oceurrence of any purported exercise as set forth in this Section 7 unless such registered holder shall ted the certificate contained in the form of election to
purchase st foth on the reverse side o the Rights Cerificate surrendered or such exereie,and (i) provided such aditionl evidence ofth identiy o th Benefcial Owner (o former Benefcial Owner)
Affiliates or Associates thercof as the Company or the Rights Agent shall reasonably request.




tion 8. C: Rights Certifieates. Al Rights Certificates surmendered for the purpose of exercise, transfer, split up, combination or exchange shall, if surrendered to
the Company or any of it agents, be delivered to the Rights Agent for cancellation or in cancelled form, or, if surrendered to the Rights Agent, shall be cancelled by it, and no Rights Certificates shall be issued in
lieu thercof, except as expressly permitted by any of the provisions of this Agreement. The Company shall deliver to the Rights Agent for cancellation and retirement, and the Rights Agent shall so cancel and retire,
any other Rights Certificates purchased or acquired by the Company otherwise than upon the exercise thereof. Subject to applicable law and regulation, the Rights Agent shall maintain (i) in a retrievable database
electronic records of all cancelled or destroyed stock certficates which have been canceled or destroyed by the Rights Agent. The Rights Agent shall maintain such electronic records or physical records for the
time period required by applicable law and regulation. Upon writien request of the Company (and at the expense of the Company), the Rights Agent shall provide to the Company or its designee copies of such
electronic records o physical records relating to rights certficates cancelled or destroyed by the Rights Agent.

Seetion 9. Resersation and Availability of Capital Stack.

() The Company covenants and agrees that it will cause to be rescrved and kept available out of its authorized and cd shares of Preferred Stock (and, following

Triggering Event, out of its authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock and/or other securities or out of its authorized and issued shares held in its treasury), the number of shares of Preferred Stock
(and, following the occurrence of a Triggering Event, Common Stock and/or other securitis) that, as provided in this Agreement, including Section 11(a)(ii), will be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all
outstanding Rights.

(b) So long as the shares of Preferred Stock (and, following the occurrence of a Triggering Event, Common Stock and/or other sceurites) issuable and deliverable upon the exercise of the
Rights may be listed on any national securities exchange, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause, from and after such time as the Rights become exercisable, all shares reserved for such issuance to be
listed on such exchange, upon official notice of issuance upon such exercise.

) The Companyshalluse s et cffors o ) prepreand e, s soo s prciable fllowingte st it afc the st occurenceof  Secton 1)) Evnt on which the
consideration o be deliverd by the Company upo exri ofthe Rigts b bien determined inacordace withSecton 11 e the Securities Act with respect to the
securities purchasable upon exercise of the Rights on an appropriate form, (ii) cause such registration statement as soon as uch filing, and (if) cause such registration

statement to with times mecting the he Scurties Aty undl e carlier of (A)the dae s of whic the TRights are no longerexeriable for such securts,
and (B) the Expiration Date. The Comv«ny willal as may 3 it theseuriss o s sy aws ofthe various stats i conncrion with he
exercisability of the Rights. The Company may L, for a period of time not the date set forth fihe first sentence of his Section 9(c), th

xeresabilty of th Righs i ordor 1 prapare and e such regaaion saementand permit 10 become eToctv. po any sueh uspenson, the Companyshall s  public announcement sring hat
the exercisability of the Rights has been temporarily suspended, as well as a public announcement at such time s the suspension is no longer in effect. In addition, if the Company shall determine that a
Tegiration stcment s equired following the Distibuon Dt and o Seetion (i Event has ot aceured he Compiny may temporary suspend (nd hall v the Rights Agent prompt otice thercof)
the exercisability of Rights until such time as a registration statement has been declared effective. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Rights shall not be exercisable in any
jurisdiction if the requisite qualification or exemption in such jurisdiction shall not have been obtained, the exercise thercof shall not be permitted under applicable law or a registration statement shall not have:
been declared effective.

(d) The Company covenants and agrees that it will take all such actions as may be necessary to ensure that all one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock (and, following the
occurrence of a Triggering Event, shares of Common Stock and/or other securiies) delivered upon exercise of Rights shall, at the time of delivery of the cerificates for such shares (subject to payment of the
Purchase Price), be duly and validly authorized and issued and fully paid and nonassessable.

(&) The Company further covenants and agrees that it will pay, when due and payable, any and all transfer taxes and governmental charges which may be payable in respect of the issuance
or delivery of the Rights Certificates and of any certificates for a number of one one-thousandths of  share of Preferred Stock (or Common Stock and/or other securitis, as the case may be) upon the exercise.
of Rights. The Company shall not, however, be required to pay any transfer tax which may be payable in respect of any transfer or delivery of Rights Certificates to a Person other than, or the issuance or
delivery of a number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock (or Common Stack and/or other securities, a the case may be) in respect of a name other than that of, the registered holder of the
Rights Certficates evidencing Rights surrendered for exercise or to issue or deliver any certificates for a number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock (or Common Stock and/or other
securities, as the case may be) in a name other than that of the registered holder upon the exercise of any Rights until such tax shall have been paid (any such tax being payable by the holder of such Rights
Certificate at the time of surrender) or until it has been established to the Company’s satisfaction that no such tax is duc.

ection 10. Record Date. Fach Person in certificate for a number of hare of Preferred Stock (or Common Stock and/or other
securites, as the case may be) is issued upon the exercise of Rights shall for all purposes be deemed to have become the holder of record of such fractional shares of Preferred Stock (or Common Stock and/or other
securities, as the case may be) represented thereby on, and such certificate shall be dated, the date upon which the Rights Certificate evidencing such Rights was duly surrendered and payment of the Purchase
Price (and all applicable transfer taxes) was made; provided, however, that if the date of such surrender and payment i a date pon which the Prefrred Stock (or Common Stock and/or other securites, as the case
may be) transfer books of the Company are closed. such Person shall be deemed to have become the record holder of such shares (fractional or otherwise) on, and such certificate shall be dated, the next succeeding
Business Day on which the Preferred Stock (or Common Stack andor other securities, s the case may be) transfer books of the Company are open. Prior to the exercise of the Rights evidenced thereby, the holder of
a Rights Certifcate shall not be entited to any rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to shares or other securities for which the Rights shall be exercisable, including the right to vote, to receive
dividends o other distributions or 0 exercise any preemptive rights, and shall not be entitled to receive any notice of any proceedings of the Company, except as provided herein.




Section 11. Adjustment of Purchase Price, Number and Kind of Shares or Number of Rights. The Purchase Price, the number and kind of shares covered by each Right and the number of

Rights outstanding are subject 10 adjustment from time to time as provided in this Section |1

@) () In the event the Company shall at any time afte the date of this declare a dividend on the Preferred Stock payable in shares of Preferred Stock, (B) subdivide the

oustanding Preered Stoek, () combine th otsanding Prefered Sock o s smaller omberof shirc, o ) s any shares o s capa sock i recasifcatonof the PreferedSock neluding

iy such reclassification in connection with a consolidation or merger in which the Company is exceptas this Section 11(a) and Section 7(e).
e Purchase Price i Tt th i of he recod dte for such dividend o of th efective date ofsuch subdivision, combination o recassfication, and the amber and Kind of shars of Preferred Stock
or capital stock, as the case may be, issuable on such date, shall be proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any Right exercised after such time shall be entitled to receive, upon payment of the
Purchase Price then in effect, the aggregate number and Kind of shares of Preferred Stock or capital stock, as the case may be, which, if such Right had been exercised immediately prior to such date and at a
time when the Preferred Stock transfer books of the Company were open, such holder would have owned upon sich exercise and been entitled to receive by virtue of such dividend, subdivision,
combination or reclassification. If an event occurs which would require an adjustment under both this Section 11(a)(i) and Section 11(a)(i), the adjustment provided for in this Section 11(a)(i) shall be in
adition to, and shall be made prior to any adjustmen required pursuant to Section 11(a)i).

(ii) Subject to Section 24, in the event any Person becomes an Acquiring Person, then each holder of a Right (except as provided below and in Section 7(¢)) shall thereafter have the right to
receive, upon exercise thereof at a price equal 1o the then current Purchase Price in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, in lieu of a number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock,
such mumberof haes ofCommon Sock of the Cormpny sl g e st obtind by () mltplingthe thn curent Purase Pric b the then umberof o ne-housandis of s star of
Preferred the Section 11(a)(i) after be
et i th et P o 3 TRightand oral purposes ofthis Agreement) by iy pereent (50%) of the Currnt Market Price (determined pursuant o Secion 110 pe shre ot Common
Stack on the date of such first occurrence (such number of shares, the “Adjustment Shares”).

i I he v that the mumberof has of Crnmon Stock which reauhorzedbythe Company'scetifiate ofincorporation but ot otstanding o sservcd o suance L pupocs ot

Rights, to permit ull of the Rights in accordance with the this Section 11(), the C the
value of the Adjustment Shares issuable upon the exercise of a Right (the “Current Value”), and (B) with respect to o Right, make adequate provision to substitute for the Adjustment Shares, upon the
exercise of a Right and payment of the applicable Purchase Price, (1) cash, (2) a reduction in the Purchase Price, (3) Common Stock or other equity securitis of the Company (including shares, or units of
shares, of preferred stock, such as the Preferred Stock, which the Board of Directors has deemed to have substantialy the same value or economic rights as shares of Common Stock (such shares or units of
shares of preferred stock, “Common Stock Equivalents”), (4) debt securitis of the Company. (5) other assets, or (6) any combination of the foregoing. having an aggregate value equal to the Current Value
(less the amount of any reduction in the Purchase Price), where such aggregate value has been determined by the Board of Directors based upon the advice of a nationally recognized investment banking
firm selected by the Board of Directors; provided, however, if the Company shall not have made adequate provision to deliver value pursuant to clause (B) above within thirty (30) days following the later of
(x) the first oceurrence of a Section 11(a)ii) Event and (y) the date on which the Company’s right of redemption pursuant to Section 23(a) expires (the laer of (x) and (y) being referred to herein as the
“Section 11(a)ii) Trigger Date”), then the Company shall be obligated to deliver, upon the surrender for exercise of a Right and without requiring payment of the Purchase Price, shares of Common Stock (to
the extent available) and then, if necessary, cash, which shares and/or cash have an ageregate value equal to the Spread. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the term “Spread” shall mean the ex
() the Current Value over (i) the Purchase Price. If the Board of Dircetors shall determine in good faith that it is likely that sufficient additional shares of Common Stock could be authorized for issuance
upon exercise in full of the Righs, the thirty (30) day period set forth above may be extended to the extent necessary, but not mre than ninety (90) days afier the Section |1(a)(i) Trigger Date, in order that
the Company may seck stockholder approval for the authorization of such additional shares (such thirty (30) day period, as it may be extended, the *Subsitution Period"). To the extent the Compan
determines that action should be taken pursuant to the first and/or third sentences of this Section 11(a)(ii), the Company (x) shall provide, subject to Section 7(e), that such action shall apply uniformly to all
outstanding Rights, and () may suspend the exercisability of the Rights until the expiration of the Substitution Period in order to seck such stockholder approval for such authorization of additional shares
ol dcil the st fm o i b ol utact @ i ek o, detexmin the vl ot th event of any such penon. the Company shall issue a public
announcement stating that the exercisabil Rights has been temporarily suspended, as well as a public announcement at such time s the suspension is no longer in effect (with prompt notice of
Sich anmouncemants o th ights Agent). Fo purposes of s Scton 1), (b vaue ofcach Adjusment Shre shll b he Current Market Prce (s demind parsuant o Secton 11 per share of
Common Sock on e Scion 1101 Trgae Dt and the valu fany“Common Sock Equialet” hall e dered el the Cursn Mkt Price (1 determined pursuan 0 Secton 1) prsare
of the Common Stock on such dat




(b) In case the Company shall fx a record date for the issuance of rights (other than the Rights), options or warrants to all holders of Preferred Stock entitling them to subscribe for or
urchase (for a period expiring within forty-five (43) calendar days afer such record date) (or shares having rivilcges and preferences as the sharcs of Pref

(“Egquivalent Preferred Stock") or securities convertible into Preferred Stock or Equivalent Preferred Stock at a price per share of Preferred Stock or per share of Equivalent Preferred Stock (or having a
conversion price per share, if a security convertible into Preferred Stock or Equivalent Preferred Stock) less than the Current Market Price (as determined pursuant to Section 11(d)) per share of Preferred Stock
on such record date, the Purchase Price to be in effect after such record date shall be determined by multiplying the Purchase Price in effect immediately prior to such record date by a fraction, the numerator of
which shall be the number of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding on such record date, plus the number of shares of Preferred Stock which the ageregate ulrm..g price of the total number of shart
Preferred Stock and/or Equivalent Preferred Stock so to be offered (and/or the ageregate initial conversion price of securities 50 to be Carent Marke Price
and he denominator of whichshall be the number of shiresof Preferted Sk ovtsanding on such record date,plus the number of additionl hares of Preferred tock andior Equivalent referred Stock 10
be offere purchase (or into which securities 5010 be offered are initialy convertible). In case such subscription price may be paid by delivery of consideration part or all of
which may be in a form other than cash, the value of such consideration shall be as determined in good fith by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be described in a statement filed with the
Rights Agent and shall b binding on the Rights Agentand the holders o the Righs. Sares o Prfered Sock ovnd by or held frthe sccount ofthe Companysall o be desmed owtstanding o he

F any such computation. Such adjustment shall be made successively whenever such a record date i fixed, and in the event that such rights, options or warrants are not so issued, the Purchase
Priceshallbe adjusted o b the Purchas Pice which would the be i efect 1 ue record date had ot been ived

(€) In case the Company shallfix a record date fora distribution to all holders of Preferred Stock (includi ‘made in connection with merger i which
the Company is the continuing corporation) of evidences of indcbiedness, cash (other than a regular periodic cash dividend out of the carings or retained canings of the Company), assets (other than
dividend payabe in refmed Sk, but ncluding any diidend payabl n stoc other than Preferrd Stoc) or subsciptionights o warranis (exclucing those refered 0 i Section (1), the Purchase price
tobein hall be determined iplying the Purchase Price in effect immediately prior to such record date by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the Current Market Price
(as determined pursuant to Seion T1(d) per share of Preferred Stock . less the fair market in good fith by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be
deseribed in a statement filed with the Rights Agent and shall be binding on the Rights Agent and the holders of the Rights) of the portion of the cash, assets o evidences of indebtedness s0 1o be
distributed or of such subscription rights or warrants applicable to a sha and o shall be such Current Market Price (as determined pursuant to Section 11(d)) per
share of Preferred Stock. Such adjustments shall be made suceessively whenever such a record date is fixed, and in the event that such distribution is not so made, the Purchase Price shall be adjusted to be
the Purchase Price which would have been in effect f such record date had not been fixed.

(@) G) For the purpose of any computation hereunder, other than computations made pursuant to Section 11(a)(ii, the “Current Market Price” per share of common stock (or similar w\my
interest) of an issuer on any date shall be deemed to be the average of the daily closing prices per share of such common stock
o bt ot inling such dte s o pposes of computations ade gt o Secton 1 the“Correst Mcke rice” pr st o Comon Stock ananydte sl be Geemed t b he averase of
the daily closing prices per share of such Common Stock for the ten (10) consecutive Trading Days immediately following but not including such date;  hatin th vent hat he Currenc
Market Price per share of common stock (or ) of an issuer is period following th by the issuer of such of (A) a dividend or
distribution on such common stock (or other security) payable in shares of such common stock (or other security) or into shares of such c ok the
Righs, o B)anysbivson,combition o st of s o ok o e ey, o the e ividen T soch i o ki o oot for s kv
combination shal prior to he requisite thirty (30) Trading Day or ten (10) Trading Day period, as set forth above, then, and in cach such case, the
“Curtent Market Price” shall be properly adjusted t0 take into account any trading durmg the period prior to such ex-dividend date or record date. The closing price per share of common stock (or other
security) of an issuer for each day shall be the last sale price, regular way, or, in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, in either case as
reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respeet to securities lsted or admitted to trading on the NASDAQ or,if such shares of common stock (or other security) are not listed
or admitted to trading on the NASDAQ, as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securiies listed on the principal national securities exchange on which such
shares of common stack (or other security) are listed or admitted to trading o, if such shares of common stock (or other security) are not lsted or aditted to trading on any national securities exchange, the
last quoted price or, if not 5o quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter market, as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board service (the “QICBI") or such other quotation
sysemhen i use, or, o any sch datc suchshares of ommon stk o ot sury) e not ot by anysuh oganization he acrag of the closing bidandsked prces s s by o
arket in such c ok (or the Board of Directors. If on any such date no market maker is making a market in such common stock (or other

shall mean a day on which the principal national securities

Security, he i vlue of such sores an sch dte 5 eemined ‘200d faith by the Board of Dircetors shall be used. The term “Tradin
cxchangson il shares of an e conmon sock (o ot scurity) it o dited 0 ing s open o the nsactonof busines o, such share of o stk o ol ey r ot
listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, a Business Day. If an issuer’s shares of common stock (or other security) are not publicly held or not so listed or traded. Market
Price” per share shall mean the fair value per share as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be described in a statement filed with the Rights Agent and e
conclusive for all purposes.




(ii) For the purpose of any computation hereunder, the “Current Market Price” per share of Preferred Stock shall be determined in the same manner as set forth above for the Common Stock in
elause (i) of this Section 11(d) (other than the last sentence thereof). If the Current Market Price per share of Preferred . or if the Preferred Stock is
ot publicy heldoried or raded n  manner describd n lavse 1) of s Socton 11(0),the -Curent arke Price” p shre o Preered Sock shall b conclsively deemod 1 b an amount cqul 1o
1,000 (as such number may be appropriately adjusted for such events as stock split, stock dividends and recapitalizations with respect to the Common Stock occurring after the dat of this Agreement)
mlplied by the Curent MarktPricepe shre o the Common k. netherhe Common Stock or the Prefred Siock i publiy el or s fted o rade,-Curent Mkt Price”pr shre of the

referred Stock shall mean the fair value per share as determined in good fuith by the Board of Directors, tatement filed with the Rights Agent and shall be:
bmdmg on the Rights Agent and the holders of the Rights. For all purposes of this Agreement, the “Current Market Price” of one one-t b of o f reed Stock sl g equal to the “Current
Market Price” of one share of Preferred Stock divided by 1,000.

) Anythingherci o he coteryntithstanding,noautment i the Pushas Pricsall be rquiedunss such adsimentwould e i nrese o dereseof o et one
percent (1%) in the Purchase Pricy ho adjustments which by reason of this Section 11(e) are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any
Subecquent adjstment. Al calcuons under s Secon 11 hall be made t the nearest cent o 0 a share of C tock or ofa share of Preferred
Stock or one ten- thousandth of any other share or security, as the case may be. Notwithstanding the first sentence of this Section 11(c), any adjustment required by this Section 11 shall be made no later than
the earlier of (i) three (3) years from the date of the transaction which mandates such adjustment, o (i) the Expiration Date,

(1)1 as a result of an adjustment made pursuant to Section 11(a)(i). the holder of any Right thereafler exercised shall become entiled to receive any shares of capital stock other than
Preforred Stock. thereafter the number of such other shares so receivable upon excrcise of any Right and the Purchase Price thercof shall be subject o adjustment from time to time in a manner and on terms as
nearly equivalent as practicable to the provisions with respect to the Prefrred Stock contained in Sections 11(a), (b). (). ¢). (2). (). ). G). (k) and (m). and the provisions of Sections 7, 9, 10, 13 and 14 with
fespect 10 the Preferred Stock shall apply on ke terms to any such other shares.

(¢) All Righis originally issued by the Company subsequent to any adjustment made to the Purchase Price hereunder shall evidence the right to purchase, at the adjusted Purchase Price, the
‘number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock purchasable from time to time hereunder upon exercise of the Rights, all subject to further adjustment as provided herein

(h) Unless the Company shall have exercised its election as provided in Section 11(), upon each adjustment of the Purchase Price as a result ofthe calculations made in Sections 11(b) and
(0 ach Right outsanding mmedicly prio t he mking ofsuch dustment hall hersafcr videncethegh o purchse, a the adjsted Purche rce,that numberof one-housandihs of ashrs of
Preferred Stock ( obtained by (i) the number of Fa share covered by a Right immediately prior to this adjustment, by (y) the
Purchase Price in effect 1mm=dme\y prior to such adjustment of the Purchase Price, and (ii) dividing the product so obtained by the Purchase Price in effect immediately after such adjustment of the Purchase
ice.

() The Company may let o o aflrthe dte o sny adjsiment ofhe Purcas Pric 1 st the e of Rights, i i of any adjusient n themumber of oneone husandis of o
hare of Prefreed Stok punchasable upon the exerese f a Right.Each of th Rights outstading afc the st n the umberof Right
share of Preferred § aRight ach Righ hld ofecord pror t suchadustment b mamber ot Rights shal become hat numbor o Rights
{eneulted o h neves one-en-housandi biined by divin (h Parchse i i oot immediney prior 1 adtinent o h Paschoe Pric by i Prehase Prce i ffes mmeditly sher
adjustment of the Purchase Price. The Company shall make a public announcement (with prompt notice thereof to the Rights Agent) of it election to adjust the number of Rights, indicating the record date for
the adjustment, and, if known at the time, the amount of the adjustment to be made. This record date may be the date on which the Purchase Price s adjusted or any day thereafter, but, if the Rights
Certificates have been issued, shall be a least ten (10) days later than the date of the public announcement. If Rights Certificates have been issued. pon cach adjustment of the mumber of Rights pursuant to
this Section 11(i), the Company shall, as promptly as practicable, cause to be distributed to holders of record of Rights Certificates on such record date Rights Certficates evidencing, subject to Section 14, the
additional Righs o which such holders shall be entitled as a result of such adjustment, or, at the option of the Company, shall cause to be distributed to such holders of record in substitution and replacement
forthe RightsCetificates held b sch holders ricr o thedte of adjstment, and upo surnde theref ifrequied b the Conpay,new Rihts Cerifiates evideneing e Rights o whic suchhoders
shall be entitled after such adjustment. Rights Certifi  be distributed shall be issued, exccuted and countersigned in the manner provided for herein (and may bear, a the option of the Company, the
adjusted Purchase Price) and shall be registered in P of Rights Certificates o the record date specified i the public announcement




) Trrespective of any adjustment or change in the Purchase Price one dihs of a share of Preferred Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Righs, the Rights
s theretofore and thereafier issued may continue to express the Purchase Price per one one-thousandth of  share and the number of one one- thousandths of a share which were expressed in the
ol Righs Conficnes Bsued eteunder

(K) Before taking any action that would cause an adjustment reducing the Purchase Price below the then stated value, if any, of the number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred
Stock issuable upon excrcise of the Rights, the Company shall take any corporate action which may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully
paid and nonassessable shares of Preferred Stock at such adjusted Purchase Price.

(1) I any case in which this Section 11 shall require that an adjustment in the Purchase Price be made effective as of a record date for a specified event, the Company may elect to defer until
the gccurenc of such vent h et he holder f any Right xerisd aflt such 5cord dat hesumber ofone one-thousandihsof a shar of Prsfred Stock and ot captl stk o securies of

the Company, if any, issuable upon such exercise over and a share of Preferred Stack and other capital stock or scuriics of the Company. if any. issusble upon
suhexeriseon he bass ofthe Purchase Prce inefect prir 10 such adjusment and shall provide he Righs . that the Company shall deliver to
such holder a due bill or other appropriate instrument evidencing such holder's. h ILor otherwise) or f the event such
adjustment.

(m) Anything in this Section 11 1o the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall be entitled to make such reductions in the Purchase Price, in addition to those adjustments expressly
required by this Section 11, as and to the extent that the Board of Directors, i its good faith judgment, shall d order that any  subdivision of the Preferred Stock,
(i) issuance wholly for cash of any shares of Preferred Stock at less than the Current Market Price, (ii) issuance wholly for cash of shares of Preferred Stock or securities which by their terms are convertible
it or exchangeable for shares of Preferred Stock, (i) stock dividends or (v) issuance of rights, options or wartants rferred to in this Section 11, hercafter made by the Company to holders ofis Preferred
Stock shall not be taxable to such stockholders.

() The Company covenants and agrees that it shall not, at any time after the Distribution Date, (i) consolidate with any other Person (other than a Subsidiary of the Company in a
tansacion whic complies it Secion 1), ) merge witho o ot Person(ther than aSbidiary o the Company i trnsaton wich complcs withSecton 11(0)or ) sl or st (o
permit any Subsidiary to sell or ransfer) in one transaction, or a series of related transactions, assets, cash flow or earning power aggregating more than fifty percent (50%) of the assets, cash flow or carning
Do of he Comping and s Subsires (ke a o whoé) 1y oher Person o Pesons (othe hath Company andor any of 1 Subsies in e of more tansactions seh of which complieswith
Section 11(o)), if at the time of o are any rights, warrants or other instruments or securities outstanding or agreements i effect which would
substantially diminish or otherwise eliminate the benelits intended to be afforded by the Rights.

(€ The Company venantsan sgestat,sfer the Disraion Dt i wil o, except 9 )venmned by Secion 23, Sction 24 o Section 2, tak (o pemit any Subsdiay 0 take)any
action if at the time such action is taken it such action will the benefits intended to be afforded by the Rights.
() I the event that the Company shall at any time afier the Rights Dividend Declaration Date and prior to the Distribut a dividend on Common

Stock payable in shares of Comman Stock, (i) subdivide the outstanding shares of Common Stoc) mbine the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the number of
Righs ssoeated with ench share af Cominon Stoc then owtaanding,or isaed r delvered thereafe bt prir 1 the Disrbuton Date.shallbe proportionately adjusted o that the number o Rights
thereafter associated with each share of Common Stock following any such event shall equal plying the number of of Common Stock immediately
prior 10 such event by a fraction the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares of Common Stock outsianding immediately prior to the oceurrence of the event and the denominator of which shall
be the total number of sharcs of Common Stock outstanding immediately following the oceurrence of such event,

cction 12. Certificate of Adjusted Purchase Price or Number of Shares. Whenever an adjustment is made as provided in Section 11, the Company shall (a) promptly prepare a certficate
settng forth such vdjusunem and 3 bric sitcment of the s and compuatonsaccouning (o uch cjusmént, (5 promply e with e Rights Agent, and wihcach ransor et o th Preered Stock and
the Common Stock, a copy of such certificate, and (¢) if a Distribution Date has occurred, mail a brief summary thereof to each holder ofa Rights Certificate in accordance with Section 26, The Rights Agent shall be:
fully protected in relying on any such certificate and on any adjustment therein contained and shall not be deemed to have knowledge of such adjustment unless and unti it shall have received such certificate



Section 13. [Reserved]
Section 14. Fractional Rights and Fractional Shares.

The Companyshall no e required e fstions o Righs,exept prior o the Distibuton Date asprovidd n Scction 1, or o diseut RightsCertiftes whic vidence
fractional Rights. In lieu of such fractional Rights, there shall be paid to the registered holders of the Rights Certificates with regard to which such fractional Rights would otherwise be issuable, an amount in
cash equal to the same fraction of the current market value of a whole Right. For purposes of this Section 14(a), the current market value of a whole Right shall be the closing price of the Righs for the Trading
Day immediately prior to the date on which such fractional Rights would have been otherwise issuable. The closing price of the Rights for any day shall be the last sale price, regular way, or, in case no such
sale takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, in ither case as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securities lsted
or admitted to trading on the NASDAQ Stock Market o, if the Rights are not listed or admitted to trading on the NASDAQ Stack Marke, as reported to the principal consolidated transaction reporting system
with respect to securitis listed on the principal national securities exchange on which the Rights are listed or admitted to trading, or f the Rights are not listed or admitted to trading on any national sccurities
exchange, the last quoted price or, if not so quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter marke, as reported by OTCBB or such other system then in use or, if on any such
date the Rights are not quoted by any such organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by a professional market maker making a market in the Rights selected by the Board of
Directors. If o any such date no such market maker is making a market i the Righs the fair value of the Rights on such date as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors shall be used.

(b) The Company shall not be required to issue fractions of shares of Preferred Stock (other than fractions which are integral multiples of one one-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock)

spon s of s Rights o t il et B i vdeotsfctoal e of Pefre Stk et s whic e kgl plesof v -l of s o Preirsd
Stock). Fractions of shares of Preferred Stock in integral multiples of share may, a the election of the Company, be evidenced by depositary receipts pursuant 1o an approprit
agrecment between the Company and a depositary selected by it; provided, however, e provide ach depoitarsrecits shall v sl h ihte.prieges and
preernces o which ey ar ntiledas bencfial ownrs of thesares eprested by suh depositry ecips. I e of fationalsares of Prfered Stk that e o nteral mulipes of one onc-
Hhousandihof  shars of P Sock, the Company shall oyt th egisered olders f Rits Cartificacs atthe e suchRi rc cin provided an amount in cash equal to the same
fraction of the current market value of one one-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock. For purpos 14(0), a share of Preferred Stock shall
e ane nc-housandihof he closing price of s shre o rfered toc asdetrmined pursuan 10 Sction 114X fr the Trading Doy |mmedmely i 0 te date afsuch enerine.

(€ Following he ascurence of u Trggering Even,the Company hall ot b ruied t s ractons of shars of Comnon Stoek oraher surtes upa exccie ofthe Rightsor o
iew of Common Stock or the Company shall pay to the registered holders of

rrent market value of one share of Common Stock or other securites. For

which evidence fractional sh

Rights Certificates a the time such Rights are exercised as herein pmwd!d an amount i cash equal to the same fraction of the

urposes of this Section 14(c), the current market value of one share of Common Stock or other security shall be the closing price of one share of Common Stock or such other security, as applicable, (as
determined pursuant to Section 11(d)0) for the Trading Day immediately prior o the date of such exercise,

) The holderof Right by the csspance o the Rights xpreslywaives suchholder' rgh o eceive any rations Rights or ay ractiona sharesupon s o 3 Righ, xcep s

permitied by this Section -

& Whenevera payment or rcions Rghts o rcions hares s o b made by the Rihts A, the Cornpany sl () prompty prepae and deiver o he Righs At e

cting forth i easonable et (e Facts et o such iy and he pricc o Formulas ulsed i cleuing soch eyt and (1) provide suficint monis (o he Rights Aent i the form of

fully collected funds to make such payments.

Rights of Action. All rights of action in respect of this Agreement, other than rights of action vested in the Rights Agent pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, are vested in the
the Distribution Date, the registered holders of the Common Stock); and any registered holder of any Rights Certificate (or, prior to the
e (or,prior to the Distribution Date, of the Common Stock), may, in such holder’s own

Section 15.

holders of the Rights C
Distribution Date, of the Common Stock), without the consent o the Rights Agent or of the holder of any other Rights C
behalf and for such holder's own benefit, enforce, and may insiitute and maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company to enforce, or otherwise act in respect of, such holder's right to exercise the
Rights evidenced by such Rights Certifcate in the manner provided in such Rights Cerlificate and in this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing or any remedies available to the holders of Rights, it is
specifically acknowledged that the holders of Rights would not have an adequate remedy at law for any breach of this Agreement and shall be entitled to specific performance of the obligations hereunder and

injunctive relief against actual or threatened violations of the obligations hereunder of any Person subject o this Agreement.




holder of the number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock or any

upon
anything contained herein or in any Rights Certificate be construed to confer upon the holder of any mgm Ccnmmc, e, ny ofthe e ights of stockholderofthe Cumpa«m or any right to vote for the clection
of directors or upon stockholders at

Section 16. Agreement of Rights Holders, Every holder of a Right by accepting the same consents and agrees with the Company and the Rights Agent and with every holder of a Right that
(a) prior to the Distribution Date, the Rights will be transferable only in connection with the transfer of Common Stock:

) after the Distribution Date, the Rights Certificates are transferable only on the registry books of the Rights Agent if surrendered at the principal office or offices of the Rights Agent
designated for such purposes, duly endorsed or accompanied by a proper instrument of transfer and with the appropriate forms and certificates fully execu

ubject to Section 6(a) and Section 7(f), the Company and the Rights Agent may deem and treat the person in whose name a Rights Certificate (or, prior to the Distribution Date, the
associated Common Stock certificate) is registered as the absolute owner thereof and of the Rights evidenced thereby (notwithstanding any notations of ownership or writing on the Rights Certificates or

the associated Common Stock certificate, if any. made by anyone other than the Company or the Rights Agent) for all purposes whatsoever, and neither the Company nor the Rights Agent, subject 10 the
last sentence of Section 7(c), shall be requi . by any notice to the contrary: and

(@ notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Con\]\any nor the Rights Agent shall have any liability to any holder of a Right or other Person as a result of it
inability to perform any of ts obligations under this Agreement by reason of .

y p junction or other order, decree, j fsued by cout of competen jrsieion o
b o govemmenal, ety oradiinsrativ agency orcommision, o any s,k laion or cnictd by any governmental authority,prbibiig or thervise
such obligation: provided, however, the Company must to have any . decree, judgment or ruling lifted or otherwise overtumed as
soon as possible.
Section 17. Rights C tockholds

N holder as surlv of any nghlsLemfta!e shall be entitled to vote, me.»edwmends o be deemed for any pupose o be the
ted thereby, nor shall

e ' to receive notice of meetings or other actions affecting stockholders
ded in Section 25), or

provisions hercof.

tion rights, o otherwis, unlthe Right olﬂlgl\ls evidencad by such Rights Crtiicat shll nave been exercsed i accordance with the

Section 18. Concerning the Rights Agent.

@) The Company agroes o pay 1 the Righs Agen resonabl compeasaton frll ervices et by it bereundersn, ot 0, on demand of the Rights Agn, i

ounsel and other incurred in the preparation, negotiation, exceution, delivery and amendment of this Agreement and the exercise and
performance of its duties v T Camp«ny also agrees to indemnify the Rights Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, labiliy, damage, judgment, fine, penalty, claim, demand, settemen,
cost or expense incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on the part of the Rights Agent for any action taken, suffered or omilted by the Rights Agent in connection with the acceptance
and administration of this Agreement, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending against any claim of liability.

(b) The Rights Agent shall be authorized and protected and shall incur o liabilty for or in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken by it in connection with its
acceptance and administration of this Agreement in reliance upon any Rights Certificate or certificate for Common Stock or for other securities of the Company, instrument of assignment or transfer, power of
attomey, endorsement, affidavi, letter, notic, direction, consent, certficate, statement, or other paper or document believe by it to be genuine and to be signed, exccuted and, where necessary, verified or
acknowledged. by the proper Person or Persons, o otherwise upon the advice of counsel as set forth in Section 20.

Seetion 19. Merger or Consolidation or Change of Name of Rights Agent.

(@) Any Person into which the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any Person resulting from any merger or consolidation
to which the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent shall be a party, or any Person succeeding (o the stock transfer business of the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent, shall be the successor
o the Rights Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parti hereto; provided, however, that such Person would be eligible f
ppoiment s succesmor Rights Agen unde the provisons of Secton 21 Incas t the ime such swcessor Rights Agon shal succed o th apency creted by s Agteement, any of the Rights
Centificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, any such successor Rights Agent may adopt the countersignature of a predecessor Rights Agent and deliver such Rights Certificates so
countersigned:; and in case at the time any of the Rights Certificates shall not have been countersigned, any successor Rights Agent may countersign such Rights Certificates cither in the name of the
predecessor or in the name of the successor Rights Agent; and in all such cases such Rights Certificates shall have the full force p in the Rights Certifi  inthis Agreement,

(b)  In case at any time the name of the Rights Agent shall be changed, and at such time any of the Rights Certificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, the Rights Agent
may adopt under ts prior name and Certifi and in case, at that time, any of the Rights Certificates shall not have been countersigned, the Rights

Agent may countersign such Rights Certificates cither inits prior name or in its changed name; and in all such cases such Rights Certificates shall have the full force provided in the Rights Certificates and in
this Agreement




Section 20. Duties of Rights Agent. The Rights Agent undertakes only the duties and obligations expressly imposed by this Agreement upon the following terms and conditions, by all of which

the Company and the holders of Rights Certificates, by their acceptance thereof, shall be bound:

(a) Before the Rights Agent acts or refrains from acting, the Rights Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be legal counsel for the Company), and the opinion of such counsel
shall be full and complete authorization and protection to the Rights Agent as to any action taken or omitied by it in good faith and in accordance with such opinion.

) Whenever in the performance of its duties under this Agreement the Rights Agent shall deem it necessary or desirable that any fact or matter (including the identity of any Acquiring
Person and the determination of "Current Market Price™) be proved or established by the Company prior to taking, suffering or omitting to take any action hereunder, such fact or matter (unless ofher evidence
in respect thereof be e deemed proved and established by a certificate signed by any of the Chairman of the Board, the President, any Vice President,
the Treasurer, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the Company and delivered t0 the Rights Agent; and such certificate shall be full authorization and protection to the Rights Agent, and the Rights
Agent shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken by it in good faith by it under the provisions of this Agreement in reliance upon such certficate.

(c) The Rights Agent shall be liable hereunder only for its own negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.

) The Rights Agent shall not be liable for or by reason of any of the statements of fact or recitals contained in this Agreement or i the Rights Certificates or be required to verify the
same (except as o its countersignature on such Rights Certficates). but all such statements and recitals are and shall be deemed to have been made by the Company only.

“The Rights Agent shall not be under any responsibility in respect of the validity of this Agreement or the execution and delivery hereof (except the due execution hereof by the Rights

Agent) or in respect of the validity or execution of any Rights Certificate : nor shall it be resp for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition
contained in this Agreement or in any Rights Certificate; nor shall it required of Section 11 or Section 24 or responsible for the manner, method or
amount of any such adjustment or the ascertaining of the existence of facts that would require any such adjustment (except with respect to by Rights Certificates after actual

notice of any such adjustment); nor shall it by any act hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any shares of Common Stock or Prefarred Stack to
be issued pursuant to this Agreement or any Rights Certificate or as to whether any shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock will, when so issued, be validly authorized and issued, fully paid and
nonassessable.

(1) The Company agrees that it will perform, execut fiver or cause 10 be pe L executed, d delivered all such further and other acts, instruments
and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Rights Agent for the per Rights Agent of the pr of this Agreement.

(® The Rights Agentis hereby authorized and directed to accept instructions with respect o the performance of its duties hereunder from any one of the Chairman of the Board, the
President, any Vice President, the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary or Treasurer of the Company, and to apply to such officers for advice or instructions in connection with is duties, and it shallincur no
liability for or in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in good faith in accordance with instructions of any such officer.

‘The Rights Agent and any stockholder, director, Affiliate, officer or employee of the Rights Agent may buy, sl or deal in any of the Rights or other securities of the Company or
become pecuniarily interested in any transaction in which the Company may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not Rights
Agent under this Agreement. Nothing herein shall preclude the Rights Agent from acting in any other capacity for the Company or for any other Person.

(i) The Rights Agent may exceute and exercise any of the rights or powers hereby vested in it or perform any duty hercunder cither itself or by or through its attorneys or agents, and the
Rights Agent shall not be answerable or accountable for any act, default, neglect or misconduct of any such attorneys or agents or for any loss to the Company resulting from any such act, default, neglect or
misconduct; provided, that was exercised in the sel d d employ

() No provision of this Agreement shall require the Rights Agent to expend or rsk its own funds or otherwisc incur any financa liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder

or in the exercise of it rights if there shall be reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate it such risk or liability is assured to it

(k) If, with respect to any Rights Certificate surrendered to the Rights Agent for exercise or transfer, the certificate attached to the form of assignment or form of election to purchase, as the
case may be, has either not been completed or indicates an affirmative response to clause | and/or 2 thereof, the Rights Agent shall not take any further action with respect to such requested exercise or
transfer without first consulting with the Company.



Section 21. Change of Rights Agent. The Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent may resign and be discharged from its duties under this Agreement upon thirty (30) days” notice in

the Company, and to of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock, by registered or certified mail, and to the holders of the Rights Cerificates by first-class mail. The Company may
remove the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent upon thirty (30) days’ notice in writing, mailed to the Rights Agent or successor Rights Agent, as the case may be, and to each transfer agent of the
‘Common Stock and Preferred Stock, by registered or certified mail, and t0 the holders of the Rights Certificates by frst-class mail. If the Rights Agent shall resign or be removed or shall therwise become incapable
of acing,the Company shall ppoint  sucessor o the Rights Agen. I the Company sl i 0 make such appoimmert i eriod of it (30) days aft iing o ofsch removal o afer it s
notified in writing o capacity by Rights Agent or by any d holder of a Rights C  with such notice, submit such holder’s Rights
Certifiate for m\pccﬂnn by the Company). then any registered holder of any Rights Certificate may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a new Rights Agent. Any successor Rights
Agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such a court, shall be (i) a Person organized and doing business under the laws of the United States or of the State of Illinois or the State of New York (or of any
other state of the United States so long as such Person is authorized to do business i the State of Ilinois or the State of New York), in good standing, having an office or agency i the State of Illinois or the State of
New York, which s authried under such s o eeris sockrnsler powers and i ue o supervision orcxamiration by federalo st authorityand whih s 3 e s o s appoiment
Agent a combined capital and surplus of at I i Affiliate of such Person. After appointment, the

ights

Rights Agent shall be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and
responsibilitics as et e origially named s Rights Agent without further actordocd: bt the predecessor Right Agentahall delverand ransfr 10 the auccessor Rights Agent any propetyat the tin held

by it hereunder, and execute and deliver any further reasonable assurance, conveyance, act or deed necessary for the purpose. Not later than the effective date of any such appointment, the Company shall fil
notice thereof in writing with the predecessor Rights Agent and cach transfer agent of the Common Stock and the Preferred Stock, and mail a notice thereof in writing to the registered holders of the Rights

Certificates. Failure to give any notice provided for in this Section 21 or any defect therein shall not affect the legality or validity of the resignation or removal of the Rights Agent or the appointment of the successor
Rights Agent, as the case may b

n 22. Issuance of New Rights Ce

tor of the Rights (o the contrary, the Company may, at its option, issue new Rights

Certificates evidencing mms in such form s may be approved bv e Do of oo o et any udjusunem or change in the Purchase Price and the number or Kind or class of shares or other securities o
ights C in accordance with this Agreement. In addition, in connection with the issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock following 1

Disribution Date and prios o he redempion o expiraion f the Righs,the Company () il withrespect 0 sares f Comon Slock 0 s rsold pursuant o the xercieof e ptios o under any

 Distribution Date, or upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of securities hereinafier issued by the Company, and (b) may, in any other case, if
Gnemed ecesar o aprapriste by th Hoard af Diecor, e RghtsCeriiares represeningan aproprite e of Rights comneeion with such fsoane o s, rovided.however it () 1o soc

hts Certificate shall be issued if, and to the extent that,the Company shall be advised by counsel that such ssuance would create a significant risk of material adverse tax consequences to the Company or the.
Person to whom such Rights Certificate would be issued. and (i) no such Rights Certificate shall be issued if, and to the extent that, appropriate adjustment shall otherwise have been made in lieu of the issuance
thereof

Section 23. Redemption and Termination

‘The Board of Directors may, at s option, at any time prior to the carlier of (i) the Close of Business on the tenth day fllowing the Stock Acquisition Date (or,if the Stock Acquisition
Date shall have occurred prior to the Record Date, the Close of Business on the tenth day following the Record Date), or (i) the Final Expiration Date, redeem all but not less than all of the then oustanding
Rights at a redemption price of $0.01 per Right, as such amount may be appropriately adjusted to reflect any stock split, stock dividend or similar transaction occurring after the date hereof (such redemption
price bing heriaferefered 1o s the “Redemption Pric”. Notihstandinganything cotined n s Apsenent o the contry e Righsshall o beexccsble e e fstoccurenceof Scton
118 Event il suh ime s the Company' ghtof edemption hercunde has expire. The Company may,a s apion pay the Redempiion rice i cash, hares of Common Stock (basd on the “Car
Market Price”, as defined in Section 11(d)(), of the C tock a the time other form o the Board of Directors. The redemption of the Rights hy
the Board of Directors may be made effective at such time, on such basis and with such conditions as the Board of Directors in ts sole discretion may establish.

(b)  Immediately upon the action of the Board of

of the Rights pursuant to Section 23(a), evidence of which shall have been fled with the Rights Agent
and without any further action and without any notie, the right o exercise the Rights will terminate and the only right thercafte of the holders of Rights shll be 1o receive the Redemption Price for cach

Right 5o held. Promptly after the action of the Board of Direetors ordering the redemption of the Righs, the Company shall give notice of such redemption to the Rights Agent and the holders of the then
outstanding Rights by mailing such notice to the Rights Agent and to all such holders at each holder’s last address as it appears upon the registry books of the Rights Agent o, prior to the Distribution Date,
on the registry books of the transfer agent for the Common Stack. Any notice which is mailed in the manner herein provided shall be deemed given, whether or not the holder receives the notice. Each suc
notice of redemption will state the method by which the payment of the Redemption Price will be m:



Section 24. Exchange

(a) The Board of Directors may, at its option, at any time afer any Person becomes an Acquiring Person, exchange all o part of the then outstanding and exercisable Rights (which shall
o include Rights hat ave bcome nul and void pursat o the provisonsof Secion 7(0) o shares o Commen Sock at anexchangerato of one shar o Common Sock er Right approprily
adjusted to reflect any stock split, stock dividend or similar suct being 10.as the “Exchange Ratio™). Notwithstanding the
foregoin, he Bowdof not o0 effect any time after any Person (other than the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, any employee benefit plan of the
Company o ofan Subidiay ofthe Compan. o any Prsa organized, ppontd el by the Compan for o puruan o he termsof ary such plan. gether it ll ATt Assoites of
such Person, becomes the Beneficial Owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the Common Stoc! this Section 24, the Board of Directors may direct
i Company 1 cte it Trust Agreementin such orm and with such e a he ot of Directors halthen approve (he “Trust Agreement. I he Board f Diretos 30 diets, e Company hall
enter into the Trust Agreement and shall issue to the trust created by such agreement (the *Trust”) all or some (as designated by the Board of Directors) of the shares of Common Stock (or other securities)
issuable pursuant to the exchange, and all or some (as designated by the Board of Dircctors) holders of Rights entitled to receive shares pursuant to the exchange shall be entitled to receive such shares (and
any dividends paid or distributions made thercon after the date on which such shares are deposited in the Trust) only from the Trust and solely upon compliance with the relevant terms and provisions of the

Trust Agreement.

{t)_Immedinely upo theaton of the Board ofDiectors ardein he exclane fany Rights pursuent 1 subscton () f i Secion 24 a wihou oy futher actionandwithout ny
notice, the right to exercise such Rights shall terminate and the only right thereafier of a holder of any such Rights shall be to receive that number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of
Rights hld by such holder mliplied by he Exchange Rati- Tho Company ahll promply giv puble otce (vithpromp noie hrcof 1 he Rights Agent) o any exchange: rovided however. tht the
failure to give, or any defect in, such notice shall not affect the validity of such exchange. The Company promptly shall mail a notice of any such exchange to all of the holders of such Rights at their last
addresses as they appear upon the registry books of the Rights Agent. Any notice which is mailed in the manner herein provided shall be deemed given, whether or not the holder receives the notice. Each
such notice of exchange will state the method by which the exchange of the Common Stock for Rights will be effected and, in the event of any partialexchange, the number of Rights which will be exchanged.
Any parial exchange will be effected pro rata based on the number of Rights (other than Rights which have become null and void pursuant to the provisions of Section 7(¢)) held by cach holder of Rights
Prior to effecting an exchange and registering shares of Common Stock (or such other securities) in any P ing any nominee or fransferee of a Person, the Company may require (or cause the
e of e Tt roqie), s condion terf, ik any hokler o Rigtsprovide vidne, ncldin, ikt imitation, he entiy ofhe Bencheal Owners hercof and their ATt and Assocaes
thereof and their Affiliat tes) s the Company sh request in order to determine if such Rights are null and void. If any Person shall fil to comply with
i request, he Company shal b eniled coneusively (0 e e Rights formerly held hy such Person to be null and void pursuant to Section 7(¢).

(6) Inany exchange puruant t s Scton 24, the Company a i ptio,msy sbstte sharesofPrefred Sock o Equivalent Preferred Stock, as such term is defined in paragraph (b)
of Section 11) for shares of Common (or Equivalent Preferred Stock) for cach share of Common Stock, as
appropriately adjusted to reflect adjustments in the voting rights of the Preferred Stock pursuant to the terms muen! s h o o s of Pt Soek. e n i of st of
Common Stock shall have the same voting rights as one share of Common Stock.

In the event that there shall not be sufficient shares of Common Stock issued but not outstanding or authorized but unissued to permit any exchange of Rights as contemplated in
accordance with this Section 24, the Company shall ke all such actions as may be necessary to authorize additional shares of Common Stock for issuance upon exchange of the Rights.

‘The Company shall not be required to issue fractions ofsmm of Common Stock or to distribute certificates which evidence fractional shares of Common Stock. In lieu of such
factionlshares ofCommon Stock. thre shall b pad 10 the registered holders fthe Rights Cenificates with reardt whie sch rcional shares of Common Stock would olervise be suabs, n amount
in cash cqual to the same fraction of value of a tock. For the purposes of this subsection (c), the current market value of a whole share of Common Stock shall be
the closing price of a share of Common Stack (as determined pursuant to the oo wnae ot Seogon 1(d)()) for the Trading Day immediately prior to the date of exchange pursuant to this Section 24.

Scction 25. Notice of Certain Events.

(@) In case the Company shall propose, at any time after the Distribution Date, (i) to pay any dividend payable in stock of any class to the holders of Preferred Stock or to make any other
distribution to the holders of Preferred Stock (other than a regular f carnings or retained camings of the Company). or (ii) to offer to the holders of Preferred Stock rights or
warrants to subseribe for or to purchase any additional shares of Preferred Stock or shares of stock of any class or any other securities, rights or options, or (i) to effect any reclassification of its Preferred
Stock (other than a reclassification involving only the subdivision of outstanding shares of Preferred Stock), or (i) to effect any consolidation or merger into or with any other Person (other than a Subsidiary
of the Company in a transaction which complies with Section 11(0), or o effect any sale or other transfer (or to permit one or more of its Subsidiaries to effect any sale or other transfer), in one transaction or a
series of related transactions, of more than fifty percent (50%) of the assets, cash flow or earning power of the Company and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) to any other Person or Persons (other than the
Company andor any of: ries in one or more transactions each of which complies with Section 11(0)), o (v) to effect the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, then, in each such
case, the Company shall give to the Rights Agent and to each holder of a Rights Certficate, to the exten feasible and in accordance with Section 26, a nofice of such proposed action, which shall specify the
record date for the purposes of such stock dividend, distribution of rights or warrants, or the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, liquidation, dissolution, or winding up is
1o take place and the date of participation therein by the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock, if any such date is o be fixed, and such notice shall be so given in the case of any action covered by clause (i)
or (i) above at least twenty (20) days prior to the record date for determining holders of the shares of Preferred Stock for purposes of such action, and in the case of any such other action, at least twenty (20)
days prior to the date of the taking of such proposed action o the date of participation therein by the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock, whichever shall be the earlier




(b) n case a Section 11(a)(i) Event shall occur, then, in any such case, (i) the Company shall as soon as practicable thereafier give to each holder of a Rights Cerificate 0 the extent
feasible and in accordance with Section 26, a notice of the occurrence of such event, which shall specify the event and the consequences of the event to holders of Rights under Section 11(a)(i), and (i) all
references in the preceding paragraph to Preferred Stock shall be deemed thercafler to refer to Common Stock andior, if appropriate, other securiics.

ection 26. Notices. Notices or demands authorized by this Agreement 1o be given or made by the Rights Agent or by the holder of any Rights Certificate to or on the Company shall be
sufficiently given or made if sent by firs-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address s filed in writing with the Rights Agent) or by facsimile transmission as follows:

Broadwind Energy, Inc.
3240 South Central Avenue
Cicero, Ilinois 60804
Attention: Corporate Sccrctary
Facsimile No: (708) 7804501

Subject to the provisions of Section 21, any notice or demand authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the Company or by the holder of any Rights Certificate to or on the Rights Agent shall be
sufficiently given or made if sent by first-class mal, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writin with the Company) or by facsimile transmission as follows:

‘Wells Fargo Shareowner Services
1110 Centre Pointe Curve, Suite 101

Mendota Heights, Minnesota 55120

Attention: Manager, Relationship Management
Facsimile No: (651) 4504078

Notices or demands authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the Company or the Rights Agent to the holder of any Rights Certificate (or, if prior to the Distribution Date, to the holder of shares of
Common Stock) shall be sufficiently given or made if sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such holder at the address of such holder as shown on the registry books of the Company.

Section 27. Supplements and Amendments. The Company and the Rights Agent may from time to time supplement or amend this Agreement without the approval of any holders of Rights ()
prior to the Stock Acquisition Date, in any respect, and (b) on or afier the Stock Acquisition Date, to make any changes that the Company may deem necessary o desirable (i) that shall not materially adversely
affect the interests of the holders of Righis (other than the Acquiring Person, any Affiliate or Associate thereof or transferee of any Acquiring Person or any Afliliate or Associate thereof) or (ii)(A) in order to cure
any ambiguity or (8B) to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be inconsistent with any other provision herein or otherwise defective, including any change in order to satisfy any applicable
law, rule or regulation. Any supplement or amendment authorized by this Section 27 shall be evidenced by a writing signed by the Company and the Rights Agent. The Rights Agent shall duly execute and deliver
any supplement or amendment hereto requested by the Company in writing provided that the Company has delivered to the Rights Agent a certificate from an appropriate officer of the Company that states that the
proposed supplement or amendment complies with the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Rights Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, enter into any
supplement or amendment that affects the Rights Agent’s own rights, duties, immunities o obligations under this Agreement

Seetion zx. Successors. All the covenants and provisions of thi
successors and assigns hereund

Agreement by or for the benefit of the Company or the Rights Agent shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective:

Section 20 Deermintion d Actions by he Board of irstors, . The Board of Dirctrs ora dl tee thereof, shall hav and authority to administer
hi o exercise all rights and aranted o th Bond f Diretor 1 he Company, o 4y b necesiryor advisabe i he adminsraion of i Agreement,imeding the ight
and power o ) nrprt the roviions of this Arecent o (ii) make all determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of this Agreement (including, but not limited to, a determination to

redeem or not redeem the Rights or to amend this Agreement). Al such actions, calculations, interpretations and determinations (including, for purposes of clause (y) below, all omissions with respect to the
foregoing) which are done or made by the Board of Dircetors in good faith shall (x) be final, conclusive and binding on the Company, the Rights Agent, the holders of the Rights and all other Persons, and (y) not
subject the Board of Directors to any liabilty to the holders of the Rights

Section 30. Benefits of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Company, the Rights Agent and the registered holders of the Rights
Certificates (and, prior o the Distribution Date, registered holders of the Common Stock) any legal or equilable right, remedy or claim under this Agreement; but this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive
benefit of the Company, the Rights Agent and the registered holders of the Righs Certficates (and, prior to the Distribution Date, registered holders of the Common Stock).




Setlon 31. Seerabiy. I any e, provision, covnanto esticion of this Ascment rthe Rght i hekd by acout o competentjurdiction oratherathority to e il void or
the this Rights shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidate
Btovided,howcuss, (ht noto Htandin Ay i (i Adteement 1 h comery, iy sach e ro o, covenant o renrction  held by s coutor auhorty o e imvalid, void o anenfrceabl and
the Board of Directors determines in its good faith judgment that severing the invalid language from this Agreement would adversely affect the purpose or effect of this Agreement, the right of redemption set forth
in Section 23 shall be reinstated and shall not expire until the Close of Business on the tenth day following the date of such determination by the Board of Directors.

32 Goveraing L Submisonto Juridicton. This Agtment, cach Right and sch Righs Crificte
e of Delaarsand o 1 purposes shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of such such State. The Company and
each holder of Righis hereby revocably submits o the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delmars, o T cout s ok subject matter jurisdiction, the United States District Court
forthe Distit of Delaware,overany sit,ation or roceeding arising out of o relting 0 his Agreement. The Company ind cach hoder o Rights acknovwledge that th forum designated by his Section 32 hs a
reasonable relation to this Agreement and to such Persons’ ip with one another. The Company and cach holder of Rights hereby waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any obj

hey mow or eseater have t persond jursdcton ot he laying of venic of ay such St acion or proceeding rought i any cout refersed  nthis Secton 32 The Company an ach hoder of Rights
Underake not 1o commence any action Subect o s Agrecment i any Toram athr tha th forum described i i Section 33. Th Company and cachholdr of Rights agre that, 0 the llst extent permied by
applicable law, a final and non-appealable judgment in any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court shall be conclusive and binding upon such Persons.

d hereunder shall be deemed la he
de and to be

whi

Section 33, Counterparts. This Agreement may be exceuted in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and all such
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

ction 34, Descriptive Headings; Interpretation. Descriptive headings of the several Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or affect the meaning or
construction of any of the provisions hereof. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation.”

By:

g

/ David W, Fell
Name: David W. Fell

Title: Assistant Secretary

15/ Jennifer Leno
Name: Jennifer Leno

Title: Vice President

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement 1o be duly executed as of the day and year first written above.

Attest: BROADWIND ENERGY, INC
By: Is/ Peter C. Duprey
Name: Peter C. Duprey

Title: President & Chief Executive Officer

Attest: WELLS FARGO, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: s/ Erik Amundson

Name: Erik Amundson

Title: Officer



CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION

oF

oF

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.

Pursuant to Section 151 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

. on February

do hereby certify that the was duly adopted by the Board of Directors of Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation’

12,2013

RESOLVED. hat pursusn o th uhoity s thebod o dctor ofhe Corporation (e o o Dircons”) by the it of nonporation s amcnded (e -Chare”) s B
of Dircctors does hereby create, authorize and provide for the issue ofa series of Preferred Stock. par value S0.001 per share, of the Corporation, to be designated “Serics A Junior Participating Preferre

(hereinafier referred to as the “Series A Preferred Stock”),initially consisting of 30,000 shares, and to the extent that the designations, powers, preferences and relative and other special rights and the qu:hf:annm.

limitations or restrictions of the Series A Preferred Stock are not stated and expressed in the Charter, does hereby fix and herein sate and express such designations, powers, preferences and relative and other
special rights and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, as follows (al terms used herein which are defined in the Charter shall be deemed to have the meanings provided therein):

Section 1. Designation and Amount. The shares of such series shall be designated as “Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock” and the number of shares constituting such series shall be

Section 2. Dividends and Distributions.

(A) Subject to the prior and superior rights of the holders of any shares of any series of Preferred Stock ranking prior and superior 0 the shares of Series A Preferred Stock with respect to
dividends, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally avalable for the purpose, quarterly dividends payable
i cash on the last business day of March, June, September and December in each year (each such date being referred to herein as a “Quarterly Dividend Payment Date”), commencing on the first Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date after the firstissuance of a share or fraction of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, in an amount per share (rounded to the nearest cent) equal to the greater of (a) $1.00 or (b) subject o the
provisonforajustment hersinaier st o, 1000 imes the agregate pesars amount off csh ividends, lus 1,00 imes th agreat per share amout (pyable i ind)ofll non-cash divdends o oter

e in shares of c value $0.001 per share, of the Corporation (the “C 10ck”) or a subivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stack (by
recassifcaon o oherwis), eirey o the o Stk sne e mmedincly preceding Quarcry Dividend Payment Dte.or i respect to the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Dat the first
issuance of any share or fraction of a share of Series A Preferred Stock. In the event the Corporation shall at any time after February 12, 2013 (the *Rights Declaration Date”) (i) declare any dividend on Common
Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, (i) subivide the outstanding Common Stock, or (i) combine the outstanding Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then in each case the amount to which
holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock were enttled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the preceding sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of
which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such
event

{5, Th Corporation shall declaredividendor disribuion o he Seris A Prefeed Stock s povided n prsaph (A)abo immeditelyaer it delares  ivided o discbution on te
Common Stock (other payable in shares of C that in the distribution shall have been declared on the Common Stock during the period
bt any Quartrs Divdend Payment Date nd he next sbscquen Quar\crly ey Payment Date, ,umu o the prior and superior rights of the holders of any shares of any series of Preferred Stock
ranking prior o and superior to the shares of Series A Preferred Stock with respect o dividends, a dividend of $1.00 per share on the Series A Preferred Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such subsequent
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.




(C) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock from the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next preceding the date of issue of such
shares of Serics A Preferred Stock, unless the date of issue of such shares is prior to the record date for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in which case dividends on such shares shall begin to acerue from
the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issue is a Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or is a date after the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stack entitled to
receive a quarterly dividend and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Dat, in ither of which events such dividends shall begin to acrue and be cumulative from such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
Acerued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest. Dividends paid on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount of such dividends at the time acerued and payable on such
shares shall be allocated pro rata on a basis among all Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock entitled to receive payment ofa dividend or distribution declared thercon, which record date shall be no more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for the payment thercof.

Se

“The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights

Subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter st forth, each share of
Series A Preferred Stock shall entitle 101,000 votes on all it 1 ot fhe stockholders of the Corporaon I he cvent he Coporaton shaltany i e the Rihts
Declaration Date (i) declare any dividend on Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, K, o into a smaller number
o sharcs hen i ch sh e the mmiber o vonper shire 10 whieh holdes ofshres af S A Preferred Stock wre ntiled immediatey prior t sch evensshll b ajusted by mulipying sueh e by
fraction the numerator of which is the mumber of shares of Common immediately after such of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding
immediately prior to such event,

(B) Except as otherwise provided herein or by law, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of Common Stock shall vote collectively as one class on all matters
submitted to a voe of stockholders of the Corporation.

(C) (i) Ifatany time dividends on any Series A Preferred Stock shall be in arrears in an amount equal to or greater than six (6) quarterly dividends thereon, the occurrence of such contingency
shall mark the beginning of a period (herein called a “default period”) which shall extend until such time when all acerued and unpaid dmd:nds fora previous quarely divi |d=nd periods and for the current

quarterly dividend period on all shares of Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding shall have been declared and paid or set apart for paym: it period, all holders of Prefe K (including
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock) with dividends in arrears in an amount cqual to o greater than s (6) quarterly dividends thercon, mm\g as a class,irrespective of series, shall have the right to clect two (2)
Directors.

(i) During any default period, such voting right of the holders of Series A Preferred Stock may be ata special to this Section 3(C)
or at any annual meeting of stockholders, and thereafier at annual meetings of stockholders, provided that such voting right shall not be exercised unless the holders of ten percent (10%) in number of
shares of Preferred Stock outstanding shall be present in person or by proxy. The absence of a quorum of the holders of Common Stack shall not affect the exercise by the holders of Preferred Stock of
such voting rights. At any meeing at which the holders of Preferred Stock shall exercise such voing right iniially during an existing default period, they shall have the right, voting as a class, o elect
Directors to fill such vacancies, if any, in the Board of Directors as may then exist up to two (2) Directors or, if such right is exerised at an annual meeting, to elect two (2) Directors. If the number which
may be 50 elected at any special meeting does not amount to the required number, the holders of the Preferred Stock shall have the right 1o make such increase in the number of Directors as shall be:
necessary to permit the election by them of the required number. Afier the holders of the Preferred Stock shall have exercised their right to elect Directors in any default period and during the continuance
of such period, the number of Directors shall not be increased or decreased except by vote of the holders of Preferred Stock as herein provided or pursuant to the rights of any equity securities ranking
Senior t0 or pari passu with the Series A Preferred Stock.

i) Unless the holders of shall, period, 10 elect Directors, the Board of Directors may order, or any stockholder o
stockholders owning in the aggregate not less than ten percent (10%) of the total number of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding, irrespective of series, may request, the calling of a special meting of the
holders of Preferred Stock, which meeting shall thereupon be called by the Chairman of the Board, the President, a Vice President or the Secretary of the Corporation. Notice of such meeting and of any annual
meeting at which holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote pursuant o this paragraph (C)(ii) shall be given to each holder of record of Preferred Stock by mailing a copy of such notice to him or her at his
or herlast address as the same appears on the books of the Corporation. Such meeting shall be called for a time not earlier than 10 days and not later than 50 days after such order or request, or in default of the
calling of such meeting within 50 days after such order or request, such meeting may be called on similar notice by any stockholder or stockholders owning in the aggregate not less than ten percent (10%) of
the total number of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph (C)(ii). no such special meeting shall be called during the period within 50 days immediately
preceding the date fixed for the next annual meefing of the stockholders.

() Inany deault e, the hodersof Common Sock and, i aplicbl, tercasses ofcpital stk of the Corporaion, sl contn o be il o lc the whole mumberof Dirctors il
the holders of ight (x) the Directors so elected by the holders of Preferred Stock shall
oot office unl et Sucessrs ol e boected by such holders o unel th expration o1 b deo period,and (1) an vacancy i he Bosedof Direeorsmay (except as provided in paragraph
(C)(i) of this Section 3) be filled by vote of a majority of the remaining Directors theretofore elected by the holders of the class of capital stock which elected the Director whose office shll have become vacant,
References in this paragraph (C) o Diretors elected by the holders of a particular class of stock shall inelude Directors appointed by such Directors to fill vacancies as provided in clause (y) of the foregoing
sentence
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() Immediately upon the expiration of a default period, (x) the right of the holders of Preferred Stock as a class to elect Directors shall cease, (y) the term of any Directors elected by the holders of
Preferred Stock as a class shall terminate, and (z) the number of Directors shall be such number as may be provided for in the Charter or by- laws of the Corporation irrespective of any increase made pursuar

o the provisions of paragraph (C)(i) of this Section 3 (such number being subject, however, to change thereafier in any manner provided by law or in the Charter or by-laws of the Corporation). Any vacancies
on the Board of Directors effected by the provisions of clauses (y) and (z) in the preceding sentence may be filled by a majority of the remaining Directors

(D) Exceptas set forth herein, holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have no special voting rights and their consent shall not be required (except to the extent they are entitled to vote with
holders of Common Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate action

Scction 4. Certain Restrictions.

(A) Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the Series A Preferred Stock as provided in Section 2 are in arrears, thereafter and until all a
dividends and distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been paid in full the Corporation shall not

crued and unpaid

declare or pay dividends on, make any other distributions on, or redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of capital stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or
upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series A Prefered Sto

(i) declare or pay dividends on or make any other distributions on any shares of stock ranking on a parity (either s to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series

A Preferred Stock, ratably on the Series A Prefe K and all such parity stock on which dividends are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the
holdes of all Suchsharcs are then entled:

(iii) redeem or purchase or otherwisc acquire for consideration shares of any capital stock ranking on a parity (cither as to dividends or upon liguidation, dissolution or winding up) with the
Series A Preferred Stock, provided that the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of any such parity stock in exchange for shares of any capital stock of the
Corporation ranking junior (either as to dividends or pon dissolution, liquidation or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock; or

(i¥)_purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Series A Preferred Stock, or any shares of capital stock ranking on a parity with the Series A Preferred Stock, except in
sccondnce with pursase offe made fn wriing rbypubliation s deterined by the Bourd of Dirctors) ol olders fsuch s upon such e s the Bourd of iestors, afercosideration of

viden I he respective lasses, shall determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment among the
respective series or classes.

(B) The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of stock of the Corporation unless the Corporation could,
under paragraph (A) of this Section 4, purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such manner.

Scetion 5. Reacquired Shares.

Any shares of Series A Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation in any be retred and pily after the acquisition thereof. Al
suchshares shall upon theireancelaion become authoried but unissued shares F refrred Stk and may be reisued aspart of a new seriesof Prefered Stock to b reatd by resoluon o resolutionsof the
Board of Direetors, subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance set forth herein

Seetion 6. Liquidation. Dissolution o Winding Up.

(. Upon ay liguidation (volunary o terwie).disouton o windingupof the Corpration, o distbuton sl be e o the s of haes o opal ok rankin o e s
‘o dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series A Preferred Stock unless, prior thereto, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have received $1,000 per share, plus
amount equal to acerued and unpaid dividends and distributions thereon, whether or not declared, to the date of such payment (the “Series A Liquidation Preference”). Following the payment of the full amount of
the Series A Liquidation Preference, no additional distributions shall be made to the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock unless, prior thereto, the holders of shares of Common Stock shall have received an
amount per share (the “Common Adjustment”) equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Series A Liquidation Preference by (ii) 1,000 (as appropriately adjusted as set forth in subparagraph (C) below to

e split, stock dividends and with respeet to the Common Stock) (such number in clause (i), the “Adjustment Number"). Following the payment of the full amount of the
Series A Liquidation Preference and the Common Adjustment in respect of all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock, respectively, and the payment of liquidation preferences of all
other shares of capital stock which rank prior to or on a parity with Series A Preferred Stock, holders of Series A Preferred Stock and holders of shares of Common Stock shallreceive their ratable and proportionate:
share of the remaining assets to be distributed in the ratio of the Adjustment Number o 1 with respect to such Preferred Stock and Common Stock, on a per share basis, respectively.




(B) In the event, however, that there are not sufficient assets available to permit payment in full of the Series A Liquidation Preference and the liquidation preferences of all other series of Section 10. Amendment.
Preferred Stock, if any, which rank on a parity with the Series A Preferred Stock, then such remaining assets shall be distributed ratably to the holders of such parity shares in proportion to their respective

liquidation preferences. In the event, however, that there are no sufficient assets available to permit payment in full of the Common Adjustment, then such remaining assets shall be distributed ratably to the ‘The Charter shall not be amended in any manner which would materially alter or change the powers, preferences or special rights of the Series A Preferred Stock so as to affect them adversely
holders of Common Stoc without the affimative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting separately as a cass.

(C)In the event the Corporation shall at any time after the Rights Declaration Date (i) declare any dividend on Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, (i) subdivide the outstanding Scction 11, Fractional Shares.
Common Stock. o () ombine the cutstaning Commn Sock in a smaller umbr o shares, then nesch such case the Adjustment Number in et mmeditly pror f such event hall b ajuscd by
multiplying such Adjustment Number by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common after of which is the number of ies A Preferred Stock may be issued in fractions of a share which shall entitle the holder, in proportion to such holder's fractional shares, to exercise voting rights, receive dividends, partcipate
shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event. indistionsand 0 wve the eneit o o rights of holders of Series A Preferred Stoc

Seetion 7. Consolidation. Merger, etc.

I case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, combination or other transaction in which the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or

securites, cash and/or any other property, then in any such case the shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall at the same time be similarly exchanged or changed into an amount per share (subject 10 the provision

for adjsiment berinfc st o) qus 0 1000 imes he agregts amount fcpital tck. et cush andiorany ol propety (bl n kind), e cuse may be, o which ot o whic sach sare of
Stock is exchanged or changed. In the event the Corporation shall at any time after the Rights Decl dividend on C tock payable in shares of C

it he outstanding Common Stoc,or (i) combine the autsanding Common Stock into  smaller e of shaen, en 1 cxch st o e amount st e in e preceding sentence with respect to the

exchange or change of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately afier

such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.

Section 8. No Redemption.
‘The shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable.

Section 9. Ranking.

‘The Series A Preferred Stock shall rank junior to all other series of the Corporation’s Ps tock as to dividends and ‘assets, whether or not upon the
dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, unless the terms of any such series shall provide otherwise.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Broadwind Enerey, Inc. has caused this certificate to be signed by___,its___, and the same t0 be attested to by___,its__, this___day of.

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.

Name:
Title:

Attest:

Certificate No. R

[Form of Rights Certifcate]

NOT EXERCISABLE AFTER FEBRUARY 12,2016 OR EARLIER IF REDEEMED OR EXCHANGED BY THE COMPANY. THE RIGHTS ARE SUBJECT

T
ND THE RIGHT

___Rights
C JON, AT
50001 PER RIGHT, AND TO EXCHANGE ON THE TERMS SET FORTH IN THE SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT. UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES, AS SET FORTH IN THE SECTION 382 RIGHTS
AGREEMENT, RIGHTS BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY AN ACQUIRING PERSON (AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN THE SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT) AND ANY SUBSEQUENT HOLDER O}
RIGHTS SHALL BECOME NULL AND Vi ERTIFICATE
7(e) OF THE SECTION 382 RIGHTS AGREEMENT.

F SUCH
SHALL BECOME NULL AND VOID IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES SPECIFIED IN SECTION



Rights Certificate

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.
“This certifies that__, or registered assigns, s the registered owner of the number of Rights set forth above, each of which entiles the owner thereof, subject to the terms, provisions and

conditions of the Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013 (the “Rights Agreement”), between Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Wells Fargo, National
“Rights Agent”), to p the Company at prior to the Expiration in the Right the office or offices of the Rights Agent designated for such

purpos Rights Agent, dthofa fully paid. Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Preferred Stock”), of the
Compans s pochace priceof S per ane e Ihonsnnd!l\ ofa share (the “Purchase Price”), upon presentation and surrender of this Rights Certficate with the Form of Election to Purchase and related
Certificate duly executed. The number of Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate (and the number of shares which may be purchased upon exercise thereof) set forth above, and the Purchase Price per share set
forhabove, e b mumborand Purchase Prce o o

+20. based on the Preferred Stock as constituted at such date. The Company reserves the right to require prior to the occurrence of a Triggering Event (as such term is defined in the Rights Agreement) that, upon
ay exercise of Rights, a number of Rights be exercised so that only whole shares of Preferred Stock will be issued.

Jpon the occurrence of a Section 11(a)i) Event (as such term is defined in the Rights Agreement),if the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate are beneficially owned by
(i) an Acquiring Phron o an ATHsts of s o any such Acquiring Person (as such terms are defined in the Rights Agreement), (i)  transferee of any such Acquiring Person, Associate or Affliate, or (i)
under certain circumstances specified in the Rights Agreement,a transferee of a person who, after such transfer, became an Acquiring Person or an Affliate or Associate of such Acquiring Person, such Rights
shall become null and void and no holder hereof shall have any right with respect to such Rights from and after the occurrence of such Section 11(a)(ii) Event.

As provided in the Rights Agreement, the Purchase Price and the number and kind of shares of Preferred Stock or other securities which may be purchased upon the exercise of the Rights
evidenced by this Rights Certificate are subject o modification and adjustment upon the happening of certain events, including Triggering Events.

is Rights Certificate is subject (o all of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Rights Agreement, which terms, provisions and conditions are hereby incorporated herein by reference and
made apart herof and f which Righs Agrement efrece s hrehy e fora Rl des:rlvlmn oftheighs, imiaions ofghts, abigations, e and immuniies hereunder o he Rights g, the Company
and the holders of the Rights Certficates, which limitations of rights of such Rights set forth in the Rights Agreement.
Coptes o th Rights Asrecment r an e at h e ofthe Company and e s avllble apon rin eques 1 h Company.

“This Rights Certificate, with or without other Rights Certificates, upon surrender at the principal office or offices of the Rights Agent designated for such purpose, may be exchanged for another
Rights Certificate or Rights Certificates of like tenor and date cvidencing Rights entitling the holder to purchase a like ageregate number of one one-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock s the Rights
evidenced by the Rights Certificates surrendered shall have enitled such holder to purchase. IFthis Rights Certificate shall be exercised in part the holder shall be entitled to receive upon surrender hercof another
Rights Certificate or Rights Certificates for the number of whole Rights not exercised.

Subject to the provisions of the Rights Agreement, the Rights evidenced by this Certificate may, in each case at the option of the Company, be (i) redeemed by the Company at its option at a
redemption price of $0.001 per Right or (i) exchanged in whole or in part for shares of Common Stock or other securities of the Company. Immediately upon the action of the Board of Dircctors of the Company.
authorizing redemption, the Rights will terminate and the only right of the holders of Rights will be to receive the redemption price.

No fractional shares of Preferred Stock will be issued upon the exercise of any Right or Rights evidenced hereby (other than fractions which are integral multiples of one one- thousandth of a
share of Preferred Stock, which may, at the election of the Company, be evidenced by depositary receipts), but in licu thereof a cash payment will be made, as provided in the Rights Agreement

No holder of his Rights C be entited to vote or  deemed for any purpose the holder of shares of Preferred Stock or of any other seeurities of the Company
which may at any time be issuable on the exercise hereof, nor shall anything contained in the Rights Agreement or herein be consirued to confer upon the holder hereof, as such, any of the rights of a stockholder
of the Company or any right to vote for the election of directors or upon any matter submitted to stockholders at any meting thereaf;, o to give or withhold consent to any corporate action, or, 1o receive notice of
mectings or other actions affecting stockholders (except as provided in the Rights Agreement). or to receive dividends or subscription rights, or otherwise, until the Right or Rights evidenced by this Rights
Certificate shall have been exercised as provided in the Rights Agreement

This Rights Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until it shall have been countersigned manually or by facsimile signature by the Rights Agent.



WITNESS the facsimile signature of the proper officers of the Company and its corporate seal.

Datedasof__,

ATTEST:

Secretary

Countersigned:

WELLS FARGO, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Authorized Signature

BROADWIND ENERGY,
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[Form of Reverse Side of Rights Certificate]
FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(To be exccuted by the registered holder if such holder desires to transfer the Rights Certificate.)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto.

(Please print name and address of transferce)
this Rights Certificate, together with all right, tile and interest therein, and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint___Attorney, o transfer the within Rights Certificate on the books of the within-named
Company, with full power of substitution.

Dated:,

Signature
Signature Medallion Guaranteed:

Cenificate

The undersigned hereby certifies by checking the appropriate boxes that:

(1) this Rights Certificate [ 1is [ ] is not being sold, assigned and transferred by or on behalf of a Person whois or was an Acquiring Person or an Affiliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person
(as such terms are defined pursuant (0 the Rights Agreement); and

affer due inquiry and to the best knowledge of the undersigned, the undersigned [ ] did [ ] did not acquire the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate from any Person who or which is.
was or subsequently became an Acquiring Person or an Afiliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person.

Dated:

Signature

Signature Medallion Guaranteed:



Certificate

NOTICE
‘The undersigned hereby cerifies by checking the appropriate boxes that:
the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate [ ]are [ ] are not being exercised by or on behalf of a Person who is or was an Acquiring Person or an Afflate or Associate of an Acquiring

“The signature to the foregoing Assignment and Certificate must correspond to the name as written upon the face of this Rights Certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or
any change whatsoever.
Person (as such terms are defined pursuant to the Rights Agreement); and
FORM OF ELECTION TO PURCHASE
(2)  afier due inquiry and to the best knowledge of the undersigned, the undersigned [ ] did [ ] did not acquire the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate from any Person who or which is,
was or became an Acquiring Person or an Affliate or Associate of an Acquiring Persor

(To be exceuted if holder desires to exercise Rights represented by the Rights Certificate.)
Dated: .
Signature

TO: BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.
he undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise___Rights represented by this Rights Certificate to purchase the shares of Preferred Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Rights (or such

other secu

T
rities of the Company or of any other person which may be issuable upon the exercise of the Rights) and requests that certificates for such shares (or other securities) be issued in the name of an
delivered to:
Signature Medallion Guaranteed:

NOTICE
ate in every particular, without alteration or

Please insert social security

or other identifying number:
“The signature to the foregoing Election to Purchase and Certificate must correspond to the name as written upon the face of this Rights Ceri

(Please print name and address)
enlargement or any change whatsoever

1f such number of Rights shall not be all the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate, a new Rights Certificate for the balance of such Rights shall be registered in the name of and delivered o

Please insert social security
or other identifying number:

(Please print name and address)

Dated:, .

Signature

Signature Medallion Guaranteed:
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS STOCK

On February 12, 2013, the board of directors of Broads . Inc. (“Broadwind”) adopted a Section 382 stockholders rights plan and declared a dividend distribution of one right for cach
outstanding share of our common stock to stockholders of record at the Close. o B on February 22, 2013, Each right entitles its holder, under the circumstances described below, to purchase from us one:
one-housandihof a shar ofour Seies A Jurior Partiipting refrrd Stock o an exereise prce f $14.00 per ight, subjoct 0 adjusment Broadwind ntond o bt he sights pla o he approval o 15
stockholders at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The description and terms of the rights are set forth in a Section 382 Rights Agreement between us and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as rights agent.

“The board of directors adopted the rights plan in an effort to protect shareholder value by attempting to protect against a possible limitation on Broadwind's ability to use its net operating loss
camyforwards he “NOL")and crtain et beneis 0 reduce ottt U, fdera ncome fa olgtons. I Broaind xperiences an“ovncnitip Chamge s deind in Scton 352 of h I
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code” gulations by the United Sttt reasury Regulations”), its ability to fully utilize the NOLs and
comai athr tx beneis n an annualbasis will b subsianaly i, and he timing ofthe sage o he NOLs and oo oot could elayed, which could impair
the value of those benefits

“The rights plan is intended to act as a deterrent to any person or group, together with its affiliates and associates, being owner of 4.9% or more of common stock (such
person or group is referred to as an “acquiring person”). A person shall be deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of, and shall be deemed to “beneficially own,” any securities that such person is deemed t
constructively own under Section 382 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (including pursuant to the “option” rules of Treasury Regulation Section 1.382-4), that such person would be deemed to
own together with any other persons as a single “entity” under Treasury Regulations Section 1.382-3(a)(1), or that otherwise would be aggregated with securities owned by such person pursuant to Section 382 of
the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The term “acquiring person” does not include:

. Broadwind;

. any subsidiary of Broadwind;

. any employee benefit plan of Broadwind or of any subsidiary of Broadwind:

. any person organized, appointed or established by Broadwind for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan;

. any grandfathered person (as defined below):

. any exempted person (as defined below):

. any person or group who becomes the beneficial owner of 4.9% or more of the outstanding common stock s a result of an “exempted transaction”; or

. sy peron hor o whic the bosed of dircor i god ithdterines as ey seqired eneica i of 484 o o o otsandin common stock 10 long s sl peron
promprly enters in o Broadwind, a d divests as promptly as practicable a sufficient number of shares of

Lommon sock o tht s rson would o longerbe o benclcal owncr o 9% or more oloms!andmg common smck

A stockholder who together with its affliates and associates beneficially owned 4.9% o more of common stock as of February 12, 2013 is deemed not to be an “acquiring person,” so long as such
stockholder does dditional shares of tock withou the prior 1 of Broadwind, other than pursuant o or as a result of (a) a reduction in the amount of common stock
outstanding; (b) any unilateral grant of any common stock by Broadwind or (¢) any ssuance of common stock by Broadwind or any share dividend, share splt or similar transaction effected by Broadwind in which
all holders of common stock are treated equally. Such a stockholder is a “grandfathered person” for purposes of the rights plan.

‘The board of directors of Broadwind may, inits sole discretion, exempt any person or group who would otherwise be an acquiring person from being deemed an acquiring person for purposes of
the rights plan if it determines at any time prior to the time at which the righs are no longer redeemable that the beneficial ownership of such Person would not jeopardize, endanger or limit (in timing or amount) the
availability of Broadwind’s NOLs and other tax benefits. Any such person or group is an “exempted person” under the rights plan. The board of directors, i its sole discretion, may subsequently make a contrary
determination and such person would then become an acquiring person.

an exempted person, such determination is

An “exempted transaction” s a transaction that the board of directors d is an exempted transaction and, unlike

imevocable.

iy, the it are associed withou common stoc and evidnced by ommon stk stifites i the s of ncertifcted sare of common stak,thebook ety records videncing
the common stock, and are transferable with and only with the underlying shares of common stock. Subject to certain exceptions, the rights par nly.
upon he -disbion date, which coers pon the el of-

. fendaa llowing  public annauncemert (uch e the stock sequision ") thata prson o roup of it o associed persons st any i fc th lose ofbsinesson Febrary 12,
2013 the“messurement e has aquire,or obtained he o i benefical awrerstipof 49% or mre ofour utsanding shaes o common stock an sich peron r group of
affiliated or associated ercin as an * ) (unless, prior of Broadwind's the rights, such person or group is emined by

e bosrd of dectors 6 b an “cxcmpted person.” in which casethe stock acquiiion dte il b decened nf 10 have occurred:



. ten business days (or later date if determined by our board of directors prior to such time as any person or
exchange offer which, if consummated, would result in a person o group becoming an acquiring person.

» Tollowing ofa tender offer or

In addition, if Broadwind’s board of directors determines in good faith that a person became an acquiring person inadvertently and such person divests as promptly as practicable a sufficient
number of shares of common stock so that such person would no longer be an acquiring person, then such person will not be deemed to be an acquiring person.

Until the distribution date, the surrender for transfer of any shares of the transfr of the righi ted with those sharcs.

As so0n as practicable after the distribution date, separate certificates or book- entry statements will be mailed to holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on the
distribution date. From and after the distribution date, the separate rights certificates or book-entry records alone will represent the rights. Except as otherwise provided in the Section 382 Rights Agreement, only
of common stock issued prior to the distribution date will be issued with right

“The rights are not and, unless or exchanged by us as described below, wil expire upon the carliest o
* theclose of business on February 22, 2016;

« the time at which the rights are redeemed;

© the time at which the rights are exchanged;

+ the close of business on the cffective date of the repeal of Section 382 of the Code or any successor statute if the board of dircctors of Broadwind determines that the rights plan is no longer
necessary or desirable for the preservation of certain tax benefits;

+ the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of Broadwind to which the board of directors of Broadwind determines that certain tax benefits may not be carried forward; and

the close of business on the first business day following the date on which the Inspector of Election for Broadwind’s 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders certifies that the vote on the
Section 382 Rights Agreement o uch meeung relects that stoekholde approval has nt ben recived

In the event that a person or group becomes an acquiring person (a “flip-in event”), each holder of aright (other than any acquiring person and certain related parties, whose rights automatically
become null and void) will have the right to receive, upon exercise, common stock having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the right. If an insufficient number of shares of common stock s available.
for issuance, then our board of directors would be required to substitute cash, property or other securities of Broadwind for the common stock. The rights may not be exercised following a flip-in event while
Broadwind has the abilit 10 cause the rights o be redeemed, as described later in this summary.

For cxanple,at an excaise pic of 14,0 peright, cuch ight ol o by an aiin peson (nr by certain related paries) following a flip-in event would entitle its holder to purchase $28.00
worth of common stock (or other consideration, as noted above) for $14.00. Assuming that of $3.50 at that time, the valid right would be entitled to purchase
cight shares of common stock for $14.00.

“The exercise price payable, and the number of shares of preferred stock or other securities or property issuable, upon exercise of the rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent
dilution:

in the event of a stock dividend on, or a subivision, combination or reclassification of, the preferred stock:
i holders of the preferred stock are granted certain rights, options or warrants to subscribe for preferred stock or convertible securities at less than the current market price of the preferred stock; or

upon the distribution to holders of the preferred stock of evidences of indebtedness or assets (excluding regular quarterly cash dividends) or of subscription rights or warrans (other than those
referred o above).

With o adjustment in the be required until cumulative ad toatleast 1% o price. No fractional shares of preferred stock will be
fosued and, i i thereof, an adjustment i cash willbe made based o the market price of the prferrd sock on the st rading day prior o the dat of exerise

In general, Broadwind may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.001 able in cash,
aproprst b ourboard o diretre at iy ime il e daye followin the tock acqision de. Immediely upon the ctionofhe board o drclors uthriing any redempton, th ighis wil crmimate and
the only right of the holders of rights will be to receive the redemption price.
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Atany time after there is an acquiring person and prior o the acquisition by the acquiring person of 50% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock, we may exchange the rights
(other than rights owned by the acquiring person which will have become void), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock, or one one-thousandth of a share of preferred stock (or of a
share of a class or series of our preferred stock having equivalent rights, preferences and privileges). per right (subject to adjustment).

Until a right is exercised, its holder will have no rights as a stockholder of Broadwind, including the right to vote or 1o receive dividends. While the distribution of the rights will not result in the.
recognition of taxable income by us or our stockholders, stockholders may, depending upon

Broadwind and the rights agent may from time to time amend or supplement the Section 382 Rights Agreement without the consent of the holders of the rights. After the stock acquisition date,
however, no amendment can materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of the rights (other than the acquiring person or any afliliate or associate theref)

A copy of the Section 382 Rights Agreement is available frec of charge from us. This deseription of the rights docs not purport to be complete and is quali
Section 382 Rights Agreement, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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PARTI
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contains “forward looking statements "— that is, statements related to future, not past, events—as
defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), that reflect our current expectations regarding our future growth,
results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, performance, business prospects and opportunities, as well as made by, and ion currently
available to, our management. We have tried to identify forward looking statements by using words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “will,”

“should,” “may,” “plan” and similar expressions, but these words are not the exclusive means of identifying forward looking statements. Forward looking statements
include any statement that does not directly relate to a current or historical fact. Our forward-looking statements may include or relate to our beliefs, expectations,
plans and/or assumptions with respect to the following:(i) the impact of global health concerns on the economies and financial markets and the demand for our
products; (ii) state, local and federal regulatory frameworks affecting the industries in which we compete, including the wind energy industry, and the related
extension, continuation or renewal of federal tax incentives and grants, including the advanced manufacturing tax credits, and state renewable portfolio standards
as well as new or continuing tariffs on steel or other products imported into the United States; (i) our customer relationships and our substantial dependency on a
few significant customers and our efforts to diversify our customer base and sector focus and leverage relationships across business units; (iv) our ability to operate
our business efficiently, comply with our debt obligations, manage capital expenditures and costs effectively, and generate cash flow; (v) the economic and
operational stability of our significant customers and suppliers, including their respective supply chains, and the ability to source alternative suppliers s necessary;
(vi) our ability to continue to grow our business organically and through acquisitions; (vii) the production, sales, collections, customer deposits and revenues
generated by new customer orders and our ability to realize the resulting cash flows; (viii) information technology failures, network disruptions, cybersecurity
attacks or breaches in data security; (ix) the sufficiency of our liquidity and alternate sources of funding, if necessary; (x) our ability to realize revenue from customer
orders and backlog (including our ability to finalize the terms of the remaining obligations under a supply agreement with a leading global wind turbine
manufacturer); (xi) the economy and the potential impact it may have on our business, including our cusiomers; (xii) the state of the wind energy market and other
energy and industrial markets generally, including the availability of tax credits, and the impact of competition and economic volatility in those markets; (xiii) the
effects of market disruptions and regular market volatility, including fluctuations in the price of oil, gas and other commodities; (xiv) competition from new or
existing industry participants including, in particular, increased competition from foreign tower manufacturers; (xv) the effects of the change of administrations in the
U.S. federal government; (xvi) our ability to successfilly integrate and operate acquired companies and to identify, negotiate and execute future acquisitions; (xvii)
the potential loss of tax benefits if we experience an “ownership change” under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; (xviii) the effects of
proxy contests and actions of activist stockholders; (xix) the limited trading market for our securities and the volatility of market price for our securities; (xx) our
outstanding indebtedness and its impact on our business activities (including our ability to incur additional debt in the future); and (xxi) the impact of future sales
of our common stock or securities convertible into our common stock on our stock price. These statements are based on information currently available to us and are
subject to various risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual growth, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, performance,
business prospects and opportunities to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these statements. We are under no duty to update any of these
statements. You should not consider any list of such factors to be an exhaustive statement of all of the risks, uncertainties or other factors that could cause our
current beliefs, plans and/or 1o change. . for king statements should not be relied upon as a predictor of actual results.

(Dollar amounts are presented in thousands, except per share data and unless otherwise stated)



ITEM 1. BUSINESS

As used in this Annual Report, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Broadwind” and the “Company” refer to Broadwind, Inc., a Delaware corporation headquartered
in Cicero, Illinois, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”). Dollars are presented in thousands unless otherwise stated.

Business Overview

Broadwind is a precision manufacturer of structures, equipment and components for clean technology and other specialized applications. We provide
technologically advanced high value products to customers with complex systems and stringent quality standards that operate in energy, mining and infrastructure
sectors, primarily in the United States of America (the “U.S.”). Our capabilities include but are not limited to the following: heavy fabrications, welding, metal rolling,
coatings, gear cutting and shaping, gearbox manufacturing and repair, heat treatment, precision machining, assembly, engineering and packaging solutions.

We were incorporated in 1996 in Nevada as Blackfoot Enterprises, Inc., and through a series of subsequent transactions, became Broadwind Energy, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, in 2008. Through acquisitions in 2007 and 2008, we focused on expanding upon our core platform as a wind tower manufacturer, established our
Gearing segment, and developed and broadened our industrial fabrications capabilities. In early 2017, we acquired Red Wolf Company, LLC. a kitter and assembler of
industrial components primarily supporting the global gas turbine market. In 2020, we rebranded to Broadwind, Inc., a reflection of our diversification progress to date
and our continued strategy to expand our product and customer diversification outside of wind energy. Effective with our 2020 rebranding, we renamed certain
segments. Our Towers and Heavy Fabrications segment was renamed to Heavy Fabrications and our Process Systems segment was renamed to Industrial Solutions. Our
Gearing segment name remained the same.

Heavy Fabrications

We provide large, complex and precision fabrications to customers in a broad range of industrial markets. Our most significant presence is within the U.S. wind
energy industry. although we have diversified into other industrial markets in order to improve our capacity utilization, reduce our customer concentration, and reduce
our exposure to uncertainty related to governmental policies currently impacting the U.S. wind energy industry. Within the U.S. wind energy industry, we provide steel
towers and repowering adapters primarily to wind turbine manufacturers. Our production . located in Manitowoc, Wisconsin and Abilene, Texas, are situated in
close proximity to the primary U.S. domestic wind energy and equipment manufacturing hubs. The two facilities have a combined annual tower production capacity of
up to approximately 550 towers (1650 tower sections), sufficient to support turbines generating more than 1.7 GW of power (assuming a 3 MW tower). We have
expanded our production capabilities and leveraged our manufacturing competencies, including welding, lifting capacity and stringent quality practices, into aftermarket
and original equipment manufacturer (“OEM) components utilized in surface and underground mining, construction, material handling, oil and gas (“O&G”) and other
infrastructure markets. We have designed and manufacture a mobile, modular pressure reducing system (“PRS”) for the compressed natural gas virtual pipeline market.
We manufacture components for buckets, shovels, car bodies, drill masts and other products that support mining and construction markets. In other industrial markets,
we provide crane components, pressure vessels, frames and other structures.

Gearing

We provide gearing, gearboxes and precision machined components to a broad set of customers in diverse markets including; surface and underground mining,
wind energy, steel, material handling, infrastructure, onshore and offshore O&G fracking and drilling, marine, defense, and other industrial markets. We provide gearbox
repair services and have manufactured loose gearing, gearboxes and systems, and provided heat treat services for aftermarket and OEM applications for a century.
While a significant portion of our business is to our customer’s we employ design and metallurgical engineers to meet our customer’s
stringent quality requirements, to improve product performance and reliability and to develop custom products that are integrated into our customer’s product offerings.

Industrial Solutions

We provide supply chain solutions, light fabrication, inventory management, kitting and assembly services, primarily serving the combined cycle natural gas
turbine market. We have recently expanded into the U.S. wind power generation market, by providing tower internals kitting solutions for on-site installations, as OEMs

domesticate their supply chain due to lead time and reliability issues. We leverage a global supply chain to provide instrumentation & controls, valve assemblies, sensor
devices, fuel system components, electrical junction boxes & wiring, and electromechanical devices. We also provide packaging solutions and fabricate panels and sub-
assemblies to reduce our customers’ costs, improve manufacturing velocity and reliability.

The following table summarizes the key markets served and product offering of our three segments:

Segment Heavy Fabrications Gearing Industrial Solutions
Key Markets Served ~Wind Power Generation -Onshore & Offshore ~Combined Cycle Natural
~Surface and Underground Mining Oil and Gas Fracking/Drilling Gas Power Generation
~Material Handling ~Surface and Underground Mining ~Solar Power Generation
-Oil and Gas -Steel Production -Wind Power Generation
-Construction -Infrastructure
-Infrastructure -Wind Power Generation
-Pulp and Paper
-Material Handling
“Marine
-Waste Processing
-Defense
Products -Wind Towers/Adaptors -Loose Gearing ~Supply Chain Solutions
-Industrial Fabrications: ~Custom Gearboxes ~Inventory Management
Mining Components ~Gearbox Repair ~Kitting and Assembly
Crane Components ~Heat Treat Services ~Solar Inverter Racks
~Solar Powered Shelters/Charging
Pressure Reducing Systems -Precision Machining Stations

Other Frames/Structures
Pressure Vessels

Business and Operating Strategy

We intend to capitalize on the markets for wind energy, gas turbines, O&G, mining, and other industrial verti
competencies in welding, manufacturing, assembling and kitting. Our strategic objectives include the following:

Is in North America by leveraging our core

.

Diversify our customer and product line concentrations. In 2024, sales derived from our top five customers represented 73% of total sales and sales
into the wind energy industry represented 44% of total sales. This is an improvement as compared to 2019, when our top five customers comprised
79% of total sales and sales in the wind energy industry represented 6% of total sales. To reduce the concentration of our sales, we have focused our
product development activities and our sales force on expanding and diversifying our customer base and product lines. We are leveraging existing
customer relationships within each of our segments to cross sell our broad portfolio of capabilitics. We utilize a stage gate model for new product
development, which provides a framework for evaluating and we continue o use new customer and
product revenues as metrics within our variable executive compensation programs. Our diversification efforts are impacted in part by the end-market
demand outlook.

Improve capacity utilization and broaden our manufacturing capabilities. Subject to labor availability, we have manufacturing capacity available
that could support a significant increase in our annual revenues for heavy fabrications, gearing and industrial solutions. We are working to improve
our capacity utilization and financial results by leveraging our existing manufacturing capacity and adjusting capacity where we can, in response to
changing market conditions.

Pursue opportunistic acquisitions as well as organic investments. Tn addition to existing business and operating strategies, we are endeavoring to
identify, and opportunistically execute on, accretive acquisitions and organic investments that will allow us to achieve further growth. Our investment
criteria for opportunistic acquisitions as well as organic investments include, among other things, our ability to: improve manufacturing competencies,
support our existing capacity utilization strategy, enhance our diversification strategy and/or augment our penetration into renewable markets.
Additionally, we are developing new variations of our PRS unit which supplies compressed natural gas to regions without established infrastructure
as part of the virtual pipeline. We belicve that execution of our investment strategy provides significant opportunity to generate stockholder value,
through profitable growth and leveraging a significant unrealized economic asset, over $295 million of net operating losses (“NOLs”) as of December
31,2024 which can be used to cover future prospective tax liabilities.

Streamline front-end processes to operational efficiency. We belicve that the proper coordination and integration of the supply chain, consistent use
of systems to manage our production activities and “Continuous Improvement” initiatives are key factors that enable high operating efficiencies,
increased reliability, better delivery and lower costs. We utilize robust Advanced Product Quality Processes (APQP) to support the introduction of
new products. We have developed better supply chain expertise, worked with lean enterprise resources, upgraded and improved systems utilization
and invested capital to enhance our operational efficiency and flexibility. We have implemented scheduling software and have expanded our
engineering organization to support the growing complexity of our expanded customer base and product lines. We have staffed our operations with
Continuous Improvement experts in order to optimize our production processes to increase output, leverage our scale and lower our costs while
maintaining product quality.

SALES AND MARKETING

We market our heavy fabrications, gearing, and industrial solutions through a direct sales force, supplemented with independent sales agents in certain
markets. Our sales and marketing strategy is to develop and maintain long-term relationships with our existing customers, and seck opportunities to expand these
relationships across our business units. Our business development team uses market data, including marketing databases, information gathered at industry and trade
shows, interet research and website marketing to identify and target new customers



‘CUSTOMERS

We manufacture products for a variety of customers in the wind energy, O&G, gas turbine, mining, and other industrial markets. Within the wind energy

industry, our customer base consists primarily of wind turbine manufacturers who supply end users and wind farm operators with wind turbines, and wind gearbox re-
who use our gears in their gearboxes. The wind turbine market s very concentrated. According to Wood Mackenzic Power &

Renewables 2024 industry data, the top two wind turbine manufacturers comprised approximately 91% of the U.S. market. As a result, although we have historically
produced towers for a broad range of wind turbine manufacturers, in any given year a limited number of customers have accounted for the majority of our revenues.
Within the O&G and mining industries, our customer base consists of manufacturers of hydraulic fracturing and mud pumps, drilling and production equipment, mining
equipment, and off highway vehicles. Within the gas turbine industry, our customers supply end-users with natural gas turbines and after-market replacement and
efficiency upgrade packages. Within our other industrial markets served, our customer base includes steel producers, ship builders, and manufacturers of material
handling, pulp and paper and other power generation equipment. Sales to GE Vernova represented greater than 10% of our consolidated revenues for the years ended
December 31,2024 and 2023. The loss of this customer could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation or financial condition. As a result, we
have an ongoing initiative to diversify our customer base.

COMPETITION

Each of our businesses faces competition from both domestic and international companies. In recent years, the industrial gearing industry has experienced
consolidation of producers and acquisitions by strategic buyers in response to strong international competition, although recent tariff and supply chain uncertainties
have caused buyers to shift more of their purchases to domestic gear manufacturers.

Within the wind tower product line of our Heavy Fabrications segment, the largest North American based competitor is Arcosa Inc., which was formerly a
Trinity Industries company. Other competitors include C.S. Wind, a South Korean company, Marmen Industries, a Canadian company, and GRI Renewable Industries, a
Spanish company, each of which have production facilities in the U.S. We also face competition from imported towers, although in recent years a number of trade cases
have i i reduced ition from imports.

Imports from China and Vietnam have declined following a determination by the U.S. International Trade Commission (“USITC™) in 2013 that wind towers from
those countries were being sold in the U.S. at less than fair value. As a result of the determination, the U.S. Department of Commerce (“USDOC”) issued antidumping
and countervailing duty orders on imports of wind towers from China and an antidumping duty order on imports of towers from Vietnam. In May 2018, the U.S. Court of
Appeals affirmed the decision from the U.S. Court of International Trade but excluded CS Wind Vietnam from the antidumping order. In April 2019, the USDOC extended
the term of these duties for an additional five-year period. Following a renewed surge of tower imports from countries not impacted by existing duties, in July 2020, the
USDOC issued antidumping and countervailing duty orders on imports of wind towers from Canada, Indonesia, and Vietnam—including CS Wind Vietnam—and an
antidumping order on imports of towers from Korea. The Indonesia countervailing duty order was later revoked after an appeal to the U.S. Court of International Trade
(“CIT”). Then in September 2020, a new trade case was brought before the USDOC and USITC, to assess whether wind towers imported from India, Malaysia, and Spain
were being sold in the U.S. at less than fair value. The USDOC and USITC issued affirmative final determinations in all three antidumping (India, Malaysia, and Spain)
and two countervailing duty cases (India and Malaysia). The USDOC imposed orders for two cases in August 2021 and the remainder in December 2021. Appeals of the
Canada and Korea antidumping determinations are currently pending at the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. In July 2025, the USITC and USDOC will
conduct a required “five-year review” of the trade orders on Canada, Indonesia, Korea, and Vietnam to determine whether the orders should be revoked.

Within our industrial fabrications product line of our Heavy Fabrications segment, our competitors in a fragmented market include Weldall Manufacturing and
AT&F Advanced Metals, along with a large number of other regional competitors. The primary differentiator among fabricators is the range of manufacturing and
machining capabilities, including lifting capacity, precision machining, heat treatment capacity and the sophistication of quality systems.

In our Gearing segment, which is focused on O&G, wind energy, mining and steel markets, we compete with domestic and international manufacturers who
produce gears greater than one meter in diameter. Our key competitors include Overton Chicago Gear, Cincinnati Gearing Systems, Milwaukee Gear and Horsburgh &
Scott. In addition, we compete with the internal gear manufacturing capacity of relevant equipment and face ition from foreign

In our Industrial Solutions segment, which is primarily focused on the gas turbine market, we compete with electrical supply distributors. Our key competitors
include Gexpro and other small independent companies.

REGULATION
Production Tax Credit/Investment Tax Credit

The most impactful development incentive for our products has been the production tax credit (“PTC™) for new wind energy projects, which provides federal
income tax credits based on electricity produced from qualifying wind turbines. Legislative support for the PTC has been intermittent since its introduction in 1992,
which has caused volatility in the demand for new wind energy projects.

In December 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 (“COVID IV™), a $2.3 trillion spending bill that combines a $1.4 trillion omnibus spending bill
for federal fiscal year 2021 with $900 billion in stimulus relief for the COVID-19 pandemic was signed into law. As part of COVID IV, the PTC was extended for an
additional year, allowing for a 60% credit for projects that start construction by the end of 2021. Tn order to benefit from the PTC, qualifying projects must either be
completed within four years from their start of construction, or the developer must demonstrate that its projects are in continuous construction between start of
construction and completion. As a result of COVID IV, the PTC will subsidize wind projects commenced as late as 2021 and completed by 2025, or later if continuous
construction can be demonstrated. Included in COVID 1V is the addition of a new 30% investment tax credit (“ITC") created for offshore wind projects that start
construction by the end of 2025. The provision will retroactively apply to projects that started production in 2016.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) was enacted to reduce inflation and promote clean energy in the United States. The IRA modifies
and extends the PTC until the later of 2032 or when greenhouse gas emissions have been reduced by 75% compared to 2022. It provides for tax credits up to a maximum
of 30%, adjusted for inflation annually. for electricity generated from qualified renewable energy sources where taxpayers meet prevailing wage standards and employ a
sufficient proportion of qualified apprentices from registered apprenticeship programs. It also provides a bonus credit for qualifying clean energy production in energy
communities.

The IRA also includes Advanced Manufacturing Production tax credits (“AMP credits”) for manufacturers of eligible components, including wind and solar
components. Manufacturers qualify for the AMP credits based on the electricity output for each component produced and sold in the US starting in 2023 through
2032. The credit amount varies based on the eligible component, which includes solar components, wind energy components, inverters, qualifying battery components,
and critical minerals. Tower manufacturers are eligible for credits of $0.03 per watt for applicable components produced. Manufacturers can elect a direct pay option
where they can receive a payment equal to the full value of the tax credits from the Internal Revenue Service anytime during the ten-year period. That election lasts for
five years, after which the AMP credits can be used against tax obligations or transferred to third parties in exchange for cash.

Investment in Infrastructure

In November 2021, the federal Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (“I1JA”) was signed into law. The TJA provides for $548 billion in new infrastructure
spending over the next five years and $630 billion in previously allocated funds. The ILJA allocated $62 billion to the Department of Energy for various projects focused
on clean energy resources and expanding renewable energy. However the timing of the award of projects funded by the ILJA is uncertain thus the impact on our

business is uncertain.

Occupational Safety and Health Administration

Our operations are subject to regulation of health and safety matters by the U.S. O« Safety and Health i We believe that we take
appropriate precautions to protect our employees and third parties from workplace injuries and harmful exposure to materials handled and managed at our facilities.
However, claims asserted in the future against the Company for work-related injury or illnesses could increase our costs.



Environmental

Our operations are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. Although it is our objective to maintain compliance with
these laws and regulations, it may not be possible to quantify with certainty the potential impact of actions involving envi matters, p
and other compliance efforts that we may undertake in the future.

BACKLOG

We sell our towers under either supply agreements or individual purchase orders (“POs”), depending on the size and duration of the purchase commitment.
Under the supply agreements, we typically receive a purchase commitment for towers to be delivered in future fiscal quarters, then receive POs on a periodic basis
depending upon the customer’s forecast of production volume requirements within the contract terms. For our Gearing and Industrial Solutions segments, sales are
generally based on individual POs. As of December 31,2024, the dollar amount of our backlog based on unfulfilled POs and supply agreements was approximately
$125 million. This represents a 31% decrease from the backlog at December 31, 2023. Backlog as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is net of revenue recognized over time as
described in Note 2, “Revenues” of our consolidated financial statements.

SEASONALITY
The majority of our business is not affected by seasonality.
EMPLOYEES

We had 411 U.S.-based employees at December 31, 2024, of which 366 were in manufacturing related functions and 43 were in administrative functions. As of
December 31, 2024, approximately 18% of our employees were covered by collective bargaining agreements with local unions in our Cicero, Illinois and Neville Island,
Pennsylvania locations. We anticipate that the collective bargaining agreements with our union members will be renewed through contract rencgotiation near the
contract expiration dates, although there can be no assurance that any such agreements will be concluded. The collective bargaining agreement with the Neville Island
union was renegotiated in November 2022 and is expected to remain in effect through October 2026. A four-year collective bargaining agreement in regard to the Cicero,
Illinois facility was negotiated in February 2022 and is expected to remain in effect through February 2026. We believe that our relationship with our employees is
generally positive. The table below summarizes our employees as of December 31,2024:

Number of Employees As of

Segment December 31, 2024
Heavy Fabrications
Gearing 112
Industrial Solutions 50
Corporate i

Total a1
RAW MATERIALS

The primary raw material used in the construction of heavy fabrication and gearing products is steel in the form of plate, bar stock, forgings and castings. The

market for tower steel and internal packages has become increasingly globalized. Although we are generally responsible for procurement of the raw materials, our global
tower customers often negotiate the prices and terms for purchases, and, through a “directed buy”, we purchase under these agreements. We have legal title to the raw.
‘materials and pass the raw material cost through to our end customer plus a conversion margin.

Outside of these directed buys, we operate a multiple supplier sourcing strategy and source our raw materials through various supplicrs located throughout the
U.S. and abroad. We do not have long term supply agreements with our raw material suppliers, and closely match terms with those of our customers to limit our exposure
to commodity price fluctuations. We have made modifications to our supply chain management practices to deal more effectively with potential disruptions arising from
these purchasing practices.

QUALITY CONTROL

We have a long-standing focus on processes for ensuring the manufacture of high-quality products. To achieve high standards of production and operational
quality, we implement strict and extensive quality control and inspections throughout our production processes. We maintain internal quality controls over all core
manufacturing processes and carry out quality assurance inspections at the completion of each major manufacturing step to ensure the quality of our products. The
‘manufacturing process at our Gearing segment, for example, involves transforming forged steel into precision gears through cutting, heat treating, testing and finishing.
We inspect and test raw materials before they enter the assembly process, retest the raw materials after rough machining. test the functioning of gear teeth and cores
after thermal treatment and accuracy test final outputs for compliance with product specifications. We believe our investment in industry leading heat treatment, high
precision machining, specialized grinding technologies and cutting-edge welding has contributed to our high product reliability and the consistent performance of our
products under varying operating conditions. All of our core operating facilities are ISO 9001:2015 certified. Our Gearing segment is also AS9100D certified as of August
2024 and has the ability to produce aerospace components. Additionally, our Gearing and Heavy Fabrications segments completed International Traffic in Arms
Regulations registrations in 2024 to protect the intellectual property of our defensc customers. We will continue our efforts to achieve the highest quality standards.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS

We utilize standardized information technology systems across all areas of quoting and estimating, enterprise resource planning, materials resource planning,
capacity planning and accounting, project execution and financial controls. We provide information technology oversight and support from our corporate headquarters
in Cicero, IL. The operational information systems we employ throughout the Company are industry-specific applications that in some cases have been internally
developed or modified by the vendor and improved to fit our operations. Our enterprise resource planning software is integrated with our operational information
systems wherever possible to deliver relevant and real-time operational data. We believe our information systems provide our people with the tools to execute their
individual job function and achicve our strategic initiatives.

'WORKING CAPITAL

We sell to a broad range of industrial customers. In general, we produce to order rather than to stock. For wind towers, our largest product line, the industry
has historically used customized contracts with varying terms and conditions between suppliers and customers, depending on the specific objectives of each party. Our
practices mirror this historical industry practice of negotiating agreements on a case- by-case basis. As a result, working capital needs, including levels of accounts
receivable (“A/R”), accounts payable (“A/P"), and inventory, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter based on the contractual terms associated with each
quarter’s sales, such as whether and when we are required to purchase and supply steel to meet our contractual obligations. Customer deposits can vary significantly
from quarter to quarter based on customer mix, contractual terms associated with cach quarter’s sales and the timing impacts associated with customers placing orders
for future production. In recent years, our larger customers have increasingly used supplier financing programs, whereby a third-party lender advances customer
payments to us net of an interest charge. The combination of customer deposits and supplier financing programs arrangements may significantly reduce our working
capital requirements.

In analyzing our liquidity, an important short-term metric is our use of operating working capital (*OWC”) in relation to revenue. OWC is comprised of A/R and
inventories, net of A/P and customer deposits. Our OWC at December 31, 2024 was $19.287, or 14% of trailing three months of sales annualized, compared to December
31,2023, when OWC was $19.408, or 10% of trailing three months of sales annualized. The decrease in OWC was driven primarily by lower accounts receivable
balances.



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Our principal executive office is located at 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, IL 60804. Our phone number is (708) 780-4800 and our website address is

www.bwen.com.
'OTHER INFORMATION

On our website at wiww. bwen.com, we make available under the “Investors” menu selection, free of charge, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon
as reasonably practicable after such reports or amendments are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™). Also, the
SEC maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information that we file electronically with the SEC.

From time to time, we also provide additional information about the Company and its activities on the “Investors” section of our website, which we encourage
investors to review. The information contained or incorporated on our website is not a part of this document.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS
OPERATIONAL RISKS
We may be unable to keep pace with rapidly changing technology in wind turbine and other industrial component manufacturing.

‘The global markets for wind turbines and our other manufactured industrial components are rapidly evolving technologically. Our component manufacturing
equipment and technology may not be suited for future generations of products being developed by wind turbine companies. As turbines grow in size, particularly to
support the development of offshore windfarms, tower i becomes more and may require in new i equipment. For
example, some wind turbine manufacturers are using wind turbine towers made partially or wholly from concrete instead of steel. Additionally, we continue to evaluate
the implementation of emerging technologies such as generative artificial intelligence and machine learning into our products and services. Such technologies present
unique business opportunities along with rapidly changing legal and regulatory risks, and we may not be able to anticipate vulnerabilities, flaws or security threats
resulting from the use of such technology and develop adequate protection measures. To maintain a successful business in our field, we must keep pace wit
technological developments and the changing standards of our customers and potential customers and meet their constantly evolving demands. If we fail to
adequately respond to the technological changes in our industry, make the necessary capital investments or are not suited to provide components for new types of
wind turbines, our business, financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.

We are substantially dependent on a few significant customers and the ordering levels for our products may vary based on customer needs. Further, we face
significant risks associated with changes in our relationship with these significant customers.

Historically, the majority of our revenues are highly concentrated with a limited number of customers. Some of the markets we serve have a limited number of
customers. In 2024, one customer, GE Vernova, accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues, and our five largest customers accounted for 73% of our
consolidated revenues. Certain of our customers have periodically expressed their intent to scale back, delay or restructure existing customer agreements, which has led
to reduced revenues from these customers and periodic deviations in expected ordering levels. It is possible that this may occur again in the future. Additionally, not all
of our customers make purchases every year. As a result, our operating profits and gross margins have historically been negatively affected by significant variability in
production levels, which has created production volume inefficiencies in our operations and cost structures. Because of this variability, we believe that comparisons of
our operating results in any particular quarterly period may not be a reliable indicator of future performance.

Additionally. if our relationships with our significant customers should change materially, it could be difficult for us to immediately and profitably replace lost
sales in a market with such concentration, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating and financial results. We could be adversely impacted by
decreased customer demand for our products due to (i) the impact of current or future economic conditions on our customers, (i) our customers’ loss of market share to
their competitors that do not use our products, and (iii) our loss of market share with our customers. We could lose market share with our customers to our competitors
or to our customers themselves, should they decide to become more vertically integrated and produce the products that we currently provide.

In addition, even if our customers continue to do business with us, we could be adversely affected by a number of other potential developments with our
customers. For example:

‘The inability or failure of our customers to meet their contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and
results of operations and in the event of a dispute, these customers may have more significant resources than we do, which could result in protracted
litigation and the incurrence of material costs.

Certain customer contracts provide the customer with the opportunity to cancel a substantial portion of its volume obligation by providing us with notice
of such election prior to commencement of production. Such contracts generally require the customer to pay a sliding cancellation fee based on how far in
advance of commencement of production such notice is provided

If we are unable to deliver products to our customers in accordance with an agreed-upon schedule, we may become subject to liquidated damages
provisions in certain supply agreements for the period of time we are unable to deliver finished products. Although the liquidated damages provisions are
generally capped, they can become significant and may have a negative impact on our profit margins and financial results.

A material change in payment terms with a significant customer could have a material adverse effect on our short-term cash flows.

‘The concentration of our customer base may enable our customers to demand pricing and other terms unfavorable to us and make us more vulnerable to
changes in demand by or issues with a given customer.

Because our industry is capital intensive and we have significant fixed and semi-fixed costs, our profitability is sensitive to changes in volume.

‘The property, plants and equipment needed to manufacture products for our customers and provide our processes and solutions can be very expensive. We
must spend a substantial amount of capital to purchase and maintain such property, plant and equipment. Although we believe our current cash balance, along with our
projected internal cash flows and available financing sources, will provide sufficient cash to support our currently anticipated operating and capital needs, if we are
unable to generate sufficient cash to purchase and maintain the property, plant and equipment necessary to operate our business, we may be required to reduce or delay
planned capital expenditures or to incur additional indebtedness.

We face significant risks associated with uncertainties resulting from changes to policies and laws with the periodic changes in the U.S. administration.

Changes of administration in the U.S. federal government may affect our business in a manner that currently cannot be reliably predicted. especially given the
potentially significant changes to various laws and regulations that affect us. These uncertainties may include changes in laws and policies in areas such as corporate
taxation, taxation and tariffs on imports of onally sourced products, trade including trade treaties such as the United States-Mexico-Canada
Agreement, environmental protection and workplace safety laws, labor and employment law, immigration and health care. For example, President Trump has indicated
that his administration is likely to impose significant tariffs on imported goods. The imposition of such tariffs may strain international trade relations or impact costs of
raw materials. Additionally, an advisory commission, the “Department of Government Efficiency” was announced to reform federal government processes and reduce
expenditures. Pressures on and uncertainty surrounding the U.S. federal government’s budget, and potential change in budgetary priorities could adversely affect
individual programs and delay purchasing or payment decisions by certain of our customers. All of these uncertainties may individually or in the aggregate materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Disruptions in the supply of parts and raw materials, or changes in supplier relations, may negatively impact our operating results.

We are dependent upon the supply of certain raw materials used in our production process. and these raw materials are exposed to price fluctuations on the
open market. Raw material costs for materials such as steel, our primary raw material, have fluctuated significantly and may continue to fluctuate. To reduce price risk
caused by market fluctuations, we have generally tried to match raw material purchases to our sales contracts or incorporated price adjustment clauses in our contracts.
However, limitations on availability of raw materials or increases in the cost of raw materials (including stcel), energy, transportation and other necessary services may
impact our operating results if our manufacturing businesses are not able to fully pass on the costs associated with such increases to their respective customers.
Alternatively, we will not realize material improvements from any decline in steel prices as the terms of our contracts generally require that we pass these cost savings
through to our customers. In addition, we may encounter supplier constraints, be unable to maintain favorable supplier arrangements and relations or be affected by
disruptions in the supply chain caused by events such as natural disasters. pandemics, shipping delays. power outages and labor strikes. Additionally, our supply
has become more glabal in nature and, thus, more complex from a shipping and logistics perspective. In the event of limitations on availability of raw materials or
s and profitability could be negatively impacted.
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We rely on unionized labor, the loss of which could adversely affect our future success.

We depend on the services of unionized labor and have collective bargaining agreements with certain of our operations workforce at our Cicero, Illinois and
Neville Island, Pennsylvania Gearing facilities. The loss of the services of these and other personnel, whether through terminations, attrition, labor strike or otherwise, or
our collective bargaining agreements, including a significant increase in labor costs, could have a material adverse impact on us and our future
profitability. In November 2022, a four-year collective bargaining agreement was ratified by the collective bargaining union in our Neville Island facility and will remain in
effect through October 2026. A four-year collective bargaining agreement in regard to the Cicero, Illinois facility was negotiated in February 2022, and is expected to
remain in effect through February 2026. Any failure to negotiate and conclude a new collective bargaining agreement with a union when the applicable agreement expires
could result in strikes, boycotts, or other labor disruptions. As of December 31,2024, these collective bargaining units represented approximately 18% of our workforce.

Our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel at competitive cost could adversely affect our business.

Many of the products we sell, and related services that we provide require that we have skilled labor in our manufacturing facilities.
The availability of labor in the markets in which we operate has declined in recent years and competition for such labor has increased, especially under current
inflationary pressures. A significant increase in wages paid by competitors, both within and outside the energy industry, for such work force could result in
insufficient availability of workers or increase our labor costs, or both. In the event prevailing wage rates continue to increase in the markets in which we operate, we
may be required to concurrently increase the wages paid to our employees to maintain the quality of our workforce and customer service. If the supply of
skilled labor is constrained or our costs of attracting and maintaining a workforce increase, our profit margins could decrease, and our growth potential and brand
image could be impaired.



If our estimates for warranty expenses differ materially from actual claims made, or if we are unable to reasonably estimate future warranty expense for our
products, our business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We provide warranty terms generally ranging between one and five years to our customers depending upon the specific product and terms of the customer
agreement. We reserve for warranty claims based on prior experience and estimates made by management based upon a percentage of our sales revenues related to suc
products. From time to time, customers have submitted warranty claims to us. However, we have a limited history on which to base our warranty estimates for certain of
our manufactured products. Our assumptions could materially differ from the actual performance of our products in the future and could exceed the levels against which
we have reserved. In some instances, our customers have interpreted the scope and coverage of certain of our warranty provisions differently from our interpretation of
such provisions. The expenses associated with remediation activities in the wind energy industry can be substantial, and if we are required to pay such costs in
connection with a customer’s warranty claim, we could be subject to additional unplanned cash expenditures. If our estimates prove materially incorrect, or if we are
required to cover remediation expenses in addition to our regular warranty coverage, we could be required to incur additional expenses and could face a material
unplanned cash expenditure, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Market disruptions and volatility may result in an
increased likelihood of our customers asserting warranty or remediation claims in connection with our products that they would not ordinarily assert in a more stable
economic environment. In the event of such a claim, we may incur costs if we decide to compensate the affected customer or to engage in ltigation with the affected
customer regarding the claim. We maintain product liability insurance, but there can be no guarantee that such be available or adequate to protect against
such claims. A successful claim against us could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business and result in the ise of ial i ion and changes in i
regulations, policies and contractual obligations could adversely affect our business.

security and privacy laws,

Our business is at risk from and may be impacted by information security incidents, including attempts to gain unauthorized access to our confidential data and
data systems, ransomware, malware, business email compromise, phishing attacks, and other electronic security events, which are increasing in frequency and
sophistication. Such incidents can range from individual atiempts to gain unauthorized access to our information technology systems to more sophisticated security
threats. They can also result from internal compromises, such as human error, or malicious acts. While we seek to employ measures to prevent, detect, and mitigate these
threats, there is no guarantee such efforts will be successful in preventing a cyber event. Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business and compromise
confidential information belonging to us and third parties.

Certain of our suppliers and third parties we transact business with may receive information provided by us or by our customers and may also be at risk and
impacted by cybersecurity incidents. If these third parties fail to adhere to adequate data security practices, or in the event of a breach of their networks, our own and
our customers’ data may be improperly accessed, used or disclosed. Further, these third parties may incorporate generative artificial intelligence into their operations,
and these generative artificial intelligence tools may not meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards with respect to privacy and data protection.

Additionally, the legal and regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy in the U.S. and international jurisdictions is constantly
evolving. Violation or non-compliance with any of these laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation and financial conditions,
as well as subject us to significant fines, third party damages and other liability.

See Item 1C of this Form 10-K, “Cybersecurity,” for more information on our cybersecurity risk management and governance.
Recent increases in inflation and interest rates in the United States and elsewhere could adversely affect our busines;

We are exposed to fluctuations in inflation and interest rates, which could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The
United States and other jurisdictions have recently experienced high levels of inflation. If the inflaion rate continues o increase, it will likely continue to affect our
expenses, including, but not limited to, employee compensation and labor expenses and increased costs for su and we may not be successful in offsetting such
cost increases. In addition, historically we have carried a significant amount of variable rate debt which is subject to fluctuations in interest rates. Certain government
agencies, including the U.S. Treasury, have previously implemented and may implement policies that have resulted and may continue to result in significantly increased
interest rates and borrowing costs. Recent increases in interest rates will result in increased interest expense to the extent we cannot limit our debt balances. A severe or
prolonged economic downturn, whether due to inflationary pressures, increased interest rates, or otherwise, could result in a variety of risks to our business, including
weakened demand for our products.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRIES
Our financial and operating performance is subject to certain factors out of our control, including the state of the wind energy market in North America.
Our results of operations (like those of our customers) are subject to general economic conditions, and specifically to the state of the wind energy market. In

addition to the state and federal government policies supporting renewable energy described below, the growth and development of the larger wind energy market in
orth America is subject to a number of factors, including, among other things:

o the availability and cost of financing for the estimated pipeline of wind energy development projects;

o the cost of clectricity, which may be affected by a number of factors, including government regulation, power transmission, scasonality, fluctuations in
demand, and the cost and availability of fuel, particularly natural gas;

o the cost of raw materials used to make wind turbines, particularly steel;

o the general increase in demand for electricity or “load growth:”

o the costs of competing power sources, including natural gas, nuclear power, solar power and other power sources;

o the development of new power generating technology, advances in existing technology or discovery of power generating natural resources;

. of electrical

o state and federal laws and regulations regarding avian protection plans and noise or turbine setback requirements;

o other state and federal laws and regulations, particularly those favoring low carbon energy generation alternatives;

o administrative and legal challenges to proposed wind energy development projects;

« the effects of global climate change such as more frequent or more extreme weather events, changes in temperature and precipitation patterns, changes to
ground and surface water and other related phenomena;

o the improvement in efficiency and cost of wind energy, as influenced by advances in turbine design and operating efficiencies; and

o public perception and localized community responses to wind energy projects.

Consolidation among wind turbine manufacturers could increase our customer concentration and/or disrupt our supply chain relationships.

Wind turbine manufacturers are among our primary customers. There has been among these and m idation may ocur in
the future. Customer consolidation may result in pricing pressures, leading to downward pressure on our margins and profits, and may o disrupt our supply chain
relationships.
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We face competition from industry participants who may have greater resources than we do.

Our businesses are subject to risks associated with competition from new or existing industry participants who may have more resources and better access to
capital. Certain of our and potential ‘may have greater financial resources, customer support, technical and marketing resources,
larger customer bases, longer operating histories, greater name recognition and more established relationships in the industry than we do. Among other things, these
industry participants compete with us based upon price, quality, location and available capacity. We cannot be sure that we will have the resources or expertise to
compete successfully in the future. We also cannot be sure that we will be able to match cost reductions by our competitors or that we will be able to succeed in the face
of current or future competition.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CORPORATE STRATEGY
Our plans for growth and diversification may not be successful, and could result in poor financial performance.

We continue to seek to strategically diversify and grow the businss to improve operational efficiency and meet customer demand. Our diversification efforts

into natural gas turbine power generation (also known as acroderivatives), defense, mining, precision machining, O&G and other power generation markets may require
additional investments in personnel, cquipment and operational infrastructure. Moreover, although we have historically participated in most of these lines of business,
there is no assurance that we will be able to grow our presence in these markets at a rate sufficient to compensate for a potentially weaker wind energy market. If we are
unable to further penetrate these markets, our plans to diversify our operations may not be successful and our anticipated future growth may be adversely affected.

Our growth efforts through increased production levels at existing facilities, acquisitions and continuous improvement activities such as the proper
coordination and integration of the supply chain, the consistent use of systems with respect to production activities, the Advanced Product Quality Processes (APQP)
to support the introduction of new products, and the hiring of continuous improvement experts to optimize our production processes, will require coordinated efforts
across the Company and continued enhancements to our current operating infrastructure. If the cost of making these changes increases or if our efforts are
unsuccessful, the Company may not realize anticipated benefits and our future camings may be adversely affected.

Our diversification outside of the wind energy market exposes us to business risks associated with the gas turbine, 0&G, and mining industries, among others,
which may slow our growth or penetration in these markets.

Although we have experience in the gas turbine, O&G and mining industry markets, these markets have not historically been our primary focus. In further
diversifying our business to serve these markets, we face competitors who may have more resources, longer operating histories and more well-established relationships
than we do, and we may not be able to successfully or profitably gencrate additional business opportunities in these industries. Morcover, if we are able to successfully
diversify into these markets, our businesses may be exposed to risks associated with these industries, which could adversely affect our future eamings and growth.
‘These risks include, among other things

Variability in the prices and relative demand for oil, gas, minerals and other commodities;

The cyclical nature of certain markets (i.e., the O&G market);

Changes in domestic and global political and economic conditions affecting the O&G and mining industries:

Changes in technology;

Changes in the price and availability of alternative fuels and energy sources and changes in energy consumption or supply: ai

Changes in federal, state and local regulations, including, among other regulations, relating to hydraulic fracturing and greenhouse gas cmissions.



If our projections regarding the future market demand for our products are inaccurate, our operating results and our overall business may be adversely affected.

We have previously made significant capital investments in anticipation of rapid growth in the U.S. wind energy market. However, the growth in the U.S. wind
energy market has not kept pace with our expectations when some of these capital investments were made, and there can be no assurance that the U.S. wind energy
market will grow and develop in a manner consistent with our expectations, or that we will be able to fill our capacity through the further diversification of our
operations. Our internal manufacturing capabilities have required significant upfront capital costs. If market demand for our products does not increase at the pace we
have anticipated and align with our manufacturing capacity, we may be unable to offset these costs and achieve cconomies of scale, and our operating results may
continue to be adversely affected by high fixed costs, reduced margins and underutilization of capacity which may prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability.
In light of these considerations, we may be forced to reduce our labor force and production to minimum levels, as was done at certain operating locations in the past,
temporarily idle existing capacity or sell to third parties manufacturing capacity that we cannot utilize in the near term, in addition to the steps that we have already taken
to adjust our capacity more closely to demand. Alternatively. if we experience rapid increased demand for our products in excess of our estimates, or we reduce our
manufacturing capacity, our installed capital equipment and existing workforce may be insufficient to support higher production volumes, which could adversely affect
our customer relationships and overall reputation. In addition, we may not be able to expand our workforce and operations in a timely manner, procure adequate
resources or locate suitable third-party supplicrs to respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing products or to the demand for new products requested by
our customers, and our business could be adversely affected. Our ability to meet such excess customer demand could also depend on our ability to raise additional
capital and effectively scale our manufacturing operations.

Additionally, most of our customers do not commit to long-term contracts or firm production schedules, and accordingly, we frequently experience volatile lead-
times in customer orders. Additionally, customers may change production quantities or delay production with little advance notice. Therefore, we rely on and plan our
production and inventory levels based on our customers” advance orders, commitments and/or forecasts, as well as our internal assessments and forecasts of customer
demand. The variations in volume and timing of sales make it difficult to schedule production and optimize utilization of manufacturing capacity. This uncertainty may
require us to increase staffing and incur other expenses in order to meet an unexpected increase in customer demand, potentially placing a significant burden on our
resources. An inability to respond to such changes in a timely manner may also cause customer dissatisfaction, which may negatively affect our customer relationships.

Our growth strategies could be ineffective due to the risks of acquisitions and risks relating to integration.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring complementary businesses. In regards to any other future acquisitions, we could fail to identify, finance or complete
suitable acquisitions on acceptable terms and prices, particularly with interest rates at comparatively high levels. Acquisitions and the related integration processes
could increase a number of risks, including diversion of operations personnel, financial personnel and management’s attention, difficulties in integrating systems and
operations, potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies and exposure to unanticipated liabilities. The price we pay for a business may
exceed the value realized and we cannot provide any assurance that we will realize the expected synergies and benefits of any acquisitions. Our discovery of, or failure
to discover, material issues during due diligence investigations of acquisition targets, cither before closing with regard to potential risks of the acquired operations, or
after closing with regard to the timely discovery of breaches of representations, warranties or covenants, could materially harm our business. Our failure to meet the
challenges involved in integrating a new business to realize the anticipated benefits of an acquisition could cause an interruption or loss of momentum in our existing
activities and could adversely affect our profitability. Acquisitions also may result in the recording of goodwill and other intangible assets which are subject to potential
impairments in the future that could diminish our reported earnings and operating results.

We are subject to risks associated with proxy contests and other actions of activist stockholders.

Publicly traded companies have increasingly become subject to campaigns by activist investors advocating corporate actions such as governance changes,
financial restructurings, increased borrowings, special dividends, stock repurchases or even sales of assets or entire companies to third parties or the activists
themselves. In 2023, WM Argyle Fund, LLC (“WM Argyle”) submitted a notice to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) purporting to nominate a slate of six
candidates for election as directors at our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. We did not reach an agreement with WM Argyle in connection with its nomination,
and there was a contested election at the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, in which none of WM Argyle’s candidates were elected as directors. The
cumulative cost to the Company of responding to the proxy contest was approximately $1.8 million. We value input from all stockholders and remain open to ongoing
engagement with our stockholders.

A proxy contest or related activities on the part of activist stockholders could adversely affect our business for a number of reasons, including, without
limitation, the following:

 Responding to proxy contests and other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting our operations and diverting the attention
of our Board, management and our employees:

o Perceived uncertaintics as to our future dircction may result in the loss of potential business opportunities and may make it more difficult to attract and retain
qualified personnel, business partners, customers and others important to our success, any of which could negatively affect our business and our results of
operations and financial condition;

e Action by activist stockholders may be exploited by our competitors, cause concern to our current or potential customers and make it more difficult to attract and
retain qualified personnel;

® A successful proxy contest could result in a change in control of our Board, and such an event could subject us to certain contractual obligations under several
key agreements, including our existing Amended and Restated 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2015 EIP”), and underlying award agreements and
certain employment and lease agreements;

o If nominees advanced by activist stockholders are elected or appointed to our Board with a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively and
timely implement our strategic plans or to realize long-term value from our assets, and this could in turn have an adverse effect on our business and on our results of
operations and financial condition; and

 Proxy contests may cause our stock price to experience periods of volatility.

FINANCIAL RISKS
We have generated substantial net losses since our inception.

Historically, we have had several years in which we have experienced operating losses. We have incurred significant costs in connection with the development
of our businesses, and because we have operated at low-capacity utilization in certain facilities, there is no assurance that we will generate sufficient revenues to offset
anticipated operating costs. Although we anticipate deriving revenues from the sale of our products, no assurance can be given that these products can be sold on a
profitable basis. We cannot give any assurance that we will be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future.

We may continue to incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we
‘may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown factors.

We have significant indebtedness and we may incur additional debt in the future. Servicing our indebtedness requires a significant amount of cash, and the terms of
our current indebtedness, and the terms of any future indebtedness, may restrict the activities of the Company.

We have significant indebtedness, including the indebtedness under the 2022 Credit Facility (as defined and further discussed in Note 10 “Debt and Credit

 of our financial Our debt obligations could potentially have important consequences to us and our investors, including: (1)
requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to make debt service payments or to refinance our indebtedness as it becomes due, making it more
difficult for us to satisfy our other priorities and obligations; (2) resulting in higher interest expenses, (3) increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and
industry conditions; (4) reducing the cash flows available to fund capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to grow our business: (5) limiting our flexibility
in pursuing strategic opportunities or planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry: (6) placing us at a competitive disadvantage relative to our
competitors that may not be as highly leveraged: and (7) limiting our ability to borrow additional funds as needed or take advantage of business opportunities as they
arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase shares.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness depends on our future performance, which is
subject to economic, financial, competitive, regulatory factors, and factors beyond our control. Our cash flow from operations in the future may be insufficient to service
our indebtedness, including if our actual cash requirements in the future are greater than expected. If we arc unable to generate the necessary cash flow, we may be
required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt, incurring new debt or issuing additional equity on terms that may be unfavorable,
onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness or incur new debt will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We
‘may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

As described in Note 10 “Debt and Credit Agreements” of our consolidated financial statements, the agreements governing our indebtedness contain
covenants restricting our operations and limiting our financial flexibility. In addition, some of the agreements governing our indebtedness require that we maintain
minimum EBITDA requirements, not exceed a maximun fixed charge coverage ratio and contain certain customary events of default. Our ability to comply with such
restrictions and covenants may be affected by various factors, some of which factors may be beyond our control. If we breach any of these restrictions or covenants
and do not obtain a waiver from the lenders or holders, as applicable, then, subject to the applicable cure periods and conditions, any outstanding indebtedness could
be declared immediately due and payable.

Our PPP Loans were forgiven, but we may still be subject to audit and any resulting adverse audit findings of non-compliance could result in the repayment of a
portion or all of the PPP Loans and may restrict our flexibility in operating our business or otherwise adversely affect our results of operations.

On April 15, 2020, we received funds under notes and related documents (“PPP Loans”) with CIBC Bank, USA under the Paycheck Protection Program (the
“PPP"), which was established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), as amended by the Paycheck Protection Program
Flexibility Act of 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”). We received total proceeds of
$9,530 from the PPP Loans and made repayments of $379 on May 13, 2020. We used at least 60% of our PPP Loan proceeds to pay for payroll costs and the balance on
other cligible qualifying expenses that we believe to be consistent with the PPP.



During the second quarter of 2021, all of our PPP Loans were forgiven by the SBA. However, the U.S. Department of the Treasury has announced that it will
conduct audits for PPP Loans that exceed $2,000 for a period of six years after forgiveness. Should we be audited or reviewed by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or
the SBA, such audit or review could result in the diversion of management’s time and atiention and cause us to incur significant costs. If we were to be audited and
receive an adverse outcome in such an audit, we could be required to return the full amount of the PPP Loans and may potentially be subject to civil and criminal fines
and penalties. If it is subsequently determined that the PPP Loans must be repaid, we may be required to use a substantial portion of our available cash and/or cash
flows from operations to pay interest and principal on the PPP Loans, and any future repayment of such loans, would adversely impact our operations and financial
results.

RISKS RELATED TO OWNING OUR COMMON STOCK
There is a limited trading market for our securities and the market price of our securities is subject to volatility.

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market. Historically, we have not had an active trading market for our common stock. The absence of an active
trading market increases price volatility and reduces the liquidity of our common stock. The market price and level of trading of our common stock could be subject to
wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include, among other things, our limited trading volume, actual
or anticipated variations in our operating results and cash flow, the nature and content of our earnings releases, announcements or events that impact our business and
the general state of the securities market, as well as general economic, political and market conditions and other factors that may affect our future results. In 2024, the
closing price of our common stock varied from a high of $4.42 per share to a low of $1.55 per share. Stockholders may have incurred substantial losses with regard to any
investment in our common stock adversely affecting stockholder confidence.

Limitations on our ability to utilize our NOLs may negatively affect our financial results.

We may not be able to utilize all of our NOLs. For financial statement presentation, all benefits associated with the NOL carryforwards have been reserved:
therefore, this potential asset is not reflected on our balance sheet. To the extent available, we will use any NOL carryforwards to reduce the U.S. corporate income tax
liability associated with our operations. However, if we do not achieve sufficient profitability prior to their expiration, we will not be able to fully utilize our NOLS to
offset income. Section 382 of the IRC (“Section 382”) generally imposes an annual limitation on the amount of NOL carryforwards that may be used to offset taxable
income when a corporation has undergone certain changes in stock ownership. Our ability to utilize NOL carryforwards and built-in losses may be limited, under Section
382 or otherwise, by our issuance of common stock or by other changes in ownership of our stock. After analyzing Section 382 in 2010, we determined that aggregate
changes in our stock ownership had triggered an annual limitation of NOL carryforwards and built-in losses available for utilization to $14,284 per annum. Although this
event limited the amount of pre ownership change date NOLs and built- in losses we can utilize annually, it does not preclude s from fully utilizing our current NOL
carryforwards prior to their expiration. However, subsequent changes in our stock ownership could further limit our ability to use our NOL carryforwards and our income
could be subject to taxation earlier than it would if we were able to use NOL carryforwards and built-in losses without an annual limitation, which could result in lower
profits. To address these concerns, in February 2013 we adopted a Section 382 Stockholder Rights Plan, which was subsequently approved by our stockholders and
extended in 2016, 2019, and 2022 for additional three-year periods (as amended, the “Rights Plan”), designed to preserve our substantial tax assets associated with NOL
carryforwards under Section 382. The Rights Plan is intended to deter any person or group from being or becoming the beneficial owner of 4.9% or more of our common
stock and thereby triggering a further limitation of our available NOL carryforwards. On February 3, 2025, the Board approved an amendment which included an
extension of the Rights Plan for an additional three years. The amendment is subject to approval by our stockholders at our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. See
Note 14, “Income Taxes™ of our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our Rights Plan. There can be no assurance that the Rights Plan will be
effective in protecting our NOL carryforwards or that it will be approved by our stockholders at our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Additionally, because the
Rights Plan subjects any person that acquires 4.9% of our common stock without the Board’s permission to significant dilution, it could make it harder for a third party
to acquire us without the consent of the Board. In particular, the Rights Plan may deter a third party from completing or even initiating an acquisition of the Company.
which may prevent stockholders from realizing a control premium from a potential acquirer, or from otherwise maximizing stockholder value.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RISKS

Any failure to protect our customers’ intellectual property that we use in the products we manufacture for them could harm our customer relationships and subject
us to liability.

The products we manufacture for our customers often contain our customers” intellectual property, including copyrights, patents, trade secrets and know-how.
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our customers” intellectual property. The steps we take to protect our customers” intellectual property may not
adequately prevent its disclosure or misappropriation. If we fail to protect our customers” intellectual property, our customer relationships could be harmed and we may
experience difficulty in new customer ips. Additionally, our customers might pursue legal claims against us for any failure to protect their
intellectual property, possibly resulting in harm to our reputation and our business, financial condition and operating results.

We may not be able to protect important intellectual property and we could incur substantial costs defending against claims that our products infringe on the
proprietary rights of others.

Our ability to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary system level systems designs and
processes. While we have attempted to safeguard and maintain our proprietary rights, we do not know whether we have been or will be successful in doing so.

Further, our competitors may independently develop or patent technologies or processes that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours. If we are found
to be infringing third-party patents, we could be required to pay substantial royalties and/or damages, and we do not know whether we will be able to obtain licenses to
use such patents on acceptable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain needed licenses could delay or prevent the development, manufacture or sale of our products, and could
necessitate the expenditure of significant resources to develop or acquire non infringing intellectual property.

We may need to pursue lawsuits or legal action in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to determine the validity and scope of the
proprietary rights of others. Litigation and other proceedings, even if they are successful, are expensive to pursue and time consuming, and we could use a substantial
amount of our management and financial resources in cither case.

Confidentiality agreements to which we are party may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. Our trade secrets may also be
known without breach of such or may be i developed by Our inability to maintain the proprictary nature of our technology and
processes could allow our competitors to limit or eliminate any competitive advantages we may have,

LEGAL, TAX, REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE RISKS

The U.S. wind energy industry is significantly impacted by tax and other economic incentives. A significant change in these incentives could significantly impact
our results of operations and growth.

We sell towers to wind turbine manufacturers who supply wind energy generation facilities. The U.S. wind energy industry is significantly impacted by federal
tax incentives and state Renewable Portfolio Standards (“RPSs”). Despite recent reductions in the cost of wind energy. due to variability in wind quality and
consistency, and other regional differences, wind energy may not be economically viable in certain parts of the country absent such incentives. These programs have
provided material incentives to develop wind energy generation facilities and thereby impact the demand for our products. The increased demand for our products that
generally results from the credits and incentives could be impacted by the expiration or curtailment of these programs.

One such federal government program, the PTC, provides a supplemental payment based on lectricity produced from each qualifying wind turbine. Legislative
support for the PTC has been intermittent since its introduction in 1992, which has caused volatility in the demand for new wind energy projects. In 2015, the PTC was
extended for a five-year period, with a time-based phase-out depending on the year the wind project is commenced. The phase-out schedule legislated in 2015 provided
for: 100% extension of the credit for projects commenced before the end of 2016, 80% extension of the credit for projects commenced in 2017, 60% extension of the credit
for projects commenced in 2018 and 40% extension of the credit for projects commenced in 2019. As part of a year-end tax extenders bill in 2019, the PTC was extended
for an additional year, allowing for a 60% extension of the credit for projects commenced before the end of 2020.

On December 27, 2020, COVID IV was signed into law. As part of COVID IV, the PTC was extended for an additional year, allowing for a 60% credit for projects
that start construction by the end of 2021. In order to benefit from the PTC, qualifying projects must either be completed within four years from their start of
construction, or the developer must demonstrate that its projects are in continuous construction between start of construction and completion. As a result of COVID IV,
the PTC will subsidize wind projects commenced as late as 2021 and completed by 2025, or later if continuous construction can be demonstrated. The PTC tax benefits
are available for the first ten years of aperation of a wind energy facility, and also applies to significant redevelopment of existing wind energy facilities. Included in
COVID 1V is the addition of a new 30% ITC created for offshore wind projects that start construction by the end of 2025. The provision will be retroactively applied to
projects that started production in 2016.

On August 16, 2022, the IRA was enacted to reduce inflation and promote clean energy in the United States. The IRA modifies and extends the PTC until the
later of 2032 or when greenhouse gas emissions have been reduced by 75% compared to 2022. It provides for tax credits up to a maximum of 30%, adjusted for inflation
annually, for electricity generated from qualified renewable energy sources where taxpayers meet prevailing wage standards and employ a sufficient proportion of
qualified apprentices from registered apprenticeship programs. It also provides a bonus credit for qualifying clean energy production in energy communities.

The IRA also includes AMP credits for manufacturers of eligible components, including wind and solar components. Manufacturers qualify for the

AMP credits based on the electricity output for each component produced and sold in the US starting in 2023 through 2032. The credit amount varics based on the
eligible component, which includes solar components, wind energy components, inverters, qualifying battery components, and critical minerals. Tower manufacturers
are eligible for credits of $0.03 per watt for applicable components produced. Manufacturers can elect a direct pay option where they can receive a payment equal to the
full value of the tax credits from the Internal Revenue Service anytime during the ten-year period. That election lasts for five years, after which the AMP credits can be
used against tax obligations or transferred to third parties in exchange for cash. We expect certain financial benefits as a result of tax incentives provided by the IRA. If
these expected financial benefits vary significantly from our assumptions, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Any
modifications to the law or its effects arising, for example, through (i) technical guidance and regulations from the IRS and U.S. Treasury Department, (ii) subsequent
amendments to or interpretations of the law, and/or (iif) future laws or regulations rendering certain provisions of the IRA less effective or ineffective, in whole or in part,
could result in material adverse changes to the benefits we have recognized and expect to recognize.

Several significant administrative law cases were decided by the U.S. Supreme Court in 2024, most notably Loper Bright Enterprises V. Raimondo. In Loper
Bright, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the U.S. Administrative Procedure Act requires that courts exercise their independent judgment when deciding whether a
federal agency has acted within its statutory authority, and not to defer to an agency interpretation solely because a statute is ambiguous. These decisions may result in
additional legal challenges to regulations and guidance issued by federal regulatory agencies, including the IRS, which the Company relies on and intends to rely on in
the future. Successful challenges of certain regulations, any increased regulatory uncertainty, or delays or other impacts to the federal agency rulemaking process could
adversely impact our business and operations.

RPSs generally require or encourage state regulated electric utilities to supply a certain proportion of electricity from renewable energy sources or to devote a
certain portion of their plant capacity to renewable energy generation. Typically, utilitics comply with such standards by qualifying for renewable energy credits
evidencing the share of electricity that was produced from renewable sources. Under many state standards, these renewable energy credits can be unbundled from their
associated energy and traded in a market system, allowing generators with insufficient credits to meet their applicable state mandate. These standards have spurred
significant growth in the wind energy industry and a corresponding increase in the demand for our products. Currently, the majority of states have RPSs in place and
certain states have voluntary utility commitments to supply a specific percentage of their electricity from renewable sources. The enactment of RPSs in additional states
or any changes to existing RPSs (including changes due to the failure to extend or renew the federal incentives described above), or the enactment of a federal RPS or
imposition of other greenhouse gas regulations, may impact the demand for our products. We cannot assure that government support for renewable energy will
continue including any assurance regarding the adoption of any of the clean energy provisions of former President Biden’s Build Back Better agenda. The elimination
of or reduction in, state or federal government policies that support renewable energy could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations,
financial performance and future development efforts.



Changes to trade regulation, quotas, duties or tariffs, and sanctions caused by changing U.S. and geopolitical policies, may impact our competitive position or
adversely impact our margins.

Renewed surges of unfairly traded imports continue to threaten our business segments. If existing antidumping and countervailing duty orders were removed
or revoked we would expect a renewed surge of unfairly traded imports. While future trade actions on inputs such as steel may affect our pricing, the continued
presence of unfairly traded imports in the market may hamper our ability to pass those price increases along. Additionally, the existence of government subsidies
available to our competitors in certain countries may affect our ability to compete on a price basis.

Additionally, the war in Ukraine has led to economic sanctions imposed against Russia by the U.S. and certain European nations, including a prohibition on
doing business with certain Russian companics which may have led to, or may lead to, certain retaliatory trade restrictions from Russia. Such sanctions may impact
companies in many sectors and has lead to volatility of prices in the global energy industry and disruption and volatility in the U.S. and global markets. There is a
possibility that such sanctions or trade restrictions may be expanded, or new sanctions or trade restrictions may be imposed by the U.S., Russia, China or other
countries, which could further disrupt supply chains and increase volatility of pricing. The extent and duration of the war and extent and strength of the sanctions are
still developing, and the corresponding effect on the Company remains uncertain. Certain other geopolitical conflicts, including the war between Isracl and Hamas has
also lead to material disruptions to certain supply chains and volatility in prices.

We could incur substantial costs to comply with environmental, health and safety (“EHS”) laws and regulations and to address violations of or liabilities under
these requirements.

Our operations are subject to a variety of EHS laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate and sell products governing, among other things,
health, safety, pollution and protection of the environment and natural resources, including the use, handling, transportation and disposal of non-hazardous and
hazardous materials and wastes, as well as emissions and discharges into the environment, including discharges to air, surface water, groundwater and soil, product
content, performance and packaging. We cannot guarantee that we have been, or will at all times be in compliance with such laws and regulations. Changes in existing
EHS laws and regulations, or their application, could cause us to incur additional or unexpected costs to achieve or maintain compliance. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations, obtain the necessary permits to operate our business, or comply with the terms and conditions of such permits may subject us to a variety of

civil and criminal measures, including the imposition of civil and criminal sanctions, monetary fines and penalties, remedial obligations, and
the issuance of compliance requirements limiting or preventing some or all of our operations. The assertion of claims relating to regulatory compliance, on or off-site
contamination, natural resource damage, the discovery of previously unknown environmental liabilities, the imposition of criminal or civil fines or penalties and/or other
sanctions, or the obligation to undertake investigation, remediation or monitoring activities could result in potentially significant costs and expenditures to address
contamination or resolve claims or liabilities. Such costs and expenditures could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. Under certain circumstances, violation of such EHS laws and regulations could result in us being disqualified from eligibility to receive federal government
contracts or subcontracts under the federal government’s debarment and suspension system.

We also are subject to laws and regulations that impose liability and cleanup responsibility for releases of hazardous substances into the environment. Under
certain of these laws and regulations, such liabilities can be imposed for cleanup of currently and formerly owned, leased or operated properties, or properties to which
hazardous substances or wastes were sent by current or former operators at our current or former facilities, regardless of whether we directly caused the contamination
or violated any law at the time of discharge or disposal. Several of our facilities have a history of industrial operations, and contaminants have been detected at some of
our facilitics. The presence of contamination from hazardous substances or wastes could interfere with ongoing operations or adversely affect our ability to sell, leasc or
use our properties as collateral for financing. We also could be held liable under third-party claims for property damage, natural resource damage or personal injury and
for penalties and other damages under such environmental laws and regulations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. During 2024, we did not incur significant remediation costs or penalties related to environmental matters.

Our ability to comply with regulatory requirements and potential envi social and (“ESG”) and trends is critical to our future

success, and there can be no guarantee that our businesses are in full compliance with all such requirements.

As a manufacturer and distributor of wind and other energy industry products we are subject to the requirements of federal, state, local and foreign regulatory
authorities. In addition, we are subject to a number of authorities setting industry standards, such as the American Gear Manufacturers Association and the American
Welding Society. Changes in the standards and requirements imposed by such authorities could have a material adverse effect on us. In the event we are unable to meet
any such standards when adopted, our businesses could be adversely affected. We may not be able to obtain all regulatory approvals, licenses and permits that may be
required in the future, or any necessary modifications to existing regulatory approvals, licenses and permits. or maintain all required regulatory approvals, licenses and
permits. There can be no guarantee that our businesses are fully compliant with such standards and requirements.

Additionally, other ESG-related laws, regulations, treaties, and similar initiatives and programs are being proposed, adopted and implemented throughout the
world. If we were to violate or become liable under environmental or certain ESG-related laws or if our products become non-compliant with such laws or market access
requirements, our customers may refuse to purchase our products, and we could incur costs or face other sanctions, such as restrictions on our products entering
certain jurisdictions, fines, and/or civil or criminal sanctions. In addition to potential implementation of ESG laws, investor advocacy groups, certain institutional
investors, investment funds, other market participants, political figures, stockholders, and customers have focused increasingly on the ESG practices of companies,
including those associated with climate change. If our ESG practices do not meet investor or other industry stakeholder expectations and standards, which continue to
evolve, our brand, reputation and employee retention may be negatively impacted based on an assessment of our ESG practices.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Risk Management and Strategy

We rely on information systems to obtain, rapidly process, analyze, and manage data in order to effectively operate our business. We are committed to
protecting our business information, intellectual property, customer, supplier and employee data and information systems from cybersecurity risks and maintain an
active cybersecurity risk management program.

We maintain enterprise-wide information security policies. processes and standards that set the requirements around acceptable use of information systems
and data, risk assessment and management, identity and access management, data security, sccurity operations, security incident response and threat and vulnerability
‘management. We work to align to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 800-171 Cybersecurity Framework, as its program controls are designed to
protect and maintain confidentiality, integrity, and continued availability of our data and information systems. Our team of information system professionals and third-
party providers monitors our information systems for cybersecurity threats, breaches, intrusions and other weaknesses, responds to cybersecurity incidents, develops
and implements plans to mitigate cybersecurity threats and facilitates training for our employees.

We also engage consultants and other third-party advisors to conduct i of our readiness and control effectiveness. In
collaboration with our third-party providers, we seek to gain insights into emerging threats and vulnerabilities, industry trends, and leading practices to inform
our cybersecurity response.

For more on the Company’s lated risks, see Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Form 10-K.

‘Governance

Management plays a critical role in assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our Director of Information Technology leads an intenal
team and works directly with our third-party security to manage our risk program and activities. This includes
‘monitoring our information systems for cybersecurity threats, reviewing cybersecurity incidents, analyzing emerging threats, and the development and implementation
of risk mitigation strategics

Our Director of Information Technology reports directly to our executive leadership team on eybersccurity matters, providing the leadership team with updates
on enterprise risks, cybersecurity incidents, the status of ongoing initiatives, key metrics, and additional cybersecurity topics. Our information technology team, led by
the Director of Information Technology. meets regularly to discuss the progress of ongoing program initiatives, cybersecurity priorities, identified risks and metrics.

The Board of Directors exercises direct oversight of strategic risks to the Company. The Board has delegated the responsibility for cybersecurity oversight to
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing and discussing with management the strategies, process and controls pertaining to the
‘management of information technology operations, including cybersecurity risks and information security. The Director of Information Technology reports to the Audit
Committee annually and more frequently, as needed, on cybersecurity matters, including the eybersceurity threat landscape, key metrics demonstrating the overall

of our risk and risk program, relaled key iniitives,enterprise program framework alignment, annual risk mitigation strategy, and
review of eybersecurity incidents. Our Board is committed to 1l and posture, engaging through regular and requested
updates on our strategy and evolving threat landscape.




ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Cicero, Illinois, a suburb located west of Chicago, Illinois. In addition, the Subsidiaries own or lease operating
facilities, which are presented by operating segment as follows (information below is as of December 31, 2024).

Owned / Approximate
Operating Segment and Facility Type Location Leased Square Footage
Heavy Fabrications (1)

Tower Manufacturing Manitowoc, WI Leased 214,000
‘Tower Manufacturing Abilene, TX Owned 175,000
Industrial Fabrications Manufacturing Manitowoc, WI Leased 92,000
Gearing and Corporate

Gearing System Machining and Corporate Cicero, IL Leased 301,000
Gearing System Manufacturing—Heat Treatment and Gearbox Repair Neville Island, PA Owned 52,000
Industrial Solutions

Industrial Solutions Manufacturing Sanford, NC Leased 105,000

(1) The Heavy Fabrications segment listing does not include the tower storage yards of 40 acres in Manitowoc, W1 and 25 acres in Abilene, TX.
We consider our active facilities to be in good condition and adequate for our present and future needs.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are party to a variety of legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While the results of these legal proceedings cannot be
predicted with certainty, management believes that the final outcome of these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on our
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, there can be no assurance that the resolution of any particular claim
or proceeding would not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. It is possible that if one or more of such matters
were decided against us, the effects could be material to our results of operations in the period in which we would be required to record or adjust the related liability and
could also be material to our financial condition and cash flows in the period in which we would be required to pay such liability.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable,
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PARTII
(Dollar amounts are presented in thousands, except per share data and unless othervwise stated)
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market (“NASDAQ"™) under the symbol “BWEN.” The following table sets forth the high and low bid
prices of our common stock traded on the NASDAQ.

‘Common Stock

High
2024
First quarter $ 270§ 22
Second quarter 442 208
Third quarter 366 207
Fourth quarter 223 155
Common Stock
High Low.
2023
First quarter s 59§ 177
Second quarter 520 335
Third quarter 459 310
Fourth quarter 346 205
‘The closing price for our common stock as of February 28, 2025 was $1.57. As of February 28, 2025, there were 50 holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and have no current plan to do so in the foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of
dividends on our common stock are subject to the discretion of our Board and are further limited by our credit agreement and other contractual agreements we may have
in place from time to time. The decision of our Board to pay future dividends will depend on general business conditions, the effect of a dividend payment on our
financial condition, and other factors our Board may consider relevant. The current policy of our Board is to reinvest cash generated in our operations to promote future
growth and to fund potential investments.

Repurchases
There were no repurchases of our equity securities made during the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities for the years ended December 31,2024 or 2023.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part 111, ltem 12 “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
for information as of December 31, 2024 with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing share-based compensation plans.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
[RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As used in this Annual Report, the terms “we,
headquartered in Cicero, lllinois, and its Subsidiaries.

roadwind,” and the “Company” refer o Broadwind, Inc., a Delaware corporation

(Dollar amounts are presented in thousands, except per share data and unless otherwise stated)

We booked $107,813 in net new orders in 2024, up from $101.060 in 2023. Within our Heavy Fabrications segment, orders increased 7% over the prior year
reflecting an increase in orders associated with wind repowering projects, partially offset by a decrease in industrial fabrication product line orders primarily due to
reduced demand for our PRS units. Gearing segment orders increased 7% from the prior year primarily due to improved demand from industrial and afiermarket
wind customers, partially offset by reduced demand from O&G customers. Industrial Solutions segment orders increased by 6% in 2024 from the prior year primarily due
to an increase in orders associated with new gas turbine projects, partially offset by reduced demand for aftermarket projects.

We recognized revenue of $143,136 in 2024, down 30% from revenue of $203.477 in 2023. Heavy Fabrications segment revenues decreased 38% primarily due
10 2 41% decrease in wind revenue as a global wind turbine manufacturer shified approximately half of ts contracted tower section orders initially planned for 2024 into
2025. Additionally, industrial fabrication product line revenues decreased primarily due to lower shipments of our PRS units in the current year. Gearing segment revenue
decreased 22% relative to 2023 primarily due to reduced shipments to O&G and steel customers, partially offset by increased shipments to aftermarket wind customers.
Industrial Solutions segment revenue increased 4% from the prior year primarily duc to increased shipments to new and aftermarket gas turbine customers, partially
offset by decreased shipments to international customers.

We reported net income of $1,152 or $0.05 per share in 2024, compared to net income of $7.649 or $0.36 per share in 2023 primarily due to lower sales and the
corresponding decrease in the “AMP credits” recognized in the current year.

In January 2023, we announced that we had entered into a supply agreement for wind tower purchases valued at approximately $175 million with a leading
global wind turbine manufacturer. Under the terms of the supply agreement, order fulfillment was to occur beginning in 2023 through year-end 2024, In early November
2023, the parties jointly agreed to shift approximately half of the contracted tower section orders initially planned for 2024 into 2025, while maintaining the total number
of tower sections stipulated under the supply agreement.

During 2024 and 2023, we recognized gross AMP credits totaling $9,588 and $14,493, respectively, within the Heavy Fabrications segment. These
AMP eredits were introduced as part of the IRA, which was enacted on August 16, 2022. The IRA includes advanced manufacturing tax credits for manufacturers of
cligible components, including wind and solar of wind qualify for the AMP credits based on the total rated capacity, expressed
on a per watt basis, of the completed wind turbine for which such component is designed. The credit applies to each component produced and sold in the U.S.
beginning in 2023 through 2032. Wind towers within the Company’s Heavy Fabrications segment are cligible for credits of $0.03 per watt for cach wind

tower produced. In calculating the eligible credit, we relied on the megawatt rating provided by the customer. Manufacturers who qualify for the AMP credits can apply
to the Internal Revenue Service for cash refunds of the AMP credits or sell the AMP credits to third parties for cash, or apply the AMP credits against taxable income.
We recognized the AMP credits as a reduction to cost of sales in our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The assets
related to the AMP credits are recognized as current assets in the “AMP credit receivable” line item in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and
2023.

On December 21, 2023, we entered into an agreement to sell 2023 and 2024 AMP credits to a third party. At that time, we sold a portion of the gross 2023 eredits
in the amount of $6,952 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the sale in the amount of $452 which was recognized in cost of sales. In addition, we wrote down the
remaining receivable of $7,541 to net realizable value and recorded the expected loss on sale of $490 in cost of sales. The remaining 2023 AMP credit receivable was
collected during the first quarter of 2024. We also incurred other miscellanous administrative costs related to selling the credits in the amount of $254, $197 of which
has been recorded as cost of sales, with the remaining capitalized and included in the “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” line item of our consolidated financial
statements at December 31, 2023,

During 2024, we recognized gross AMP credits totaling $9,588 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the credits totaling $623, which was recognized in cost of
sales. We also incurred other miscellaneous administrative costs related to the credits in the amount of $146, which have been recorded as cost of sales.
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We usc our credit facility to fund working capital requircments and believe that our credit facility, together with the operating cash generated by our
businesses, and any potential proceeds from access to the public or private debt or equity markets, are sufficient to meet all cash obligations over the next twelve
months. On December 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding under our senior secured revolving credit facility, $7.578 outstanding under our senior secured term
loan, $7,721 of cash on hand, with the ability to borrow an additional $24,901. For a further discussion of our capital resources and liquidity, including a description of
recent amendments and waivers under our credit facility, please see the discussion under “Liquidity, Financial Position and Capital Resources” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

KEY METRICS USED BY MANAGEMENT TO MEASURE PERFORMANCE

In addition to measures of financial performance presented in our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAP"), we use certain othe financia measures 1o analyze our performance. These non-GAAP financial measures primarily consist of adjusied EBITDA
(earnings before interest, income taxes, i ion and other stock payments, restructuring costs, impairment charges, proxy
contest-related expenses, and other non-cash gains and losses) and free cash flow which help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, assess operational
efficiencies, oversee our overall liquidity, and evaluate our overall financial performance.

Key Financial Measures

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023
Net revenues B 143136 S 203477
Net income $ 112§ 7649
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ 13325 § 21474
Capital expenditures $ 3618 S 6405
Free cash flow (2) $ 9987 § (3:843)
Operating working capital (3) s 19287 § 19.408
Total debt s 919 12,153
Total orders S 107813 § 101,060
Backlog at end of period (4) s 125455 § 183,088
Book-to-bill (5) 08 05

(1) We provide non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA as supplemental information regarding our business performance. Our management uses adjusted EBITDA when they
internally evaluate the performance of our business, review financial trends and make operating and strategic decisions. We believe that this non-GAAP financial
measure is useful to investors because it provides a better understanding of our past financial performance and future results, and it allows investors to evaluate

using the same and as used by our Our definition of adjusted EBITDA may be different from similar non-
GAAP financial measures used by other companies and/or analysts.
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(2) We define fiee cash flow as adjusted EBITDA plus or minus changes in operating working capital less capital expenditures net of any proceeds from disposals of
property and equipment. We believe free cash flow is a useful measure for investors because it portrays our ability to generate cash from our business for purposes
such as repaying maturing debt and funding business acquisitions.

(3) We define operating working capital as accounts receivable and inventory net of accounts payable and customer deposits.

(4) Our backlog at December 31, 2024 and 2023 is net of revenue recognized over time. Backlog as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 has been adjusted to
reflect updated assumptions related to raw material pricing (which is a customer passthrough) and other variables.

(5) We define book-to-bill as the ratio of new orders we received, net of cancellations, to revenue during a period.

The following table reconciles our non-GAAP key financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measure:

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023

Net income from continuing operations 5 L2 § 7,649
Interest expense 3078 3201
Income tax provision 7 241
Depreciation and amortization 6684 6383
Share-based compensation and other stock payments 2347 2220
Proxy contest-related expenses (1) 1,780

Adjusted EBITDA 13,325 21,474
Changes in operating working capital 121 (18933)
Capital expenditures (3618) (6405)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 159 21

Free Cash Flow s 9,987 § (3.843)
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

The summary of selected financial data table below should be referenced in connection with a review of the following discussion of our results of operations
for the year ended December 31,2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 vs. 2023
% of Total % of Total
2024 Revenue 2023 Revenue $ Change % Change
Revenues 5 143,136 1000% S 203477 1000% § (60341) 7%
Cost of sales 121,947 85.2% 170,969 84.0% (49.022) (28.7)%
Gross profit 21,189 14.8% 32,508 160% (11319) (34.8)%
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 16303 114% 20705 102% (@402) @13)%
Intangible amortization 661 05% 664 0.3% 3) (0.5)%
Total operating expenses 16964 119% 21369 105% (3405) 206)%
Operating income 4225 30% 11139 55% (6914) (©21)%
Other expense, net
Interest expense, net (3078) 2% (3201) 16)% 12 38%
Other, net ) 01% @) 00% 127 2646%
“Total other expense, net (2.99) @)% (3249) (16)% 250 77%
Net income before provision for income taxes 1226 09% 789 39% (6664) (345)%
Provision for income taxes 7 01% 241 0.1% (167) (©3)%
T — 5 1152 08% § 7649 38% § 6497) (549)%

Consolidated

Revenues decreased by $60,341, or 30%, during the year ended December 31,2024 primarily due to decreased revenues within our Heavy Fabrications and
Gearing segments. Within our Heavy Fabrications segment, wind revenue decreased 41% from the prior year as a global wind turbine manufacturer shifted approximately
half of its contracted tower section orders initially planned for 2024 into 2025. Additionally, industrial fabrication product line revenues decreased 29% from the prior
year primarily due to reduced shipments of our PRS units in the current year. Gearing segment revenue decreased 22% relative to 2023 primarily due to
reduced shipments to O&G and steel customers, partially offsct by increased shipments to aftermarket wind customers. Industrial Solutions scgment revenue
increased 4% from the prior year primarily due to increased shipments to new and aftermarket gas turbine customers, partially offset by decreased shipments
to international customers.

Gross profit decreased by $11,319 during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior year primarily due to lower sales volumes within the Heavy
Fabrications and Gearing segments and the corresponding reduction in AMP credits recognized in the Heavy Fabrications segment, partially offset by reduced

overhead costs. As a result, our gross margin decreased from 16.0% for the year ended December 31, 2023, to 14.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Operating expenses as a percentage of sales increased to 11.9% in 2024 from 10.5% in 2023 primarily due to lower sales, partially offset by reduced proxy-
contest related expenses, and decreased incentive compensation.
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Net income decreased from $7,649 for the year ended December 31,2023 to S1,152 for the year ended December 31, 2024.The decrease in net income was
primarily due to the factors described above.

Heavy Fabrications Segment

The following table summarizes the Heavy Fabrications segment operating results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023
Orders s 5954 S 50594
Revenues 82657 133368
Operating income 7.128 15006
Operating margin 86% 113%

Heavy Fabrications orders increased 7% over the prior year primarily due an increase in orders associated with wind repowering projects. This was partially
offiet by a decrease in industrial fabrication product line orders due to reduced demand for our PRS units. Segment revenues decreased by 38% from the prior year
primarily due to a 41% decrease in wind revenue as a global wind turbine manufacturer shifted approximately half of its contracted tower section orders initially planned
for 2024 into 2025. Additionally, industrial fabrication product line revenues decreased from the prior year primarily due to reduced shipments of our PRS units in the
current year.

Heavy Fabrications segment operating results decreased by $7.878 as compared to the prior year. The decrease in operating performance was primarily a result
of lower tower sales and the corresponding reduction in AMP credits recognized, as well as lower industrial fabrication revenues. These factors were partially offset by
reduced overhead costs. Operating profit margin was 8.6% during the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 11.3% during the year ended December 31,2023,

Gearing Segment

The following table summarizes the Gearing segment operating results for the twelve months ended December 31,2024 and 2023:

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023
Orders s 26562 S 24814
Revenues 35588 45408
Operating (loss) income (138) 1846
Operating margin 04)% 41%

Gearing segment orders for the year ended December 31,2024 increased 7% compared to the year ended December 31,2023 primarily due to improved demand
from industrial and aftermarket wind customers, partially offset by reduced demand from O&G customers. Revenues decreased 22% during the year ended December 31,
2024 from the prior year primarily due to reduced shipments to O&G and steel customers, partially offset by increased shipments to aftermarket wind customers.
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The Gearing scgment's operating income decreased by $1.984 during the year ended December 31,2024 from the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily duc to
lower sales, partially offset by a more profitable product mix sold and cost savings. Operating margin was (0.4%) for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 4.1%
during the year ended December 31, 2023,
Industrial Solutions Segment

The following table summarizes the Industrial Solutions segment operating results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Year Ended
December 31,

2024

Orders
Revenues

Operating income
Operating margin

Industrial Solutions segment orders increased by 6% for the year ended December 31,2024 from the prior year primarily due to an increase in orders associated
with new gas turbine projects. partially offset by reduced demand for aftermarket projects. Segment revenue increased 4% from the prior year primarily due to increased
shipments to new and aftermarket gas turbine customers, partially offset by reduced shipments to international customers. The improvement in operating income during
the year ended December 31, 2024 was a result of higher sales and a more profitable mix of product sold. The operating margin decreased from 12.6% during the year
ended December 31,2023, to 12.5% during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Corporate and Other

Corporate and Other expenses decreased by $2,854 during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily due to reduced professional fees associated with the
contested proxy election and lower incentive compensation.

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying our critical accounting policies have a significant impact on the results that we report in our
financial statements. Some of our accounting policies require us to make difficult and subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding
‘matters that are inherently uncertain.
We have identified the accounting policies listed below to be critical to obtain an understanding of our consolidated financial statements. This section should

also be read in conjunction with Note 1, “Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to our consolidated financial
statements for further discussion of these and other significant accounting policies.
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services s transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Control is typically transferred upon shipment or delivery depending on the terms of the contract or
under the terms of the bill and hold arrangements discussed below. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct product or service to the
customer. Customer deposits and other receipts are deferred and recognized when the revenue is realized and carned. Cash payments to customers, like those made for
liquidated damages, are presumed to be classified as reductions of revenue in our statement of operations.

In many instances within our Heavy Fabrications segment, wind towers as well as certain sales within our Gearing segment, are sold under terms included in bill
and hold sales arrangements that result in different timing for revenue recognition versus shipment, due to our customers’ preference to ship products in batches to
support efficient construction of wind farms. We recognize revenue under these when there is a substantive reason for the (ic., the buyer
requests the arrangement), the ordered goods are segregated from inventory and not available to fill other orders, the goods are currently ready for physical transfer to
the customer, and we do not have the ability to use the product or to direct it to another customer. Assuming these required revenue recognition criteria are met, revenue
i recognized upon completion of product manufacture and customer acceptance.

During 2024 and 2023, we also recognized revenue over time, versus point in time, when products in the Heavy Fabrications segments had no alternative use to
us and we had an enforceable right to payment, including profit, upon termination of the contract by the customer. Since the projects are labor intensive, we use labor
hours as the input measure of progress for the contract. Contract assets are recorded when performance obligations are satisfied but we are not yet entitled to payment.
We recognize contract assets associated with this revenue which represents our rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the end of the period.

Warranty Liability

We provide warranty terms that generally range from one to five years for various products relating to workmanship and materials supplied by us. In certain
contracts, we have recourse provisions for items that would enable us to seek recovery from third parties for amounts paid to customers under warranty provisions. We
estimate the warranty acerual based on various factors, including historical warranty costs, current trends, product mix and sales.

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods. Raw materials consist of components and parts for general production use. Work-in-
process consists of labor and overhead, processing costs, purchased subcomponents, and materials purchased for specific customer orders. Finished goods consist of
components purchased from third parties as well as components manufactured by us.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Where necessary, we have recorded a reserve for the excess of cost over net realizable value
in our inventory allowance. Net realizable value of inventory, and management’s judgment concerning the need for reserves, encompasses consideration of many
business factors including physical condition, inventory holding period, contract terms and usefulness. Inventories are valued based either on actual cost or using a
firstin, first out method.
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Long-Lived Assets

We review property and equipment and other long-lived assets (“long-lived assets”) for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Due to triggering events identified within our segments at various times in the past, we continue to evaluate the recoverability
of certain of the long-lived assets. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not identify any triggering events within our segments and no impairment

expense was recorded.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes based upon an asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the future tax consequences of the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities versus the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets
are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The impact of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the year that the change is enacted.

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income tax liability for each of the tax jurisdictions
in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current income tax expense and assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of
certain income or expense items for income tax reporting and financial reporting purposes. We also recognize the expected future income tax benefits of

NOL carryforwards as deferred income tax assets. In evaluating the realizability of deferred income tax assets associated with NOL carryforwards, we consider, among
other things, expected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary reporting differences, and the expected impact of tax planning
strategies that may be implemented to prevent the potential loss of future income tax benefits. Changes in, among other things, income tax legislation, statutory income
tax rates or future taxable income levels could materially impact our valuation of income tax assets and liabilities and could cause our income tax provision to vary
significantly among financial reporting periods.

We also account for the uncertainty in income taxes related to the recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in an income tax
return. We follow the applicable guidance on i ification, interest and penaltics, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, an
transition related to the uncertainty in these income tax positions.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

On August 4, 2022, we entered into a credit agreement (as amended, the “2022 Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender
(“Wells Fargo”), providing the Company and its subsidiaries with a $35,000 senior secured revolving credit facility (which may be further increased by up to an
additional $10,000 upon the request of the Company and at the sole discretion of Wells Fargo) and a §7.578 senior secured term loan (collectively, as amended. the 2022
Credit Facility”). The proceeds of the 2022 Credit Facility are available for general corporate purposes, including strategic growth opportunities. As of December 31,
2024, cash totaled $7,721. Debt and finance lease obligations at December 31, 2024 totaled $15,239 and we had the ability to borrow up to $24.901 under the 2022 Credit
Facility.

In addition to the 2022 Credit Facility, we also utilize supply chain financing arrangements as a component of our funding for working capital, which accelerates
receivable collections and helps to better manage cash flow. Under these agreements, we have agreed to sell certain of our accounts receivable balances to banking
institutions who have agreed to advance amounts equal to the net accounts receivable balances due, less a discount as set forth in the respective agreements. The
balances under these agreements are accounted for as sales of accounts receivable, as they are sold without recourse. Cash proceeds from these agreements are
reflected as operating activities included in the change in accounts receivable in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Fees incurred in connection with the
agreements are recorded as interest expense.

On September 22, 2023, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on Octaber 12, 2023 (the “Form S-3") and which will expire on October 12, 2026, replacing a prior shelf registration statement which expired on October 12, 2023.
“This shelf registration statement, which includes a base prospectus, allows us to offer any combination of securities described in the prospectus in one or more
offerings. Unless otherwise specified in the prospectus supplement accompanying the base prospectus, we would use the net proceeds from the sale of any securities
offered pursuant to the shelf registration statement for general corporate purposes.

On September 12, 2022, we entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Roth Capital Partners, LLC and HC Wainwright & Co., LLC
(collectively, the “Agents™). Pursuant to the terms of the Sales Agreement, we may sell from time to time through the Agents shares of our common stock, par value
$0.001 per share with an aggregate sales price of up to $12,000. We will pay a commission to the Agents of 2.75% of the gross proceeds of the sale of the shares sold
under the Sales Agreement and reimburse the Agents for the expenses incident to the performance of their obligations under the Sales Agreement. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, we issued 100,379 shares of our common stock under the Sales Agreement and the net proceeds (before upfront costs) to us from the
sale of our common stock were approximately $323 after deducting commissions paid of approximately $9 and before deducting other expenses of $93. No shares of
our common stock were issued under the Sales Agreement during the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023. As of December 31, 2024, shares of our common stock
having a value of approximately $11,667 remained available for issuance under the Sales Agreement. Any additional shares offered and sold under the Sales Agreement
are (o be issued pursuant to the Form S-3 and a 424(b) prospectus supplement.

We anticipate that we will be able to satisfy the cash requirements associated with, among other things, working capital needs, capital expenditures and lease
commitments through at least the next twelve months primarily through cash generated from operations, available cash balances, our Credit Facility. sales of shares
under the Sales Agreement, additional equipment financing, and access to the public or private debt and/or equity markets, including the option to raise additional
capital from the sale of our securities under the Form S-3, and proceeds from sales of AMP credits.

Other

We have outstanding notes payable for capital expenditures in the amount of $1,618 and $1,361 as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively, with $371 and
$163 included in the “Line of credit and current maturities of long-term debt” line item of our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The notes payable have monthly payments that range from S1 to $20 and a weighted average interest rate of 7%. The equipment purchased is utilized as
collateral for the notes payable. The outstanding notes payable have maturity dates that range from September 2028 to June 2029.

Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023:

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023
Total cash provided by (used in) :
Operating activities $ 13806 § (6946)
Investing activities (3459) (6384)
Financing activities (3,725) 1,697
Net increase (decrease) in cash s 662 § (11.633)

Operating Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash provided by operating activities was $13,806 compared to net cash used by operating activities of $6,946 for
the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to an increase in cash related to customer
deposits in the current year, versus a significant decrease in cash related to customer deposits in the prior year. Additionally, we received proceeds from the sale of the
2023 AMP credits during the current year. Partially offsetting this was an increase in inventory during the current year as compared to a decrease in the prior year.

Investing Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31,2024, net cash used in investing activities was $3,459 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $6,384 for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in net purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31,2024, net cash used in financing activities totaled $3,725 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of
$1,697 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to decreased net borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facility in the current year period.

Contractual Obligations
We enter into a variety of contractual obligations as part of our normal operations in addition to capital expenditures. As of December 31,2024, we have (i) debt
obligations related to our Credit Facility and other notes payable as described in Note 10, “Debt and Credit Agreements” of our consolidated financial statements (ii)
cash payments for operating and finance lease obligations that are described in Note 11, “Leases” of our consolidated financial statements and (iif) purchase obligations
made in the normal course of business. We expect to fund these cash requirements primarily through cash generated from operations, available cash balances, our 2022
Credit Facility, sales of shares under the Sales Agreement, additional equipment financing, proceeds from sales of AMP credits, and access to the public or private debt
and/or equity markets, including the option to raise additional capital from the sale of our securities under a “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and as such are not required to provide information under this item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial information required by Item 8 is contained in Part IV, Item 15 “EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES” of this Annual Report.



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

TTEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

@  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We seek to maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms. Th is also and to including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO"), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our under the supervision and with the partici of our CEO
and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the most recent fiscal year reported on
herein. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,2024.

() Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

©  Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate interal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act).

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. Management
based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)" issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring O of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment determined that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to include an attestation report of our independent
registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

None of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b3-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b3-1 trading arrangement (as defined in
Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K) during the fourth quarter of 2024.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART I
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
With the exception of the description of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct below, the information required by this item is incorporated herein by

reference from the discussion under the headings “Directors and Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Executive Officers™ in our definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed in connection with our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2025 Proxy Statement”).

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the “Code”) that applies to all of our directors, executive officers and senior financial officers
(including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, and any person performing similar functions). The Code is
available on our website at wiw. bwen.com under the caption “Investors” and is available in print, free of charge, to any stockholder who sends a request for a paper
copy to Broadwind, Inc., Attn: Investor Relations, 3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, IL 60804. We intend to include on our website any amendment to, or waiver from,
a provision of the Code that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions, that relates to any element of the code of ethics definition enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K.

‘The Company has also adopted the Insider Trading Policy which governs the purchase, sale and/or other disposition of the Company’s securities by its
directors, officers and employees that is reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations. A copy of this policy is
filed as Exhibit 19 to this Annual Report.

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding director and executive compensation is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the headings “Directors and Director
Compensation,” “Exceutive Officers” and “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain of the information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Holders and Management™ in the 2025 Proxy Statement.



The following table provides information as of December 31, 2024, with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing equity

compensation plans:

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

(@ ®)

©

Number of securities
to be issued upon Weighted.

Number of securities
rem: ble for
future issuances under

exercise of exercise price of

equity
plans (excluding

outstanding options, outstanding options,  securities reflected in

Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 823808 (1) § 29 895406
Total S3808 S 296 895406

(1) Includes outstanding restricted stock awards pursuant to the 2015 EIP. This plan has been approved by our stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

“The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the headings “Certain Transactions and Business
Relationships™ and “Corporate Governance” in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

‘The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the heading “Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm™ in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements
The financial statements listed on the Index to Financial Statements (page 36) are filed as part of this Annual Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

These schedules have been omitted because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto or because they are
not applicable or not required.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the Index to Exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

“To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Broadwind, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Broadwind, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements
(collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly. in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally aceepted
in the United States of America

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly. we express no
such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The eritical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of eritical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below. providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.



Advanced Manufacturing Production Tax Credits

As described in Note 7 of the financial statements, in 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized gross Advanced Manufacturing Production tax credits (AMP Credits)
totaling 9,588,000 and $14,493,000, respectively, within the Heavy Fabrications segment. These AMP Credits were introduced as part of the Inflation Reduction Act
(IRA), which was enacted on August 16, 2022. Eligible manufacturers of wind components qualify for the AMP Credits based on the total rated capacity, expressed on
a per watt basis, of the completed wind turbine for which such component is designed. The credit applies to each component produced and sold in the U.S. beginning
in 2023 through 2032 Wind towers within the Company’s Heavy Fabrications segment are eligible for credits of $0.03 per watt for cach wind tower produced. In
calculating the eligible credit, the Company relied on the megawatt rating provided by the customer. Manufacturers who qualify for the AMP Credits can apply to the
Internal Revenue Service for cash refunds of the AMP Credits, sell the AMP Credits to third parties for cash, or apply the AMP Credits against taxable income. The
Company recognized the AMP Credits as a reduction to cost of sales in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023. The assets related to the AMP credits are recognized as current assets in the *AMP credit receivable” line item in the Company's consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

On December 21, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement to sell 2023 and 2024 AMP Credits to a third party. At that time, the Company sold a portion of the
gross 2023 credits in the amount of $6,952,000 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the sale in the amount of $452,000, which was recognized in cost of sales. In
addition, the Company wrote down the remaining receivable of $7.541,000 to net realizable value and recorded the expected loss on sale of $490,000 in cost of sales.
The remaining 2023 AMP credit receivable was collected during the first quarter of 2024. The Company also incurred other miscellaneous administrative costs related
to selling the credits in the amount of $254,000, $197,000 of which has been recorded as cost of sales, with the remaining capitalized and included in the “Prepaid
expenses and other current assets” line item of the Company's consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2023

During 2024, the Company recognized gross AMP credits totaling $9,588,000 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the credits totaling $623,000, which was recognized in
cost of sales. The Company also incurred other miscellaneous administrative costs related to the credits in the amount of $146,000, which have been recorded as cost
of sales.

On January 28, 2025, the Company entered into an agreement, pursuant to which, for cach of 2025 and 2026, the Company agreed to sell to a third party up to
$15,000,000 and $20,000,000, respectively, of AMP Credits. The purchaser will pay for the AMP Credits on a quarterly basis for AMP Credits generated in the
immediately preceding calendar quarter. The AMP Credits will be sold at a purchase price of $0.935 per $1.00 of AMP Credits.

‘The evaluation of the accounting, and subsequent sale of the AMP Credits involves judgement as there is no direct authoritative guidance under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP).

Changes in IRS and Department of the Treasury, or US GAAP guidance could have a significant impact on the accounting and presentation of AMP Credits in future
periods.

We identified accounting for the AMP Credits as a critical audit matter because of the high degree of judgement and involved in auditing s
assertions related to the accounting for the AMP Credits, the subsequent sale of the AMP Credits, and the presentation and disclosure of the transactions related t
the AMP Credits in the consolidated financial statements.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

‘The audit procedures performed related to the evaluation of management’s assertions regarding the accounting for the AMP Credits, the subsequent sale of the AMP
Credits, and the presentation and disclosure the AMP Credits, included the following, among others:

e Evaluated management’s application of IRS and Department of the Treasury regulations in determining the Company’s eligibility for the AMP Credits, and
in calculating the AMP Credit’s impact on the consolidated financial statements, by consulting with tax specialists along with reviewing and applying the

regulations in recalculating the value of the AMP Credits recognized.

o We evaluated management’s conclusions regarding the accounting for AMP Credits by reading and evaluating management’s documentation, including
relevant accounting policies.

e  Evaluated management’s conclusion that the AMP Credits are not taxable, by consulting with tax specialists.

Evaluated the financial statements, by consulting with tax specialists.

and accuracy of the disclosures in the
/s/RSM US LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.

Chicago, llinois
March 5, 2025

BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

As of December 31,
2024 2023
ASSETS
CCURRENT ASSETS:
Cash H 721§ 109
Accounts receivable, net 13454 19231
AMP credit receivable 2533 7051
Contract assets 836 1460
Inventories 39950 37405
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2374 3,500
Total current assets 66868 69.746
LONG-TERM ASSETS:
Property and equipment, net 45572 47123
Operating lease right-of-use assets 13,841 15,593
Intangible assets, net 1403 2064
Other assets 606 630
TOTAL ASSETS § 128290 § 135,156
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Line of credit and current maturities of long-term debt H 1454 S 5.903
Current portion of finance lease obligations 2266 2153
Current portion of operating lease obligations 2115 1851
Accounts payable 16080 20728
Accrued liabilities 3605 6471
Customer deposits 18,037 16,500
Total current liabilities 43557 53612
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 7742 6250
Long-term finance lease obligations, net of current portion 3777 3372
Long-term operating lease obligations, net of current portion 13,799 15,888
Other 15 15
Total long-term liabilities 25333 25525
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 43,000,000 shares authorized; 22,593,589 and 21,840,301 shares issued as of
December 31,2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively 23 2
Treasury stock, at cost, 273,937 shares as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (1.842) (1.842)
Additional paid-in capital 401,564 399,336
Accumulated deficit (340.345) (341497)
Total stockholders” equity 59.400 56019
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 128290 ' § 135,156

‘The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross profit
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling, general and administrative
Intangible amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME, net:
Interest expense, net
Other, net
Total other expense, net
Net income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
NETINCOME

NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE—BASIC:

Net income

BROADW!

, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

'WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING—BASIC

NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE—DILUTED:

Net income

'WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING—DILUTED

For the Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
143136 S 203477
121,947 170969

21189 32,508
16,303 20,705
661 664
16,964 21369
4225 11139
(3.078) (3201)
) “8)
29%9) (3249)
1226 7.890
g 241
1152 7,649
005 S 036
21,89 21,189
005§ 036
21975 21291

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BALANCE, December 31,2022

Stock issued for restricted stock

Stock issued under defined contribution 401(k)

retirement savings plan

Share-based compensation

Shares withheld for taxes in connection with

issuance of restricted stock

Net income

BALANCE, December 31,2023

Stock issued for restricted stock

Stock issued under defined contribution 401(k)

retirement savings plan

Share-based compensation

Shares withheld for taxes in connection with
issuance of restricted stock

Net income

BALANCE, December 31,2024

BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock

(In thousands, except share data)

Treasury Stock

Shares Issued Issued Additional Accumulated
Issued Amount Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Total
20127130 § 21 @73937) § (1842) § 397240 5 (349.146) S 46273
493,327 1 — — 618 — 619
380247 — — — 1336 — 1336
— — — — 877 — 877
(160,403) — = — (135) = (135)
7.649 7.649
21840301 § 2 @73937) § (1.842) § 399336 5 (341497) S 56019
240,397 — - — — - -
559,559 1 — — 1198 — 1199
— — — — 1160 — 1,160
(46,668) — = — (130) = (130)
1152 1152
22593589 § 23 @73937) § (1.842) § 401564 §  (340345) 5 59.400

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net cash provided by (used in) provided by operating activi
Depreciation and amortization expense
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Allowance for credit losses
Common stock issued under defined contribution 401(k) plan
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
AMP credit receivable
Contract assets
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Customer deposits
Other non-current assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
‘CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITI
(Payments on) proceeds from line of credit, net
Payments for deferred financing costs
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Principal payments on finance leases
Shares withheld for taxes in connection with issuance of restricted stock
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
CASH beginning of the period
(CASH end of the period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment additions via finance lease
Non-cash purchases of property and equipment
Settlement of incentive compensation liability with stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
s 1152 8 7.649
6.684 6383
— (10)
1,160 877
®) 82
1,199 1,336
(114) 2
5,782 (2.295)
4,518 (7,051)
624 495
(2.545) 6.857
1,126 (210)
(4.392) (6.008)
(2,872) 2,782
1537 (18.050)
(48) 175
13,806 (6.946)
(3,618) (6,405)
159 21
(3,459) (6,384)
(4.637) 4,705
(20) “8)
4,107 1,056
(1,399) (1.872)
(1,646) (1,409)
(130) (135)
(3.725) 1,697
6.622 (11.633)
1,09 12,732
S 7,721 § 1,099
s 1555 S 2073
s 192§ 17
N 1376 $ 719
s 257 482
s — s 619

BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Broadwind, Inc. (the “Company”) is a precision manufacturer of structures, equipment and components for clean tech and other specialized applications. The
Company provides technologically advanced high value products to customers with complex systems and stringent quality standards that operate in energy, mining
and infrastructure sectors, primarily in the United States of America (the “U.S.”). The Company’s most significant presence is within the U.S. wind energy industry,
although the Company has increasingly diversified into other industrial markets. Within the U_S. wind energy industry, the Company provides products primarily to
turbine manufacturers. The Company also provides precision gearing and heavy fabrications to a broad range of industrial customers for oil and gas (“O&G), mining,
steel and other industrial applications, in addition to supplying components for natural gas turbines. The Company has three reportable operating segments: Heavy
Fabrications, Gearing, and Industrial Solutions.

Heavy Fabrications

The Company provides large, complex and precision fabrications to customers in a broad range of industrial markets. The Company’s most significant presence
i within the U.S. wind energy industry, although it has diversificd into other industrial markets in order to improve capacity utilization, reduce customer concentrations,
and reduce exposure to uncertainty related to governmental policies currently impacting the U.S. wind energy industry. Within the U.S. wind energy industry, the
Company provides steel towers and adapters primarily to wind turbine manufacturers. Production facilities, located in Manitowoc, Wisconsin and Abilene, Texas, are
situated in close proximity to the primary U.S. domestic wind energy and equipment manufacturing hubs. The two facilities have a combined annual tower production
capacity of up to approximately 550 towers (1650 tower sections), sufficient to support turbines gencrating more than 1.7 GW of power (assuming a 3 MW tower). The
Company has expanded its production and leveraged fa including welding, lifting capacity and stringent quality practices, into
aftermarket and original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) components utilized in surface and underground mining, construction, material handling, O&G and other
infrastructure markets. The Company has designed and manufactures a mobile, modular pressure reducing system for the compressed natural gas virtual pipeline market.
‘The Company manufactures components for buckets, shovels, car bodies, drill masts and other products that support mining and construction markets. In other
industrial markets, the Company provides crane components, pressure vessels, frames and other structurs.
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BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Gearing

The Company provides gearing, gearboxes and precision machined components to a broad set of customers in diverse markets including; surface and
underground mining, wind energy. steel, material handling, infrastructure, onshore and offshore O&G fracking and drilling, marine, defense, and other industrial markets.
The Company has manufactured loose gearing, gearboxes and systems, and provided heat treat services for aftermarket and OEM applications for a century. The
Company uses an integrated manufacturing process, which includes machining and finishing processes in addition to gearbox repair in Cicero, Illinois, and heat
treatment and gearbox repair in Neville Island, Pennsylvania.

Industrial Solutions

The Company provides supply chain solutions, light fabrication, inventory management, kitting and assembly services, primarily serving the combined cycle
natural gas turbine market. The Company has recently expanded into the U.S. wind power generation market, by providing tower internals itting solutions for on-site
installations, as OEMs domesticate their supply chain due to lead time and reliability issues. The Company leverages a global supply chain to provide instrumentation &
controls, valve assemblies, sensor devices, fuel system components, electrical junction boxes & wiring, and electromechanical devices. The Company also provides
packaging solutions and fabricates panels and sub-assemblies to reduce customers’ costs, improve manufacturing velocity and reliability.

Liquidity

The Company meets its short term liquidity needs through cash generated from operations, its available cash balances, through its 2022 Credit Facility (as
defined and further discussed in Note 10 “Debt and Credit  of these idated financial equipment financing, access to the public and
private debt and/or equity markets, and has the option to raise capital under the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (as discussed below), and proceeds from
sales of Advanced Manufacturing Production tax credits (“AMP credits™) (discussed in Note 7 “AMP Credits™ of these consolidated financial statements). The
Company uses the 2022 Credit Facility to fund working capital requirements. Under the 2022 Credit Facility, borrowings are continuous and all cash receipts are usually
applied to the outstanding borrowed balance. As of December 31, 2024, cash totaled $7,721. The Company had the ability to borrow up to $24,901 under the 2022 Credit
Facility as of December 31, 2024.

‘The Company also utilizes supply chain financing arrangements as a component of its funding for working capital, which accelerates receivable collections and
helps to better manage cash flow. Under these agreements, the Company has agreed to sell certain of its accounts receivable balances to banking institutions who have
agreed to advance amounts equal to the net accounts receivable balances due, less a discount as set forth in the respective agreements. The balances under these
agreements arc accounted for as sales of accounts reccivable, as they are sold without recourse. Cash proceeds from these agreements are reflected as operating
activities included in the change in accounts receivable in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows. Fees incurred in connection with the agreements are
recorded as interest expense by the Company.

During the years ended December 31,2024 and December 31,2023, the Company sold account receivables totaling $56,632 and $40,343, respectively, related to
supply chain financing arrangements, of which customers” financial institutions applied discount fees totaling $1,474 and S858, respectively.
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BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Debt and finance lease obligations at December 31, 2024 totaled $15,239, which includes current outstanding debt and finance lease obligations totaling $3,720
‘The Company's outstanding debt includes $7.578 outstanding from the senior secured term loan under the 2022 Credit Facility. The Company had no amounts drawn on
the senior secured revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2024,

On September 22, 2023, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) on October 12, 2023 (the “Form S-3”), replacing a prior shelf registration statement which expired on October 12, 2023. This shelf registration statement,
which expires on October 12, 2026 and includes a base prospectus, allows the Company to offer any combination of securities described in the prospectus in one or
more offerings. Unless otherwise specified in the prospectus supplement accompanying the base prospectus, the Company would use the net proceeds from the sale of
any securities offered pursuant to the shelf registration statement for general corporate purposes.

On September 12, 2022, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Roth Capital Partners, LLC and HC Wainwright & Co., LLC
(collectively, the “Agents™). Pursuant to the terms of the Sales Agreement, the Company may sell from time to time through the Agents shares of the Company’s
common stock, par value $0.001 per share with an aggregate sales price of up to $12,000. The Company will pay a commission to the Agents of 2.75% of the gross
proceeds of the sale of the shares sold under the Sales Agreement and reimburse the Agents for the expenses incident to the performance of their obligations under the
Sales Agreement. During the year ended December 31,2022, the Company issued 100,379 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Sales Agreement and the
net proceeds (before upfront costs) to the Company from the sale of the Company’s common stock were approximately $323 afier deducting commissions paid of
approximately $9 and before deducting other expenses of $93. No shares of the Company’s common stock were issued under the Sales Agreement during the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. As of December 31, 2024, shares of the Company’s common stock having a value of approximately $11,667 remained available for
issuance under the Sales Agreement. Any additional shares offered and sold under the Sales Agreement are to be issued pursuant to the Form S-3 and a 424(b)
prospectus supplement.

In January 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into a supply agreement for wind tower purchases valued at approximately $175 million with a
leading global wind turbine manufacturer. Under the terms of the supply agreement, order fulfillment is to occur beginning in 2023 through year-end 2024, In carly
November 2023, the parties jointly agreed to shift approximately half of the contracted tower section orders initially planned for 2024 into 2025, while maintaining the
total number of tower sections stipulated under the supply agreement.

‘The Company anticipates that current cash resources, amounts available under the 2022 Credit Facility, sales of shares under the Sales Agreement, cash to be
generated from operations and equipment financing, any potential proceeds from the sale of further Company securities under the Form S-3, and proceeds from sales of
AMP credits will be adequate to meet the Company’s liquidity needs for at least the next twelve months.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts, which are not material, have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation in the consolidated financial statements and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting P
Management’s Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics and the disclosure of contingent liabilitics as of the date of the financial statements
and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Significant estimates, among others, include inventory reserves, warranty reserves,
impairment of long-lived assets. allowance for credit losses, and valuation allowances on deferred taxes. Although these estimates are based upon management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions that the Company may undertake in the future, actual results could differ from these estimates
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BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Cash

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, cash totaled $7,721 and $1,099, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, interest income
was §7 and S8, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are generally recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Control is typically transferred upon shipment or delivery depending on the terms of the
contract or under the terms of the bill and hold arrangements discussed below. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct product or
service to the customer. Customer deposits, deferred revenue and other receipts are deferred and recognized when the revenue is realized and carned. Cash payments to
customers are presumed to be classified as reductions of revenue in the Company’s statement of operations.

For substantially all tower sales within the Company’s Heavy Fabrications segment, as well as certain sales within our Gearing segment, products are sold
under terms included in bill and hold sales arrangements that result in different timing for revenue recognition versus shipment. The Company recognizes revenue under
these arrangements only when there is a substantive reason for the agreement, the ordered goods arc identified separately as belonging to the customer and not
available to fill other orders, the goods are currently ready for physical transfer to the customer, and the Company does not have the ability to use the product or to
direct it to another customer. Assuming these required revenue recognition criteria are met, revenue is recognized upon completion of product manufacture and
customer acceptance.

During 2024 and 2023, the Company also recognized revenue over time, versus point in time, when products in the Heavy Fabrications segments had no
alternative use to the Company and the Company had an enforceable right to payment, including profit, upon termination of the contract by the customer. Since the
projects are labor intensive, the Company uses labor hours as the input measure of progress for the contract. Contract assets are recorded when performance
obligations are satisfied but the Company is not yet entitled to payment. The Company recognizes contract assets associated with this revenue which represents
its rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the end of the period.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales represents all direct and indirect costs associated with the production of products for sale to customers. These costs include operation, repair and
‘maintenance of equipment, materials, direct and indirect labor and benefit costs, rent and utilities, maintenance, insurance, equipment rentals, freight, and depreciation.
AMP credits and related discounts and administrative fees are also recognized in cost of sales. See “AMP Credits” discussion below in this “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” for further details.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses include all corporate and administrative functions such as sales and marketing, legal, human resource
‘management, finance, investor and public relations, information technology and senior management. These functions serve to support the Company’s current and

future operations and provide an infrastructure to support future growth. Major expense items in this category include management and staff wages and benefits, share-
based compensation and professional services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Accounts Receivable (4/R)
The Company generally grants uncollateralized credit to customers on an individual basis based upon the customer’s financial condition and credit history.
Credit is typically on net 30 day terms and customer deposits are frequently required at various stages of the production process to finance customized products and
minimize credit risk.
Historically, the Company’s A/R is highly concentrated with a select number of customers. During the year ended December 31,2024, the Company’s five
largest customers accounted for 73% of its consolidated revenues and 50% of outstanding A/R balances, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 when the
Company’s five largest customers accounted for 74% of its consolidated revenues and 40% of its outstanding A/R balances.
The Company had an accounts receivable balance of $17.018 at December 31, 2022.
Allowance for Credit Losses

Beginning January 1, 2023, the Company assessed and recorded an allowance for credit losses using the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model. The
adjustment for credit losses to management’s current estimate is recorded in net income as credit loss expense. Al credit losses were on trade receivables and/or
contract assets arising from the Company’s contracts with customers.

The Company selected a loss-rate method for the CECL model based on the relationship between historical write-offs of receivables and the underlying sales
by major customers. Utilizing this model, a historical loss-rate is applied against the amortized cost of applicable assets, at the time the asset is established. The loss rate
reflects the Company’s current estimate of the risk of loss (even when that risk is remote) over the expected remaining contractual life of the assets. The Company’s

policy is to deduct write-offs from the allowance for credit losses account in the period in which the financial assets are deemed uncollectible. The adjustment for credit
losses using this CECL model on accounts receivable and contract assets during the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023 was not material.

‘The Company monitors its collections and write-off experience to assess whether or not adjustments to its allowance estimates are necessary. Changes in
trends in any of the factors that the Company believes may impact the collectability of its accounts receivable, as noted above, or modifications to its credit standards,
collection practices and other related policies may impact the Company’s allowance for credit losses and its financial results.

AMP Credits

The Company accounts for government assistance that is not subject to the scope of Accounting Standards Codification 740 using a grant accounting model,
by analogy to ing Standards 20, ing for G Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, and recognizes such grants when
it has reasonable assurance that it will comply with the grant’s conditions and that the grant will be received. Income-based grants are initially recognized as “AMP
credit receivable” and as a reduction to cost of sales. The Company recognizes grants expected to be received directly from a government entity at their stated value.
When the Company expects to transfer grants to a third party, it recognizes the grants at, or adjusts their carrying value to, the amount expected to be received from the
transaction. Proceeds received from income-based grants are presented as cash inflows from operating activities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the value that can be realized upon the sale of the inventory less a
reasonable estimate of selling costs. Cost is determined cither based on the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method, or on a standard cost basis that approximates the FIFO
method. Any excess of cost over net realizable value is included in the Company’s inventory allowance. Net realizable value of inventory, and management’s judgment
of the need for reserves, encompasses consideration of other business factors including physical condition, inventory holding period. contract terms and usefulness.

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods. Raw materials consist of components and parts for general production use. Work-in-
process consists of labor and overhead, processing costs, purchased subcomponents and materials purchased for specific customer orders. Finished goods consist of
components purchased from third partics as well as components manufactured by the Company that will be used to produce final customer products.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are stated at cost less and D and of property and equipment is
recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets for financial reporting purposes. and generally using an accelerated
‘method for income tax reporting purposes. Depreciation expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $6,023 and
§5.719, respectively. Expenditures for additions and improvements are capitalized. while replacements, maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the useful
lives of the respective assets arc expensed as incurred. Property or equipment sold or disposed of is removed from the respective property accounts, with any
corresponding gains and losses recorded within the operating results of the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

The Company reviews property and equipment and other long-lived assets (“long-lived assets™) for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Asset recoverability is first measured by comparing the assets’ carrying amounts to their expected future undiscounted net
cash flows to determine if the assets are impaired.

In evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the Company must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine
the fair value of such assets. If the Company’s fair value estimates or related assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required to record impairment
charges related to property and equipment and other long-lived assets. If such assets arc considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured based on
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value. See Note 8, “Long-Lived Assets” of these consolidated financial statements for further
discussion of long-lived assets.

Leases

The Company leases various property and equipment under operating lease arrangements. The Company recognizes operating lease assets and liabilities on
the balance sheet. Rent expense for these types of leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In addition, the Company has entered into finance
lease arrangements to finance property and equipment and assumed finance lease obligations in connection with certain acquisitions. The cost basis and accumulated
amortization of assets recorded under finance leases are included in property and equipment, while the liabilities are included in finance lease obligations.
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(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Warranty Liability
The Company provides warranty terms that generally range from one to five years for various products and services relating to workmanship and materials

supplied by the Company. In certain contracts, the Company has recourse provisions for items that would enable the Company to pursue recovery from third parties for
amounts paid to customers under warranty provisions. Warranty liability is recorded in accrued liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. The Company estimates

the warranty accrual based on various factors, including historical warranty costs, current trends, product mix and sales. The changes in the carrying amount of the
Company’s total product warranty liability for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

As of December 31,
2024 2023
Balance, beginning of period B 22§ 149
Increase of warranty reserve 15 206
Warranty claims @ (19)
Other adjustments (163) (14)
Balance, end of period B 167§ 32

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes based upon an asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the future tax consequences of
the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities versus the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax
assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The impact of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the year that the change is enacted.

In connection with the preparation of its consolidated financial statements, the Company is required to estimate its income tax liability for each of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Company operates. This process involves estimating the Company’s actual current income tax expense and assessing temporary differences
resulting from differing treatment of certain income or expense items for income tax reporting and financial reporting purposes. The Company also recognizes as deferred
income tax assets the expected future income tax benefits of net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. In evaluating the realizability of deferred income tax assets
assaciated with NOL carryforwards, the Company considers, among other things, expected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing
temporary reporting differences and the expected impact of tax planning strategies that may be implemented to prevent the potential loss of future income tax benefis.
Changes in, among other things, income tax legislation, statutory income tax rates or future taxable income levels could materially impact the Company’s valuation of
income tax assets and liabilities and could cause its income tax provision to vary significantly among financial reporting periods.
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The Company also accounts for the uncertainty in income taxes related to the recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in an

income tax return. The Company follows the applicable guidance on interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition related to the uncertainty in these income tax positions.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company grants restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and/or performance awards (“PSUS”) to certain officers, directors, and employees. The Company
accounts for share-based compensation related to these awards based on the estimated fair value of the equity award and recognizes expense ratably over the required
vesting term of the award. The expense associated with PSUs is also based on the probability of achieving embedded targets. Awards that are based on a fixed number
of shares are treated as equity while awards that are based on a fixed amount of dollars are treated as liabilities. See Note 15 “Share-Based Compensation™ of these
consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the Company’s share-based plans, the nature of share-based awards issued and the
Company’s accounting for share-based compensation.

Net Income Per Share

The Company presents both basic and diluted net income (loss) per share. Basic net income (loss) per share is based solely upon the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding and excludes any dilutive effects of restricted stock, options, warrants and convertible securities. Diluted net income (loss) per share is
based upon the weighted average number of common shares and common-share equivalents outstanding during the year excluding those common-share equivalents
where the impact to basic net income (loss) per share would be anti-dilutive.

2.REVENUES

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by revenue source for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Heavy Fabrications $ 82657 $ 133,368
Gearing 35,588 45408
Industrial Solutions 26,056 25,159
Eliminations (1,165) (458)
Consolidated s 143136 § 203477

‘The Company’s revenue is generally recognized at a point in time, typically when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to its customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Control is typically transferred upon shipment or delivery
depending on the terms of the contract or under the terms of the bill and hold arrangements discussed below. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to
transfer a distinct product or service to the customer. The Company measures revenue based on the consideration specified in the purchase order and revenue is
recognized when the performance obligations are satisfied. If applicable, the transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and
recognized as revenue when or as the customer receives the benefit of the performance obligation.
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For substantially all tower sales within the Company’s Heavy Fabrications segment as well as certain sales within our Gearing segment, products are sold under
terms included in bill and hold sales arrangements that result in different timing for revenue recognition versus shipment. The Company recognizes revenue under these
arrangements only when there is a substantive reason for the arrangement, the ordered goods are identified separately as belonging to the customer and not available to
fill other orders, the goods are currently ready for physical transfer to the customer, and the Company does not have the ability to use the product or to direct it to
another customer. Assuming these required revenue recognition criteria are met, revenue is recognized upon completion of product manufacture and customer
acceptance. During the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, the Company recognized $1.059 and 85,370, respectively, of revenue within the Gearing segment under
terms included in bill and hold sales arrangements.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized a portion of revenue within the Heavy Fabrications segments over time, as the
products had no alternative use to the Company and the Company had an enforceable right to payment, including profit, upon termination of the contracts. Since the
projects are labor intensive, the Company uses labor hours as the input measure of progress for the applicable contracts. Within the Heavy Fabrications segment, the
Company recognized revenue for contracts that meet over time criteria of $3,983 and $11,033 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Contract
assets are recorded when performance obligations are satisfied but the Company is not yet entitled to payment. Contract assets represent the Company’s rights to
consideration for work completed but not billed at the end of the period. Contract assets at December 31, 2022 were $1,955

The Company generally expenses sales commissions when incurred. These costs are recorded within selling, general and administrative expenscs. Customer
deposits, deferred revenue and other receipts are deferred and recognized when the revenue is realized and eamed. Cash payments to customers are classified as

reductions of revenue in the Company’s statement of operations.

‘The Company does not disclose the value of the unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected length of one year or less.

3.NET INCOME PER SHARE
The following table presents a reconciliation of basic and diluted income per share for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Basic income per share calculation:
Net income $ L2 § 7,649
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 21,895,847 21,188
Basic net income per share $ 005§ 036
Diluted income per share calculation:
Net income $ 112§ 7,649
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 21,895,847 21,188,669
Common stock equivalents:

Non-vested stock awards 78,782 302601
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 21974629 21491270
Diluted net income per share s 005§ 036
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4.RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Company reviews new accounting standards as issued. Although some of the accounting standards issued or effective in the current
applicable to it, the Company believes that none of the new standards have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

al year may be

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures,” which requires additional disclosure of significant segment expenses on an annual and interim basis. This guidance
will be applied retrospectively and will be effective for the annual periods beginning the year ended December 31, 2024, and for interim periods beginning January 1,
2025. The Company adopted this guidance for the year ended December 31, 2024. Refer to Note 16 “Segment Reporting” of these consolidated financial statements

for the additional disclosures applied on a retrospective basis.

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures,” which improves the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the
effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. This guidance will be effective for the annual periods beginning the year ended
December 31, 2025. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03 “Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive
Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Incomes Statement Expenses,” which serves to improve the disclosures about a
public business entity’s expenses by requiring more detailed information about the types of expenses in commonly presented expense captions. This guidance will be
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the updated guidance will have on its

consolidated financial statements.

5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The activity in the accounts receivable allowance from operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consists of the following:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Balance at beginning of period $ 3 7
Bad debt expense — 127
Write-offs - [T)
Other adjustments ) 2
Balance at end of period $ X 2
6.INVENTORIES

‘The components of inventories as of December 31,2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows:
As of December 31,

2024 2023
Raw materials s 19651 § 24651
Work-in-process 9.945 10390
Finished goods 12517 4595

2113 39,636

Less: Reserve (2.163) @x1)
Net inventories b3 39950 $ 37405
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7. AMP CREDITS

During 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized gross AMP eredits totaling $9,588 and $14.493, respectively, within the Heavy Fabrications segment. These
AMP credits were introduced as part of the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA™), which was enacted on August 16, 2022. The IRA includes advanced manufacturing tax
credits for manufacturers of cligible components, including wind and solar of wind qualify for the AMP credits based on the
total rated capacity, expressed on a per watt basis, of the completed wind turbine for which such component is designed. The credit applies to each component
produced and sold in the U.S. beginning in 2023 through 2032. Wind towers within the Company’s Heavy Fabrications segment are cligible for credits of $0.03 per watt
for cach wind tower produced. In calculating the eligible credit, the Company relied on the megawatt rating provided by the customer. Manufacturers who qualify for the
AMP credits can apply to the Internal Revenue Service for cash refunds of the AMP credits or sell the AMP credits to third parties for cash, or apply the AMP credits
against taxable income. The Company recognized the AMP credits as a reduction to cost of sales in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The assets related to the AMP credits are recognized as current assets in the “AMP credit receivable” line item in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

On December 21,2023, the Company entered into an agreement to sell 2023 and 2024 AMP credits to a third party. At that time, the Company sold a portion of
the gross 2023 credits in the amount of 6,952 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the sale in the amount of $452 which was recognized in cost of sales. In addition, the
Company wrote down the remaining receivable of $7,541 to net realizable value and recorded the expected loss on sale of $490 in cost of sales. The remaining 2023 AMP
credit receivable was collected during the first quarter of 2024. The Company also incurred other miscellaneous administrative costs related to selling the credits in the
amount of $254, $197 of which has been recorded as cost of sales, with the remaining capitalized and included in the “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” line
item of the Company's consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2023.

During 2024, the Company recognized gross AMP credits totaling $9,588 and recognized a 6.5% discount on the credits totaling $623, which was recognized in
cost of sales. The Company also incurred other miscellaneous administrative costs related to the credits in the amount of $146, which have been recorded as cost of
sales.

8. LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The cost basis and estimated lives of property and equipment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

As of December 31,

2024 2023 Life (in years)
Land s 143§ 1423
Buildings 2719 2111 39
Machinery and equipment 128329 125,107 2-10
Office furniture and equipment 599 5962 3-7

Shorter of asset life
Leasehold improvements 9.110 9 orlife of lease
Construction in progress 836 3526
168413 167,197

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (122.841) (120,074)
Total property and equipment $ 45572 § 47,123

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had commitments of $1,003 related to the completion of projects within construction in progress.

During the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, the Company did not identify any impairment triggering events within its segments. As a result, no
impairment charges were recorded for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023.
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the cost basis, accumulated amortization and net book value of intangible assets were as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Remaining
‘Weighted ‘Weighted
Accumulated Net Average Accumulated Net Average
Cost i Book A izati i Book izati
Basis _ Amortization _ Charges _Value Period Cost___Amortization _ Charges Value Period
Intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements ~ § 170§ 170 s — 5 — — s 170 s 70 $ — — —
Customer relationships 15979 (8,103) (1.592) 284 L 15979 (7.842) (7.592) 545 21
Trade names 9.099 (7.980) 1119 28 9.099 (7.580) 1519 38
Intangible assets 525248 5 (16253) S (159) 5 1403 25 5 25248 5 (1559) 5 (159) § 2064 33

Intangible assets represent the fair value assigned to definite-lived assets such as trade names and customer relationships. Estimated useful lives for
intangibles assets range from 6 to 20 years. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, with a remaining life range from 1 to
3 years. Amortization expense was $661 and $664 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, estimated future amortization
expense is as follows:

2025 $ 661
2026 vz}
2027 320
Total B 1403
9. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Accrued payroll and benefits 5 2968 S 5051
Income taxes payable 137 254
Accrued professional fees 81 140
Accrued warranty liability 167 )
Self-insured workers compensation reserve 10 21
Accrued sales tax 6 310
Accrued other 26 39

$ 3605 S 6471

Total accrued liabilities
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10.DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS
The Company’s outstanding debt balances as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:

December 31,

2024 2023
Line of credit 5 — 3 4657
Other notes payable 1618 1361
Long-term debt 7578 6135
Total debt 9,196 12,153
Less: current maturities (1.454) (5,903)
$ 772§ 6250

Long-term debt, net of current maturities
As of December 31, 2024, future annual principal payments on the Company’s outstanding debt obligations were as follows:

s 1454

1478

5835

382

9,196

Credit Fac

On August 4, 2022, the Company entered into a credit agreement (as amended, the “2022 Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
lender (“Wells Fargo”), which replaced its prior credit facility and provided the Company and its subsidiaries with a $35.000 senior secured revolving credit
facility (which may be further increased by up to an additional $10,000 upon the request of the Company and at the sole discretion of Wells Fargo) and a $7.578 senior
secured term loan (collectively, as amended, the “2022 Credit Facility”). The proceeds of the 2022 Credit Facility are available for general corporate purposes, including
strategic growth opportunities. Net deferred financing costs related to the 2022 Credit Facility which primarily relate to the revolving credit loan, were $269 at December
31,2024, which is net of accumulated amortization of $251. Net deferred financing costs at December 31,2023 were $359, which is net of accumulated amortization of
$141. These costs are included in the “Other assets” line item of the Company's consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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On February 8, 2023, the Company executed Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver which waived the Company’s fourth quarter minimum
EBITDA (as defined in the 2022 Credit Agreement) requirement for the period ended December 31, 2023, amended the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the
2022 Credit Agreement) requircments for the twelve-month period ending January 31, 2024 through and including June 30, 2024 and cach twelve-month period thereafter,
and amended the minimum EBITDA requirements applicable to the twelve-month periods ending March 31, 2023, June 30, 2023, September 30, 2023, and December 31,
2023.

On December 19, 2024, the Company executed Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, which (1) increased the outstanding principal amount of the term loan to
$7.578 and restarted the 84-month amortization period, and (2) amended the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the 2022 Credit Agreement) from 1.1:1.0to 1.0:1.0
for cach twelve-month period ending January 31, 2024 through and including December 31, 2025. Proceeds from the increased amount of the term loan were used to
repay the Company’s indebtedness under its existing revolving line of credit with Wells Fargo and related fees and expenses, thereby allowing for increased availability
under the existing revolving line of credit.

The 2022 Credit Agreement, as amended, contains customary covenants limiting the Company’s and its subsidiaries” ability to, among other things, incur liens,
make incur i merge o with others or dispose of assets, change the nature of its business, and enter into transactions with
affiliates. The initial term of the revolving credit facility matures August 4, 2027. The term loan also matures on August 4, 2027, with monthly payments based on an 84-
month amortization, with the remaining principal and acerued interest due at maturity.

As of December 31, 2024, there was $7,578 of outstanding indebtedness under the 2022 Credit Facility, with the ability to borrow an additional $24,901. As of
December 31,2024, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the 2022 Credit Facility. As of December 31,2024, the effective interest rate of the
senior secured revolving credit facility was 6.71% and the effective rate of the senior secured term loan was 6.96%. As of December 31, 2023, the effective interest rate of
the senior secured revolving credit facility was 7.64% and the effective rate of the senior secured term loan was 7.89%.

Other

‘The Company has outstanding notes payable for capital expenditures in the amount of $1,618 and $1.361 as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively, with
$371 and $163 included in the “Line of credit and current maturities of long-term debt™ line item of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31,

2024 and 2023, respectively. The notes payable have monthly payments that range from $1 to $20 and a weighted average interest rate of 7%. The equipment purchased
is utilized as collateral for the notes payable. The outstanding notes payable have maturity dates that range from Scptember 2028 to Junc 2029.
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1. LEASES

The Company leases various property and equipment under operating lease arrangements. The Company recognizes operating lease assets and liabilities on
the balance sheet and discloses key information regarding leasing arrangements. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception to all leases of one
year or less.

As of December 31, 2024, the right-of-use (‘ROU”) asset had a balance of $13.841 which is included in the “Operating lease right-of-use assets” lin item of
these consolidated financial statements and current and non-current lease liabilities relating to the ROU asset of $2,115 and $13.799, respectively, and are included in the
“Current portion of operating lease obligations” and “Long-term operating lease obligations, net of current portion” line items of these consolidated financial
statements. As of December 31,2023, the ROU asset had a balance of $15.593 and current and non-current lease liabilities relating to the ROU asset of $1,851 and
$15,888, respectively. The discount rates used for leases accounted for under Topic 842 are based on an interest rate yield curve developed for the leases in the
Company’s lease portfolio.

Lease terms generally range from 3 to 15 years with renewal options for extended terms. Some of the Company’s facility leases include options to renew. The
exercise of the renewal options is at the Company’s discretion. Therefore, the majority of renewals to extend the lease terms are not included in ROU assets and lease
liabilitics as they are not reasonably certain of exercise. The Company regularly cvaluates the renewal options and includes them in the lease term when the Company is
reasonably certain to exercise them. Certain leases contain rent escalation clauses that require additional rental payments in the later years of the term. Rent expense for
these types of leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $4.208 and
$4.201, respectively.

In addition, the Company has entered into finance lease arrangements to finance property and equipment and assumed finance lease obligations in connection
with certain acquisitions. The related assets are included in the “Property and equipment, net” line item of these consolidated financial statements and the liabilities are

included in the “Current portion of finance lease obligations” line item and “Long-term finance lease obligations, net of current portion” line item of these consolidated

financial statements. Finance lease cost for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.946 and $1,790, respectively

Amortization expense recorded in connection with assets recorded under finance leases was $1.473 and $1,263 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.



BROADWIND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31,2024 and 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Quantitative information regarding the Company’s leases is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Components of lease cost
Finance lease cost components:
Amortization of finance lease assets s 1473 s 1263
Interest on finance lease liabilities 473 527
Total finance lease costs 1,946 1790
Operating lease cost components:
Operating lease cost 2694 2792
Short-term lease cost 192 361
Variable lease cost (1) 1524 1260
Sublease income (200) @)
Total operating lease costs 4210 4201
Total lease cost s 6156 591
Supplemental cash flow information related to our operating leases is as follows for the twelve months ended
December 31,2024 and 2023:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflow from operating leases s 3359 s 3460
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new
operating lease liabilities $ 2 s 983
Weighted-average remaining lease term-finance leases at end of period (in years) 28 32
Weighted-average remaining lease term-operating leases at end of period (in years) 62 71
Weighted-average discount rate-finance leases at end of period 53% 61%
Weighted-average discount rate-operating leases at end of period 89% 85%

(1) Variable lease costs consist primarily of taxes, insurance, utilities, and common area or other maintenance costs for the Company’s leased facilities and equipment.

Amortization associated with new right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities is $4 and 85 for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31,2024, future minimum lease payments under finance leases and operating leases were as follows:

Finance Operating

Leases Leases Total
2025 s 2581 3455 S 6,036
2026 1,508 3449 4957
2027 1212 3151 4363
208 952 3.160 4112
2029 526 3,187 3713
2030 and thereafter — 4618 4618
Total lease payments 6779 21,020 27,799
Less—portion representing interest (736) (5.106) (5.842)
Present value of lease obligations 6043 15914 21,957
Less—current portion of lease obligations (2.266) @115) (4.381)
Long-term portion of lease obligations B 3777 § 1379 $ 17.576
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

The Company is party to a variety of legal proceedings or claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business. The Company accrues for costs related to
loss contingencies when such costs are probable and reasonably estimable. As of December 31, 2024, the Company is not aware of any material pending legal
proceedings or threatened litigation that would have a material adverse effect individually or in the aggregate, on the Company’s results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows, although no assurance can be given with respect to the ultimate outcome of pending actions. Due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, there
can be no assurance that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows. It is possible that if one or more litigation matters were decided against the Company, the effects could be material to the Company’s results of
operations in the period in which the Company would be required to record or adjust the related liability and could also be material to the Company’s financial condition
and cash flows in the periods the Company would be required to pay such liability.

Compliance and iation Liabilities

The Company’s operations and products are subject to a varicty of environmental laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates and
sells products governing, among other things, air emissions, wastewater discharges, the use, handling and disposal of hazardous materials, soil and groundwater
contamination, employee health and safety, and product content, performance and packaging. Also, certain environmental laws can impose the entire cost or a portion
of the cost of investigating and cleaning up a contaminated site, regardless of fault, upon any one or more of a number of parties, including the current or previous
owners or operators of the site. These environmental laws also impose liability on any person who arranges for the disposal or treatment of hazardous substances at a
contaminated site. Third parties may also make claims against owners or operators of sites and users of disposal sites for personal injuries and property damage
associated with releases of hazardous substances from those sites.
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Collateral

In select instances, the Company has pledged specific inventory and machinery and equipment assets to serve as collateral on related payable or financing
obligations.

Warranty Liability

The Company provides warranty terms that generally range from one to five years for various products and services relating to workmanship and materials
supplied by the Company. In certain contracts, the Company has recourse provisions for items that would enable the Company to pursue recovery from third parties for
amounts paid to customers under warranty provisions.

Liguidated Damages

In certain customer contracts, the Company has agreed to pay liquidated damages in the event of qualifying delivery or production delays. These damages are
typically limited to a specific percentage of the value of the product in question and dependent on actual losses sustained by the customer. When the damages are
determined to be probable and estimable, the damages are recorded as a reduction to revenue. There was no reserve for liquidated damages at December 31,2024 The
reserve for liquidated damages as of December 31, 2023 was insignificant.

Workers' Compensation Reserves

‘The Company entered into a guaranteed workers’ compensation cost program during 2016. The reserve prior to 2016 is immaterial. Although the ultimate
outcome of these matters may exceed the amounts recorded and additional losses may be incurred, the Company does not believe that any additional potential exposure
for such liabilities will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Health Insurance Reserves

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $410 and $742, respectively, accrued for health insurance liabilities. The Company self-insures for its
health insurance liabilities, including establishing rescrves for self-retained losses. Historical loss experience combined with actuarial evaluation methods and the
application of risk transfer programs are used to determine required health insurance reserves. The Company takes into account claims incurred but not reported when
determining its health insurance reserves. Health insurance rescrves are included in accrued liabilities. While the Company’s management believes that it has adequately
reserved for these claims, the ultimate outcome of these matters may exceed the amounts recorded and additional losses may be incurred.
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Other

As of December 31, 2024, approximately 18% of the Company’s employees were covered by two collective bargaining agreements with local unions at the
Company’s Cicero, Illinois and Neville Island, Pennsylvania locations. During November 2022, the Company negotiated a four-year collective bargaining agreement with
the Neville Island union and it is expected to remain in effect through October 2026. A four-year collective bargaining agreement in regards to the Cicero, Iilinois facility
was negotiated in February 2022 and is expected to remain in effect through February 2026.

13.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

‘The Company measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (i.e., exit price) in an orderly transaction between market at the date. the Company is required to provide
disclosure and categorize assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three different levels depending on the assumptions (i.c., inputs) used in the valuation.
Level 1 provides the most reliable measure of fair value while Level 3 generally requires significant management judgment. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in
their entirety based on the lowest level of input significant to the fair value measurement. Financial instruments are assessed quarterly to determine the appropriate
classification within the fair valuc hicrarchy. Transfers between fair value classifications are made based upon the nature and type of the obscrvable inputs. The fair
value hierarchy is defined as follows:

Level I — Valuations are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2 — Valuations are based on quoted prices for similar assets o liabilities in active markets, or quoted prices in markets that are not active for which
significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly. For the Company’s corporate and municipal bonds, although quoted prices are available and used to value
said assets, they ar traded less frequently.

Level 3 — Valuations are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement. Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash, A/R, accounts payable and customer deposits, approximate their respective

fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these instruments. Based upon interest rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms, the
carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt is approximately equal to its fair value.
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14.INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consists of the following:

For the Years Ended Year Ended December 31,
2024

Current provision

Federal $ $ —

State 74 251

Total current provision 7 251
Deferred provision

Federal (1,194) (1,758)

State (84) (209)

Total deferred provision (1,278) (1,967)
Increase in deferred tax valuation allowance 1278 1957
Total provision for income taxes S 8 241

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded an expense for income taxes of $74, compared to an expense for income taxes of $241 during
the year ended December 31,2023. On August 16, 2022, Congress enacted the Inflation Reduction Act which includes AMP credits for manufacturers of eligible
components, including wind and solar components produced and sold in the US from 2023 through 2032. These credits will have no impact on income tax expense.

‘The total change in the deferred tax valuation allowance was $1,278 and $1,957 for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively. The changes in
the deferred tax valuation allowance in 2024 and 2023 were primarily the result of increases to the deferred tax assets pertaining to federal and state NOLs. Management
believes that significant uncertainty exists surrounding the recoverability of deferred tax assets. As a result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance against the
remaining deferred tax assets.
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The tax effects of the temporary differences and NOLS that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

As of Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Noncurrent deferred income tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards s 76361 S 75235
Accrual and reserves 4721 4,637
Leases 3.106 3532
Other 6 4

Total noncurrent deferred tax assets 84,194 83.408

Valuation allowance @1.794) (76516)

Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 6,400 6,892

Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities:

Fixed assets 2480 2364
Intangible assets 325 487
Leases 3570 4016
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 6375 6867
Net deferred income tax asset s R 2

Valuation allowances of $77,794 and $76,516 have been provided for deferred income tax assets for which realization is uncertain as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of the valuation is as follows:

Valuation allowance as of December 31, 2023 $ (76,516)
Gross increase for current year activity a2
Valuation allowance as of Balance at December 31,2024

As of December 31,2024, the Company had federal and state NOL 'y of $295,198 of which $227,781 will begin to expire
in 2026. The majority of the NOL carryforwards will expire in various years from 2028 through 2037. NOLS generated after January 1, 2018 will not expire.

The reconciliation between the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 210% 210%
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 37 06
Other permanent differences 58 04
Change in valuation allowance 1043 28
162(m) 00 05
Other 34 02
Other deferred adjustment 264 15)
AMP credits (1512) (352)
Effective income tax rate 60% 28%
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The Company accounts for the uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold for a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in
atax return that is required to be met before being recognized in the financial statements. The Company recognizes interest and penalies related to uncertain tax
positions as income tax expense. As of December 31,2024, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits that could impact the income tax expense

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions. As of December 31,2024, with few exceptions, the Company is no longer
subject to federal or state income tax examinations by taxing authorities for years before December 31, 2019; however, taxing authorities have the ability to adjust NOL
carryforwards in open tax years that may have been carried forward from closed years. The Company’s 2008 and 2009 federal tax returns were examined in 2011 and no
‘material adjustments were identified related to any of the Company’s tax positions. Although these periods have been audited, they continue to remain open until all
NOLS generated in those tax years have either been utilized or expire.

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “IRC”), generally imposes an annual limitation on the amount of NOL carryforwards and
associated built-in losses that may be used to offset taxable income when a corporation has undergone certain changes in stock ownership. The Company’s ability to
utilize NOL carryforwards and built-in losses may be limited, under this section or otherwise, by the Company’s issuance of common stock or by other changes in stock
ownership. Upon completion of the Company’s analysis of IRC Section 382, the Company has determined that aggregate changes in stock ownership have resulted in
an annual limitation of $14.284 on NOLs and built-in losses available for utilization based on the triggering event in 2010. To the extent the Company’s use of NOL
carryforwards and associated built-in losscs is significantly limited in the future duc to additional changes in stock ownership, the Company’s income could be subject
to U.S. corporate income tax earlier than it would if the Company were able to use NOL carryforwards and built-in losses without such annual limitation, which could
result in lower profits and the loss of the majority of the benefits from these attributes.

In February 2013, the Company adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan, which was amended in February 2016 and approved by our stockholders (as amended, the
“Rights Plan”), designed to preserve the Company’s substantial tax assets associated with NOL carryforwards under Section 382 of the IRC. On February 7, 2019, the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved an amendment extending the Rights Plan for an additional three years, which was subsequently approved by the Company’s
stockholders at the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 23, 2019 (the “2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders™). On February 3, 2022, the Board approved
an amendment which included an extension of the Rights Plan for an additional three years, which was subsequently approved by the Company's stockholders at
the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. On February 3, 2025, the Board approved an amendment which included an extension of the Rights Plan for an additional
three years. The amendment is subject to approval by the Company’s stockholders at the Company’s 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The Rights Plan is intended to act as a deterrent to any person or group, together with its affiliates and associates, being or becoming the beneficial owner of
4.9% or more of the Company’s common stock and thereby triggering a further limitation of the Company’s available NOL carryforwards. In connection with the
adoption of the Rights Plan, the Board declared a non-taxable dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of the Company’s
common stock to the Company’s stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 22, 2013. Since the record date, the Company has issued one Right with
cach newly issued share of its common stock. Until the distribution date (unless carlier redeemed or exchanged or upon expiration of the Rights, as applicable), the
Rights will be evidenced by certificates of the Company's common stock and will be transferred only with such certificates. Each Right entitles its holder to purchase
from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of the Company’s Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $7.70 per Right, subject to
adjustment. As a result of the Rights Plan, any person or group that acquires beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of the Company’s common stock without the
approval of the Board would be subject to significant dilution in the ownership interest of that person or group. Stockholders who owned 4.9% or more of the
outstanding shares of the Company’s commaon stock as of February 12, 2013 will not trigger the preferred share purchase rights unless they acquire additional shares
after that date.
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15. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
‘Overview of Share-Based Compensation Plan

The Company has granted equity awards pursuant to previously Board approved equity incentive plans. Most recently, the Company has granted equity
awards pursuant to the Broadwind Energy, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by the Board in February 2015 and by the Company’s stockholders in
April 2015. On February 19, 2019, the Board approved an Amended and Restated 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2015 EIP,”), which, among other things,
increased the number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the 2015 EIP from 1,100,000 to 2,200,000. The amendment and restatement of the 2015
EIP was approved by the Company’s stockholders at the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. On February 7, 2021, the Board approved the Second Amendment to
the Amended and Restated 2015 Equity Incentive Plan which, among other things, increased the number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under
the 2015 EIP from 2,200,000 to 3,200,000. The Second Amendment to the amendment and restatement of the 2015 EIP was approved by the Company’s stockholders at the
2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. On March 2, 2023, the Board approved the Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2015 Equity Incentive Plan which,
among other things, increased the number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the 2015 EIP from 3,200,000 to 4,700,000. The Third Amendment
to the amendment and restatement of the 2015 EIP was approved by the Company’s stockholders at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The purposes of the Company’s equity incentive plans are (a) to align the interests of the Company’s stockholders and recipients of awards by increasing the
proprietary interest of such recipients in the Company’s growth and success; (b) to advance the interests of the Company by attracting and retaining officers, other
mpl ircctors and i and (¢) to motivate such persons to act in the long-term best interests of the Company and its
stockholders. Under the 2015 EIP, the Company may grant (i) non-qualified stock options; (ii) “incentive stock options™ (within the meaning of Section 422 of the IRC);
(il stock appreciation rights; (iv) restricted stock and restrictive stock units: and (v) performance awards.

Stock Options. The exercise price of stock options granted under the 2015 EIP is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant. Stock options generally become exercisable on the anniversary of the grant date, with vesting terms that may range from one to five years from the date of grant,
subject to continued employment/service. Additionally, stock options expire ten years after the date of grant. The fair value of stock options granted is expensed ratably
over their vesting term.

Restricted Stock Units (RSUs). The granting of RSUs is provided for under the 2015 EIP. RSUs generally contain a vesting period of one to five years from the
date of grant, subject to continued employment/service. The fair value of each RSU granted is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant and is generally expensed ratably over the vesting term of the RSU award

Performance Awards (PSUs). The granting of PSUs is provided for under the 2015 EIP. Vesting of PSUs is conditioned upon the Company meeting applicable
performance measures over the performance period, subject to continued employment/service. The fair value of cach PSU granted is equal to the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant and is generally expensed ratably over the term of the PSU award plan.
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The 2015 EIP reserves 4,700,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of December 31,2024, under the 2015 EIP, 2,381,572 shares of common stock had

been issued, pursuant to stock options, RSUs and PSUs and 823,808 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under outstanding RSU and PSU awards.

2023.

There was no stock option activity during the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023 and no stock options were outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and
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The following table summa with respect to RSUs and PSUs accounted for as equity awards as of December 31,2024 and 2023:
Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair Value
Number of Shares Per Share
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 § 303
Granted 456370 S 27
Vested (240397) S 341
Forfeited 19371) $ 288
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 823808 g 296

RSUs and PSUs are generally subject to ratable vesting over a three-year period. Compensation expense related to these service and performance based awards
is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company utilized a forfeiture rate of
25%, based on historical activity, for estimating the forfeitures of stock compensation granted.

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense, net of taxes withheld, included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2024 2023

Share-based compensation expense:
Cost of sales $ 68§ 18
Selling, general and administrative 1092 759
Net effect of share-based compensation expense on net income s L160  § 877

Reduction in earnings per share:

Basic carnings per share s 005§ 004
Diluted earnings per share s 005§ 004

(1) Income tax benefit is not illustrated because the Company is currently in a full tax valuation allowance position and an actual income tax benefit was not realized for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The result of the income (loss) situation creates a timing difference, resulting in a deferred tax asset, which is fully
reserved for in the Company’s valuation allowance.

As of December 31,2024, the Company estimates that pre-tax compensation expense for all unvested share-based RSUs and PSUs in the amount of

approximately $1.213 will be recognized through the year 2026. The Company expects to satisfy the future distribution of shares of restricted stock by issuing new
shares of common stock.

16. SEGMENT REPORTI

The Company is organized into reportable segments based on the nature of the products offered and business activities from which it carns revenues and
incurs expenses for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”). The
Company’s CODM has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer and President, who reviews operating income by segment in relation to total operating income to
make decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance.
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The Company’s segments and their product offerings are summarized below:
Heavy Fabrications

The Company provides large, complex and precision fabrications to customers in a broad range of industrial markets. The Company’s most significant presence
i within the U.S. wind energy industry, although it has diversificd into other industrial markets in order to improve capacity utilization, reduce customer concentrations,
and reduce exposure to uncertainty related to governmental policies currently impacting the U.S. wind energy industry. Within the U.S. wind energy industry, the
Company provides steel towers and adapters primarily to wind turbine manufacturers. Production facilities, located in Manitowoc, Wisconsin and Abilene, Texas, are
situated in close proximity to the primary U.S. domestic wind energy and equipment manufacturing hubs. The two facilities have a combined annual tower production

capacity of up to approximately 550 towers (1650 tower sections), sufficient to support turbines generating more than 1.7 GW of power (assuming a 3 MW tower). The
Company has expanded its production f including welding, lfting capacity and stringent quality practices, into

and leveraged ~
aftermarket and OEM components utilized in surface and underground mining, construction, material handling, O&G and other infrastructure markets. The Company
has designed and manufactures a mobile, modular pressure reducing system for the compressed natural gas virtual pipeline market. The Company manufactures
components for buckets, shovels, car bodies, drill masts and other products that support mining and construction markets. In other industrial markets, the
Company provides crane components, pressure vessels, frames and other structures.

Gearing

The Company provides gearing. gearboxes and precision machined components to a broad set of customers in diverse markets including; surface and
underground mining, wind energy, steel, material handling, infrastructure, onshore and offshore oil and gas fracking and drilling, marine, defense, and other

industrial markets. The Company has manufactured loose gearing, gearboxes and systems, and provided heat treat services for aftermarket and OEM applications for a
century. The Company uses an integrated manufacturing process, which includes machining and finishing processes in addition to gearbox repair in Cicero, Illinois, and
heat treatment and gearbox repair in Neville Island, Pennsylvania.

Industrial Solutions

‘The Company provides supply chain solutions, light fabrication, inventory management, kitting and assembly services, primarily serving the combined cycle
natural gas turbine market. The Company has recently expanded into the U.S. wind power generation market, by providing tower internals kitting solutions for on-site
installations, as OEMs domesticate their supply chain due to lead time and reliability issues. The Company leverages a global supply chain to provide instrumentation &
controls, valve assemblies, sensor devices, fuel system components, electrical junction boxes & wiring, and clectromechanical devices. The Company also provides
packaging solutions and fabricates panels and sub-assemblies to reduce customers” costs, improve manufacturing velocity and reliability.
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Corporate and Other

“Corporate” includes the assets and SG&A expenses of the Company’s corporate office. “Eliminations” comprises adjustments to reconcile segment results to
consolidated results,

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those referenced in Note 1, “Description of Business and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” of these consolidated financial statements. Summary financial information by reportable segment is as follows:

Heavy Industrial
Gearing Solutions Corporate E C

For the Year Ended December 31,2024

Revenues from external customers s 82657 35,588 24,891 — $ 143,136
Intersegment revenues — — 1165 — (1165) —
Net revenues 82657 35,588 26056 — (1.165) 143,136
Direct materials 46398 8797 14867 — * 70062
Direct labor 11356 5797 * — 17153
Indirect labor 10575 4972 1711 - 17258
Variable overhead * 4397 1861 — 6258
AMP credits (8819) — — — (8819)
Salaries and benefits * * * 2332 2332
Share-based compensation * * * 859 859
Depreciation and amortization 3938 2183 47 136 — 6,684
All other expenses (1) 12,081 9,580 3925 2,703 (1163) 27,124
Operating income (loss) 7128 (138) 3265 (6030) — 4225
Capital expenditures 1617 1554 397 50 — 3618
Total assets 43,035 41,406 14864 48.488 (19.503) 128290
Heavy Industrial
ieati Gearing Solutions Corporate Eliminati C

For the Year Ended December 31,2023

Revenues from external customers $ 133368 45,408 24701 — $ 203477
Intersegment revenues — — 458 — (4s8) —
Net revenues 133,368 45408 25159 — (458) 203477
Direct materials 76769 13819 14460 — g 105,048
Direct labor 17,084 6993 * — 24077
Indirect labor 13202 6,085 1379 = 20,666
Variable overhead * 5499 1973 — 7472
AMP credits (13354) - - — (13354)
Salaries and benefits * * * 2,646 2,646
Share-based compensation * * * 634 634
Depreciation and amortization 3517 2270 380 216 6383
All other expenses (1) 21,144 8896 3807 5388 (469) 38,766
Operating income (loss) 15006 1,846 3,160 (3:884) 1 11,139
Capital expenditures 4739 1398 214 54 — 6405
Total assets 46931 48,599 16295 58487 (35.156) 135,156

* Line item not deemed a significant expense for this segment (per analysis of Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07).

(1) All other expenses for each reportable segment primarily consist of:

Heavy Fabrications-variable overhead, salaries and benefits, and rent and utilities
Gearing- salaries and benefits and rent and utilities

Industrial Solutions-direct labor, salaries and benefits, and rent and utilities
Corporate-professional expenses

The Company generates revenues entirely from transactions completed in the U.S. and its long-lived assets are all located in the U.S. All intercompany revenue
is eliminated in consolidation. Transactions between reportable segments are treated consistent with the accounting policies referenced in Note 1, “Description of
Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of these consolidated financial statements. During 2024, one customer accounted for more than 10% of total
net revenues. The customer, reported within the Heavy Fabrications segment, accounted for revenues of $71,607. During 2023, one customer accounted for more than
10% of total net revenues. The customer, reported within the Heavy Fabrications segment, accounted for revenues of $107,555
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17. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Retirement Savings and Profit Sharing Plans
Retirement Savings and Profit Sharing Plans

The Company offers a 401(k) retirement savings plan to all eligible employees who may elect to contribute a portion of their salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to
applicable statutory limitations. As of December 31, 2024, all employees were eligible to receive safe harbor matching contributions equal to 100% of the first 3% of the
participant’s elective deferral contributions and 50% of the next 2% of the participant’s elective deferral contributions. The Company has the discretion, subject to
applicable statutory requirements, to fund any matching contribution with a contribution to the plan of the Company’s common stock. The Company periodically
evaluates whether to fund the matching contribution in cash or in the Company’s common stock. Under the plan, elective deferrals and basic Company matching is
100% vested at all times.

For the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, the Company recorded expense under these plans of approximately $1,251 and $1,394, respectively
Deferred Compensation Plan

‘The Company maintains a deferred compensation plan for certain key employees and nonemployee directors, whereby certain wages carned, compensation for
services rendered, and ch may be deferred and deemed to be invested in the Company’s common stock. Changes in the fair
value of the plan liability are recorded as chargcs or credits to compensation expense. Compensation income (expense) associated with the deferred compensation plan

recorded during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $7 and ($8). The fair value of the plan liability to the Company is included in accrued liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of plan liability to the Company was $16 and 823, respectively.

In addition to the employee benefit plans described above, the Company participates in certain customary employee benefits plans, including those which
provide health and life insurance benefits to employees.

18. CAPITALIZATION

At the Special Mecting of Stockholders held on October 23, 2024, the Company’s stockholders approved the ratification of the approval by the Company’s
stockholders, filing and effectiveness of the certificate of amendment to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware on May 16, 2024, and the increase in the number of authorized shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, from 30,000,000 to
45,000,000, effected thereby, as more particularly described in the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on August 30, 2024.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 28, 2025, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc. ("BHE”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a Tax Credit Transfer Agreement
with MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Purchaser™), pursuant to which, for each of 2025 and 2026, BHF agreed to sell to the Purchaser up to $15,000 and $20,000
respectively, of AMP Credits. The Purchaser will pay for the AMP Credits on a quarterly basis for AMP Credits generated in the immediately-preceding calendar quarter.
The AMP Credits will be sold at a purchase price of $0.935 per $1.00 of AMP Credits.
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46 Fourth Amendment to Section 382 Rights Agreement dated as of February 4, 2025 between the Company and Equiniti Trust Company. as rights
agent by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K filed February 6, 2025
47 Description of Securities by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31.2019)
101 Lease Agreement dated December 26, 2007 between Tower Tech Systems Inc. and City Centre, LLC (i by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
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the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010)
106+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2012)
1074 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2012)
108f Form of Stock Option Agreement ( by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2012)
109¢ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Directors) by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31. 2015
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Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015)
10.11% Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
10.12¢ uity In
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018)
1013+ Severance and Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of May 4. 2018, between the Company and Eric Blashford by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 10 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 3, 2018)
10,14 Form of Performance Award Agreement Energy. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan) (i by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2019)
10,15 Form of Performance Award Agreement (Amended and Restated Broadwind Eneray. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan) by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2019)
10,167 Amended and Restated Broadwind Energy. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan by reference to Exhibit D to the Company’s Schedule 14A
filed on March 11.2019)
10.17F Form of Performance Award_Agreement (Amended and Restated Broadwind, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan) by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30. 2020
10,187 First to Amended and Restated Broadwind Energy. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan by reference to Exhibit 102 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2020)
10.19 Second dment to Amended and Restated Broadwind. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan by reference to Appendix B to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Schedule 14A filed April 5. 2021)
1020 Third dment to Amended and Restated Broadwind. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan by reference to Appendix B to the
Company’s Schedule 14A filed April 7. 2023)
1021 Credit Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2022, by and among Broadwind. Inc., Brad Foote Gear Works. Inc.. Broadwind Indusirial Solutions. LLC.

Broadwind Heavy F: Inc.. 5100 Neville Road, LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National
to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 8, 2022

by reference to Exhibit 10.1
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Guaranty. dated as of August 4, 2022, by Broadwind., Inc.. Brad Foote Gear Works. Inc.. Broadwind Industrial Solutions. LLC, Broadwind Heavy
ions. Inc. and 5100 Neville Road, LLC in favor of Wells Fargo Bank. National by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 8, 2022)
Severance and Non-Competition Agreement dated as of August 10, 2022, between Broadwind., Ine. and Thomas A. Ciccone (i b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 o the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 12, 2022)
Sales Agreement, dated September 12, 2022, by and among Broadwind. Inc.. Roth Capital Parters, LLC and H.
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 12, 2022)
Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver, dated as of February 8, 2023, by and among Broadwind Inc.. Brad Foote Gear Works,
Inc.. Broadwind Industrial Solutions, LLC, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc.. 5100 Neville Island. LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association ( by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2023)
Tax Credit Transfer Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2023, by and between Broadwind Heavy Fabrications Inc. and MarketAxess Holding Inc.
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 27, 2023)
Guaranty, dated as of December 21, 2023, by and between Broadwind. Inc. and MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 27, 2023)
Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2024, by and among Broadwind. Inc.. Brad Foote Gear Works. Inc.. Broadwind
Industrial Solutions, LLC, Broadwind Heavy Fabrications, Inc.. 5100 Neville Road, LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, National
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K filed December 23, 2024
Tax Credit Transfer Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2025, by and between Broadwind Heavy Fabrications Inc. and
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 30, 2025)
Guaranty, dated as of January 28, 2025, by and between Broadwind Inc. and MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 30. 2025)
Insider Trading Policy (filed herewith)
of the Registrant (filed herewith)
Consent of RSM LLP (filed herewith)
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith)
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith)
Broadwind. Inc. Policy on of 1 Based C. on (
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023)
The following financial information from this Form 10-K of Broadwind, Inc. for the year ended December 31,2024, formatted in Inline XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and (v) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

. Wainwright & Co. by

Holdings Inc,

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Company’s Annual Report

contract or plan or

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the fifth day of March, 2025.

BROADWIND, INC.

By: /s/ Eric B. Blashford
Eric B. Blashford
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons (including a
majority of the board of directors) on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal Executive
/s/ Eric B. Blashford Officer)
Eric B. Blashford

March 5, 2025

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 3, 2025

/s/ Thomas A. Ciccone Accounting Officer)
Thomas A. Ciccone
/s/ Philip J. Christman Director March 5, 2025
Philip J. Christman
/sl Jeanette A. Press Director March 5, 2025
Teanette A. Press
/s/ David P. Reiland Director March 5, 2025
David P. Reiland
/s/ Sachin M. Shivaram Director March 5, 2025
Sachin M. Shivaram
/s/ Cary B. Wood Director March 5, 2025

Cary B. Wood






